

# THE EFFECTS OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND EXERCISE ON COGNITIVE AND AFFECTIVE WELLBEING

EDITED BY: Chong Chen, Suk Yu Sonata Yau, Filipe Manuel Clemente and Toru Ishihara PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience







#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83250-814-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83250-814-5

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

## THE EFFECTS OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AND EXERCISE ON COGNITIVE AND AFFECTIVE WELLBEING

**Topic Editors:** 

**Chong Chen**, Yamaguchi University Graduate School of Medicine, Japan **Suk Yu Sonata Yau**, Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong, SAR China **Filipe Manuel Clemente**, Polytechnic Institute of Viana do Castelo, Portugal **Toru Ishihara**, Kobe University, Japan

**Citation:** Chen, C., Yau, S. Y. S., Clemente, F. M., Ishihara, T., eds. (2022). The Effects of Physical Activity and Exercise on Cognitive and Affective Wellbeing. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83250-814-5

# Table of Contents

05 Editorial: The Effects of Physical Activity and Exercise on Cognitive and Affective Wellbeing

Chong Chen, Suk Yu Yau, Filipe Manuel Clemente and Toru Ishihara

08 Mediation Role of Physical Fitness and Its Components on the Association Between Distribution-Related Fat Indicators and Adolescents' Cognitive Performance: Exploring the Influence of School Vulnerability. The Cogni-Action Project

Sam Hernández-Jaña, Javier Sanchez-Martinez, Patricio Solis-Urra, Irene Esteban-Cornejo, Jose Castro-Piñero, Kabir P. Sadarangani, Nicolas Aguilar-Farias, Gerson Ferrari and Carlos Cristi-Montero

- 18 Movement Behaviors and Mental Wellbeing: A Cross-Sectional Isotemporal Substitution Analysis of Canadian Adolescents Denver M. Y. Brown and Matthew Y. W. Kwan
- 27 The Potential Advantages of Tai Chi Chuan in Promoting Inhibitory Control and Spontaneous Neural Activity in Young Adults
   Qi-Qi Shen, Heng-Chan Yin, Lei Cui, Jing-Yi Zhang, Dong-Ling Wang, Li-Na Zhu, Yuan Wang and Xiu-Juan Li
- 37 A Brief, Individualized Exercise Program at Intensities Below the Ventilatory Threshold Exerts Therapeutic Effects for Depression: A Pilot Study

Yuri Sakai, Chong Chen, Atsuhito Toyomaki, Naoki Hashimoto, Kan Kitagawa, Takao Inoue, Asumi Sato, Keisuke Makihara, Rie Kameyama, Yumi Wakatsuki, Niki Udo, Ryosuke Shirakawa, Takashi Yokota, Shin Nakagawa and Ichiro Kusumi

- **43** Self-Control and Emotion Regulation Mediate the Impact of Karate Training on Satisfaction With Life Wiktor Potoczny, Radoslawa Herzog-Krzywoszanska and Lukasz Krzywoszanski
- **50 The Effect of Brief Stair-Climbing on Divergent and Convergent Thinking** Karin Matsumoto, Chong Chen, Kosuke Hagiwara, Natsumi Shimizu, Masako Hirotsu, Yusuke Oda, Huijie Lei, Akiyo Takao, Yuko Fujii, Fumihiro Higuchi and Shin Nakagawa
- 57 Cognitive Improvement After Aerobic and Resistance Exercise Is Not Associated With Peripheral Biomarkers

Soichi Ando, Takaaki Komiyama, Yukiya Tanoue, Mizuki Sudo, Joseph T. Costello, Yoshinari Uehara and Yasuki Higaki

67 COVID-19 Quarantine Impact on Wellbeing and Cognitive Functioning During a 10-Week High-Intensity Functional Training Program in Young University Students

Juan Arturo Ballester-Ferrer, Laura Carbonell-Hernández, Diego Pastor and Eduardo Cervelló

79 Effects of Outdoor Walking on Positive and Negative Affect: Nature Contact Makes a Big Difference

Fabien D. Legrand, Philippe Jeandet, Fabien Beaumont and Guillaume Polidori

86 Prescribing or Co-Designing Exercise in Healthy Adults? Effects on Mental Health and Interoceptive Awareness

Maricarmen Almarcha, Ignacio González, Natàlia Balagué and Casimiro Javierre

- 98 Changes in Working Memory Performance and Cortical Activity During Acute Aerobic Exercise in Young Adults
   Kefeng Zheng, Zhangyan Deng, Jiali Qian, Yanxia Chen, Shiyuan Li and Tao Huang
- 109 The Effects of Acute High-Intensity Aerobic Exercise on Cognitive Performance: A Structured Narrative Review

Mizuki Sudo, Joseph T. Costello, Terry McMorris and Soichi Ando

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Liana Fattore, CNR Neuroscience Institute (IN), Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Chong Chen cchen@yamaguchi-u.ac.jp

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Motivation and Reward, a section of the journal Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

RECEIVED 18 September 2022 ACCEPTED 27 October 2022 PUBLISHED 04 November 2022

#### CITATION

Chen C, Yau SY, Clemente FM and Ishihara T (2022) Editorial: The effects of physical activity and exercise on cognitive and affective wellbeing. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 16:1047758. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2022.1047758

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Chen, Yau, Clemente and Ishihara. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## Editorial: The effects of physical activity and exercise on cognitive and affective wellbeing

## Chong Chen<sup>1\*</sup>, Suk Yu Yau<sup>2,3</sup>, Filipe Manuel Clemente<sup>4,5</sup> and Toru Ishihara<sup>6</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Division of Neuropsychiatry, Department of Neuroscience, Yamaguchi University Graduate School of Medicine, Ube, Japan, <sup>2</sup>Department of Rehabilitation Sciences, Faculty of Health and Social Sciences, Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, Hong Kong SAR, China, <sup>3</sup>Mental Health Research Centre, Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Kowloon, Hong Kong SAR, China, <sup>4</sup>Escola Superior Desporto e Lazer, Instituto Politécnico de Viana do Castelo, Viana do Castelo, Portugal, <sup>6</sup>Instituto de Telecomunicações, Delegação da Covilhã, Covilhã, Portugal, <sup>6</sup>Graduate School of Human Development and Environment, Kobe University, Kobe, Japan

#### KEYWORDS

physical activity, green exercise, executive functions, working memory, depression, mental health, neuroimaging, neurobiology

#### Editorial on the Research Topic

The effects of physical activity and exercise on cognitive and affective wellbeing

A growing body of research suggests that physical activity and exercise enhance a wide range of cognitive and affective wellbeing, including executive functions (Ludyga et al., 2020; Ishihara et al., 2021), memory (Wanner et al., 2020; Aghjayan et al., 2022), creative thinking (Aga et al., 2021; Chen et al., 2021), stress resilience (Arida and Teixeira-Machado, 2021; Belcher et al., 2021), and mental health (Chen et al., 2017; White et al., 2017). Exercise has also been recommended for the treatment of dementia (Cardona et al., 2021) and major depression (Cooney et al., 2013). However, it is still unclear what type, frequency and duration of physical activity and exercise bring the maximal benefits to a specific outcome in a specific population. Furthermore, how findings reported so far can be incorporated into people's everyday life and in educational and psychiatric contexts also remain unaddressed. Finally, the underlying psychological and neurobiological mechanisms of the benefits of physical activity and exercise are still largely unclear. This Research Topic comprises twelve papers that help address these unsolved issues and advance our understanding of the cognitive and affective benefits of physical activity and exercise. Specifically, four important topics emerged from these studies.

Firstly, even a short bout of physical activity or exercise at relatively low intensity may have cognitive and affective benefits. A real-life study by Matsumoto et al. reported that compared to using the elevator, stair-climbing at one's usual pace for three floors roundtrip boosted divergent creative thinking, as assessed by the Alternate Use test. Ando et al. found that both 30 min of aerobic and resistance exercise at a light intensity (40% peak oxygen uptake) reduced participants' reaction time on a Go/No-Go task that measures executive function. However, changes in cognitive performance were not associated with several peripheral biomarkers, including adrenaline, noradrenaline, cortisol, lactate, etc., which calls for further in-depth investigation on other potential mechanisms underlying the cognitive benefits of physical exercise. Physical activity and exercise at low intensities may also improve mental health and have anti-depressant effects. Legrand et al. found that brisk walking for 30 min either in an urban or a green, natural environment reduced participants' negative affect. However, only walking in the green, natural environment increased participants' positive affect, which emphasized the superior benefits of "green exercise" (Chen, 2018; Li et al., 2022). Given that depressed patients often have reduced exercise motivation and physical fitness, Sakai et al. developed an exercise program consisting of 15-25 min of cycling twice a week at an intensity that approaches but never goes higher than subjects' ventilatory threshold (considered light to moderate in intensity). In a pilot study, the authors reported promising therapeutic effects of this program in depressed patients.

Secondly, the effect of high intensity exercise on cognitive performance may depend on the characteristic of exercise and participants. A review by Sudo et al. found that cognitive performance during acute high intensity aerobic exercise is generally impaired while no impairment and even improvement is observed when cognitive tasks are administered over 6 min after high intensity exercise. They also found that cognitive impairment during high intensity exercise is more likely to occur to individuals with low physical fitness and during cycling than running. Age may be another moderating factor but more research is required to reach sound conclusions. The authors also discussed the underlying mechanism of such cognitive-exercise interaction, including regional cerebral blood flow, cerebral oxygenation and metabolism, neurotransmitters, and neurotrophic factors. In contrast to during high intensity exercise, cognitive performance during moderate intensity exercise may be more likely to be enhanced. In a study by Zheng et al., participants stayed sedentary (seating) or exercised on a cycle ergometer at 50% maximal aerobic power for 15 min while simultaneously performed a n-back task and undergone functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS). It was found that the reaction time for the n-back task was faster in the cycling than seating condition, which was accompanied by reduced concentration of oxygenated hemoglobin in several brain areas, including the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. Ballester-Ferrer et al. investigated the effects of a 10-week high-intensity functional training program, in which all-out running, jumping rope, or muscle endurance exercise were performed for 10-30 min, 3 times per week. The authors found that while participants in the control group without such training showed no improvement on reaction time on tasks such as the Choice Reaction Test and Interference Test throughout the 10-week period, participants in the training group demonstrated shorter reaction time on these tasks. However, the effect of the training program on psychological wellbeing was absent.

Thirdly, studies have been using mediation analysis to uncover the mechanisms of the benefits of physical activity and fitness. Potoczny et al. found that the effect of Karate training on satisfaction with life was fully mediated by self-control and reappraisal. Hernández-Jaña et al. found that cardiorespiratory fitness and speed-agility fitness but not muscular fitness mediated the association between BMI/central fatness and cognitive performance on eight tasks evaluating working memory, psychomotor speed, and fluid and logical reasoning, etc. Together with evidence that adiponectin, a hormone released by adipocytes, mediates the antidepressant-like and hippocampal neurogenesis enhancing effect of wheel running in mice (Yau et al., 2014), the latter study highlights the interaction between fitness and fatness in influencing cognitive and affective wellbeing.

Fourthly, given that many individuals especially females (Clemente et al., 2016) are physically inactive, there are a number of ways for people to increase physical activity and use physical activity as a strategy to boost cognitive and affective wellbeing in everyday life. As suggested by Legrand et al., one may want to walk to work or walk for one bus stop while commuting and when walk, one may walk to choose greener routes. As suggested by Matsumoto et al., in the workplace, one may want to take the stairs rather than using the elevator whenever possible. Brown and Kwan suggested another strategy, replacing screen time with physical activity. Using isotemporal substitution analysis, the authors found that replacing screen time with moderate-to-vigorous physical activity or sleep is associated with enhanced mental wellbeing. Furthermore, Shen et al. suggests that rather than pure physical activity, activities that simultaneously require cognitive processing may bring greater benefits. The authors found that 8 weeks of Tai Chi Chuan, a mindfulness exercise that tries to integrate the body and mind, improved inhibitory control performance as indicated by reduced reaction time on a flanker task more than that by 8 weeks of brisk walking. Using resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), the authors found that the improved inhibitory control performance was correlated with spontaneous neural activity in the left medial superior frontal gyrus. Finally, Almarcha et al. suggests that compared to exercise programs prescribed by other people, co-designed exercise programs with inputs from the participants may bring greater benefits. The authors found that whereas a co-designed 9-week exercise program improved self-reported mental health in seven of eight scales used, a prescribed exercise program improved mental health only in three scales.

## Author contributions

All authors contributed to the writing and editing of this Research Topic editorial.

## Funding

CC was supported by a research grant from The Nakatomi Foundation, Japan.

## Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the authors of all the papers included in this Research Topic as well as the reviewers who helped us evaluate these studies.

## References

Aga, K., Inamura, M., Chen, C., Hagiwara, K., Yamashita, R., Hirotsu, M., et al. (2021). The effect of acute aerobic exercise on divergent and convergent thinking and its influence by mood. *Brain Sci.* 11, 546. doi: 10.3390/brainsci11050546

Aghjayan, S. L., Bournias, T., Kang, C., Zhou, X., Stillman, C. M., Donofry, S. D., et al. (2022). Aerobic exercise improves episodic memory in late adulthood: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Commun. Med.* 2, 1–11. doi: 10.1038/s43856-022-00079-7

Arida, R. M., and Teixeira-Machado, L. (2021). The contribution of physical exercise to brain resilience. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 14, 626769. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2020.626769

Belcher, B. R., Zink, J., Azad, A., Campbell, C. E., Chakravartti, S. P., and and Herting, M. M. (2021). The roles of physical activity, exercise, and fitness in promoting resilience during adolescence: effects on mental well-being and brain development. *Biol. Psychiatry* 6, 225–237. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2020.08.005

Cardona, M. I., Afi, A., Lakicevic, N., and and Thyrian, J. R. (2021). Physical activity interventions and their effects on cognitive function in people with dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18, 8753. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18168753

Chen, C. (2018). Cleverland: The Science of How Nature Nurtures. London, UK: Brain and Life Publishing.

Chen, C., Mochizuki, Y., Hagiwara, K., Hirotsu, M., and Nakagawa, S. (2021). Regular vigorous-intensity physical activity and walking are associated with divergent but not convergent thinking in Japanese young adults. *Brain Sci.* 11, 1046. doi: 10.3390/brainsci11081046

Chen, C., Nakagawa, S., An, Y., Ito, K., Kitaichi, Y., and Kusumi, I. (2017). The exercise-glucocorticoid paradox: How exercise is beneficial to cognition, mood, and the brain while increasing glucocorticoid levels. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 44, 83–102. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2016.12.001

## **Conflict of interest**

CC is the author of Cleverland: The Science of How Nature Nurtures.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Clemente, F. M., Nikolaidis, P. T., Martins, F. M. L., and Mendes, R. S. (2016). Physical activity patterns in university students: do they follow the public health guidelines?. *PLoS ONE* 11, e0152516. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152516

Cooney, G. M., Dwan, K., Greig, C. A., Lawlor, D. A., Rimer, J., Waugh, F. R., et al. (2013). Exercise for depression. *Cochr. Database Syst. Rev.* 9, CD004366. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004366.pub6

Ishihara, T., Drollette, E. S., Ludyga, S., Hillman, C. H., and Kamijo, K. (2021). The effects of acute aerobic exercise on executive function: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual participant data. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 128, 258–269. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.06.026

Li, H., Zhang, X., Bi, S., Cao, Y., and Zhang, G. (2022). Psychological benefits of green exercise in wild or urban greenspaces: a meta-analysis of controlled trials. *Urban Forest. Urban Green.* 68, 127458. doi: 10.1016/j.ufug.2022.127458

Ludyga, S., Gerber, M., Pühse, U., Looser, V. N., and Kamijo, K. (2020). Systematic review and meta-analysis investigating moderators of long-term effects of exercise on cognition in healthy individuals. *Nat. Hum. Behav.* 4, 603–612. doi: 10.1038/s41562-020-0851-8

Wanner, P., Cheng, F. H., and Steib, S. (2020). Effects of acute cardiovascular exercise on motor memory encoding and consolidation: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 116, 365–381. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.06.018

White, R. L., Babic, M. J., Parker, P. D., Lubans, D. R., Astell-Burt, T., and Lonsdale, C. (2017). Domain-specific physical activity and mental health: a metaanalysis. Am. J. Prev. Med. 52, 653–666. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.12.008

Yau, S. Y., Li, A., Hoo, R. L., Ching, Y. P., Christie, B. R., Lee, T. M., et al. (2014). Physical exercise-induced hippocampal neurogenesis and antidepressant effects are mediated by the adipocyte hormone adiponectin. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 111, 15810–15815. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1415219111





## Mediation Role of Physical Fitness and Its Components on the Association Between Distribution-Related Fat Indicators and Adolescents' Cognitive Performance: Exploring the Influence of School Vulnerability. The Cogni-Action Project

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Filipe Manuel Clemente, Polytechnic Institute of Viana do Castelo, Portugal

#### Reviewed by:

Ersan Arslan, Siirt University, Turkey Zeki Akyildiz, Gazi University, Turkey

#### \*Correspondence:

Carlos Cristi-Montero carlos.cristi.montero@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Regulation and Processing, a section of the journal Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

> Received: 23 July 2021 Accepted: 16 August 2021 Published: 08 September 2021

#### Citation:

Hemández-Jaña S, Sanchez-Martinez J, Solis-Urra P, Esteban-Cornejo I, Castro-Piñero J, Sadarangani KP, Aguilar-Farias N, Ferrari G and Cristi-Montero C (2021) Mediation Role of Physical Fitness and Its Components on the Association Between Distribution-Related Fat Indicators and Adolescents' Cognitive Performance: Exploring the Influence of School Vulnerability. The Cogni-Action Project. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 15:746197. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2021.746197 Sam Hernández-Jaña<sup>1</sup>, Javier Sanchez-Martinez<sup>1,2</sup>, Patricio Solis-Urra<sup>3,4</sup>, Irene Esteban-Cornejo<sup>3</sup>, Jose Castro-Piñero<sup>5,6</sup>, Kabir P. Sadarangani<sup>7,8</sup>, Nicolas Aguilar-Farias<sup>9</sup>, Gerson Ferrari<sup>10</sup> and Carlos Cristi-Montero<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Physical Education School, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Valparaíso, Valparaíso, Chile, <sup>2</sup>Escuela de Kinesiología, Facultad de Salud, Universidad Santo Tomás, Viña del Mar, Chile, <sup>3</sup>PROFITH "PROmoting FITness and Health Through Physical Activity" Research Group, Sport and Health University Research Institute (iMUDS), Department of Physical Education and Sports, Faculty of Sport Sciences, University of Granada, Granada, Spain, <sup>4</sup>Faculty of Education and Social Sciences, Universidad Andres Bello, Viña del Mar, Chile, <sup>5</sup>GALENO Research Group, Department of Physical Education, Faculty of Education Sciences, University of Cádiz, Puerto Real, Spain, <sup>6</sup>Biomedical Research and Innovation Institute of Cádiz (INIBICA) Research Unit, Cádiz, Spain, <sup>7</sup>Universidad Autónoma de Chile, Providencia, Chile, <sup>8</sup>Escuela de Kinesiología, Facultad de Salud y Odontología, Universidad Diego Portales, Santiago, Chile, <sup>9</sup>Department of Physical Education, Sports and Recreation, Universidad de La Frontera, Temuco, Chile, <sup>10</sup>Escuela de Ciencias de la Actividad Física, el Deporte y la Salud, Universidad de Santiago de Chile (USACH), Santiago, Chile

**Background**: Physical fitness and fatness converge simultaneously modulating cognitive skills, which in turn, are associated with children and adolescents' socioeconomic background. However, both fitness components and fat mass localization are crucial for understanding its implication at the cognitive level.

**Objective**: This study aimed to determine the mediation role of a global physical fitness score and its components on the association between different fatness indicators related to fat distribution and adolescents' cognitive performance, and simultaneously explore the influence of school vulnerability.

**Methods**: In this study, 1,196 Chilean adolescents participated (aged 10–14; 50.7% boys). Cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF), muscular fitness (MF), and speed-agility fitness (SAF) were evaluated, and a global fitness score (GFS) was computed adjusted for age and sex (CRF + MF + SAF *z*-scores). Body mass index *z*-score (BMIz), sumof-4-skinfolds (4SKF), and waist-to-height ratio (WHtR) were used as non-specific, peripheral, and central adiposity indicators, respectively. A global cognitive score was computed based on eight tasks, and the school vulnerability index (SVI) was registered as high, mid or low. A total of 24 mediation analyses were performed according to two models, adjusted for sex and peak high velocity (Model 1), and adding the school vulnerability index (SVI) in Model 2. The significance level was set at p < 0.05.

**Results**: The fitness mediation role was different concerning the fatness indicators related to fat distribution analyzed. Even after controlling for SVI, CRF (22%), and SAF (29%), but not MF, mediated the association between BMIz and cognitive performance. Likewise, CRF, SAF and GFS, but not MF, mediated the association between WHtR and cognitive performance (38.6%, 31.9%, and 54.8%, respectively). No mediations were observed for 4SKF.

**Conclusion**: The negative association between fatness and cognitive performance is mitigated by the level of adolescents' physical fitness, mainly CRF and SAF. This mediation role seems to be more consistent with a central fat indicator even in the presence of school vulnerability. Strategies promoting physical fitness would reduce the cognitive gap in children and adolescents related to obesity and school vulnerability.

Keywords: cognition, physical activity, children, school, obesity, fatness, fat distribution

## INTRODUCTION

An excess of body fat has been associated with a diversity of metabolic, cardiovascular, and mental health conditions (Halfon et al., 2013; Sahoo et al., 2015). Children and adolescents with overweight or obesity present lower cognitive functioning (Esteban-Cornejo et al., 2020) in several cognitive domains such as attention, executive functioning, memory, and visuospatial performance (Liang et al., 2014). An adequate cognitive development in childhood is crucial for both short and long-term, due to its future impact on predictors related to socioeconomic status, health, and behavior, which might counteract the adverse effect of children's social environment (Feinstein and Bynner, 2004).

In this sense, social disadvantages and inequalities have been related to worse cognitive developments and obesity in childhood (Ruiz-Hermosa et al., 2019; Vazquez and Cubbin, 2020). For instance, children and adolescents living in a vulnerable context showed increased cortisol levels, reduced gray and white brain matter, lower performance in working memory, inhibitory control, and cognitive flexibility (Ursache and Noble, 2016b) and thereby, a lower performance in their general cognitive functioning (Hackman and Farah, 2009; Brito and Noble, 2014). Thus, both obesity and social vulnerability converge, affecting normal cognitive development in children and adolescents. This complex scenario might be mitigated in early stages such as adolescence when the brain defines its structure and functioning, and still it is possible to evoke behavioral changes (Herting and Chu, 2017; Stillman et al., 2020).

Many strategies have been suggested to improve children and adolescents' cognitive performance (Diamond and Ling, 2016; Schoentgen et al., 2020). For this purpose, physical fitness seems to be an enjoyable and low-cost approach associated with reducing body fat mass and the influence of social vulnerability (Yang et al., 2007; Åberg et al., 2009). For instance, a study in children aged 5-7 years showed that physical fitness mediates the adverse relationship between body mass index and cognitive performance, and this outcome seems to be independent of socioeconomic vulnerability (Ruiz-Hermosa et al., 2019). Furthermore, a study using a structural equation model established that adolescents' physical fitness mediates the relationship between body mass index and cognitive performance (Lemes et al., 2021). Nonetheless, school vulnerability presented an inverse association with cognitive performance, which was only partially mediated by physical fitness (Lemes et al., 2021). Therefore, current evidence suggests a positive influence of the physical fitness level in the association between fatness and cognitive functioning, which could even be maintained despite the detrimental impact of the children's social background.

Despite this evidence, there are still gaps to cover in order to improve global understanding in this research area. Some authors point out that cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) has been the most studied fitness indicator on cognition (Esteban-Cornejo et al., 2017; Kao et al., 2017), but scarce evidence has explored how other fitness components such as muscular fitness (MF) and speed-agility fitness (SAF) are related to cognitive functioning. Similarly, fatness indicators have been limited mainly to the use of the body mass index (Ruiz-Hermosa et al., 2019); nevertheless, evidence indicates that the location of fat mass is crucial. For instance, visceral fat seems to affect cognitive functioning to a greater extent than other general (non-specific) or peripheral indicators (Schwartz et al., 2013). Also, longitudinal and bidirectional evidence in children and adolescents have shown that fatness may play a more relevant role in the risk of developing metabolic syndrome compared with CRF (Reuter et al., 2021), and that fatness changes were associated with future CRF levels, independently of baseline CRF (Perez-Bey et al.,

2020). The aforementioned, support our theoretical approach considering fatness as a predictor of cognitive performance.

Therefore, the present study aims to determine the mediator role of CRF, MF, SAF, and a global fitness score (GFS) on the association between fatness indicators related to fat distribution such as body mass index *z*-score (BMIz), sum-of-4skinfolds (4SKF), and waist-to-height ratio (WHtR; non-specific, peripheral, and central adiposity indicators, respectively) and a global cognitive score in adolescents. Furthermore, this study explored the influence of the school vulnerability index (SVI) as a covariate. It is hypothesized that the GFS and all its components mitigate the inverse relationship between fatness indicators and cognitive performance and that mediation effects remain stable even when SVI is included in the model. At the same time, it is hypothesized that WHtR could be the most consistent fat indicator compared to BMIz and 4SKF, in the mediation role of fitness, due to its greater specificity.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study is part of the Cogni-Action Project, which determines the associations of physical activity, sedentary behavior, and physical fitness with brain structure and function, cognitive performance, and academic achievement in a large sample of Chilean adolescents (Solis-Urra et al., 2019). It was conducted from March 2017 to October 2019 and involved adolescents from the public, subsidized, and private schools in Valparaíso, Chile. The project was approved by the Ethics Committee of Pontificia Universidad Católica de Valparaíso (BIOEPUCV-H103-2016) and was registered in the Research Registry (ID: researchregistry5791). Written consents or assents were obtained before participation from corresponding school principals, parents, and adolescents. The present study was performed according to STROBE guidelines (Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology) for cross-sectional studies (von Elm et al., 2008).

## **Study Population**

The sample size was calculated based on the total enrolment of children and adolescents between grades 5–8, according to the student universe (n = 951, 962) indicated by the Ministry of Education. More information about sample size estimation can be found elsewhere (Solis-Urra et al., 2019). Overall, a total of 797 participants were needed for representativeness, nonetheless, 1,296 adolescents (10–14 years old) from 19 schools participated in the project. Important to note, this project and study use the definition of adolescence which establishes it as the period between 10–24 years of age (Sawyer et al., 2018). Inclusion criteria for this project were girls and boys from grades 5–8, while the exclusion criteria for this study were incomplete fitness, fatness, cognitive and covariates data. Finally, 1,196 participants were included in this study.

## Measurements

Adolescents were evaluated at schools in two sessions of 4 h separated by 8 days. Cognitive performance and anthropometric measurements were assessed in the first session, whereas physical fitness was evaluated in the second session. Trained staff evaluated all variables; moreover, adolescents had familiarization trials before each test.

## **Physical Fitness Assessment**

The ALPHA-fitness test battery was used to evaluate three physical fitness components (CRF, MF, and SAF) by four different field-based tests. The validity and reliability of this battery have been described in previous research (Ruiz et al., 2011). It was suggested to wear suitable sportswear to perform tests in sport or indoor fields during the morning (between 9:30 and 12:00). Instructions were verbally provided, and each test was explained and demonstrated to ensure optimal performance. Adolescents practised the tests and performed them when they felt prepared to start.

## **Global Fitness Score**

To compute the GFS, physical fitness was assessed through the ALPHA fitness test battery, which evaluates three main fitness components, CRF, MF, and SAF (Ruiz et al., 2011). A *z*-score of each component was calculated adjusted for age and sex, and all three were added. The evaluations carried out are detailed below.

## **Cardiorespiratory Fitness**

The 20-m shuttle run test was used to evaluated CRF grouping between eight to 10 participants, and they were guided to the starting line. The run rhythm (pace) was indicated by a sound signal and started at 8.5 km/h, increasing 0.5 km/h every minute. They started the test from the starting line and had to run 20 meters to the second line and wait for the next signal to run back to the starting line. A physical education teacher ran beside the adolescents during the first 2 min to ensure the correct progression and adaptation to the test. The trial ended when participants could not keep the velocity of the test or failed to reach the line twice. Total time in seconds was registered as previously recommended (Tomkinson et al., 2019). Lastly, a *z*score according to age and sex was created as a normalized CRF score.

## **Muscular Fitness**

The MF indicator was calculated according to upper and lower limb strength. The maximum handgrip strength was used to evaluate upper limb strength using a dynamometer (Jamar Plus+ Digital Hand Dynamometer, Sammons Preston, USA), previously adjusted for participants' hand size (measures of 0-90 kg and 0.1 kg precision). The test was performed on both hands (twice) with a fully extended elbow in a standing position, registering the maximum score. A relative measure of upper limb strength was calculated, dividing the best score (both hands) by body weight.

The standing long jump test was used to determine the lower limb strength. Adolescents must stand with both feet in parallel behind the starting line. They had to jump on the verbal signal as far as possible with both feet simultaneously. They performed twice this test, resting 1 min between attempts, and the longest jump was recorded in centimetres. Lastly, sex- and age-specific *z*score from the upper and lower limb tests were added to calculate the MF score.

## **Speed-Agility Fitness**

The 4  $\times$  10 m shuttle run test was used to determine SAF, which involves the speed of movement, agility, and coordination. This test consists of running between two lines (5 m in width) separated by 10 m in length, with both lines having a cone placed as a point reference. Every participant had to run as fast as possible, and on reaching the first line, they had to grab a cloth located ~50 cm and run back, carrying it to the start line (this procedure was repeated three times). After that, they had to repeat the sequence until the ending of the test. Every adolescent had two opportunities, and the fastest time was recorded in seconds. Furthermore, time was multiplied by -1; a higher score means a better performance. Lastly, a *z*-score according to age and sex was created as a normalized SAF score.

## **Cognitive Performance**

Cognitive performance was evaluated using the NeuroCognitive Performance Test (NCPT) from Lumos Labs, Inc., which has demonstrated acceptable reliability and validity to assess cognitive performance (Morrison et al., 2015). This test based on a web-based platform allows measuring several cognitive domains such as working memory, visuospatial memory, psychomotor speed, fluid and logical reasoning, response inhibition, numerical calculation, and selective and divided attention.

The NCPT was taken in groups of 25 participants (each one had a laptop provided by the research team) in school classrooms, lasting roughly 1 h the entire session. First of all, the session's objective was provided through a brief explanation, demonstration, practice, and execution before each test. Furthermore, any adolescents' questions about the procedure were immediately answered by an instructor before starting each cognitive test. A summary of all cognitive tests is shown in **Supplementary Figure 1**, and more information about them can be found in previous research (Morrison et al., 2015; Solis-Urra et al., 2019). Finally, following the original battery procedure, each test was scaled according to a normal inverse transformation of the percentile rank (Morrison et al., 2015). Hence, it calculated a score derived on the same normal distribution with a mean and standard deviation of 100 and 15.

## **Fatness Indicators**

General and non-specific indicator of adiposity (BMIz): The height and weight were measured with a digital scale OMRON (HN-289-LA, Kyoto, Japan) with a precision of 0.1 kg and a portable stadiometer SECA (model 213, GmbH, Germany) with a precision of 0.1 cm, respectively. The World Health Organization, 2007 growth reference was used to determinate BMIz for school-age children (de Onis et al., 2007).

Peripheral adiposity indicator (4SKF): Triceps, biceps, subscapular, and suprailiac skinfolds were measured with a Slim Guide calliper (Creative Health Products, Plymouth, Michigan, United States) and added to calculate the 4SKF (Cristi-Montero et al., 2019).

Central adiposity indicator (WHtR): The minimum waist circumference was assessed with an inextensible tape (Lufkin,

Apex, NC, Unites States), and then it was divided by height in centimetres to obtain WHtR (waist[cm]/height [cm]).

### **Covariates**

Sex, peak high velocity (PHV), and SVI were used as covariates. Sex has been considered a relevant moderator in this research area because visceral fatness, for instance, may impact more strongly in female subjects (Schwartz et al., 2013). Likewise, there is a significant interindividual variance in biological maturation timing among adolescents (Lloyd et al., 2014). Thereby, differences between chronological and biological age would be reflected in brain development or cognitive abilities (Brown et al., 2012). Hence, PHV was calculated as a maturity indicator (Moore et al., 2015), subtracting the PHV age from the chronological age. Differences among years were established as a maturity offset value.

Socioeconomic status is a potent predictor of diverse domains such as language skills, executive function, memory, and social-emotional processing (Ursache and Noble, 2016a). However, in Latin-American countries, school characteristics (i.e., economic, social, and cultural status) seem to be a stronger predictor of adolescents' cognitive and school performance than socioeconomic status (Flores-Mendoza et al., 2015). SVI is an index to measure students' socioeconomic vulnerability at public/subsidized funding schools. It involves the family's socioeconomic status, the educational level of parents-tutors, student health condition, physical and emotional wellbeing, and school location (López et al., 2017). Then, schools were classified as low (<10), middle ( $\geq$ 10 to <60), and high ( $\geq$ 60) SVI. A value of zero is assigned to private schools.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive statistics are shown as mean and standard deviation. Parametric tests (*t*-student, correlations, and mediations) were used to conduct all analyses, as indicated by the central limit theorem for sample sizes over 500 participants (Lumley et al., 2002). Simultaneously, a Q-Q plot (quantile-quantile plot) was used for checking normality visually. Neither interaction by sex nor by age was observed, thereby all analyses are presented together for boys and girls and adolescents between 10 and 14 years old. However, **Table 1** (participants' characteristics) gives information about boys, girls, and all together to have a global vision of the study participants.

The t-Student test was performed to compare boys' and girls' characteristics. Associations among fatness indicators, fitness components, and cognitive performance were performed by Pearson correlations (continuous variables) and Kendall's tau-b to SVI (categorical variable). Moreover, multicollinearity was checked before performing the mediation analysis. Considering the high rate of participation and representativeness, missing data were not imputed.

The mediation model is presented in **Figure 1**. Overall, 24 mediation analyses were performed considering predictors (BMIz, 4SKF or WHtR), mediators (global fitness, CRF, MF, or SAF), outcome (cognitive performance), and two models (covariates). The general mediation model was structured as follows: equation (a) consisted of the predictor by the mediator;

#### TABLE 1 | Participants' characteristics.

		All		Boys		Girls	
	n	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	n	$Mean \pm SD$	n	$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	p-value
Age (years)	1,196	11.71 ± 1.06	606	$11.68 \pm 1.05$	590	11.74 ± 1.08	0.312
Weight (kg)	1,183	$50.28 \pm 11.91$	603	$49.38 \pm 11.99$	580	$51.21 \pm 11.76$	0.002
Height (cm)	1,183	$152.41 \pm 9.24$	603	$152.24 \pm 10.19$	580	$152.57 \pm 8.13$	0.206
PHV	1,183	$-0.55 \pm 1.21$	603	$-1.28 \pm 0.93$	580	$0.21 \pm 0.98$	<0.001
BMIz	1,183	$1.04 \pm 1.07$	603	$1.07 \pm 1.10$	580	$1.01 \pm 1.03$	0.244
4SKF (mm)	1,150	$64.56 \pm 27.47$	587	$57.05 \pm 23.77$	563	$72.40 \pm 28.87$	<0.001
WHtR	1154	$0.46 \pm 0.06$	587	$0.46 \pm 0.06$	567	$0.45 \pm 0.06$	<0.001
SVI	1,196	$56.08 \pm 35.12$	606	$57.61 \pm 34.16$	590	$54.51 \pm 36.04$	0.128
Cognitive performance	1,196	$100.02 \pm 4.85$	606	$99.70 \pm 4.88$	590	$100.34 \pm 4.80$	0.021
Global fitness score	912	$0.01 \pm 3.10$	460	$-0.01 \pm 3.21$	452	$0.03 \pm 2.98$	0.845
CRF (zscore)	967	$0.00 \pm 1.00$	491	$0.00 \pm 1.00$	476	$0.00 \pm 1.00$	0.602
MF (zscore)	975	$0.02 \pm 1.68$	489	$0.03 \pm 1.73$	486	$0.02 \pm 1.62$	0.960
SAF (zscore)	976	$0.00 \pm 1.00$	492	$0.00 \pm 1.00$	484	$0.00 \pm 1.00$	0.689

SD, standard deviation; PHV, peak high velocity; BMIz, body mass index (zscore); 4SKF, sum-of-4-skinfolds; WHtR, waist-to-height ratio; SVI, school vulnerability index; CRF, cardiorespiratory fitness; MF, muscular fitness; SAF, speed-agility fitness. Bold values indicate statistical significance.



equation (b) was defined as a mediator by the outcome; equation (c) consisted of the predictor by the outcome; and finally, equation (c') consisted of predictor and mediator by the outcome. Bias was reduced, adjusting analyses to relevant covariates; thus, two models were performed to test our objectives and hypotheses. Model 1: adjusted for sex and PHV, and model 2: adjusted for sex, PHV, and SVI. Note that: (a) the models were not adjusted for other fitness components to facilitate comparison between the percentage of mediation with the GFS (composed by the sum of the three fitness components); and (b) sample size by analysis changes depending on if participants have measures of all their variables (fatness, fitness, cognitive and covariates). Detailed sample size by analysis is presented as **Supplementary Material (Supplementary Tables 1–3**).

To evaluate the mediation effect, bootstrapping with 5,000 samples linear regression analysis was performed (Preacher and Hayes, 2008) through PROCESS SPSS script (Hayes, 2013). The indirect effect was considered significant

if zero was outside the 95% confidence interval (Field, 2013). Percentage of mediation was estimated as 1- (equation c' / equation c). Finally, the mediation was classified according to Nitzl et al. (Nitzl et al., 2016) as: (a) "Indirect-only" (Full mediation): the indirect effect only exists through the mediator, this means the indirect effect exists, but no direct effect; (b) "Complementary" (Partial mediation): a portion of the effect of the predictor on the outcome variable is mediated through the mediator, whereas predictor still explains a portion of outcome variable that is independent of a mediator, that means that the indirect and direct effect exists and point in the same direction; (c) "Competitive" (Partial mediation): the same as the complementary classification, both the indirect and direct effect exists but point in different directions; (d) "Direct-only" (No mediation): the direct effect exists, but no indirect effect; and (e) "No effect" (No mediation): neither direct and indirect effect exists (Zhao et al., 2010). For all analyses, the significance level was set at p < 0.05.

## RESULTS

**Table 1** displays participants characteristics and differences bysex (boys 50.7% and girls 49.3%). Statistical differences in weight,PHV, WHtR, 4SKF and cognitive performance were found.

The correlation matrix among fatness indicators (i.e., BMIz, 4SKF, WHtR), fitness indicators (i.e., GFS, CRF, MF and SAF), SVI and cognitive performance are presented in **Table 2**. Overall, all physical fitness variables were negatively correlated with fatness indicators. In contrast, physical fitness variables were positively associated with cognitive performance, and fatness variables were negatively related to cognitive performance. Moreover, all correlations were statistically significant.

Table 3 shows a summary of all study mediations. Overall, it is possible to observe the variation in each meditation percentage and classification according to model 1 and 2. For BMIz: both CRF and SAF presented a "complementary" mediation (model 1) which changed to "Indirect only" mediation in model 2. The final mediation percentages (model 2) were 22.0% (SAF) and 29.0% (CRF). GFS and MF did not have any mediation effect after controlling for SVI (model 2). In 4SKF: the global fitness and all its components did not mediate the association between 4SKF and cognitive performance after controlling the analysis for SVI (model 2). For WHtR: GFS, CRF, and SAF presented a full mediation effect ("Indirect only") in both models. The final mediation percentages (model 2) were 31.9% (SAF), 38.6% (CRF), and 54.8% (GFS). MF did not have any mediation effect. A complete description of all mediation analyses is presented as Supplementary Material (Supplementary Tables 1-3).

## DISCUSSION

This study aimed to determine the mediation role of a GFS and its components on the association between different fatness indicators related to fat distribution and a global cognitive score in adolescents and exploring the influence of SVI. Concerning the mediations, first, the influence of physical fitness as a mediator was modified according to what kind of fatness indicator related to fat distribution was analyzed; second, the GFS, CRF, and SAF showed a significant mediation role, whereas MF did not; and third, the SVI inclusion in the second model tends to modify the percentage and mediation's classification; nonetheless, the favorable fitness role in the association between WHtR and cognitive performance seems to not be affected.

## Differences in Fitness Component Mediations

To date, the positive association between physical fitness and cognition is well-established in the literature (Donnelly et al., 2016). However, it is crucial in this research area to expand the exploratory approach to multiples fitness components due to the personal preferences of type of exercise and physical activities (which could improve a particular fitness component more than others), and also due to the differential association between each fitness component with cognitive skills. Regarding the latter, a study in children with overweight and obesity showed a positive association between MF and planning ability, between SAF and cognitive flexibility and inhibition, and finally CRF and a GFS with indicators of cognitive flexibility (Mora-Gonzalez et al.,

	BMIz	4SKF	WHtR	GFS	CRF	MF	SAF	SVI
4SKF	0.730							
WHtR	0.830	0.724						
GFS	-0.425	-0.475	-0.467					
CRF	-0.341	-0.399	-0.349	0.789				
MF	-0.458	-0.496	-0.511	0.906	0.558			
SAF	-0.208	-0.236	-0.235	0.785	0.496	0.547		
SVI	0.089	0.054	0.126	-0.160	-0.139	-0.184	-0.054	
Cognitive performance	-0.102	-0.094	-0.102	0.133	0.124	0.094	0.109	-0.14

BMIz, body mass index standard deviation; 4SKF, sum 4 skinfolds; WHtR, waist-to-height ratio; GFS, global fitness score; CRF, cardiorespiratory fitness; MF, muscular fitness; SAF, speed-agility fitness; SVI, school vulnerability index. Bold values indicate statistical significance.

TABLE 3   Findings' sum	mary concerning the direct and in	direct effect according to both models.
-------------------------	-----------------------------------	---

	BMIz	4SKF	WHtR
GFS	$43.5\%^* \rightarrow 36.9\% = \Delta - 6.6$	<b>40.8%</b> → <b>31.8%</b> = Δ − <b>9.0</b>	$51.8\%^* \rightarrow 54.8^* = \Delta +3.0$
	Indirect only $\rightarrow$ No effect	No effect $\rightarrow$ No effect	Indirect only $\rightarrow$ Indirect only
CRF	$32.5\%^* \rightarrow 29.0\%^* = \Delta - 3.5$	$\textbf{34.8\%} \rightarrow \textbf{29.2\%} = \textbf{\Delta} - \textbf{5.6}$	$36.4\%^* \rightarrow 38.6\%^* = \Delta + 2.2$
	Complementary $\rightarrow$ Indirect only	Direct only $\rightarrow$ No effect	Indirect only $\rightarrow$ Indirect only
MF	$26.3\% \rightarrow 9.7\% = \Delta - 16.6$	$\textbf{23.0\%} \rightarrow \textbf{3.0\%} = \textbf{\Delta} - \textbf{20.0}$	$31.8\% \rightarrow 19.1\% \Delta - 12.7$
	Direct only $\rightarrow$ No effect	Direct only $\rightarrow$ Direct only	No effect $\rightarrow$ No effect
SAF	$19.7\%^* \rightarrow 22.0\%^* = \Delta + 2.3$	<b>19.0%</b> → <b>19.7%</b> = Δ +0.7	$23.1\%^* \rightarrow 31.9\%^* = \Delta +8.8$
	Complementary $\rightarrow$ Indirect only	Direct only $\rightarrow$ Direct only	Indirect only $\rightarrow$ Indirect only

General scheme: Model 1  $\rightarrow$  Model 2 = Variation on mediation ( $\Delta$  %); Model 1: Adjusted for sex and PHV; Model 2: Adjusted Model 1 + SVI. \* indicates the indirect effect is statistically significant. 4SKF, sum-of-4-skinfolds; BMIz, Body Mass Index z-score; WHtR, Waist-to-Height Ratio; GFS, global fitness score; CRF, Cardiorespiratory Fitness; MF, Muscular Fitness; SAF, Speed-Agliity Fitness. Mediation classifications: "Indirect-only" (Full mediation): the indirect effect only exists through the mediator, which means the indirect effect exists, but no direct effect; "Complementary" (mediation): indirect and direct effect exists and point in the same direction; "Indirect-only" (mediation): indirect effect exists, but no direct effect exists. Percentage of mediation and classifications: "Indirect effect" (non-mediation): neither direct and indirect effect exists. Percentage of mediation and classification): neither direct and indirect effect exists. Percentage of mediation and classification.

2019). Another study based on the same sample of the present study showed that CRF, MF and SAF differed in their significant association according to the cognitive domain studied (cognitive flexibility, working memory, inhibitory control, or intelligence; Solis-Urra et al., 2021). In this sense, our findings showed that the GFS, CRF, and SAF were positively associated with the global cognitive score and mediated the relation between fatness and cognition. However, MF did not mediate any association.

These fitness component differences could be explained to a certain extent by the physiological influence of each one of them on brain indicators and also mechanisms related to fat oxidation. On the one hand, activities with a high CRF demand seem to activate the prefrontal cortex and the hippocampus and increase neurotrophins related to neurogenesis and angiogenesis at the cerebral level (Best, 2010). Indeed, children having a high CRF show greater total gray and white matter volume (Cadenas-Sanchez et al., 2020). This positive association between CRF and brain indicators also was observed in MF, SAF, and GFS. MF has been less studied, being its influence on brain functioning related to a direct neuromuscular mechanism boosting the strength and power demand, which seems to be dependent on the muscular contraction type (Yao et al., 2016; Solis-Urra et al., 2021). However, the MF influence in a whole-brain volumetric approach in children seems to not be independent of CRF (Esteban-Cornejo et al., 2017, 2021). In contrast, SAF involved speed of movements, agility, coordination, and a mix between power, strength and aerobic capacity which elicit high cognitive demands (Best, 2010; van der Fels et al., 2015). Hence, this study speculates that all differences mentioned could affect the variation in the mediations found in our study.

On the other hand, these fitness components in children and adolescents are developed through a diversity of physical activities (games, sports, physical education classes, active commuting, etc.) being difficult to isolate the development of a particular fitness component; however, there is a certain specificity in some physical activities. Thus, in addition to activating diverse brain zones to execute complex motor movements (Best, 2010), physical activities with higher intensity and duration can significantly increase the energy demand, which, in turn, improves fat oxidation (Chang et al., 2021), unlike strength exercises which have shown to be less effective (Chang et al., 2021). Thereby, recommendations to increase physical activity focusing on physical fitness improvement in children and adolescents are crucial to enhance their cognitive functioning through the direct influence of exercise and physical activity and indirectly, reducing the detrimental impact of fat on health.

# Fatness Indicators Related to Fat Distribution

Our findings reinforce the relevance of studying fatness indicators related to its distribution, showing that the fitness mediator role depends on the fatness indicator studied. Overall, excess adiposity in children and adolescents has been linked to higher inflammatory markers, which in turn, is a risk factor for neurodegeneration and cognitive impairment (Trollor et al., 2012; Caminiti et al., 2016). However, the three fatness indicators used in this study, which involved non-specific (BMIz), peripheral (4SKF), and central body fat distribution markers (WHtR), differ in their level of association with respect to the low-grade inflammation, becoming more pronounced as age advances (Cabral et al., 2019a,b). Thus, BMIz must be considered as a surrogate marker for obesity which does not differentiate between peripheral and central obesity, while between 4SKF and WHtR, the latter seems to be more related to inflammation and cognitive functioning (Caminiti et al., 2016).

In this sense, our results support the notion that physical fitness' mediation role, mainly CRF and SAF, was more sensitive to WHtR followed by BMIz (no mediation with 4SKF). On one hand, metanalytic studies have concluded that interventions including exercise showed to be more effective in reducing visceral adiposity, regardless of the total body weight loss (Verheggen et al., 2016); and in children and adolescents with obesity, it was also observed that exercise is more effective than diet alone or than the combination between diet and exercise to reduce visceral fat (Verheggen et al., 2016; Vissers et al., 2016). On the other hand, a network meta-analysis showed that high-intensity interval training and aerobic exercise (between 30-60 min duration/session) were the most effective strategies to reduce visceral fat compared to strength exercise (Chang et al., 2021). Hence, this study speculates that, first, the mediation effect found in BMIz could be a consequence of the central fat included in this marker; and second, children and adolescents who accumulated more physical activities show increased CRF, SAF, and the GFS, which would consequently enhance the efficacy to oxidase and reduce visceral fat (Perez-Bey et al., 2020) and, in turn, influence cognition.

## **Exploring SVI**

A novel approach of the present study was to explore an indicator of vulnerability due to their implication in fatness, fitness and cognitive outcomes in children and adolescents (Jiménez-Pavón et al., 2010; Ursache and Noble, 2016a). Our findings show that SVI has a differentiated influence according to the model analyzed. For BMIz, SVI reduced all mediation effects except for SAF. However, CRF and SAF mediator role kept their statistical significance (29% and 22%, respectively). In the case of WHtR, a different scenario was present because the SVI inclusion increased the mediation role of the GFS, CRF, and SAF ( $\Delta$ 3.0%,  $\Delta$  2.2%, and  $\Delta$  8.8%, respectively). All of them kept their statistical significance. Thus, on the one hand, these findings support our hypothesis showing the higher WHtR's specificity compared to 4SKF and BMIz; and on the other hand, they support CRF and SAF's relevant role regardless of adolescents' school vulnerability influence.

The aforementioned is valuable to public health policy and educative communities, allowing to reduce the cognitive gap associated with children's social background and obesity. Therefore, physical activity and physical fitness programs could be an efficient and low-cost strategy to improve cognition performance in children and adolescents, reducing the detrimental impact of fatness indicators and school vulnerability.

### Strengths and Limitations

A strength of this study is its large sample size of adolescents from a Latin-American country. This study has also included a full assessment of several fatness and fitness indicators that increase understanding in this research area. This study has used a robust cognitive score calculated by eight different tasks. Finally, exploring the influence of a vulnerability score allows this study to establish a novel finding with respect to the mediator role of fitness regardless of the adolescents' social background profile. Nonetheless, this study has some limitations; first, its cross-sectional design implies that the cause-effect relationships among variables cannot be determined. Second, physical fitness was evaluated by field-based tests due to the high costs of gold-standard methods. Lastly, fatness was evaluated by a double indirect method, which could increase methodological biases. However, both fitness and fatness measures are feasible to implement in school settings.

#### Conclusion

It is concluded that a higher level of physical fitness, mainly CRF and SAF, would mediate the detrimental influence of fatness on adolescents' cognitive performance. The fatness indicator related to central fat distribution seemed to be more consistent, both theoretically and statistically. Finally, the mediator role of physical fitness in adolescents' cognitive performance remains constant even in the presence of an important school vulnerability indicator, highlighting that it might play a relevant protective social role. Thereby, public health and educational strategies promoting physical fitness improvement through a wide diversity of physical activities are a determining factor in the reduction of the cognitive gap caused by obesity and social vulnerability in children and adolescents.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## REFERENCES

- Åberg, M. A. I., Pedersen, N. L., Torén, K., Svartengren, M., Bäckstrand, B., Johnsson, T., et al. (2009). Cardiovascular fitness is associated with cognition in young adulthood. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 106, 20906–20911. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0905307106
- Best, J. R. (2010). Effects of physical activity on children's executive function: contributions of experimental research on aerobic exercise. *Dev. Rev.* 30, 331–351. doi: 10.1016/j.dr.2010.08.001
- Brito, N. H., and Noble, K. G. (2014). Socioeconomic status and structural brain development. *Front. Neurosci.* 8:276. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2014.00276
- Brown, T. T., Kuperman, J. M., Chung, Y., Erhart, M., McCabe, C., Hagler, D. J., et al. (2012). Neuroanatomical assessment of biological maturity. *Curr. Biol.* 22, 1693–1698. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2012.07.002
- Cabral, M., Bangdiwala, S. I., Severo, M., Guimarães, J. T., Nogueira, L., and Ramos, E. (2019a). Central and peripheral body fat distribution: different associations with low-grade inflammation in young adults. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 29, 931–938. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2019. 05.066

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Bioethics and Biosafety Committee of the Pontificia Universidad Católica de Valparaíso (BIOEPUCV-H103-2016). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CC-M contributed to the design of the project and is the corresponding author. CC-M and SH-J conceptualized the design of the study. SH-J and CC-M analyzed the data and wrote the concept version of the manuscript. JS-M, PS-U, IE-C, JC-P, KS, NA-F, and GF critically reviewed the manuscript and edited the article. All authors have given final approval of the manuscript and agreed to be accountable for the accuracy and integrity of any part of the work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## **FUNDING**

The "Cogni-Action Project" was supported by the National Commission for Scientific and Technological Research CONICYT/FONDECYT INICIACION 2016 grant no. 11160703. IE-C was supported by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation (RYC2019-027287-I).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank schools, parents, adolescents, and collaborators who selflessly participated in our project.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh. 2021.746197/full#supplementary-material.

- Cabral, M., Severo, M., Barros, H., Guimarães, J. T., and Ramos, E. (2019b). Longitudinal association of adiposity and high-sensitivity C-reactive protein from adolescence into early adulthood. *Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 29, 590–597. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2019.03.008
- Cadenas-Sanchez, C., Migueles, J. H., Erickson, K. I., Esteban-Cornejo, I., Catena, A., and Ortega, F. B. (2020). Do fitter kids have bigger brains. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 30, 2498–2502. doi: 10.1111/sms.13824
- Caminiti, C., Armeno, M., and Mazza, C. S. (2016). Waist-to-height ratio as a marker of low-grade inflammation in obese children and adolescents. *J. Pediatr. Endocrinol. Metab.* 29, 543–551. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2014-0526
- Chang, Y.-H., Yang, H.-Y., and Shun, S.-C. (2021). Effect of exercise intervention dosage on reducing visceral adipose tissue: a systematic review and network meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Int. J. Obes.* 45, 982–997. doi: 10.1038/s41366-021-00767-9
- Cristi-Montero, C., Courel-Ibáñez, J., Ortega, F. B., Castro-Piñero, J., Santaliestra-Pasias, A., Polito, A., et al. (2019). Mediation role of cardiorespiratory fitness on the association between fatness and cardiometabolic risk in european adolescents: the HELENA study. J. Sport Health Sci. 10, 360–367. doi: 10.1016/j. jshs.2019.08.003

- de Onis, M., Onyango, A. W., Borghi, E., Siyam, A., Nishida, C., and Siekmann, J. (2007). Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. *Bull. World Health Organ.* 85, 660–667. doi: 10.2471/blt.07. 043497
- Diamond, A., and Ling, D. S. (2016). Conclusions about interventions, programs and approaches for improving executive functions that appear justified and those that, despite much hype, do not. *Dev. Cogn. Neurosci.* 18, 34–48. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2015.11.005
- Donnelly, J. E., Hillman, C. H., Castelli, D., Etnier, J. L., Lee, S., Tomporowski, P., et al. (2016). Physical activity, fitness, cognitive function and academic achievement in children: a systematic review. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 48, 1197–1222. doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000000901
- Esteban-Cornejo, I., Reilly, J., Ortega, F. B., Matusik, P., Mazur, A., Erhardt, E., et al. (2020). Paediatric obesity and brain functioning: the role of physical activity—A novel and important expert opinion of the european childhood obesity group. *Pediatr. Obes.* 15:e12649. doi: 10.1111/ijpo.12649
- Esteban-Cornejo, I., Cadenas-Sanchez, C., Contreras-Rodriguez, O., Verdejo-Roman, J., Mora-Gonzalez, J., Migueles, J. H., et al. (2017). A whole brain volumetric approach in overweight/obese children: Examining the association with different physical fitness components and academic performance. the activebrains project. *Neuroimage* 159, 346–354. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2017.08.011
- Esteban-Cornejo, I., Stillman, C. M., Rodriguez-Ayllon, M., Kramer, A. F., Hillman, C. H., Catena, A., et al. (2021). Physical fitness, hippocampal functional connectivity and academic performance in children with overweight/obesity: the activebrains project. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 91, 284–295. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.10.006
- Feinstein, L., and Bynner, J. (2004). The importance of cognitive development in middle childhood for adulthood socioeconomic status, mental health and problem behavior. *Child Dev.* 75, 1329–1339. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004. 00743.x
- Field, A. (2013). *Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics*. Sussex, UK: SAGE Publications Ltd. 954 pp.
- Flores-Mendoza, C., Mansur-Alves, M., Ardila, R., Rosas, R. D., Guerrero-Leiva, M. K., Maqueo, M. E. L.-G., et al. (2015). Fluid intelligence and school performance and its relationship with social variables in Latin american samples. *Intelligence* 49, 66–83. doi: 10.1016/j.intell.2014.12.005
- Hackman, D. A., and Farah, M. J. (2009). Socioeconomic status and the developing brain. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 13, 65–73. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2008.11.003
- Halfon, N., Larson, K., and Slusser, W. (2013). Associations between obesity and comorbid mental health, developmental and physical health conditions in a nationally representative sample of us children aged 10 to 17. Acad. Pediatr. 13, 6–13. doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2012.10.007
- Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Herting, M. M., and Chu, X. (2017). Exercise, cognition and the adolescent brain. Birth Defects Res. 109, 1672–1679. doi: 10.1002/bdr2.1178
- Jiménez-Pavón, D., Ortega, F. B., Ruiz, J. R., Chillón, P., Castillo, R., Artero, E. G., et al. (2010). Influence of socioeconomic factors on fitness and fatness in Spanish adolescents: the AVENA study. *Int. J. Pediatr. Obes.* 5, 467–473. doi: 10.3109/17477160903576093
- Kao, S.-C., Westfall, D. R., Parks, A. C., Pontifex, M. B., and Hillman, C. H. (2017). Muscular and aerobic fitness, working memory and academic achievement in children. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 49, 500–508. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 0000000000001132
- López, V., Oyanedel, J. C., Bilbao, M., Torres, J., Oyarzún, D., Morales, M., et al. (2017). School achievement and performance in chilean high schools: the mediating role of subjective wellbeing in school-related evaluations. *Front. Psychol.* 8:1189. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01189
- Lemes, V., Gaya, A. R., Sadarangani, K. P., Aguilar-Farias, N., Rodriguez-Rodriguez, F., Martins CM de, L., et al. (2021). Physical fitness plays a crucial mediator role in relationships among personal, social and lifestyle factors with adolescents' cognitive performance in a structural equation model the cogni-action project. *Front. Pediatr.* 9:656916. doi: 10.3389/fped.2021. 656916
- Liang, J., Matheson, B. E., Kaye, W. H., and Boutelle, K. N. (2014). Neurocognitive correlates of obesity and obesity-related behaviors in

children and adolescents. Int. J. Obes. (Lond) 38, 494-506. doi: 10.1038/ijo. 2013.142

- Lloyd, R. S., Oliver, J. L., Faigenbaum, A. D., Myer, G. D., and De Ste Croix, M. B. A. (2014). Chronological age vs. biological maturation: implications for exercise programming in youth. J. Strength Cond. Res. 28, 1454–1464. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000000391
- Lumley, T., Diehr, P., Emerson, S., and Chen, L. (2002). The importance of the normality assumption in large public health data sets. *Annu. Rev. Public Health* 23, 151–169. doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.23.100901.140546
- Moore, S. A., McKay, H. A., Macdonald, H., Nettlefold, L., Baxter-Jones, A. D. G., Cameron, N., et al. (2015). Enhancing a somatic maturity prediction model. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 47, 1755–1764. doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000000888
- Mora-Gonzalez, J., Esteban-Cornejo, I., Cadenas-Sanchez, C., Migueles, J. H., Molina-Garcia, P., Rodriguez-Ayllon, M., et al. (2019). Physical fitness, physical activity and the executive function in children with overweight and obesity. *J. Pediatr.* 208, 50–56.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2018.12.028
- Morrison, G. E., Simone, C. M., Ng, N. F., and Hardy, J. L. (2015). Reliability and validity of the neurocognitive performance test, a web-based neuropsychological assessment. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1652. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015. 01652
- Nitzl, C., Roldan, J. L., and Cepeda, G. (2016). Mediation analysis in partial least squares path modeling: helping researchers discuss more sophisticated models. *Ind. Manag. Data Syst.* 116, 1849–1864. doi: 10.1108/imds-07-2015-0302
- Perez-Bey, A., Ruiz, J. R., Ortega, F. B., Martinez-Gomez, D., Mota, J., Veiga, O. L., et al. (2020). Bidirectional associations between fitness and fatness in youth: a longitudinal study. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 30, 1483–1496. doi: 10.1111/sms. 13684
- Preacher, K. J., and Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behav. Res. Methods* 40, 879–891. doi: 10.3758/brm.40.3.879
- Reuter, C. P., Brand, C., Silveira JF de, C., Schneiders L de, B., Renner, J. D. P., Borfe, L., et al. (2021). Reciprocal longitudinal relationship between fitness, fatness and metabolic syndrome in brazilian children and adolescents: a 3-year longitudinal study. *Pediatr. Exerc. Sci.* 33, 74–81. doi: 10.1123/pes.2020-0197
- Ruiz, J. R., Castro-Piñero, J., España-Romero, V., Artero, E. G., Ortega, F. B., Cuenca, M. M., et al. (2011). Field-based fitness assessment in young people: the ALPHA health-related fitness test battery for children and adolescents. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 45, 518–524. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.2010.075341
- Ruiz-Hermosa, A., Mota, J., Díez-Fernández, A., Martínez-Vizcaíno, V., Redondo-Tébar, A., and Sánchez-López, M. (2019). Relationship between weight status and cognition in children: a mediation analysis of physical fitness components. *J. Sports Sci.* 38, 13–20. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2019.1676538
- Sahoo, K., Sahoo, B., Choudhury, A. K., Sofi, N. Y., Kumar, R., and Bhadoria, A. S. (2015). Childhood obesity: causes and consequences. J. Family Med. Prim. Care 4, 187–192. doi: 10.4103/2249-4863.154628
- Sawyer, S. M., Azzopardi, P. S., Wickremarathne, D., and Patton, G. C. (2018). The age of adolescence. *Lancet Child Adolesc. Health* 2, 223–228. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30022-1
- Schoentgen, B., Gagliardi, G., and Défontaines, B. (2020). Environmental and cognitive enrichment in childhood as protective factors in the adult and aging brain. *Front. Psychol.* 11:1814. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01814
- Schwartz, D. H., Leonard, G., Perron, M., Richer, L., Syme, C., Veillette, S., et al. (2013). Visceral fat is associated with lower executive functioning in adolescents. *Int. J. Obes.* 37, 1336–1343. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2013.104
- Solis-Urra, P., Olivares-Arancibia, J., Suarez-Cadenas, E., Sanchez-Martinez, J., Rodríguez-Rodríguez, F., Ortega, F. B., et al. (2019). Study protocol and rationale of the "Cogni-action project" a cross-sectional and randomized controlled trial about physical activity, brain health, cognition and educational achievement in schoolchildren. *BMC Pediatr.* 19:260. doi: 10.1186/s12887-019-1639-8
- Solis-Urra, P., Sanchez-Martinez, J., Olivares-Arancibia, J., Castro Piñero, J., Sadarangani, K. P., de Moraes Ferarri, G. L., et al. (2021). Physical fitness and its association with cognitive performance in chilean schoolchildren: the cogniaction project. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 31, 1352–1362. doi: 10.1111/sms.13945
- Stillman, C. M., Esteban-Cornejo, I., Brown, B., Bender, C. M., and Erickson, K. I. (2020). Effects of exercise on brain and cognition across age groups and health states. *Trends Neurosci.* 43, 533–543. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2020. 04.010

- Tomkinson, G. R., Lang, J. J., Léger, L. A., Olds, T. S., Ortega, F. B., Ruiz, J. R., et al. (2019). Response to criticisms of the 20 m shuttle run test: deflections, distortions and distractions. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 53, 1200–1201. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-100348
- Trollor, J. N., Smith, E., Agars, E., Kuan, S. A., Baune, B. T., Campbell, L., et al. (2012). The association between systemic inflammation and cognitive performance in the elderly: the sydney memory and ageing study. *Age (Dordr)* 34, 1295–1308. doi: 10.1007/s11357-011-9301-x
- Ursache, A., and Noble, K. G. (2016a). Neurocognitive development in socioeconomic context: multiple mechanisms and implications for measuring socioeconomic status. *Psychophysiology* 53, 71–82. doi: 10.1111/psyp.12547
- Ursache, A., and Noble, K. G. (2016b). Socioeconomic status, white matter and executive function in children. *Brain Behav.* 6:e00531. doi: 10.1002/brb3.531
- van der Fels, I. M. J., te Wierike, S. C. M., Hartman, E., Elferink-Gemser, M. T., Smith, J., and Visscher, C. (2015). The relationship between motor skills and cognitive skills in 4–16 year old typically developing children: a systematic review. J. Sci. Med. Sport 18, 697–703. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2014.09.007
- Vazquez, C. E., and Cubbin, C. (2020). Socioeconomic status and childhood obesity: a review of literature from the past decade to inform intervention research. *Curr. Obes. Rep.* 9, 562–570. doi: 10.1007/s13679-020-00400-2
- Verheggen, R. J. H. M., Maessen, M. F. H., Green, D. J., Hermus, A. R. M. M., Hopman, M. T. E., and Thijssen, D. H. T. (2016). A systematic review and meta-analysis on the effects of exercise training versus hypocaloric diet: distinct effects on body weight and visceral adipose tissue. *Obes. Rev.* 17, 664–690. doi: 10.1111/obr.12406
- Vissers, D., Hens, W., Hansen, D., and Taeymans, J. (2016). The effect of diet or exercise on visceral adipose tissue in overweight youth. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 48, 1415–1424. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000888
- von Elm, E., Altman, D. G., Egger, M., Pocock, S. J., Gøtzsche, P. C., Vandenbroucke, J. P., et al. (2008). The strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. *J. Clin. Epidemiol.* 61, 344–349. doi: 10.1016/j. jclinepi.2007.11.008

- Yang, X., Telama, R., Leskinen, E., Mansikkaniemi, K., Viikari, J., and Raitakari, O. T. (2007). Testing a model of physical activity and obesity tracking from youth to adulthood: the cardiovascular risk in young Finns study. *Int. J. Obes.* 31, 521–527. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo. 0803459
- Yao, W. X., Jiang, Z., Li, J., Jiang, C., Franlin, C. G., Lancaster, J. L., et al. (2016). Brain functional connectivity is different during voluntary concentric and eccentric muscle contraction. *Front. Physiol.* 7:521. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2016. 00521
- Zhao, X., Lynch, J. G., and Chen, Q. (2010). JD served as editor and GF served as associate editor for this. reconsidering baron and kenny: myths and truths about mediation analysis. J. Consumer Res. 37, 197–206. doi: 10.1086/ 651257

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Hernández-Jaña, Sanchez-Martinez, Solis-Urra, Esteban-Cornejo, Castro-Piñero, Sadarangani, Aguilar-Farias, Ferrari and Cristi-Montero. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Movement Behaviors and Mental Wellbeing: A Cross-Sectional Isotemporal Substitution Analysis of Canadian Adolescents

#### Denver M. Y. Brown<sup>1,2\*</sup> and Matthew Y. W. Kwan<sup>2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychology, University of Texas at San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Family Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Department of Child and Youth Studies, Brock University, St. Catharines, ON, Canada

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Filipe Manuel Clemente, Polytechnic Institute of Viana do Castelo, Portugal

#### Reviewed by:

Chong Chen, Federal University of Mato Grosso, Brazil

> \*Correspondence: Denver M. Y. Brown denver.brown@utsa.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Regulation and Processing, a section of the journal Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

> Received: 05 July 2021 Accepted: 06 September 2021 Published: 05 October 2021

#### Citation:

Brown DMY and Kwan MYW (2021) Movement Behaviors and Mental Wellbeing: A Cross-Sectional Isotemporal Substitution Analysis of Canadian Adolescents. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 15:736587. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2021.736587 **Background:** Studies have shown reallocating screen time for healthy movement behaviors such as physical activity and sleep can provide important benefits for mental health. However, the focus on positive aspects of mental health such as wellbeing has received limited attention, particularly among adolescents. The purpose of this study was to examine the effects of reallocating physical activity, screen time, and sleep on mental wellbeing in adolescents.

**Methods:** This study involved cross-sectional analysis of data from Wave 1 of the ADAPT study. A total of 1,118 Canadian adolescents enrolled in grade 11 classes ( $M_{AGE} = 15.92$ ; 54.5% female) self-reported their movement behaviors using the International Physical Activity Questionnaire – Short Form to assess moderate-to-vigorous physical activity and daily recall questionnaires to assess recreational screen time and sleep. Participants also completed three measures of mental wellbeing: the Flourishing Scale, Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale, and a brief Resiliency scale from the Canadian Campus Wellbeing Survey.

**Results:** Isotemporal substitution analysis revealed replacing 60 min of screen time with either moderate-to-vigorous physical activity or sleep has significant benefits for mental wellbeing. Comparatively, reallocating 60 min between moderate-to-vigorous physical activity and sleep does not impact mental wellbeing.

**Discussion:** Findings suggest healthy movement behaviors confer similar beneficial effects for adolescent's mental wellbeing. Health promotion campaigns targeted toward adolescents should consider highlighting that reallocation of screen time to either sleep or moderate-to-vigorous physical activity may provide important benefits for mental wellbeing.

Keywords: mental health, physical activity, screen time, sleep, daily time use

## INTRODUCTION

The 24-h movement behavior paradigm is a relatively novel approach that considers how all types of movement behaviors physical activity, sedentary behaviors, and sleep - collectively contribute to the healthy development of children and youth (Tremblay et al., 2016). This approach builds on previous work that typically examined independent associations between time spent in each movement behavior and health outcomes, and in doing so, accounts for the codependence among these behaviors over the course of a whole day (i.e., during the 24-h period) (Tremblay and Ross, 2020). Recent systematic reviews have shown engaging in a lifestyle consisting of adequate amounts of physical activity and sleep, in addition to a small amount of time spent engaging in sedentary behaviors such as recreational screen time has significant benefits for several important health indicators during the early life stages (Rollo et al., 2020; Sampasa-Kanyinga et al., 2020). Although research to date has largely focused on relationships between movement behaviors and physical health outcomes (e.g., adiposity, cardiometabolic health, aerobic fitness), indicators of mental health have begun to see increased attention of late, particularly among adolescents (Carson et al., 2016, 2017; Janssen et al., 2017; Knell et al., 2019; Pearson et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2019; Bang et al., 2020; Faulkner et al., 2020; Patte et al., 2020; Brown et al., 2021a,b; Gilchrist et al., 2021; Sampasa-Kanyinga et al., 2021), yet critical knowledge gaps in our understanding of the movement behaviors - mental health relationship remain.

Understanding the impact of movement behaviors on mental health during the adolescent period is of particular importance from a public health standpoint as this life stage is characterized by heightened stress (Spear, 2000) and represents the peak onset of mental health problems (Kessler et al., 2007; Paus et al., 2008). Mental health, however, has been proposed to exist on a continuum that considers not only adverse symptoms, but also positive attributes (Keyes, 2002). From this perspective, it is equally as important that we establish empirical links between movement behaviors and mental wellbeing. Importantly, existing evidence suggests flourishing, self-esteem and resiliency - three indicators of mental wellbeing - may provide protective benefits against stress and the development of mental health problems such as depression and anxiety (Keyes, 2006; Orth et al., 2008; Hjemdal et al., 2011; Skrove et al., 2013; Kwok et al., 2014; Anyan and Hjemdal, 2016; Henriksen et al., 2017; Masselink et al., 2018; Doré et al., 2020).

To date, movement behaviors have been found to be associated with mental health and wellbeing (Sampasa-Kanyinga et al., 2020). However, the evidence has largely been based on adherence (or not) to each of the threshold-based 24-h movement guidelines (Carson et al., 2016, 2017; Janssen et al., 2017; Knell et al., 2019; Pearson et al., 2019; Zhu et al., 2019; Bang et al., 2020; Faulkner et al., 2020; Patte et al., 2020; Sampasa-Kanyinga et al., 2021), with findings generally indicating that concurrent adherence to all three threshold-based guidelines is associated with more favorable mental health and wellbeing than meeting two or fewer guidelines (Sampasa-Kanyinga et al., 2020). This approach is important from a behavioral surveillance standpoint in that it can provide population-level information about the proportion of adolescents meeting public healthbased recommendations, but it is not without its limitations. For instance, using dichotomous cut-point criteria sacrifices a substantial amount of information about movement behaviors that may contribute to variability in indicators of mental health. This approach also fails to provide insight regarding what occurs when time spent in one movement behavior displaces another (e.g., staying up late to watch TV rather than sleep). Isotemporal substitution modeling is an alternative integrative approach that has been recommended to address these specific limitations (Chaput et al., 2017).

Isotemporal substitution modeling is particularly useful when considering 24-h movement guidelines, as time use across the course of a day is finite (i.e., cannot exceed 24-h). Therefore, engaging in one movement behavior comes at the cost of not engaging in other movement behaviors (Mekary et al., 2009). For example, if an adolescent wanted to go from being inactive to meeting the 24-h movement recommendation of 60 min of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) each day, then their combined time spent engaging in sedentary behaviors or sleep would be need reduced by 60 min. In addition to evaluating the reallocation of time spent in one movement behavior with another, the isotemporal substitution model also adjusts for the confounding effects of the remaining time use components (Mekary et al., 2009).

The authors of a recent systematic review of isotemporal substitution modeling of movement behaviors and related health outcomes highlighted that there is a dearth of studies related to mental health (Grgic et al., 2018). Evidence among adolescents is particularly limited, as only one study was found to have replaced time spent playing sedentary video games with active video games or active outside play was associated with positive influences on adolescent's mental health (Janssen, 2016). However, this study failed to consider the full compliment of movement behaviors, as sleep was not assessed. Recently, there has been another study using cross-sectional data from over 46,000 students participating in the COMPASS Study. This study by Gilchrist and colleagues (2021) found that the benefits of reallocating 15 min of any type of behavior is moderated based on whether an adolescent meets the sleep guidelines. In other words, they found that replacing screen time with either homework, MVPA or sleep was generally associated with lower scores for anxiety and depression and higher scores for flourishing; however, the magnitudes of the effects for sleep were greatest when adolescents were not acquiring an average of 8 h of sleep each night. This seminal work established important empirical links between movement behaviors and flourishing, but additional research examining other indicators of mental wellbeing is needed to address key gaps in our current understanding. Therefore, the purpose of the current study was to examine the effects of reallocating physical activity, screen time, and sleep on indicators of mental wellbeing among a sample of Canadian adolescents. In line with previous research examining the relationship between movement behaviors and flourishing (Gilchrist et al., 2021), we hypothesized that replacing screen time with healthier movement behaviors (i.e., sleep and MVPA) would be associated with better mental wellbeing among adolescents getting less than the recommended amount of sleep, whereas among those getting enough sleep, replacing screen time and sleep with MVPA would result in better mental wellbeing.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Study Sample and Data Collection**

The present study utilized baseline data from the ADAPT study: Application of integrated Approaches to understanding Physical activity during the Transition to emerging adulthood (Kwan et al., 2020). This is a 4-year, prospective longitudinal study tracking a sample of Canadian adolescents as they transition out of high school and into emerging adulthood in order to gain an understanding of factors underlying changes in physical activity behavior. At baseline, all grade 11 students enrolled into one of the seven secondary schools across a large school board in Southern Ontario were invited to take part in the study. Participation in the study was voluntary, and informed consent was obtained online from each participant prior to data collection at each individual school in the Fall/Autumn term. Students willing to participate completed a 20-min online survey during class time. Parental consent, collected by paper or electronically, was also a requirement for their data to be included in the study. More information about the recruitment strategy and study protocol can be found elsewhere (Kwan et al., 2020). The protocol for the ADAPT study was approved by both the Institutional Research Ethics Board and the School Board Ethics Committee.

Among the 2,412 enrolled at one of the seven secondary schools within the school board, 1,585 agreed and provided consent to participate (66% response rate). Of the 1,585 consenting students, 146 respondents (9%) withdrew their participation (i.e., completed >5% of the survey), while 186 respondents (12%) did not have parental consent for their participation. As a result, the final baseline sample in the current study included 1,253 participants. Among the total baseline cohort, 1,165 participants (93%) had full data for the variables of interest and covariates used in our analyses. Missing data included 16 cases for movement behaviors (1%), 34 (3%) for at least one mental wellbeing variable, 26 (2%) for gender, and 12 (1%) for parental education. Missing data was handled using listwise deletion. Additionally, 47 participants reported amounts of physical activity, recreational screen time and sleep that totaled over 24 h, and were therefore removed from the present analysis, resulting in data for a total of 1,118 participants included in this study.

## Measures

#### Demographics

Participants completed a demographic questionnaire assessing their age, gender, ethnicity, and highest level of parental education. For analyses purposes, ethnicity was dummy coded into White (1) and other (0), and parental education was dummy coded into college/university graduate (1) and partial completion of post-secondary education or less (0). Parental education was used as a proxy indicator of socioeconomic status.

#### **Movement Behaviors**

In accordance with the Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Children and Youth (1), movement behaviors were operationalized as a latent construct consisting of MVPA, screen time and sleep. The present study only focused on the three threshold-based components of the 24-h cycle despite recommendations for engaging in several hours of light physical activity also included within the guidelines.

#### Moderate-to-Vigorous Physical Activity

Moderate-to-vigorous physical activity was measured using the International Physical Activity Questionnaire - Short Form (Booth, 2000; Craig et al., 2003). Participants responded to four items that assessed the frequency (days) and duration (hours and/or minutes on an average day) of their moderate and vigorous physical activity performed in bouts of greater than 10min over the past 7 days. The International Physical Activity Questionnaire - Short Form defines moderate physical activity as "activities that take moderate physical effort and make you breathe somewhat harder than normal" and provides carrying light loads, bicycling at a regular pace, and playing doubles tennis, but not walking, as examples of activities that involve moderate physical effort. As per the International Physical Activity Questionnaire - Short Form, vigorous physical activity is defined as "activities that take hard physical effort and make you breathe much harder than normal," with heavy lifting, digging, aerobics, or fast bicycling provided as examples. Daily MVPA was calculated by multiplying frequency by duration for moderate and vigorous physical activity, respectively, and then summing these products and dividing by seven. The International Physical Activity Questionnaire - Short Form has shown acceptable measurement properties when administered among adolescents (Guedes et al., 2005).

#### Screen Time

Screen time was assessed using a standard daily recall questionnaire that asked participants how much time (hours and/or minutes) on average they spent watching TV or using a computer, tablet or smartphone during their free time over the past 7 days.

#### Sleep

Participants responded to four items that assessed what time they typically went to sleep and woke up during weekdays and on the weekend over the past 7 days. Responses were used to calculate the average number of hours participants slept on weekdays and weekends. Average daily sleep was then calculated by multiplying weekday sleep by five and weekend sleep by two, and then summing these products and dividing by seven. Although sleep quality may provide additional insight that could be used to understand the relationship between sleep and mental health (João et al., 2018), recommendations provided in the 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Children and Youth focus on sleep duration – 8 to 10 h for youth – for healthy development.

#### Flourishing

Flourishing was measured using the Flourishing Scale (Diener et al., 2010), which provides a summary measure of the

respondent's self-perceived success in important aspects of their life including relationships, purpose and optimism. This measure has demonstrated strong psychometric properties when administered to youth (Diener et al., 2010). Participants responded to eight items on a seven-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 7 (Strongly Agree). Example items included: "I lead a purposeful and meaningful life," "My social relationships are supportive and rewarding," and "I am optimistic about my future." All items were summed to provide a total score ranging from 8 to 56. Internal consistency (Cronbach's  $\alpha$ ) for the eight items was 0.89.

#### Self-Esteem

Self-esteem was measured using a modified version of the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (Rosenberg, 1965). This measure has demonstrated strong psychometric properties when administered to adolescents (Rosenberg, 1965). Participants responded to five items on a four-point scale ranging from 1 (Strongly Disagree) to 4 (Strongly Agree). Only the items associated with positive feelings toward the self were included: "On the whole, I am satisfied with myself," "I feel that I have a number of good qualities," "I am able to do things as well as most other people," "I feel that I'm a person of worth, at least on an equal plane with others," and "I take a positive attitude toward myself." All items were summed to provide an overall score ranging from 5 to 20. Internal consistency (Cronbach's  $\alpha$ ) for the five items was 0.88.

#### Resiliency

Resiliency was measured using two items from the Canadian Campus Wellbeing Survey (Faulkner et al., 2019). Participants responded to each item on a five-point scale ranging from 1 (Poor) to 5 (Excellent). The items followed the stem statement: "In general, how would you rate...": (a) "your ability to handle unexpected and difficult problems (a family or performance crisis)," and (b) "your ability to handle day-to-day demands in your life (work, family responsibilities)." A mean scale score was computed. The inter-item correlation (Pearson's r) for the two items was 0.72.

## **Data Analysis**

Descriptive statistics and frequencies were computed for each variable and distributions were examined for normality. Participants with missing data for the variables of interest and covariates were removed, as were cases with unrealistic responses (i.e., average daily time use spent in movement behaviors exceeding 24 h). Isotemporal substitution modeling requires an approximate linear association between predictor variables and outcomes; and therefore, we examined whether significant quadratic relationships existed given that previous work has found non-linear associations between sleep and indicators of mental health (Gilchrist et al., 2021). Our primary analysis consisted of using two different regression models to examine relationships between movement behaviors and indicators of mental wellbeing: (1) single activity, and (2) isotemporal substitution. First, we computed a series of single activity models to investigate independent associations between each movement behavior (i.e., MVPA, screen time, sleep) and the three indicators of mental wellbeing. Single activity models were expressed as follows:

#### Mental wellbeing = $(\beta 1)$ MVPA + $(\beta 2)$ covariates.

Next, a series of isotemporal substitution models were computed to examine the effects of reallocating time between MVPA, screen time and sleep on indicators of mental wellbeing. Isotemporal substitution models estimate the effects of replacing time spent engaging in one behavior with another behavior for the same amount of time (Mekary et al., 2009). By replacing a reduction in time spent engaging in one behavior with an equivalent amount of time in another behavior, total time is held constant in the equation, and the potential to create a day longer than 24 h is eliminated. Given that individuals generally spend the least amount of their day engaging in MVPA, we modeled the impact of replacing 60 min of time use in one movement behavior with another activity to represent the effects of going from being inactive (i.e., 0 min of daily MVPA) to meeting the guideline recommendation of 60 min of MVPA per day, and vice versa. Using the reallocation of MVPA to screen time or sleep as an example, the isotemporal substitution models were expressed as follows, in which the coefficients  $\beta 1$  and  $\beta 2$  express the revised estimate for mental wellbeing associated with a 60 min increase in the values for screen time and sleep at the expense of MVPA, respectively, whereas the coefficient  $\beta$ 3 (total time), which holds time constant in the equation, represents the revised estimate for mental wellbeing associated with the activity that was replaced (i.e., MVPA):

#### Mental wellbeing = $(\beta 1)$ screen time + $(\beta 2)$ sleep +

#### $(\beta 3)$ total time + $(\beta 4)$ covariates

Multilevel modeling was used to account for the nested structure of the data (i.e., participants within schools). Prior to conducting our analyses, all relevant assumptions (i.e., linearity, homogeneity, normality) were tested. Assumptions for linearity and homogeneity were met, however, the normal probability plots of residuals had considerable outliers and were not normally distributed. Mahalanobis tests indicated there were 68, 67, and 54 multivariate outliers for flourishing, selfesteem and resiliency, respectively. Since ordinary least squares regression estimates are sensitive to outliers and highly influential observations, robust regression was employed to reduce the influence of these observations. This approach decreases the weights of observations with large residuals to reduce their influence on model estimates. For our robust estimates, we used a smoothed Huber function with the tuning parameter set at k = 1.345 and s = 10 to ensure our models achieved 95% efficiency relative to the ordinary least squares estimates (Koller, 2016). Each model included gender, socioeconomic status, and race/ethnicity as covariates. Parameter estimates ( $\beta$ ) and standard errors (SE) are reported for the single activity, and isotemporal substitution models. All analyses were performed in R (Version 4.0.3) and R Studio (Version 1.3.1093) using the *psych* (Revelle, 2011), *lme4* (Bates et al., 2015), and *robustlmm* packages (Koller, 2016). Example R-code for the analysis can be found in the **Supplementary Material**. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.01, which, for robust estimates, corresponds with *z*-values  $\geq 2.58$ .

## RESULTS

Descriptive statistics for the sample are presented in **Table 1**. The sample was on average 16 years of age and comprised of slightly more females than males. The majority of participants identified as White, and most participants lived in a household with a parent who graduated from college or university. With the exception of the relationship between sleep and flourishing, we failed to observe evidence of significant quadratic relationships between each movement behavior and the indicators of mental wellbeing. To assess the non-linear association between sleep and flourishing, we stratified our analyses for flourishing based on whether participants met the lower bound age-associated sleep threshold recommendation for youth ( $\geq 8$  h of sleep each night; n = 284) or not (< 8 h of sleep each night; n = 834). (1) Analyses for self-esteem and resiliency are non-stratified.

## Single and Isotemporal Substitution Models

Two different models were computed to examine associations between time use in different movement behaviors (including

TABLE 1 | Demographic characteristics (N = 1,118).

	Tatal samula
	Total sample
	n (%) or M (SD)
Age	15.92 (0.49)
Gender (male)	509 (45.5)
Race/Ethnicity	
White	589 (52.7)
Indigenous	22 (2.0)
Black	91 (8.1)
Asian	66 (5.9)
Middle Eastern/Arab	105 (9.3)
Latin	4.5 (50)
Other	195 (17.4)
Highest parental education	
Some secondary	139 (12.4)
Completed secondary	85 (7.6)
Some post-secondary	118 (10.6)
Completed post-secondary	776 (69.4)
Moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (hours/day)	1.36 (0.98)
Screen time (hours/day)	4.68 (3.17)
Sleep duration (hours/day)	7.29 (1.40)

reallocation) and three indicators of mental wellbeing among adolescents (Table 2).

#### Single Activity Models

Sleep duration and MVPA were positively associated with both self-esteem and resiliency, whereas a negative association was observed for screen time. Similar results were also found for flourishing among the subsample of participants getting less than 8 h of sleep. Comparatively, no significant associations were observed between each movement behavior and flourishing for the subsample getting at least 8 h of sleep.

#### Isotemporal Substitution Models

Reallocating 60 min of daily screen time to MVPA or sleep was associated with significantly better self-esteem and resiliency. Alternatively, there were no changes in self-esteem and resiliency when sleep was replaced with MVPA (and vice versa). For flourishing, significant benefits were observed when replacing screen time with MVPA. When screen time was replaced with sleep, the beneficial effects on flourishing were only observed for the subsample averaging less than 8 h of sleep. When sleep was reallocated to MVPA, no differences were observed for flourishing among the subsample averaging less than 8 h of sleep,

**TABLE 2** | Single and isotemporal substitution models predicting indicators of mental wellbeing.

	Replacement activity				
	MVPA	Sleep	Screen		
	B (SE)	B (SE)	B (SE)		
Flourishing ( $\geq 8$ h of :	sleep)				
Isotemporal substitut	tion				
MVPA	-	-1.64 (0.59)	-1.22 (0.45		
Sleep	1.65 (0.59)	-	0.42 (0.38)		
Screen time	1.23 (0.45)	-0.42 (0.38)	-		
Single activity	0.90 (0.41)	-0.54 (0.34)	-0.15 (0.15)		
Flourishing (<8 h of	sleep)				
Isotemporal substitut	tion				
MVPA	_	0.05 (0.37)	-2.02 (0.27		
Sleep	-0.05 (0.37)	-	-2.07 (0.26		
Screen time	2.02 (0.27)	2.07 (0.26)	-		
Single activity	1.95 (0.28)	2.03 (0.26)	-0.35 (0.08)		
Self-esteem					
Isotemporal substitut	tion				
MVPA	-	0.05 (0.11)	-0.48 (0.09		
Sleep	-0.05 (0.11)	-	-0.53 (0.06		
Screen time	0.48 (0.09)	0.53 (0.06)	_		
Single activity	0.45 (0.09)	0.49 (0.06)	-0.10 (0.03		
Resiliency					
Isotemporal substitut	tion				
MVPA	-	-0.08 (0.03)	-0.16 (0.03		
Sleep	0.08 (0.03)	-	-0.08 (0.02		
Screen	0.16 (0.03)	0.08 (0.02)	_		
Single activity	0.16 (0.03)	0.08 (0.02)	-0.02 (0.01		

Estimates are unstandardized. SE, standard error. All models are adjusted for sex, race/ethnicity, and socioeconomic status. Significant findings are bolded (p < 0.01).

but resulted in significantly better flourishing scores among the subsample averaging at least 8 h of sleep each night. Interestingly, for adolescents averaging more than 8 h of sleep per night, the reallocation of time spent sleeping to screen time had no effect on flourishing.

## DISCUSSION

The present study examined the impact of reallocating time spent engaging in different movement behaviors on indicators of mental wellbeing among a sample of Canadian adolescents. These results generally suggest that replacing 60 min of screen time with either sleep or MVPA confers beneficial effects for flourishing, self-esteem and resiliency. Replacing sleep with MVPA (and vice versa), however, appears to have a negligible effect on self-esteem and resiliency. Getting additional MVPA at the expense of sleep or screen time appears to provide the greatest benefits for flourishing among adolescents getting sufficient sleep, whereas replacing screen time with MVPA or sleep is associated with similar benefits among adolescents achieving insufficient amounts of sleep. Collectively, findings have important public health implications, particularly regarding how health promotion campaigns frame the detrimental impact for mental wellbeing of spending time using screens at the expense of being active or resting.

Emerging research is beginning to establish how varying combinations of daily MVPA, sleep and sedentary behaviors interact to influence the mental health and wellbeing of adolescents (Sampasa-Kanyinga et al., 2020). The present study builds on the limited literature, demonstrating that replacing screen time with either MVPA or sleep is associated with higher levels of not only flourishing (Gilchrist et al., 2021), but also other important indicators of mental wellbeing that have been shown to confer protective effects against stress and the development of mental health problems. These findings are important considering recent work using a rigorous multiverse analysis has suggested that screen time alone may not be worth targeting from a policy level standpoint when attempting to improve the mental wellbeing of adolescents (Orben and Przybylski, 2019). In light of the 24-h movement paradigm, however, the true benefits may lie in the replacement of screen time with healthier alternatives (i.e., MVPA, sleep) that are known to have a positive impact on mental wellbeing. Our findings, therefore, underscore the need for intervention efforts aiming to relocate some time away from sedentary pursuits to increase the proportion of an adolescent's day that is allocated to time spent engaging in MVPA or sleep. Evidence indicates that a health promotion campaign focused on getting adolescents to turn off their screens earlier in the evening and get to sleep at a more reasonable time may hold promise for promoting their mental wellbeing (Woods and Scott, 2016).

Although we observed a quadratic relationship between sleep and flourishing that was consistent with findings of Gilchrist et al. (2021), self-esteem and resiliency both displayed linear relationships with sleep and were therefore not stratified based on sleep duration as per our hypotheses. The results for both of these indicators of mental wellbeing would suggest that replacing screen time with either sleep or MVPA confers beneficial effects of similar magnitudes. Considering the average amount of time we found adolescents spend using screens on a daily basis was more than double the recommended 2 h threshold and roughly threequarters of the sample averaged less than 8 h of sleep each night, there appears to be ample opportunity to enhance wellbeing through replacement of time on screens with sleep later in the evening. Moreover, the relative equivalence in beta coefficients for replacing screen time with MVPA and sleep means that adolescents that potentially find MVPA aversive can still stand to improve their wellbeing simply through increasing their sleep duration. However, while focusing on replacing screen time with sleep may lead to improvements in mental wellbeing, failing to take an integrative approach that also considers MVPA could come at the expense of improvements in indices of physical health such as adiposity and cardiometabolic biomarkers (Grgic et al., 2018; Janssen et al., 2020). As more research emerges, we will gain a better understanding of how time spent amongst different movement behaviors can be best allocated to optimize a broad range of health outcomes, collectively.

Consistent with our hypotheses based on previous research (Gilchrist et al., 2021), the relationship between sleep and flourishing was best characterized as quadratic rather than linear, which led us to stratify our analyses for flourishing based on whether participants met the lower bound of the 24-h movement guideline recommendations for sleep [i.e., averaging 8 h of sleep each night (1)]. Our results for flourishing align with Gilchrist et al. (2021) in that the direction and magnitude of the observed associations for reallocating time amongst movement behaviors were predicated based on sleep duration. For the subsample of participants getting less than 8 h of sleep each night - which represents  $\sim$ 75% of the sample - the pattern of results was equivalent to what was found for self-esteem and resiliency. In contrast, when adolescents met the sleep guidelines, they can stand to engage in more screen time at the expense of sleep without sacrificing their mental wellbeing, and replacing sleep with MVPA can even lead to beneficial effects for flourishing. Although replacing screen time with MVPA was positively associated with flourishing for both groups, it is worth noting that the magnitude of the effect was greater for the group not meeting current sleep guidelines. These results ultimately suggest that flourishing is more stable in adolescents who meet the sleep guidelines, and thus may provide a stronger buffer against time spent using screens instead of being active.

As depression and other mental health problems become a larger public health concern (World Health Organization [WHO], 2017), it is imperative that we identify low-cost strategies to combat these issues when they begin to manifest. Our findings indicate that health promotion strategies targeting the replacement of recreational screen time with healthy alternatives such as MVPA and sleep can benefit adolescent's mental wellbeing. Such efforts may in turn buffer against the high levels of stress and onset of mental health problems experienced during this key developmental stage. These results provide further support for the global shift toward adopting a multi-faceted approach to healthy development through targeting MVPA, sedentary behaviors and sleep concurrently. Health promotion campaigns and behavior change interventions targeted and tailored to subgroups engaging in suboptimal movement behavior patterns could represent effective means for improving population mental health from a young age (Fisher, 2021). In fact, two recent studies employing latent profile analysis have shown that adolescents classified into groups characterized by the least healthy combination of movement behaviors (i.e., low MVPA, high screen time) report the poorest scores across several indicators of mental health and wellbeing (Brown et al., 2021a,b). Evidently, this is an ideal subsample of the adolescent population to target with interventions focused on reallocating screen time to other movement behaviors. Optimal strategies by which this can be accomplished are currently unknown, but future research in this area is clearly warranted.

There are, however, limitations to this study that should be noted. First, this study was cross-sectional and only used data from the first wave of the ADAPT study, and therefore causal links cannot be inferred. As future waves of data are collected from the ADAPT study cohort, we will be able to use longitudinal modeling to establish causal links. Researchers with access to longitudinal datasets that include measures of movement behaviors and mental wellbeing are encouraged to begin exploring these links. Second, movement behaviors were assessed using self-reported measures which can introduce response bias. Third, the measures used to assess MVPA and screen time do not provide domainspecific information which may have differential effects on adolescent wellbeing. For example, meta-analytic evidence has established significant positive associations between leisuretime physical activity and wellbeing, whereas the associations with other domains of physical activity (e.g., school sport, physical education, occupational) are less conclusive (White et al., 2017). Examining specific types of physical activity and screen time in future studies may provide important information to guide precision medicine interventions. A fourth limitation relates to treating time use spent engaging in movement behaviors as absolute (i.e., hours/day) as opposed to relative (i.e., proportion of the 24-h window). Some researchers have suggested that isotemporal substitution modeling of time use data is best suited for compositional data analysis techniques given that time spent engaging in different behaviors is codependent and bounded to the 24-h period (Dumuid et al., 2019), whereas others have argued that the traditional method using absolute values provides equivalent results that may even be easier to understand given that the 24-h movement guidelines provide absolute rather than relative time-based recommendations (Mekary and Ding, 2019). Regardless of the isotemporal substitution method employed, a shortcoming of this technique is that more time can be reallocated away from a behavior than the amount reported/measured due to the hypothetical nature of these models, and thus, precision of the estimates may be biased. Nevertheless, the traditional isotemporal substitution model was considered to be more

appropriate in this case as time spent engaging in MVPA and screen time may not be codependent (e.g., using the treadmill while watching TV) as would be expected when using accelerometry which captures movement behaviors purely based on intensity of motion (i.e., sleep, sedentary behavior, light physical activity, MVPA).

In conclusion, we found that substituting an hour of daily time use spent using screens with MVPA or sleep can lead to improvements in adolescent mental wellbeing. While the reallocations of MVPA with sleep (and vice versa) generally had limited impact, adolescents who meet the sleep guidelines may experience additional benefits for their self-perceived success by sacrificing an hour of sleep for MVPA. Together, findings from this research highlight the need for future health promotion campaigns and interventions adopting the 24-h movement paradigm to focus on reallocating screen time use to healthier pursuits that adolescents enjoy engaging in most.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

This study involved human participants and was reviewed and approved by the McMaster Research Ethics Board and the Hamilton-Wentworth Catholic District School Board Ethics Committee. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

DB: conceptualization, data curation, methodology, writing – original draft, and formal analysis. MK: writing – original draft, supervision, funding acquisition, and investigation. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

The ADAPT study was funded by an Insight Grant (Grant #435-2018-0896) from the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada. MK was partially supported by a Government of Ontario Early Researcher Award.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh. 2021.736587/full#supplementary-material

## REFERENCES

- Anyan, F., and Hjemdal, O. (2016). Adolescent stress and symptoms of anxiety and depression: resilience explains and differentiates the relationships. J. Affect. Disord. 203, 213–220. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.05.031
- Bang, F., Roberts, K., Chaput, J.-P., Goldfield, G., and Prince, S. (2020). Physical activity, screen time and sleep duration: combined associations with psychosocial health among Canadian children and youth. *Health Rep.* 31, 9–16. doi: 10.25318/82-003-x202000500002-eng
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., and Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixedeffects models using lme4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1-48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v0 67.i01
- Booth, M. (2000). Assessment of physical activity: an international perspective. *Res. Q. Exerc. Sport* 71, 114–120. doi: 10.1080/02701367.2000.110 82794
- Brown, D. M. Y., Cairney, J., and Kwan, M. Y. (2021a). Adolescent movement behaviour profiles are associated with indicators of mental wellbeing. *Ment. Health Phys. Act.* 20:100387. doi: 10.1016/j.mhpa.2021.100387
- Brown, D. M. Y., Kwan, M. Y., Arbour-Nicitopoulos, K. P., and Cairney, J. (2021b). Identifying patterns of movement behaviours in relation to depressive symptoms during adolescence: a latent profile analysis approach. *Prev. Med.* 143:106352. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106352
- Carson, V., Chaput, J.-P., Janssen, I., and Tremblay, M. S. (2017). Health associations with meeting new 24-hour movement guidelines for Canadian children and youth. *Prev. Med.* 95, 7–13. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.12.005
- Carson, V., Tremblay, M. S., Chaput, J.-P., and Chastin, S. F. M. (2016). Associations between sleep duration, sedentary time, physical activity, and health indicators among Canadian children and youth using compositional analyses. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 41, S294–S302. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2016-0026
- Chaput, J.-P., Saunders, T. J., and Carson, V. (2017). Interactions between sleep, movement and other non-movement behaviours in the pathogenesis of childhood obesity. *Obes. Rev.* 18, 7–14. doi: 10.1111/obr.12508
- Craig, C. L., Marshall, A. L., and Sjöström, M. (2003). International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 35, 1381–1395. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB
- Diener, E., Wirtz, D., Tov, W., Kim-Prieto, H., Choi, D. W., Oishi, S., et al. (2010). New well-being measures: short scales to assess flourishing and positive and negative feelings. *Soc. Indic Res.* 97, 143–156. doi: 10.1007/s11205-009-9493-y
- Doré, I., O'Loughlin, J., and Sylvestre, M.-P. (2020). Not flourishing mental health is associated with higher risks of anxiety and depressive symptoms in college students. *Can. J. Commun. Ment. Health* 39, 33–48. doi: 10.7870/cjcmh-2020-003
- Dumuid, D., Pedišić, Ž, Stanford, T. E., Martín-Fernández, J. A., Hron, K., and Maher, C. A. (2019). The compositional isotemporal substitution model: a method for estimating changes in a health outcome for reallocation of time between sleep, physical activity and sedentary behaviour. *Stat. Methods Med. Res.* 28, 846–857. doi: 10.1177/0962280217737805
- Faulkner, G., Ramanathan, S., Kwan, M., and The Ccws Expert Panel Group. (2019). Developing a coordinated Canadian post-secondary surveillance system: a Delphi survey to identify measurement priorities for the Canadian Campus Wellbeing Survey (CCWS). BMC Public Health 19:935. doi: 10.1186/ s12889-019-7255-6
- Faulkner, G., Weatherson, K., Patte, K., Qian, W., and Leatherdale, S. T. (2020). Are one-year changes in adherence to the 24-hour movement guidelines associated with flourishing among Canadian youth? *Prev. Med.* 139:106179. doi: 10.1016/ j.ypmed.2020.106179
- Fisher, H. L. (2021). Editorial: 'The early bird catches the worm'—the need for even earlier intervention and targeted prevention for mental illnesses. J. Child. Psychol. Psychiatry 62, 369–371. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13407
- Gilchrist, J. D., Battista, K., Patte, K. A., Faulkner, G., Carson, V., and Leatherdale, S. T. (2021). Effects of reallocating physical activity, sedentary behaviors, and sleep on mental health in adolescents. *Ment. Health Phys. Act* 20:100380. doi: 10.1016/j.mhpa.2020.100380
- Grgic, J., Dumuid, D., and Bengoechea, E. G. (2018). Health outcomes associated with reallocations of time between sleep, sedentary behaviour, and physical activity: a systematic scoping review of isotemporal substitution studies. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act* 15:69. doi: 10.1186/s12966-018-0691-3

- Guedes, D. P., Lopes, C. C., and Guedes, J. E. R. P. (2005). Reprodutibilidade e validade do Questionário Internacional de Atividade Física em adolescentes. *Rev. Bras. Med. Esporte* 11, 151–158. doi: 10.1590/S1517-86922005000200011
- Henriksen, I. O., Ranøyen, I., Indredavik, M. S., and Stenseng, F. (2017). The role of self-esteem in the development of psychiatric problems: a three-year prospective study in a clinical sample of adolescents. *Child. Adolesc. Psychiatry Ment. Health* 11:68. doi: 10.1186/s13034-017-0207-y
- Hjemdal, O., Vogel, P. A., Solem, S., Hagen, K., and Stiles, T. C. (2011). The relationship between resilience and levels of anxiety, depression, and obsessive– compulsive symptoms in adolescents. *Clin. Psychol. Psychother.* 18, 314–321. doi: 10.1002/cpp.719
- Janssen, I. (2016). Estimating Estimating whether replacing time in active outdoor play and sedentary video games with active video games influences youth's mental health. *J. Adolesc. Health* 59, 517–522. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016. 07.007
- Janssen, I., Clarke, A. E., Carson, V., Chaput, J. P., Giangregorio, L. M., Kho, M. E., et al. (2020). A systematic review of compositional data analysis studies examining associations between sleep, sedentary behaviour, and physical activity with health outcomes in adults. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 45, S248– S257. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2020-0160
- Janssen, I., Roberts, K. C., and Thompson, W. (2017). Is adherence to the Canadian 24-Hour movement behaviour guidelines for children and youth associated with improved indicators of physical, mental, and social health? *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 42, 725–731. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2016-0681
- João, K. A. D. R., Jesus, S. N., Carmo, C., and Pinto, P. (2018). The impact of sleep quality on the mental health of a non-clinical population. *Sleep Med.* 46, 69–73. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2018.02.010
- Kessler, R. C., Amminger, G. P., Aguilar–Gaxiola, S., Alonso, J., Lee, S., and Ustun, T. B. (2007). Age of onset of mental disorders: a review of recent literature. *Curr. Opin. Psychiatry* 20, 359–364. doi: 10.1097/YCO.0b013e32816ebc8c
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2002). The mental health continuum: from languishing to flourishing in life. J. Health Soc. Behav. 43, 207–222. doi: 10.2307/3090197
- Keyes, C. L. M. (2006). Mental health in adolescence: is America's youth flourishing? Am. J. Orthopsychiatry 76, 395–402. doi: 10.1037/0002-9432.76.3. 395
- Knell, G., Durand, C. P., Kohl, H. W., Wu, I. H. C., and Gabriel, K. P. (2019). Prevalence and likelihood of meeting sleep, physical activity, and screentime guidelines among US youth. *JAMA Pediatr.* 173, 387–389. doi: 10.1001/ jamapediatrics.2018.4847
- Koller, M. (2016). robustlmm: an R package for robust estimation of linear mixed-effects models. J. Stat. Softw. 75, 1–24.
- Kwan, M. Y. W., Dutta, P., Bray, S. R., Brown, D. M. Y., Cairney, J., Dunton, G. F., et al. (2020). Methods and design for the ADAPT study: application of integrateD Approaches to understanding Physical activity during the Transition to emerging adulthood. *BMC Public Health* 20:426. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-08484-0
- Kwok, S. T., Wong, W. N., Kris, and Lee, T. Y. A. (2014). Effect of resilience on self-perceived stress and experiences on stress symptoms A surveillance report. *Univers. J. Pub. Health* 2, 64–72. doi: 10.13189/ujph.2014.020205
- Masselink, M., Van Roekel, E., and Oldehinkel, A. J. (2018). Self-esteem in early adolescence as predictor of depressive symptoms in late adolescence and early adulthood: the mediating role of motivational and social factors. J. Youth Adolesc. 47, 932–946. doi: 10.1007/s10964-017-0727-z
- Mekary, R. A., and Ding, E. L. (2019). Isotemporal substitution as the gold standard model for physical activity epidemiology: why it is the most appropriate for activity time research. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 16:797. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph16050797
- Mekary, R. A., Willett, W. C., Hu, F. B., and Ding, E. L. (2009). Isotemporal substitution paradigm for physical activity epidemiology and weight change. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 170, 519–527. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwp163
- Orben, A., and Przybylski, A. K. (2019). The association between adolescent wellbeing and digital technology use. *Nat. Hum. Behav.* 3, 173–182. doi: 10.1038/ s41562-018-0506-1
- Orth, U., Robins, R. W., and Roberts, B. W. (2008). Low self-esteem prospectively predicts depression in adolescence and young adulthood. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 95, 695–708. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.95.3.695
- Patte, K. A., Faulkner, G., Qian, W., Duncan, M., and Leatherdale, S. T. (2020). Are one-year changes in adherence to the 24-hour movement guidelines associated

with depressive symptoms among youth? *BMC Public Health* 20:793. doi: 10. 1186/s12889-020-08887-z

- Paus, T., Keshavan, M., and Giedd, J. N. (2008). Why do many psychiatric disorders emerge during adolescence? *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 9, 947–957. doi: 10.1038/ nrn2513
- Pearson, N., Sherar, L. B., and Hamer, M. (2019). Prevalence and correlates of meeting sleep, screen-time, and physical activity guidelines among adolescents in the United Kingdom. JAMA Pediatr. 173, 993–994. doi: 10.1001/ jamapediatrics.2019.2822
- Revelle, W. (2011). An Overview of the Psych Package.
- Rollo, S., Antsygina, O., and Tremblay, M. S. (2020). The whole day matters: understanding 24-hour movement guideline adherence and relationships with health indicators across the lifespan. J. Sport Health Sci. 9, 493–510. doi: 10. 1016/j.jshs.2020.07.004
- Rosenberg, M. (ed.). (1965). "The measurement of self-esteem," in Society and the Adolescent Self-Image. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 16–36.
- Sampasa-Kanyinga, H., Chaput, J.-P., Goldfield, G. S., Janssen, I., Wang, J. L., Hamilton, H. A., et al. (2021). The Canadian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines and psychological distress among adolescents. *Can. J. Psychiatry* 6, 624–633. doi: 10.1177/0706743720970863
- Sampasa-Kanyinga, H., Colman, I., Goldfield, G. S., Janssen, I., Wang, J. L., Podinic, I., et al. (2020). Combinations of physical activity, sedentary time, and sleep duration and their associations with depressive symptoms and other mental health problems in children and adolescents: a systematic review. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 17:72. doi: 10.1186/s12966-020-00976-x
- Skrove, M., Romundstad, P., and Indredavik, M. S. (2013). Resilience, lifestyle and symptoms of anxiety and depression in adolescence: the Young-HUNT study. Soc. Psychiatry Psychiatr. Epidemiol. 48, 407–416. doi: 10.1007/s00127-012-0561-2
- Spear, L. P. (2000). The adolescent brain and age-related behavioral manifestations. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 24, 417–463. doi: 10.1016/S0149-7634(00)00014-2
- Tremblay, M. S., Carson, V., Chaput, J.-P., Gorber, S. C., Dinh, T., Duggan, M., et al. (2016). Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines for children and youth:

an integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 41, S311–S327. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2016-0151

- Tremblay, M. S., and Ross, R. (2020). How should we move for health? The case for the 24-hour movement paradigm. CMAJ 192, E1728–E1729. doi: 10.1503/cmaj. 202345
- White, R. L., Babic, M. J., Parker, P. D., Lubans, D. R., Astell-Burt, T., and Lonsdale, C. (2017). Domain-specific physical activity and mental health: a meta-analysis. *Am. J. Prev. Med.* 52, 653–666. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.12.008
- Woods, H. C., and Scott, H. (2016). #Sleepyteens: social media use in adolescence is associated with poor sleep quality, anxiety, depression and low self-esteem. J. Adolesc. 51, 41–49. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.05.008
- World Health Organization [WHO] (2017). Depression and Other Common Mental Disorders: Global Health Estimates. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Zhu, X., Haegele, J. A., and Healy, S. (2019). Movement and mental health: behavioral correlates of anxiety and depression among children of 6–17 years old in the U.S. *Ment. Health Phys. Act.* 16, 60–65. doi: 10.1016/j.mhpa.2019. 04.002

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Brown and Kwan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## The Potential Advantages of Tai Chi Chuan in Promoting Inhibitory Control and Spontaneous Neural Activity in Young Adults

Qi-Qi Shen<sup>1</sup>, Heng-Chan Yin<sup>1</sup>\*, Lei Cui<sup>1,2</sup>\*, Jing-Yi Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Dong-Ling Wang<sup>1</sup>, Li-Na Zhu<sup>1</sup>, Yuan Wang<sup>1</sup> and Xiu-Juan Li<sup>3</sup>

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Toru Ishihara, Kobe University, Japan

#### Reviewed by: Kazuva Suwabe.

Kazuya Suwabe, Ryutsu Keizai University, Japan Shu-Shih Hsieh, Kingston University, United Kingdom

#### \*Correspondence:

Heng-Chan Yin yinhengchan@bnu.edu.cn Lei Cui cuilei@bnu.edu.cn

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Regulation and Processing, a section of the journal Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

> Received: 26 July 2021 Accepted: 06 October 2021 Published: 04 November 2021

#### Citation:

Shen Q-Q, Yin H-C, Cui L, Zhang J-Y, Wang D-L, Zhu L-N, Wang Y and Li X-J (2021) The Potential Advantages of Tai Chi Chuan in Promoting Inhibitory Control and Spontaneous Neural Activity in Young Adults. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 15:747733. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2021.747733 <sup>1</sup>College of P. E. and Sports, Beijing Normal University, Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup>State Key Laboratory of Cognitive Neuroscience and Learning, Beijing Normal University, Beijing, China, <sup>3</sup>PE Department, Renmin University of China, Beijing, China

Tai Chi Chuan (TCC) is assumed to exert beneficial effects on functional brain activity and cognitive function in elders. Until now, empirical evidence of TCC induced intraregional spontaneous neural activity and inhibitory control remains inconclusive. Whether the effect of TCC is better than that of other aerobic exercises is still unknown, and the role of TCC in younger adults is not yet fully understood. Here we used resting-state functional MRI (fMRI) to investigate the effects of 8-week TCC (n = 12) and brisk walking (BW, n = 12) on inhibitory control and fractional amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations (fALFF). The results found that TCC had significant effects on inhibitory control performance and spontaneous neural activity that were associated with significantly increased fALFF in the left medial superior frontal gyrus (Cohen's d = 1.533) and the right fusiform gyrus (Cohen's d = 1.436) and decreased fALFF in the right dorsolateral superior frontal gyrus (Cohen's d = 1.405) and the right paracentral lobule (Cohen's d = 1.132).TCC exhibited stronger effects on spontaneous neural activity than the BW condition, as reflected in significantly increased fALFF in the left medial superior frontal gyrus (Cohen's d = 0.862). There was a significant positive correlation between the increase in fALFF in the left medial superior frontal gyrus and the enhancement in inhibitory control performance. The change in fALFF in the left medial superior frontal gyrus was able to explain the change in inhibitory control performance induced by TCC. In conclusion, our results indicated that 8 weeks of TCC intervention could improve processing efficiency related to inhibitory control and alter spontaneous neural activity in young adults, and TCC had potential advantages over BW intervention for optimizing spontaneous neural activity.

Keywords: Tai Chi Chuan, exercise intervention, spontaneous neural activity, brain plasticity, functional magnetic resonance imaging, inhibition control

## INTRODUCTION

Inhibition is a cognitive control process that allows us to suppress dominant and automatic responses to goal-irrelevant stimuli when needed (Nigg, 2000). It plays significant and intricate roles in different dimensions of thinking and behavioral processes, including attention (Gardner and Long, 1962), emotional perception (Ozonoff et al., 1991), and emotional regulation (Pessoa, 2009; Hendricks and Buchanan, 2016). Intervention studies have demonstrated the plasticity of inhibition function. Over the years, substantial evidence has suggested that physical exercise, an inexpensive and relatively safe intervention, is an effective method for enhancing inhibitory control. Prior studies have reported substantial exercise effects on tasks that measure inhibitory control (Tomporowski et al., 2008; van Uffelen et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2010; Chaddock et al., 2012; Verburgh et al., 2014; Tang et al., 2017; Li et al., 2020; Song et al., 2020) with increased task-related brain activation (Krafft et al., 2014; e.g., dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, medial frontal gyrus, superior frontal gyrus, middle frontal gyrus, superior temporal gyrus, cingulate gyrus, and insula). However, even in the absence of any clear sensory input or behavioral output, the brain remains active (Fox and Raichle, 2007). Spontaneous fluctuations of the blood oxygen leveldependent (BOLD) signals in functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) are important manifestations of spontaneous neural activity. Recently, an increasing number of studies have used resting-state fMRI to explore spontaneous neural activity (Amad et al., 2017; Flodin et al., 2017). Furthermore, motor learning and exercise interventions have been found to induce neural plasticity in the resting brain (Wayne and Fuerst, 2013).

Tai Chi Chuan (TCC), an Asian mindfulness exercise for integrating body and mind (Wayne and Fuerst, 2013), has been shown to improve cognitive functions, such as memory and attention (Chan et al., 2008; Tao et al., 2017c). In addition, resting-state fMRI methods, like voxel-mirrored homotopic connectivity (VMHC; Chen et al., 2020), regional homogeneity (ReHo; Wei et al., 2014), and resting-state functional connectivity (rsFC; Tao et al., 2017a), have confirmed that TCC can alter spontaneous neural activity in elderly individuals. Most of these studies have described the critical functional connectivity or functional integration between different brain areas related to cognitive functions, but they couldn't provide direct information on the amplitude of brain activity in each brain region. Spontaneous low-frequency (0.01–0.08 Hz) fluctuations (LFF) have been linked to spontaneous neural activity in a region. LFF closely resembles the task-dependent activation pattern in fMRI (Biswal et al., 1995), thus providing valuable characteristic information of the spontaneous neural activity (Goldman et al., 2002; Lu et al., 2007; Mantini et al., 2007). The amplitude of the LFF (ALFF) has been used as a reliable and sensitive indicator of spontaneous neural activities in many studies (Guo et al., 2013). It has also been shown that resting-state ALFF could be used as the marker for intervention-induced neural plasticity in elderly subjects (Yin et al., 2014). However, the ALFF method is also sensitive to physiological noise. Zou et al. (2008) have proposed a fractional ALFF (fALFF) approach, which determines the ratio of the low-frequency power spectrum to that of the entire frequency range to avoid the background effects of physiological noise. Studies have revealed that correlation analysis between the fALFF and behavioral characteristics could be valuable gauges for examining the potential neural activity underlying cognitive control (Mennes et al., 2011; Deng et al., 2016). Recently, several studies have explored the effect of TCC on fALFF in older adults. Tao et al. (2017b) found that TCC and Baduanjin (popular mind-body practices) interventions can modulate medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) fALFF and promote memory function and a significant correlation between mPFC fALFF changes and memory. Wei et al. (2017) have demonstrated that TCC practitioners have lower fALFF in the left-lateralized frontoparietal region than that in the controls (those with no regular TCC practice). However, the group difference in inhibitory control was not significant. In fact, the changes in spontaneous brain activity in older adults who practiced Tai Chi for a long period of time were not related to the performance of inhibitory control tasks. What about young adults? Since the causal relationship could not be established in a cross-sectional study, the potential role of TCC-induced intra-regional spontaneous neural activity on inhibitory control is still unknown. Besides, whether TCC, a mind-body exercise that includes mindfulness, has a different effect on inhibitory control and spontaneous neural activity from general aerobic exercise (non-mindfulness) is also worth further discussion, and the role of TCC in younger adults is not fully understood.

Therefore, the present study aimed to determine the potential advantages of TCC for promoting inhibitory control and modulating spontaneous neural activity in young adults. We hypothesized that: (1) a long-term TCC intervention could induce changes in the inhibitory control and fALFF in the brain; (2) the effect of TCC might be stronger than that of other aerobic exercises (brisk walking); and (3) inhibitory control changes induced by TCC might be associated with changes in fALFF.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Participants and Study Design**

The institutional review board of the National Key Laboratory of Cognitive Neuroscience and Learning approved the experimental procedures. All procedures were conducted in compliance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Forty-two college students were recruited by advertisement, of which six were excluded because either they had metal implants in their body or were in the abnormal range of depression scale or did not fit with the timing of the exercise intervention. Thirty-six healthy young adults without regular exercise habits were randomly divided into three groups matched by sex, namely the TCC intervention group, the BW group, and the control group. Participants were assessed by the resting-state fMRI scan and inhibitory control test before and after the 8-week intervention period. All participants provided written informed consent and were compensated for their participation. All participants completed the experiment.

#### **Exercise Intervention Procedures**

The exercise group participated in three weekly sessions for group training for 8 weeks in gym (Cui et al., 2019). The TCC group received Bafa Wubu of Tai Chi exercise. Bafa Wubu of Tai Chi has been systematically refined and organized by the General Administration of Sports of China based on the existing 24-form Tai Chi consisting of a set of Tai Chi routines popularly characterized by culture, fitness, and simplicity (Flodin et al., 2017). The first 1-3 week is the stage for "Building Xing," when the subject will master all the movements skillfully. The next 4-6 weeks are for "Conveying Qi," which focuses on the respiration of the subject during the intervention. And the final 7-8 week is mainly the stage of "using Yi," which emphasizes use mind to guide the movements and finally achieves the harmony of Xing, Qi, and Yi. The BW group received three weekly sessions for group training of BW exercise in gym (open space). Each training session (TCC and BW) lasted 60 min, starting with a 5 min warming-up and ending with a 5 min cooling-down. The polar watch (PolarElectro Oy, Kempele, Finland) was used to monitor participants' heart rates during the exercise sessions to ensure moderate exercise intensity (64% to 76% HRmax). The control group routinely maintained their original daily and physical activity habits and was instructed not to engage in any additional exercises.

## Data Acquisition

#### Inhibitory Control Assessment

For each participant, we applied a modified flanker task to measure inhibitory control before and after the intervention period. The main aspect assessed in the flanker task is interference control at an attention level, which requires suppressing distracting stimuli and competing for response tendencies (Van den Bussche et al., 2020). Each measurement was performed after the resting-state fMRI scan outside the scanner and collected with E-prime software<sup>1</sup>.

The stimuli were comprised of two conditions (Uono et al., 2017; Hintz et al., 2020): congruent and incongruent. Each condition was presented in 60 trials, for a total of 120 trials. Under congruent conditions, the distractor arrows were pointed in the same direction as the target arrow (<<<<< and >>>>), while under incongruent conditions, the arrows pointed in opposite directions (<<><< and >><>>). During each trial, the participants first saw a fixation cross for 500 ms, and then the target stimulus was presented for 1,000 ms (Zhu et al., 2021). Participants were asked to respond as quickly and accurately as possible by pressing the button according to the direction of a centrally presented arrow that appeared on the computer screen and were asked to perform 12 practice trials and then complete two blocks of 60 trials each. The congruent and incongruent trials were presented in random order with equal probability in each block. Flanker accuracy was evaluated using mean accuracy, and speed was evaluated using mean Response Time (RT). The performance indicator (mean RT to incongruent trials minus mean RT to congruent trials) was To minimize the learning effects, the participants performed a training task before the first study day, and the participants were asked to complete a training test until they reached 85% accuracy on the practiced flanker test.

#### **MRI Data Acquisition**

For each participant, we obtained an 8 min resting-state fMRI scan before and after the 8-week intervention period. All participants were asked to refrain from intense physical activity, caffeine, and alcohol consumption for 24 h before the day of testing. Data were acquired using a 3.0T MRI system (Siemens Magnetom Prisma; Erlangen, Germany) with a 64-channel head coil, which was located in the Beijing Normal University Imaging Center for Brain Research. Functional images were acquired using an echo-planar sequence sensitive to blood oxygenation level-dependent contrast (Xu et al., 2016; Cui et al., 2019, 2021): TR = 2,000 ms, TE = 30 ms;  $FA = 90^{\circ}$ , slice thickness = 3.5 mm, 33 axial slices, voxel size =  $3.5 \times 3.5 \times 3.5$  mm, FOV =  $224 \times 224$  mm, 240 volumes. The participants were instructed to keep their eyes open without falling asleep and to move as little as possible. As assessed by a questionnaire, none of the subjects reported falling asleep during the scanning or being uncomfortable during or after the procedure. A high resolution three-dimensional T1-weighted magnetization-prepared rapid gradient-echo images were acquired (Grewe et al., 2015; Wei et al., 2017): TR = 2,530 ms, TE = 2.98 ms, inversion time = 1,100 ms,  $FA = 7^{\circ}$ , slice thickness = 1 mm, 192 sagittal slices, voxel size =  $0.5 \times 0.5 \times 1$  mm, FOV =  $224 \times 256$  mm.

## Data Analysis

### Inhibitory Control Analysis

Behavioral analysis was performed using SPSS (International Business Machines Corp., NY, USA). Repeated-measures ANOVA was first conducted to explore changes in task performance in the TCC, BW, and control groups from pre-intervention to post-intervention. When the interaction effect was significant, the *post hoc* test was subsequently analyzed. For multiple comparisons of changes (post minus pre-test) of each dependent variable, the one-way ANOVA test followed by the Bonferroni *post hoc* test was used. By treating the changes in inhibitory control from before to after the exercise intervention as the dependent variable, the differences in each dependent variable among the TCC BW, and control groups were compared. All the tests were performed 2-sided, and  $p \leq 0.05$  was considered significant in this analysis.

#### Resting-State fMRI Image Pre-processing

Functional imaging data pre-processing was implemented using GRETNA toolbox<sup>2</sup> based on the SPM software<sup>3</sup>, including the following conventional steps (Zou et al., 2008; Xu et al., 2016; Cui et al., 2021): (1) discarding the first 10 time points, allowing for signal equilibrium and adaptation of the participants

used to measure reflected the ability to inhibit task-irrelevant distractor information (Hintz et al., 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://www.neurobs.com/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://www.nitrc.org/projects/gretna

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm/

to the scanning noise; (2) compensating for systematic slicedependent time shifts; (3) correcting for head movement with rigid body translation and rotation parameters; (4) normalizing into Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) space using unified segmentation on T1-weighted images and re-slicing into 3-mm cubic voxels; (5) spatial smoothing with a 4-mm full-width at half-maximum Gaussian kernel; (6) removing the linear trend signal; and (7) regressing out nuisance variables, including head motion parameters (Friston-24), by averaging the white matter (WM) signal from the deep cerebral WM and the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) signal-averaged from the ventricles to reduce non-neuronal contributions further. All the data used in this study satisfied the criteria for spatial movement in any direction (x, y or z) <2 mm translation or  $2^\circ$  rotation.

#### Spontaneous Neural Activity Analysis

The REST toolbox<sup>4</sup> (Q = rest; Qiu et al., 2018) was used to perform fALFF measurements. Following the pre-processing, the rs-fMRI time series for each voxel was transformed into the frequency domain using the fast Fourier transform. In each voxel of the brain, the fALFF was computed as the ratio between the total amplitudes across 0.01-0.08 Hz and the sum of amplitudes across the entire frequency domain (0-0.25 Hz). Then, bandpass (0.01–0.08 Hz) filtering was carried out to reduce the influence of physiological noise. For each fALFF value, we converted the normalized expression values to Z scores to eliminate the differences of whole-brain fALFF in the overall level between individuals. A 3-group (TCC, BW, and control)  $\times$  2-time (pre and post-test) repeated measures ANOVA was performed on the whole brain fALFF to obtain the brain regions with group  $\times$  time significant interaction effects (FWE corrected  $p \le 0.05$  with a cluster size  $\geq 5$ ) using SPM. The xjView toolbox<sup>5</sup> was used to mask the four significant brain regions. Then, the REST toolbox was used to extract the fALFF values from the four brain regions of each subject, followed by post hoc statistical analysis in SPSS 25.0.

## Association Between Inhibitory Control and Spontaneous Neural Activity Changes

Pearson correlation and regression analysis were used to estimate the relationship between changes in fALFF (post minus pre-test) and changes in inhibitory control (post minus pre-test) with TCC training.

#### RESULTS

#### **Demographic Characteristics**

Demographic characteristics are listed in **Table 1**. There were no significant differences among these three groups.

#### **Inhibitory Control Results**

For the accuracy, there were no significant main effects of group and time, and no significant interaction of group by time was found in both the congruent and incongruent conditions

<sup>4</sup>http://restfmri.net/forum/index.php?

<sup>5</sup>https://www.alivelearn.net/xjview/

(ps < 0.05). The means and standard deviations (SD) are listed in **Table 2**.

For the inhibitory control RT, there was a significant group × time interaction ( $F_{(1,33)} = 3.903, p = 0.03, \eta_p^2 = 0.191$ ) on the inhibitory control performance. There was no significant main effect of the group ( $F_{(1,33)} = 3.903$ , p = 0.257,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.079$ ) or time  $(F_{(1,33)} = 2.115, p = 0.155, \eta_p^2 = 0.060)$  on the inhibitory control. A follow-up analysis deconstructing the interaction effects revealed that there was a significant difference between pre- and post-test in the TCC group  $(F_{(1,33)} = 8.10, p = 0.008,$ Cohen's d = 0.611), but no significant differences were observed between those either in the BW group ( $F_{(1,33)} = 0.60$ , p = 0.443, Cohen's d = 0.326) or in the control group( $F_{(1,33)} = 1.22$ , p = 0.278, *Cohen's d* = 0.376). Moreover, there was no significant difference among three groups in the pre-test  $(F_{(1,33)} = 0.08,$ p = 0.928,  $(\eta_p^2 = 0.005)$  but was in the post-test $(F_{(1,33)} = 3.46)$ , p = 0.043,  $(\hat{\eta}_p^2 = 0.173)$ . The inhibitory control performance changes (post minus pre-test) were compared among the three groups. The results showed that inhibitory control performance was significantly improved in the TCC group compared to that in the control group (p = 0.009, Cohen's d = 1.014). The other differences did not produce any statistical significance (ps > 0.05; Figure 1).

Next, we conducted a *post hoc* power analysis using the software G\*Power (version 3.1.9.7; Kiel University, Kiel, Germany) to confirm the sample sizes. We used a power analysis with Effect size f = 0.485 ( $\eta_p^2 = 0.191$ ),  $\alpha$  error of probability = 0.05, Number of groups = 3, Number of measurements = 2, and correlation = 0.554. Within our chosen total sample size, the power (1- $\beta$ ) was approximately 0.99.

#### **fALFF Results**

Repeated measures ANOVA on the fALFF values yielded four significant interactions (**Figure 2**): the left medial superior frontal gyrus (SFGmed.L; cluster size: 5; peak MNI coordinates: -12, 69, 9; F = 55.33), right dorsolateral superior frontal gyrus (SFGdor.R; cluster size: 7; peak MNI coordinates: 18, 27, 42; F = 46.37), right paracentral lobule (PCL.R; cluster size: 6; peak MNI coordinates: 3, -42, 60; F = 50.56), and right fusiform gyrus (FFG.R; cluster size: 8; peak MNI coordinates: 30, -66, -6; F = 54.63).

The fALFF changes (post minus pretest) were compared among the three groups. The results showed that there was a significant increase in the SFGmed.L (p < 0.001, *Cohen's* d = 1.533) and FFG.R (p = 0.001, *Cohen's* d = 1.436) and a significant decrease in the SFGdor.R (p = 0.001, *Cohen's* d = 1.405) and PCL.R (p = 0.003, *Cohen's* d = 1.132) in the TCC group compared to that of the control group. There was a significant increase in the FFG.R (p = 0.006, *Cohen's* d = 1.398), and the increasing trend gradually slowed down in the PCL.R (p = 0.016, *Cohen's* d = 1.374) and SFGdor.R (p = 0.018, *Cohen's* d = 0.889) in the BW group compared to that of the control group. We also found a significant increase in the SFGmed.L (p= 0.041, *Cohen's* d = 0.862) in the TCC group compared to that in the BW group.

Then, we conducted a *post hoc* power analysis. We used a power analysis with Effect size f = 0.588-0.692 ( $\eta_p^2 = 0.284-0.324$ ),  $\alpha$  error of probability = 0.05, Number of

#### TABLE 1 | Demographic characteristics.

Items	Tai Chi Chuan	Brisk walking	Control	F	р
	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)		
Sex (Male/Female)	2/10	2/10	2/10	_	_
Age (years)	21.83 (2.48)	21.92 (2.28)	21.75 (2.45)	0.014	0.986
Handedness (Left/Right)	0/12	0/12	0/12	_	_
Education (years)	16.33 (2.23)	16.41 (2.27)	16.33 (1.50)	0.007	0.993
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	20.21 (2.54)	19.15 (2.06)	21.71 (2.96)	3.07	0.06

#### TABLE 2 | Flanker task performance.

	Tai Chi Chuan M(SD)		Brisk walking M(SD)	Control M(SD)
Pre				
Inhibitory control RT (ms)	116.82 (16.63)		121.09 (30.36)	119.03 (31.36)
Congruent accuracy (%)	0.969 (0.040)		0.963 (0.042)	0.957 (0.037
Incongruent accuracy (%)	0.956 (0.025)		0.962 (0.039)	0.953 (0.015
Post				
Inhibitory control RT (ms)	95.66 (21.80)		115.32 (32.24)	127.23 (33.65)
Congruent accuracy (%)	0.967 (0.039)		0.962 (0.043)	0.953 (0.035
Incongruent accuracy (%)	0.954 (0.021)		0.959 (0.031)	0.955 (0.015
(su) -40.0040.0040.0040.00		**		
	TCC	BW	control	

groups = 3, Number of measurements = 2. Within our chosen total sample size, the power  $(1-\beta)$  was approximately 0.99.

### Association Between Inhibitory Control and Spontaneous Neural Activity Changes

Significant correlation between the SFGmed.L fALFF changes and the inhibitory control performance changes (r = 0.871, p < 0.001 significant after Bonferroni correction; **Figure 3**) was observed in the TCC group. There was no significant correlation between the fALFF changes and the inhibitory control performance changes in the BW and control groups. A linear regression analysis was performed using the inhibitory control performance changes as a dependent variable and the SFGmed.L fALFF changes as an independent variable, which showed that TCC induced fALFF changes in the SFGmed.L could explain 73.5% (adjusted  $R^2 = 0.735$ ) of the observed variation in the inhibitory control performance improvement ( $F_{(1,11)} = 31.564$ ,  $\beta = -0.871$ , p < 0.001; **Table 3**).

## DISCUSSION

This study aimed to examine the potential advantages of TCC for promoting inhibitory control and modulating spontaneous neural activity in young adults. To the best of our knowledge, this study was the first exercise intervention study to compare the impacts of TCC and general aerobic exercise on spontaneous neural activity and inhibitory control in young adults. We found that TCC exercise significantly increased inhibitory control performance and induced spontaneous neural activity changes. While BW exercise had no significant effect on the inhibitory control. Importantly, TCC had comparatively stronger effects on spontaneous neural activity than BW exercise, as indicated by



**FIGURE 2** | The fractional amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations (fALFF) results. Changes in the fALFF after 8 weeks of Tai Chi Chuan (TCC) and BW. (A) *Post hoc* statistical analysis results of fALFF changes in the SFGmed.L-left medial superior frontal gyrus. (B) *Post hoc* statistical analysis of the fALFF changes in SFGdor.R-right dorsolateral superior frontal gyrus. (C) *Post hoc* statistical analysis results of the fALFF changes in the PFG.R-right fusiform gyrus. \* $p \le 0.05$ , \*\* $p \le 0.01$ , and \*\*\* $p \le 0.001$ .



TABLE 3	fALFF changes with inhibitory control RT changes.
---------	---

Independent variable	β	adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	F 95%		CI	
				Lower	Upper	
SFGmed.L fALFF changes	-0.871	0.735	31.564	-63.38	-27.4	

significantly increased fALFF in SFGmed.L. In addition, there was a significant positive correlation between the enhancement in inhibitory control performance and the increase in fALFF in the SFGmed.L.

# Tai Chi Chuan Promoted Inhibitory Control Performance

Our findings indicated that an 8-week TCC intervention could improve inhibitory control, which was consistent with previous studies on mind-body exercise. Other studies have also found that mind-body exercises such as TCC can improve inhibitory control (Wayne et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2018). Inhibitory control allows us to suppress dominant and automatic responses to goal-irrelevant stimuli. TCC may improve inhibitory control in the following respects.

From the perspective of movement types, TCC requires participants to abide by the basic principle of mind-body relaxation. On this basis, under the guidance of the mind, combined with breathing, the movements are correctly completed in a concentrated manner (Shaojun, 2019). During the entire movement process, individuals were asked to be intently guided by their minds and continue to be aware of their movements and respiratory rhythms so that their attention could be continuously improved (Cui et al., 2019, 2021), with better and timely modifications of the information related to inhibitory control depending on the needs of the task, which resulted in improved inhibitory control. In addition, while completing the entire set of movements, the individual was required to suppress interference by irrelevant information and suppress the prepotent responses required for corrective actions, so that the person could respond using top-to-bottom processes that involve harmonious unification and actions related to learning and memory control processes while simultaneously engaging in exercise that frequently involves inhibitory control training. Some studies have shown that the combination of physical and cognitive training may lead to a mutual enhancement of the effects of these two interventions (Hotting and Roder, 2013).

The results of this study also showed that BW exercise did not significantly improve inhibitory control. Previous studies have found that moderate-intensity aerobic exercise can improve an individual's cognitive function, which is inconsistent with the results of this study (Fox and Raichle, 2007; Song et al., 2020). This might be due to the specific nature of the research subjects, like college students, in this study. There is evidence that the influence of physical activity on cognitive functions is stronger and more obvious in teenagers and the elderly population but weaker in young adults (Voss et al., 2011). Some studies have found that movement complexity plays an important role in cognitive control (Best, 2012). Compared with TCC, BW is a relatively simple and repetitive movement with a single movement form. Our previous research on cognitive flexibility yielded similar results (Cui et al., 2021), suggesting that the improvement of cognitive function in young adults might require movement involving more cognitive operations. On the other hand, this finding may be related to the cycle of exercise, which lasted for 8 weeks in this experiment. In this study, 8 weeks of BW was found to be optimum for modulating spontaneous neural activity, which was reflected in its influence on functional brain activity, but its positive effects have not yet been shown in terms of behavior. Numerically, the inhibitory control RT of the BW group also decreased, but the decrease was not statistically significant. As a result, a longer exercise intervention time might be needed in future studies. Previous behavioral studies have shown that TCC is more beneficial to cognitive function improvement than BW in older adults (Ji et al., 2017). Thus, our study suggests that TCC may improve inhibitory control in young adults and have potential therapeutic advantages.

# Tai Chi Chuan Altered Spontaneous Neural Activity

Our results showed that both TCC and BW intervention could induce spontaneous neural activity, which was consistent with the previous findings (Voss et al., 2011; Best, 2012; Ji et al., 2017; Wei et al., 2017). Both human and animal studies have shown that physical activity promotes neural plasticity in the brain, thus promoting cognitive function (van Uffelen et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2010).

The right paracentral lobule belongs to the key brain area of the motor-sensory network, which innervates motor and sensory modules of the contralateral extremities (Bruchhage et al., 2020; Deng et al., 2021). Throughout an 8-week exercise intervention, the college students gradually transitioned from the initial stage of action acquisition to the stage of action automation. Therefore, TCC decreased the spontaneous activity in the PCL.R, and brisk walking attenuated the enhancement of spontaneous activity in this brain region. The FFG.R involves facial perception (Uono et al., 2017) and body perception (Grewe et al., 2015). Both TCC and BW involve a lot of body perception in the process. For facial perception, the exercise intervention in this study was set in the form of a group, which inevitably involved facial recognition and perception, which might also be one of the reasons for improving its effects. The enhancement of fALFF in the FFG.R by TCC might be caused by the elements of mindfulness and meditation contained in the TCC (Cui et al., 2021). Furthermore, it has been found that TCC can improve levels of mindfulness (Chen et al., 2021). In the process of TCC exercise, individuals need to be guided with their own thoughts and pay more attention to the continuous awareness of movements, breathing, etc., to continuously improve the ability of mindfulness-awareness and make their sensory perception stronger. The SFGdor.R plays an important role in the process of inhibitory control. The dorsolateral prefrontal cortex is part of the executive control network, which is involved in controlling movement and cognitive tasks that require externally directed attention (Beaty et al., 2015). The SFGdor.R is located in the frontal lobe. Previous studies have also shown that functional activity changes in the cerebral cortex after physical exercise training are primarily reflected in the frontal cortex (Wei et al., 2017). Additionally, stress usually has influenced the function of mBDNF and synapse in brain (Nestler et al., 2002; Martinowich et al., 2007; Kojima et al., 2020), the unexpected changes of fALFF in the control group may be induced by participants' stress reaction during the final examination. This explanation remains speculative, as our study did not measure this pressure, so relevant analysis cannot be carried out, which can be further explored in future research.

Compared to the control group, the participants had four brain areas that displayed improved fALFF after TCC intervention and three brain areas with improved fALFF after the BW intervention. However, there was a significant difference in the SFGmed.L between the TCC and brisk walking groups. The SFGmed.L located in the mPFC, which connects the default mode network and left dorsal attention network, thus playing crucial roles in the ability of impulse control, selfawareness, regulating emotion, and attention (Qiu et al., 2011; Jiang et al., 2016; Park et al., 2018). Several studies have reported that people with schizophrenia (SZ; Cui et al., 2017), autism spectrum disorder (ASD; Yao et al., 2016), and antisocial personality disorder (ASPD; Jiang et al., 2016), and internet gaming disorder (IGD; Park et al., 2018) have abnormal activity in the SFG. TCC involves sequences moving memory and planning, inhibition of incorrect movements, etc. Compared with normal aerobic exercise, TCC practice requires more awareness, attention control, movement control, and memory components that frequently activate a participant's related functions during exercise. This finding might also be related to the learning process, and a previous study has pointed out that during the acquisition of motor skills, the brain activity shows plasticity (Halsband and Lange, 2006). TCC has more new movement forms that require participants to learn as a new experience. Physical exercise may trigger the process of promoting spontaneous neural activity in the brain, thus improving the ability of individuals to cope with new needs through behavioral adaptations, and the combination of physical training and cognitive training may lead to the mutual reinforcement of the two interventions (Hotting and Roder, 2013). TCC has both characteristics. Therefore, the effect of optimizing spontaneous neural activity in the brain is stronger, which enhances inhibitory control. Another reason might be that TCC had more advantages regarding movement forms, including mindfulness and physical training; hence the difference could be explained by mindfulness. There is a hypothesis that the frontoparietal control network is relevant for meditation and mindfulness skills (Marzetti et al., 2014). A previous review has supported this hypothesis by finding that meditation is related to the left superior temporal gyrus (Tomasino et al., 2014).

Our research showed that TCC also enhanced the fALFF in the SFGmed.L and that the enhancement of fALFF in this brain region could explain the improvements in inhibitory control induced by TCC. Several studies have supported our findings. Yin has shown that 6 weeks of TCC can enhance the ALFF in the left SFG of elderly individuals (Yin et al., 2014). A cross-sectional study has also found a relationship between inhibitory control performance and fALFF among the TCC practitioners (Wei et al., 2017), and two longitudinal studies have indicated that there is a significant change in fALFF after the TCC intervention (Tao et al., 2017b; Mei et al., 2019). But all those studies have focused on older adult populations. Since younger adults are required to use many cognitive resources to solve issues in their day-today lives, so it is important to explore the effect of exercise on promoting inhibitory control and spontaneous activity.

This study has several limitations. Firstly, given our small sample size, the findings should be interpreted cautiously. Secondly, the positive effect of BW on inhibitory control was not observed in this study, which might be due to insufficient exercise intervention duration. Larger sample sizes and longer exercise duration studies are warranted to confirm these results in future investigations. Thirdly, we applied a modified flanker task to measure inhibitory control, and the stimulus presentation time was 1,000 ms. However, some studies have used a shorter stimulus presentation time followed by a response window of 1,000–1,500 ms. The inconsistencies in task setting might influence the results of the relationship between inhibitory control performance and functional brain activity. Fourthly, although we comparatively strictly controlled the three groups in the same conditions except for exercise intervention, fALFF changes occurred in some brain regions in the control group. We speculate that this might be caused by the stress of final exams, but the actual causes need to be further explored in the future. Finally, the changes in other brain regions found in this study might be related to other behavioral changes caused by TCC, such as perception, meditation, and mindfulness level. The influence of TCC on these behavioral indicators warrants further analysis.

## CONCLUSION

In summary, our results indicated that 8 weeks of TCC intervention could improve processing efficiency related to inhibitory control and modulate spontaneous neural activity in young adults, and TCC had potential advantages over BW intervention for optimizing spontaneous neural activity.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by National Key Laboratory of Cognitive Neuroscience and Learning. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

H-CY and LC designed the experiment. LC and Q-QS participated in the exercise intervention, collected and analyzed the data. Q-QS wrote the manuscript with substantial contributions from H-CY and LC. J-YZ, D-LW, YW, and X-JL participated in the exercise intervention. L-NZ edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This study was funded by the National Key R&D Program (Grant No. 2018YFC2000600).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Professor Shaojun Luy from the College of P. E. and Sports, Beijing Normal University, China, for his assistance with the Tai Chi (Bafa Wubu) intervention. REFERENCES

- Amad, A., Seidman, J., Draper, S. B., Bruchhage, M. M. K., Lowry, R. G., Wheeler, J., et al. (2017). Motor learning induces plasticity in the resting brain-drumming up a connection. *Cereb. Cortex* 27, 2010–2021. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhw048
- Beaty, R. E., Benedek, M., Kaufman, S. B., and Silvia, P. J. (2015). Default and executive network coupling supports creative idea production. *Sci. Rep.* 5:10964. doi: 10.1038/srep10964
- Best, J. R. (2012). Exergaming immediately enhances children's executive function. Dev. Psychol. 48, 1501–1510. doi: 10.1037/a0026648
- Biswal, B., Yetkin, F. Z., Haughton, V. M., and Hyde, J. S. (1995). Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo-planar MRI. *Magn. Reson. Med.* 34, 537–541. doi: 10.1002/mrm.1910340409
- Bruchhage, M. M. K., Amad, A., Draper, S. B., Seidman, J., Lacerda, L., Laguna, P. L., et al. (2020). Drum training induces long-term plasticity in the cerebellum and connected cortical thickness. *Sci. Rep.* 10:10116. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-65877-2
- Chaddock, L., Voss, M., and Kramer, A. (2012). Physical activity and fitness effects on cognition and brain health in children and older adults. *Kinesiol. Rev.* 1, 37–45. doi: 10.1123/krj.1.1.37
- Chan, R. C. K., Shum, D., Toulopoulou, T., and Chen, E. Y. H. (2008). Assessment of executive functions: review of instruments and identification of critical issues. Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol. 23, 201–216. doi: 10.1016/j.acn.2007.08.010
- Chen, L. Z., Dai, A. Y., Yao, Y., Si, R. G., Hu, Z. E., Ge, L. K., et al. (2021). Effects of 8-Week Tai Chi chuan practice on mindfulness level. *Mindfulness* 12, 1534–1541. doi: 10.1007/s12671-021-01622-8
- Chen, L. Z., Yuan, X., Zhang, Y., Zhang, S., Zou, L., Yang, L., et al. (2020). Brain functional specialization is enhanced among Tai Chi chuan practitioners. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 101, 1176–1182. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2020.02.005
- Cui, L., Tao, S., Yin, H. C., Shen, Q. Q., Wang, Y., Zhu, L.-N., et al. (2021). Tai Chi chuan alters brain functional network plasticity and promotes cognitive flexibility. *Front. Psychol.* 12:665419. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.665419
- Cui, L. B., Wang, L. X., Tian, P., Wang, H. N., Cai, M., Guo, F., et al. (2017). Aberrant perfusion and its connectivity within default mode network of firstepisode drug-naïve schizophrenia patients and their unaffected first-degree relatives. Sci. Rep. 7:16201. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-14343-7
- Cui, L., Yin, H. C., Lyu, S. J., Shen, Q. Q., Wang, Y., Li, X. J., et al. (2019). Tai Chi chuan vs. general aerobic exercise in brain plasticity: a multimodal MRI study. *Sci. Rep.* 9:17264. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-53731-z
- Deng, X., Liu, Z., Kang, Q., Lu, L., Zhu, Y., and Xu, R. (2021). Cortical structural connectivity alterations and potential pathogenesis in mid-stage sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 13:650371. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021. 650371
- Deng, Y., Wang, Y., Ding, X., and Tang, Y. Y. (2016). The relevance of fractional amplitude of low-frequency fluctuation to interference effect. *Behav. Brain Res.* 296, 401–407. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2015.08.014
- Flodin, P., Jonasson, L. S., Riklund, K., Nyberg, L., and Boraxbekk, C. J. (2017). Does aerobic exercise influence intrinsic brain activity? an aerobic exercise intervention among healthy old adults. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 9:267. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00267
- Fox, M. D., and Raichle, M. E. (2007). Spontaneous fluctuations in brain activity observed with functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 8, 700–711. doi: 10.1038/nrn2201
- Gardner, R. W., and Long, R. I. (1962). Cognitive controls of attention and inhibition - study of individual consistencies. *Br. J. Psychol.* 53, 381–388. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8295.1962.tb00843.x
- Goldman, R. I., Stern, J. M., Engel, J., and Cohen, M. S. (2002). Simultaneous EEG and fMRI of the alpha rhythm. *Neuroreport* 13, 2487–2492. doi: 10.1097/01. wnr.0000047685.08940.d0
- Grewe, P., Woermann, F. G., Bien, C. G., and Piefke, M. (2015). Disturbed spatial cognitive processing of body-related stimuli in a case of a lesion to the right fusiform gyrus. *Neurocase* 21, 688–696. doi: 10.1080/13554794.2014. 974619
- Guo, W. B., Liu, F., Xun, G. L., Hu, M. R., Guo, X. F., Xiao, C. Q., et al. (2013). Reversal alterations of amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations in early and late onset, first-episode, drug-naive depression. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 40, 153–159. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.08.014

- Halsband, U., and Lange, R. K. (2006). Motor learning in man: a review of functional and clinical studies. *J. Physiol. Paris* 99, 414–424. doi: 10.1016/j. jphysparis.2006.03.007
- Hendricks, M. A., and Buchanan, T. W. (2016). Individual differences in cognitive control processes and their relationship to emotion regulation. *Cogn. Emot.* 30, 912–924. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2015.1032893
- Hintz, F., Dijkhuis, M., van't Hoff, V., McQueen, J. M., and Meyer, A. S. (2020). A behavioural dataset for studying individual differences in language skills. *Sci. Data* 7:429. doi: 10.1038/s41597-020-00758-x
- Hotting, K., and Roder, B. (2013). Beneficial effects of physical exercise on neuroplasticity and cognition. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 37, 2243–2257. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.04.005
- Ji, Z., Li, A., Feng, T., Liu, X., You, Y., Meng, F., et al. (2017). The benefits of Tai Chi and brisk walking for cognitive function and fitness in older adults. *PeerJ* 5:e3943. doi: 10.7717/peerj.3943
- Jiang, W., Li, G., Liu, H., Shi, F., Wang, T., Shen, C., et al. (2016). Reduced cortical thickness and increased surface area in antisocial personality disorder. *Neuroscience* 337, 143–152. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.08.052
- Kojima, M., Otabi, H., Kumanogoh, H., Toyoda, A., Ikawa, M., Okabe, M., et al. (2020). Reduction in BDNF from inefficient precursor conversion influences nest building and promotes depressive-like behavior in mice. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21:3984. doi: 10.3390/ijms21113984
- Krafft, C. E., Schwarz, N. F., Chi, L., Weinberger, A. L., Schaeffer, D. J., Pierce, J. E., et al. (2014). An 8-month randomized controlled exercise trial alters brain activation during cognitive tasks in overweight children. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 22, 232–242. doi: 10.1002/oby.20518
- Li, L., Zhang, J., Cao, M., Hu, W., Zhou, T., Huang, T., et al. (2020). The effects of chronic physical activity interventions on executive functions in children aged 3-7 years: a meta-analysis. *J. Sci. Med. Sport* 23, 949–954. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams. 2020.03.007
- Lu, H., Zuo, Y., Gu, H., Waltz, J. A., Zhan, W., Scholl, C. A., et al. (2007). Synchronized delta oscillations correlate with the resting-state functional MRI signal. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 104, 18265–18269. doi: 10.117991778073/pnas.0705791104
- Mantini, D., Perrucci, M. G., Del Gratta, C., Romani, G. L., and Corbetta, M. (2007). Electrophysiological signatures of resting state networks in the human brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 104, 13170–13175. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0700668104
- Martinowich, K., Manji, H., and Lu, B. (2007). New insights into BDNF function in depression and anxiety. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 1089–1093. doi: 10.1038/nn1971
- Marzetti, L., Di Lanzo, C., Zappasodi, F., Chella, F., Raffone, A., and Pizzella, V. (2014). Magnetoencephalographic alpha band connectivity reveals differential default mode network interactions during focused attention and open monitoring meditation. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 8:832. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014. 00832
- Mei, J., Yang, Z., Chen, S., Pan, Y., Yuan, X., Wang, E., et al. (2019). The effect of Tai Chi chuan exercise on the brain's fractional amplitude of low frequency fluctuation of the elderly in the resting state. *Chin. J. Sports Med.* 38, 449–453. doi: 1000-6710(2019)38:6<449:YSTJQX>2.0.TX;2-E
- Mennes, M., Zuo, X. N., Kelly, C., Di Martino, A., Zang, Y. F., Biswal, B., et al. (2011). Linking inter-individual differences in neural activation and behavior to intrinsic brain dynamics. *Neuroimage* 54, 2950–2959. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2010.10.046
- Nestler, E. J., Barrot, M., DiLeone, R. J., Eisch, A. J., Gold, S. J., and Monteggia, L. M. (2002). Neurobiology of depression. *Neuron* 34, 13–25. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(02)00653-0
- Nigg, J. T. (2000). On inhibition/disinhibition in developmental psychopathology: views from cognitive and personality psychology and a working inhibition taxonomy. *Psychol. Bull.* 126, 220–246. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.126. 2.220
- Ozonoff, S., Pennington, B. F., and Rogers, S. J. (1991). Executive function deficits in high-functioning autistic individuals relationship to theory of mind. *J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry* 32, 1081–1105. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610. 1991.tb00351.x
- Park, S., Ryu, H., Lee, J. Y., Choi, A., Kim, D. J., & Kim, S. N., et al. (2018). Longitudinal changes in neural connectivity in patients with internet gaming disorder: a resting-state eeg coherence study. *Front. Psychiatry* 9:252. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00252
- Pessoa, L. (2009). How do emotion and motivation direct executive control? *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 13, 160–166. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2009.01.006
- Qiu, C., Liao, W., Ding, J., Feng, Y., Zhu, C., Nie, X., et al. (2011). Regional homogeneity changes in social anxiety disorder: a resting-state fMRI study. *Psychiatry Res.* 194, 47–53. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2011.01.010
- Qiu, M., Zhang, H., Mellor, D., Shi, J., Wu, C., Huang, Y., et al. (2018). Aberrant neural activity in patients with bipolar depressive disorder distinguishing to the unipolar depressive disorder: a resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Front. Psychiatry* 9:238. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018. 00238
- Shaojun, L. (2019). Bafa Wubu of Tai Chi. Beijing, China: Beijing Sport University Press.
- Smith, P. J., Blumenthal, J. A., Hoffman, B. M., Cooper, H., Strauman, T. A., Welsh-Bohmer, K., et al. (2010). Aerobic exercise and neurocognitive performance: a meta-analytic review of randomized controlled trials. *Psychosom. Med.* 72, 239–252. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181d14633
- Song, H. J., Reinhardt, R. K., Thöne, J., Hille, K., Schneider, M., Härtel, S., et al. (2020). Moderate exercise improves brain efficiency for executive functions in young adults. *J. Med. Imaging Health Inform.* 94, 364–372. doi:10.1016/j.nlm.2010.08.003
- Tang, Y. Y., Jiang, C., and Tang, R. (2017). How mind-body practice works—integration or separation? *Front. Psychol.* 8:866. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg. 2017.00866
- Tao, J., Chen, X., Egorova, N., Liu, J., Xue, X., Wang, Q., et al. (2017a). Tai Chi Chuan and Baduanjin practice modulates functional connectivity of the cognitive control network in older adults. *Sci. Rep.* 7:41581. doi:10.1038/srep41581
- Tao, J., Chen, X., Liu, J., Egorova, N., Xue, X., Liu, W., et al. (2017b). Tai Chi Chuan and Baduanjin mind-body training changes resting-state low-frequency fluctuations in the frontal lobe of older adults: a resting-state fMRI study. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 11:514. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00514
- Tao, J., Liu, J., Liu, W., Huang, J., Xue, X., Chen, X., et al. (2017c). Tai Chi Chuan and Baduanjin Increase grey matter volume in older adults: a brain imaging study. J. Alzheimers Dis. 60, 389–400. doi: 10.3233/JAD-170477
- Tomasino, B., Chiesa, A., and Fabbro, F. (2014). Disentangling the neural mechanisms involved in Hinduism- and Buddhism-related meditations. *Brain Cogn.* 90, 32–40. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2014.03.013
- Tomporowski, P. D., Davis, C. L., Miller, P. H., and Naglieri, J. A. (2008). Exercise and children's intelligence, cognition and academic achievement. *Educ. Psychol. Rev.* 20, 111–131. doi: 10.1007/s10648-007-9057-0
- Uono, S., Sato, W., Kochiyama, T., Kubota, Y., Sawada, R., Yoshimura, S., et al. (2017). Time course of gamma-band oscillation associated with face processing in the inferior occipital gyrus and fusiform gyrus: a combined fMRI and MEG study. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 38, 2067–2079. doi: 10.1002/hbm. 23505
- Van den Bussche, E., Vanmeert, K., Aben, B., and Sasanguie, D. (2020). Too anxious to control: the relation between math anxiety and inhibitory control processes. *Sci. Rep.* 10:19922. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-76920-7
- van Uffelen, J. G. Z., Paw, M. J. M. C. A., Hopman-Rock, M., and van Mechelen, W. (2008). The effects of exercise on cognition in older adults with and without cognitive decline: a systematic review. *Clin. J. Sport Med.* 18, 486–500. doi: 10.1097/JSM.0b013e3181845f0b
- Verburgh, L., Konigs, M., Scherder, E. J. A., and Oosterlaan, J. (2014). Physical exercise and executive functions in preadolescent children, adolescents and young adults: a meta-analysis. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 48, 973–979. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2012-091441

- Voss, M. W., Nagamatsu, L. S., Liu-Ambrose, T., and Kramer, A. F. (2011). Exercise, brain and cognition across the life span. J. Appl. Physiol. (1985) 111, 1505–1513. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00210.2011
- Wayne, P. M., and Fuerst, M. L., (2013). The Harvard Medical School Guide to Tai Chi: 12 Weeks to a Healthy Body, Strong Heart & Sharp Mind. Boston, MA: Shambhala Press.
- Wayne, P. M., Walsh, J. N., Taylor-Piliae, R. E., Wells, R. E., Papp, K. V., Donovan, N. J., et al. (2014). Effect of Tai Chi on cognitive performance in older adults: systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 62, 25–39. doi: 10.1111/jgs.12611
- Wei, G. X., Dong, H. M., Yang, Z., Luo, J., and Zuo, X. N. (2014). Tai Chi Chuan optimizes the functional organization of the intrinsic human brain architecture in older adults. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6:74. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014. 00074
- Wei, G. X., Gong, Z. Q., Yang, Z., and Zuo, X. N. (2017). Mind-Body practice changes fractional amplitude of low frequency fluctuations in intrinsic control networks. *Front. Psychol.* 8:1049. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01049
- Xu, Y., Lin, Q., Han, Z., He, Y., and Bi, Y. (2016). Intrinsic functional network architecture of human semantic processing: modules and hubs. *Neuroimage* 132, 542–555. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.03.004
- Yao, Z., Hu, B., Xie, Y., Zheng, F., Liu, G., Chen, X., et al. (2016). Resting-state time-varying analysis reveals aberrant variations of functional connectivity in autism. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 10:463. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016. 00463
- Yin, S., Zhu, X., Li, R., Niu, Y., Wang, B., Zheng, Z., et al. (2014). Interventioninduced enhancement in intrinsic brain activity in healthy older adults. *Sci. Rep.* 4:7309. doi: 10.1038/srep07309
- Zhang, Y., Li, C., Zou, L., Liu, X., and Song, W. (2018). The effects of mind-body exercise on cognitive performance in elderly: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 15:2791. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15122791
- Zhu, L., Yu, Q., Herold, F., Cheval, B., Dong, X., Cui, L., et al. (2021). Brain structure, cardiorespiratory fitness and executive control changes after a 9-week exercise intervention in young adults: a randomized controlled trial. *Life (Basel)* 11:292. doi: 10.3390/life11040292
- Zou, Q. H., Zhu, C. Z., Yang, Y., Zuo, X. N., Long, X. Y., Cao, Q. J., et al. (2008).
  An improved approach to detection of amplitude of low-frequency fluctuation (ALFF) for resting-state fMRI: fractional ALFF. J. Neurosci. Methods 172, 137–141. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2008.04.012

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Shen, Yin, Cui, Zhang, Wang, Zhu, Wang and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# A Brief, Individualized Exercise Program at Intensities Below the Ventilatory Threshold Exerts Therapeutic Effects for Depression: A Pilot Study

Yuri Sakai<sup>1</sup>, Chong Chen<sup>2</sup>\*, Atsuhito Toyomaki<sup>1</sup>, Naoki Hashimoto<sup>1</sup>, Kan Kitagawa<sup>1</sup>, Takao Inoue<sup>3</sup>, Asumi Sato<sup>1</sup>, Keisuke Makihara<sup>1</sup>, Rie Kameyama<sup>1</sup>, Yumi Wakatsuki<sup>1</sup>, Niki Udo<sup>1</sup>, Ryosuke Shirakawa<sup>4</sup>, Takashi Yokota<sup>4</sup>, Shin Nakagawa<sup>1,2</sup> and Ichiro Kusumi<sup>1</sup>

# OPEN ACCESS N

#### Edited by:

Etsuro Ito, Waseda University, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Takashi Tarumi, National Institute of Advanced Industrial Science and Technology (AIST), Japan Soichi Ando, The University of Electro-Communications, Japan

> \***Correspondence:** Chong Chen cchen@yamaguchi-u.ac.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Regulation and Processing, a section of the journal Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

> Received: 01 October 2021 Accepted: 20 October 2021 Published: 22 November 2021

#### Citation:

Sakai Y, Chen C, Toyomaki A, Hashimoto N, Kitagawa K, Inoue T, Sato A, Makihara K, Kameyama R, Wakatsuki Y, Udo N, Shirakawa R, Yokota T, Nakagawa S and Kusumi I (2021) A Brief, Individualized Exercise Program at Intensities Below the Ventilatory Threshold Exerts Therapeutic Effects for Depression: A Pilot Study. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 15:787688. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2021.787688 <sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Hokkaido University Graduate School of Medicine, Sapporo, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Division of Neuropsychiatry, Department of Neuroscience, Yamaguchi University Graduate School of Medicine, Ube, Japan, <sup>3</sup> Department of Health Sciences, Hokkaido University Graduate School of Health Sciences, Sapporo, Japan, <sup>4</sup> Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Graduate School of Medicine, Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan

Due to the fact that existing pharmacological treatments for depression are not ideal, effort has been devoted to the development of complementary, alternative therapies such as physical exercise. The antidepressant effect of exercise is well documented. However, current recommendations and prescriptions of exercise may be too demanding for depressed patients, as some complain about the design of exercise programs and depression is associated with reduced motivation and capacity to exercise. Therefore, appropriately designed, patient-friendly exercise programs may prove critical for the long-term maintenance and therapeutic effects of exercise. In this pilot study, we developed an exercise program based on patients' individual level of ventilatory threshold (VT), a submaximal index of aerobic capacity measured by Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing (CPX). Compared to traditional measures, CPX provides more trustable indices of aerobic capacity and more homogenous exercise prescriptions. The main episode of the program consisted of 15-25 min of cycling twice a week at an intensity that approached but never went higher than subjects' VT (considered low to moderate in intensity). We found that in patients diagnosed with major depressive disorder or persistent depressive disorder (n = 8), the program resulted in a significant reduction in depressive symptoms at week 8, which was maintained at week 16. Meanwhile, patients' social functioning, quality of life, and cognitive functions improved. Although we used a single arm, non-randomized design, our results suggest that even a brief, low to moderate intensity exercise program may exert therapeutic effects for depression and CPX may be a useful tool for exercise prescriptions.

Keywords: depression, exercise, therapeutic, cardiopulmonary exercise testing (CPX), anaerobic threshold (AT)

# INTRODUCTION

Currently, one of the primary clinical strategies for the treatment of depression is pharmacological therapies. However, merely 60– 70% of patients respond to various antidepressant treatments, while 10–30% exhibit treatment-resistant symptoms (Al-Harbi, 2012). The latter experiences substantial social and occupational difficulties, the decline of physical health, and suicidal thoughts, and have increased health care utilization. Consequently, the exploration of non-pharmacological, complementary and alternative therapies has been attracting much attention (Kessler et al., 2001). One such therapy is physical exercise (Cooney et al., 2013; Chen, 2017).

A Cochrane meta-analysis concluded that exercise led to a moderate reduction in depressive symptoms, equivalent to roughly 5 points on the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) (Cooney et al., 2013). Typically, the exercise used is moderate to vigorous in intensity and at least three times per week. As such, the UK National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence recommends structured exercise lasting 45 min to an hour, 3 times a week for 10–14 weeks, for the treatment of mild to moderate depression (National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence, 2016). The Japanese Society of Mood Disorders recommends 3 sessions of exercise at moderate to vigorous intensity for the treatment of major depressive disorder (MDD) (The Japanese Society of Mood Disorders, 2016).

However, these recommended frequencies and intensities of exercise may be inadequate for depressed patients. As reported by previous studies, some patients complain about the design of the exercise programs (Blumenthal et al., 1999, 2007; Oertel-Knöchel et al., 2014). In fact, the widely prescribed frequency and intensity of exercise may be too demanding for these patients. First, depression is associated with reduced motivation to exercise (Roshanaei-Moghaddam et al., 2009; Searle et al., 2011). Second, patients with depression show reduced aerobic capacity (Martinsen et al., 1989; Sener et al., 2016) and walk slower than non-depressed people (Lemke et al., 2000).

Therefore, appropriately designed exercise programs with shorter episodes, fewer sessions and at an individualized, relatively low intensity may prove critical for the long-term maintenance of exercise in patients. But as the therapeutic effect of exercise is generally dose-dependent (Cooney et al., 2013; Chen, 2017), it is of crucial importance to specify the adequate amount of exercise that is friendly and tolerable to patients and still achieves an antidepressant effect.

Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing (CPX) has been widely used in cardiac rehabilitation for the objective evaluation of cardiorespiratory function (Balady et al., 2010). One measure generated by CPX is the ventilatory threshold (VT), a submaximal index of aerobic capacity (Beaver et al., 1986). As the intensity of exercise increases, the oxygen requirement by the muscle becomes greater. When the oxygen requirement surpasses the oxygen supply, the body has to depend on anaerobic glycolysis for energy output, with lactate as a final metabolic byproduct. This point at which lactate accumulates faster than its rate of use in the blood is known as anaerobic threshold (AT) or lactate anaerobic threshold (LAT). The VO<sub>2</sub> at the onset of blood lactate accumulation is called VT or ventilatory anaerobic threshold (VAT). VT or VAT is detected using incremental exercise-induced gas exchange parameters, while AT or LAT is detected by direct metabolic measures (e.g., lactic acid). An increase in ventilation is required to eliminate the excess carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) produced during the conversion of lactic acid to lactate. This causes the shortness of breath and the feeling of effortful.

Exercise at an intensity below VT is perceived as less demanding. Specifically, in healthy subjects, VT usually occurs at 45–65% of maximal aerobic capacity (VO<sub>2</sub>max) (Davis et al., 1976) and exercise at an intensity below VT is thus considered low to moderate in intensity (Swain and Franklin, 2006).

To our knowledge, to date, no study has evaluated the therapeutic effect of exercise at an intensity below VT—at low to moderate intensity—in depressed patients. Previous studies conducted in depressed patients have generally used exercise at moderate to vigorous intensity, for instance, at 50–85% of heart rate reserve (maximum heart rate minus resting heart rate) (Blumenthal et al., 1999, 2007; Penninx et al., 2002).

Furthermore, the measures employed by previous studies in evaluating the intensity of exercise training in depressed patients, such as heart rate reserve (Blumenthal et al., 1999, 2007; Penninx et al., 2002), has recently been found to be a somewhat unreliable estimate of aerobic capacity (Solheim et al., 2014). In contrast, CPX can provide more trustable indices of aerobic capacity and more homogenous exercise prescriptions (Mann et al., 2013). To date, no study has employed CPX to monitor the intensity of exercise training in depressed patients.

In this pilot study, we aimed to investigate the therapeutic effects of an exercise program developed based on patients' individual level of aerobic capacity. Specifically, employing CPX, we measured each patient's VT and asked them to exercise (cycle using an ergometry) twice a week at an intensity below their VT. We hypothesized that exercising twice a week at an intensity below VT reduces depressive symptoms in clinical patients. Furthermore, this may be accompanied by reduced anxiety symptoms and improved sleep quality, social functioning, quality of life, and cognitive functions, etc.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Subjects

We recruited outpatients throughout the period of February to August 2017 at Hokkaido University Hospital, where the study was approved by the Institutional Review Board. The inclusion criteria were (1) being diagnosed with MDD or persistent depressive disorder (dysthymia) by a senior psychiatrist during clinical interviews according to Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM)-5, (2) aged 20–60 years, and (3) being able to provide a written informed consent after being explained the details of the study. The exclusion criteria were (1) severe depression, as indicated by scoring 20 or above on the Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression (HAM-D), (2) strong suicidal thoughts, (3) high manic symptoms, as indicated by scoring 13 or above on the Young Mania Rating Scale (YMRS), (4) active inflammatory disease, (5) malignant tumors, (6) being unable to exercise due to orthopedic diseases, (7) already exercising regularly, (8) other conditions when considered inappropriate by the research director (for instance, body weight greater than the allowance of the ergometry used for exercise, see below).

## **Study Design and Procedures**

As a pilot study, we used a single arm, non-randomized design. Subjects attended the exercise program while continued their routine pharmacological treatment. The changes in their symptoms from before to after the exercise program were used to assess the therapeutic effect of the exercise program.

The exercise program consisted of two supervised sessions per week for 16 consecutive weeks. Each session lasted 45-55 min and was conducted between 10:00 to 11:30 am. It was initialized by a 10-min stretching exercise and a 5-min warm-up cycling on an ergometry (type 75XL II, 75XL III, or 800, Combi Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). The main episode of exercise was a 15-25 min cycling at an intensity that approached but never went higher than subjects' VT. Specifically, heart rate was used to monitor the exercise intensity. If subjects' heart rate exceeded their level of heart rate at VT, the load was reduced by 5-10 watts/min and subjects' heart rate confirmed again. This process was repeated until subjects' heart rate decreased to below the level of heart rate at VT. Meanwhile, the intensity of the cycling was further moderated in a way such that subjects' perceived exertion stayed below 13 (somewhat hard) as evaluated by the Borg Rating of Perceived Exertion Scale. Each session was then finalized by a 5-min cool-down cycling followed by another 10-min stretching exercise.

## **Measurements**

Before the start of (week 0), amid (week 8), and at the end of (week 16) the exercise program, we evaluated subjects' symptoms of depression and anxiety, sleep quality, quality of life, and social functions using the following measurements.

Depressive symptoms. HAM-D, Clinical Global Impressions-Severity Illness Scale (CGI-S), and BDI-II Anxious symptoms. State-Trait Anxiety Inventory-JYZ (STAI) Sleep quality. Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) Quality of life. 36-Item Short Form Health Survey<sup>®</sup> (SF-36v2) Social functions. Social Adaptation Self-evaluation Scale (SASS)

Whereas HAM-D and CGI-S were evaluated by a structured interview, other measures were all self-assessment.

At week 0 and 16, CPX was conducted with an upright electromechanical ergometric bicycle using a ramp protocol (15–25 watts/min) to evaluate VT and VO<sub>2</sub>max. During CPX, respiratory gas analysis was simultaneously performed with a breath-by-breath apparatus (Aeromonitor AE-310S, Minato Medical Science, Osaka, Japan). Finally, the VT was determined by the V-slope method (Beaver et al., 1986). Specifically, VT was defined as the non-linear point of increase in the slope of  $CO_2$  production versus oxygen uptake during the incremental exercise. Body weight and height were also measured. Finally, the following tests were employed to evaluate cognitive functions.

*Cognitive functions.* The following tests were conducted according to our previous studies (Toyomaki et al., 2008; Shimizu et al., 2013): Continuous Performance Test (CPT), Wisconsin Card Sorting Test (WCST), Stroop Test, Trail Making Test (TMT), Word Fluency Test (WFT), and Verbal Memory Test (VMT).

## **Statistical Analysis**

The statistical analysis was conducted with IBM SPSS Statistics 26.0. The normality of the data was checked using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Repeated-measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) or the Friedman test (when necessary) was used to assess the effect of the exercise program on depressive and anxious symptoms, sleep quality, quality of life, and social functions, with time as the within-subjects factor (week 0, 8, and 16). When necessary, a paired t-test or Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used for the post hoc pairwise comparison between different time points. Paired *t*-tests or Wilcoxon signed-rank tests (when necessary) were used to compare cognitive functions, VT, VO<sub>2</sub>max, body weight, and height before and after the program. Effect size (Cohen's d) and post hoc power analysis was calculated using G\*Power Version 3.1.9.7 (Faul et al., 2007). P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. For analyses with post hoc pairwise comparisons, the Bonferroni correction was used to adjust the significance level.

# RESULTS

## **Subject Characteristics**

Among the 12 initially enrolled patients, four dropped out and 8 (66.7%) were eligible for the final analysis. Among those who dropped out, 2 experienced worsening symptoms of depression because of reasons considered irrelevant to the current exercise program, and 2 moved to another city because of work or family related issues.

The final 8 subjects had a mean age of 42.1  $\pm$  12.7 years. 6 (75%) were females, 3 (37.5%) were married, and 1 (12.5%) being employed. 6 (75%) were diagnosed as MDD while the other 2 (25%) persistent depressive disorder. 5 of the 6 patients (83.3%) with MDD suffered from a recurrent episode.

1 subject (12.5%) had a comorbid social anxiety disorder, 1 obsessive-compulsive disorder, and 1 gender identity disorder. The approximate dose equivalent of antidepressants being administered was 139.1  $\pm$  162.7 mg/d of imipramine. The approximate dose equivalent of anxiolytics being administered was 139.1  $\pm$  162.7 mg/d of diazepam. The approximate dose equivalent of antidepressants and anxiolytics did not change between week 0 and 16 (both p > 0.10).

## Intervention Effects

Compared to before the exercise program (week 0), the mean score of HAM-D significantly decreased at week 8 and maintained at the same level until week 16 (**Figure 1**). Repeated-measures ANOVA revealed a significant effect of time [F(2,14) = 17.206; p = 0.000]. *Post hoc* comparisons showed that the mean score of HAM-D at week 8 and 16 were lower compared



exercise program (week 0), the mean score of HAM-D significantly decreased at week 8 and maintained at the same level until week 16 (n = 8). \*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.001. Data is shown as mean  $\pm$  SD. Orange points represent individual data.

to that at week 0 (p = 0.0007, Bonferroni corrected, d = 2.42 and p = 0.012, Bonferroni corrected, d = 1.49, respectively), while the mean score of HAM-D at week 8 was no different from that at week 16. A *post hoc* power analysis for HAM-D scores was conducted. The *post hoc* statistical power for the change at week 8 and 16 compared to week 0 was 0.998 and 0.823, respectively, using a significance level of 0.05/3 and two-sided tests.

Furthermore, the mean score of the Vitality and the Role Emotional (RE) subscale of SF-36v2 increased at week 8 compared to week 0 (see Table 1). Repeated-measures ANOVA revealed a significant effect of time [F(2,14) = 5.897, p = 0.014]for Vitality; F(2,14) = 6.827, p = 0.009 for RE] and post hoc comparisons showed that the mean score at week 8 was higher compared to that at week 0 (p = 0.024, Bonferroni corrected, d = 1.30 for Vitality, p = 0.027, Bonferroni corrected, d = 1.27 for RE, respectively), while the difference between week 0 and week 16 and between week 8 and week 16 were not significant. For the mean score of SASS, the data at week 0 and 8 but not week 16 were normally distributed. We therefore conduced a paired t-test between week 0 and 8 and a Wilcoxon signed-rank test between week 0 and 16 and week 8 and 16. The results showed that the mean score of SASS at week 8 was significant higher compared to that at week 0 (p = 0.012, Bonferroni corrected, d = 1.47), while the difference between week 0 and week 16 and between week 8 and week 16 were not significant.

For the mean score of CGI-S, BDI-II, the trait anxiety subscale of STAI, and the Physical Functioning, General Health, and Mental Health subscales of SF-36v2, repeated-measures ANOVA or the Friedman test indicated a significant effect of time, but *post hoc* comparisons revealed no reliable significant difference among the three time points after Bonferroni correction (data shown in **Table 1**).

Variables	Week 0	Week 8	Week 16
HAM-D	$13.4 \pm 4.2$	8.4 ± 3.5***	$8.6 \pm 4.3^{*}$
CGI-S	$3.5\pm1.0$	$3.0\pm0.5$	$3.0\pm0.7$
BDI-II	$25.0\pm6.6$	$20.0\pm6.3$	$18.4\pm6.7$
State anxiety, STAI Y1	$59.1\pm6.4$	$54.3\pm7.9$	$55.1\pm9.2$
Trait anxiety, STAI Y2	$65.6\pm7.1$	$59.9\pm9.8$	$56.5\pm10.9$
PSQI	$11.1\pm3.3$	$10.8\pm3.1$	$9.3\pm4.1$
SASS	$25.1\pm6.3$	$31.1\pm8.0^{*}$	$27.4\pm7.7$
SF-36v2: physical functioning	$76.3\pm21.4$	$79.4 \pm 15.6$	$86.3\pm20.1$
SF-36v2: role physical	$71.9\pm21.9$	$74.2\pm18.0$	$73.5\pm24.1$
SF-36v2: bodily pain	$59.9 \pm 26.1$	$65.1\pm25.1$	$63.8\pm27.8$
SF-36v2: general health	$34.0\pm21.6$	$45.4\pm25.3$	$44.5\pm24.2$
SF-36v2: vitality	$29.7\pm13.3$	$45.3\pm20.0^{*}$	$41.5 \pm 17.9$
SF-36v2: social functioning	$51.6\pm10.4$	$68.8\pm24.7$	$73.4\pm20.8$
SF-36v2: role emotional	$44.8\pm15.1$	$72.9\pm19.6^{*}$	$60.4\pm25.4$
SF-36v2: mental health	$37.5\pm13.1$	$50.0\pm20.8$	$49.4 \pm 15.2$
CPT: error	$2.0 \pm 1.7$	-	$1.9\pm1.5$
CPT: response time (milliseconds)	$455.0\pm34.4$	-	$456.9 \pm 46.9$
WCST: categories achieved	$5.0\pm0.9$	-	$5.0\pm1.2$
WCST: perseverative errors of Milner	$1.5 \pm 2.3$	-	$1.6\pm2.1$
WCST: perseverative errors of Nelson	$2.0 \pm 2.8$	-	$1.9\pm2.1$
Stroop Test: Kanji-controlled	$5.4\pm2.8$	-	$6.1\pm2.4$
Stroop Test: error	$0.5\pm0.9$	-	$0.9\pm1.3$
TMT Part A (seconds)	$77.0\pm15.0$	-	$68.0 \pm 10.4^{*}$
TMT Part B (seconds)	$94.6\pm19.2$	-	$83.1\pm17.1$
WFT	$26.6\pm10.5$	-	$26.0\pm8.7$
VMT: immediate recall	$4.6 \pm 1.5$	-	$5.9\pm1.5$
VMT: delayed recall	$7.1\pm2.0$	-	$8.4\pm1.9$

\*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.001 compared to Week 0.

Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD.

HAM-D, Hamilton Depression Rating Scale; BDI-II, Beck Depression Inventory-II; CGI-S, Clinical Global Impressions-Severity Illness Scale; STAI, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory; PSQI, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index; SF-36v2, Short Form Health Survey<sup>®</sup>; SASS, Social Adaptation Self-evaluation Scale; CPT, Continuous Performance Test; WCST, Wisconsin Card Sorting Test; TMT, Trail Making Test; WFT, Word Fluency Test; VMT, Verbal Memory Test.

For cognitive functions, as shown in **Figure 2**, the mean time to finish TMT Part A significantly decreased at week 16 compared to week 0, as indicated by a paired *t*-test (p = 0.049, d = 0.84).

For all other comparisons, no significant difference was detected (data shown in **Table 1**).

## DISCUSSION

Compared to previous studies which generally prescribed exercise at least 3 times a week and at an intensity of 50–85% of heart rate reserve (Blumenthal et al., 1999, 2007; Penninx et al., 2002), our program is considered at low frequency and low to moderate intensity. Nevertheless, the program resulted in a clinically significant reduction in depressive symptoms at week 8, which was maintained at week 16, as evaluated by the objective measure HAM-D.

Meanwhile, we found that, at week 8, patients' social functioning and quality of life in terms of vitality and



emotional well-being increased. At week 16, patients' cognitive functions in terms of visual search and motor processing ability improved, as indicated by reduced time to finish relevant tasks. These results suggest that our exercise program may at least partially improve patients' social and cognitive functioning and enhance their positive emotions such as vitality. These positive outcomes play a pivotal role in patients' successful rehabilitation and re-adaptation to the social world. Given that most of our patients had recurrent episodes or persistent symptoms, these results are consistent with the observation that exercise prevents the recurrence of depression (Blumenthal et al., 1999).

The dose-dependent effect of exercise in preventing and treating depression has been well-established (Cooney et al., 2013; Chen, 2017). Yet, the introduction and maintenance of high frequency, high intensity exercise in clinical settings is practically difficult. As we have mentioned earlier, depression is associated with both reduced motivation and lower capacity to exercise. Therefore, initiating an exercise program at a patient-friendly, individualized, low frequency, relatively low intensity manner and with brief episodes may be the key toward the maintenance of exercise and the achievement of therapeutic effects.

Notably, among multiple cognitive outcomes, only one test measuring visual search and motor processing ability (i.e., TMT, Part A) showed improvement after the exercise program. Other measures of higher cognitive functions such as cognitive flexibility, inhibitory control, and verbal memory remained unchanged. The underlying explanation of such results is unclear. One possibility is that given the small sample size, our study was underpowered to detect improvement in these higher cognitive functions. Nevertheless, previous studies have generally failed to identify any cognitive effects of exercise in depression (Brondino et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2018). Our study suggests the possibility that exercise at relatively low intensity is perhaps more likely to achieve cognitive-enhancing effects in depressed patients because of a higher rate of adherence (Sun et al., 2018). Future research is required to test such a possibility and clarify the underlying explanation of our findings. The primary limitation of our study is that we used a single arm, non-randomized design and thus could not exclude the potential effect of antidepressants and other factors such as the pure passage of time or repeated testing (i.e., the practice effect on TMT Part A). Our sample size was also relatively small. Future research is necessary to confirm our findings with randomized controlled trials and bigger samples.

In conclusion, our pilot study suggested that even a brief, low to moderate intensity exercise program such as 15–25 min of cycling at an intensity below VT twice a week may have therapeutic effects for patients with depression and that CPX may be a useful tool for exercise prescriptions.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Hokkaido University Hospital Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

YS, TY, and SN: study concept and design. YS, AT, KK, TI, AS, KM, RS, TY, SN, and IK: acquisition and analysis of clinical data. YS, CC, AT, NH, KK, RK, YW, NU, and SN: interpretation of clinical data. YS, NH, CC, and SN: drafting of the manuscript. All authors critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content.

# FUNDING

This work was supported in part by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number 16K10184.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all of the patients for their cooperation. We are grateful to Takayuki Nakajima, Takahiro Abe in the Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Hokkaido University Graduate School of Medicine, and Satoshi Ikeda, associate professor in the Department of Rehabilitation Medicine, Hokkaido University Hospital for the technical support.

## REFERENCES

- Al-Harbi, K. S. (2012). Treatment-resistant depression: therapeutic trends, challenges, and future directions. *Patient Prefer. Adherence* 6, 369-388. doi: 10.2147/PPA.S29716
- Balady, G. J., Arena, R., Sietsema, K., Myers, J., Coke, L., Fletcher, G. F., et al. (2010). Clinician's guide to cardiopulmonary exercise testing in adults: a scientific statement from the American heart association. *Circulation* 122, 191–225. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e3181e52e69
- Beaver, W. L., Wasserman, K., and Whipp, B. J. (1986). A new method for detecting anaerobic threshold by gas exchange. J. Appl. Physiol. 60, 2020–2027. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1986.60.6.2020
- Blumenthal, J. A., Babyak, M. A., Doraiswamy, P. M., Watkins, L., Hoffman, B. M., Barbour, K. A., et al. (2007). Exercise and pharmacotherapy in the treatment of major depressive disorder. *Psychosom. Med.* 69, 587-596.
- Blumenthal, J. A., Babyak, M. A., Moore, K. A., Craighead, W. E., Herman, S., Khatri, P., et al. (1999). Effects of exercise training on older patients with major depression. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 159, 2349–2356.
- Brondino, N., Rocchetti, M., Fusar-Poli, L., Codrons, E., Correale, L., Vandoni, M., et al. (2017). A systematic review of cognitive effects of exercise in depression. *Acta Psychiatr. Scand.* 135, 285–295.
- Chen, C. (2017). Plato's Insight: How Physical Exercise Boosts Mental Excellence. London: Brain & Life Publishing.
- Cooney, G. M., Dwan, K., Greig, C. A., Lawlor, D. A., Rimer, J., Waugh, F. R., et al. (2013). Exercise for depression. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 9:CD004366.
- Davis, J. A., Vodak, P., Wilmore, J. H., Vodak, J., and Kurtz, P. (1976). Anaerobic threshold and maximal aerobic power for three modes of exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 41, 544–550. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1976.41.4.544
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., and Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behav. Res. Methods* 39, 175–191. doi: 10.3758/bf0319 3146
- Kessler, R. C., Soukup, J., Davis, R. B., Foster, D. F., Wilkey, S. A., Van Rompay, M. I., et al. (2001). The use of complementary and alternative therapies to treat anxiety and depression in the United States. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 158, 289–294. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.158.2.289
- Lemke, M. R., Wendorff, T., Mieth, B., Buhl, K., and Linnemann, M. (2000). Spatiotemporal gait patterns during over ground locomotion in major depression compared with healthy controls. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 34, 277–283. doi: 10.1016/s0022-3956(00)00017-0
- Mann, T., Lamberts, R. P., and Lambert, M. I. (2013). Methods of prescribing relative exercise intensity: physiological and practical considerations. *Sports Med.* 43, 613–625. doi: 10.1007/s40279-013-0045-x
- Martinsen, E. W., Strand, J., Paulsson, G., and Kaggestad, J. (1989). Physical fitness level in patients with anxiety and depressive disorders. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 10, 58–61. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-1024876
- National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (2016). *Depression: the treatment and management of depression in adults (update)*. Leicester, UK: British Psychological Society.
- Oertel-Knöchel, V., Mehler, P., Thiel, C., Steinbrecher, K., Malchow, B., Tesky, V., et al. (2014). Effects of aerobic exercise on cognitive performance and individual psychopathology in depressive and schizophrenia patients. *Eur. Arch. Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 264, 589–604. doi: 10.1007/s00406-014-0485-9

- Penninx, B. W., Rejeski, W. J., Pandya, J., Miller, M. E., Di Bari, M., Applegate, W. B., et al. (2002). Exercise and depressive symptoms: a comparison of aerobic and resistance exercise effects on emotional and physical function in older persons with high and low depressive symptomatology. *J. Gerontol. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci.* 57, 124–132. doi: 10.1093/geronb/57.2.p124
- Roshanaei-Moghaddam, B., Katon, W. J., and Russo, J. (2009). The longitudinal effects of depression on physical activity. *Gen. Hosp. Psychiatry* 31, 306–315. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2009.04.002
- Searle, A., Calnan, M., Lewis, G., Campbell, J., Taylor, A., and Turner, K. (2011). Patients' views of physical activity as treatment for depression: a qualitative study. Br. J. Gen. Pract. 61, 149–156.
- Sener, U., Ucok, K., Ulasli, A. M., Genc, A., Karabacak, H., Coban, N. F., et al. (2016). Evaluation of health-related physical fitness parameters and association analysis with depression, anxiety, and quality of life in patients with fibromyalgia. *Int. J. Rheum. Dis.* 19, 763–772. doi: 10.1111/1756-185X.12237
- Shimizu, Y., Kitagawa, N., Mitsui, N., Fujii, Y., Toyomaki, A., Hashimoto, N., et al. (2013). Neurocognitive impairments and quality of life in unemployed patients with remitted major depressive disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* 210, 913–918. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013.08.030
- Solheim, T. J., Keller, B. G., and Fountaine, C. J. (2014). VO2 reserve vs. heart rate reserve during moderate intensity treadmill exercise. *Int. J. Exerc. Sci.* 7, 311-317.
- Sun, M., Lanctot, K., Herrmann, N., and Gallagher, D. (2018). Exercise for cognitive symptoms in depression: a systematic review of interventional studies. *Can. J. Psychiatry* 63, 115–128. doi: 10.1177/0706743717738493
- Swain, D. P., and Franklin, B. A. (2006). Comparison of cardioprotective benefits of vigorous versus moderate intensity aerobic exercise. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 97, 141–147. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2005.07.130
- The Japanese Society of Mood Disorders (2016). *Guidelines on Treating Major Depressive Disorder*. Available online at: https://www.secretariat.ne.jp/jsmd/ iinkai/katsudou/data/160731.pdf (Accessed 09 30, 2021).
- Toyomaki, A., Kusumi, I., Matsuyama, T., Kako, Y., Ito, K., and Koyama, T. (2008). Tone duration mismatch negativity deficits predict impairment of executive function in schizophrenia. *Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 32, 95–99. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2007.07.020

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Sakai, Chen, Toyomaki, Hashimoto, Kitagawa, Inoue, Sato, Makihara, Kameyama, Wakatsuki, Udo, Shirakawa, Yokota, Nakagawa and Kusumi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Self-Control and Emotion Regulation Mediate the Impact of Karate Training on Satisfaction With Life

Wiktor Potoczny\*, Radoslawa Herzog-Krzywoszanska and Lukasz Krzywoszanski

Faculty of Pedagogy and Psychology, Institute of Psychology, Pedagogical University of Krakow, Krakow, Poland

Physical activity is an important determinant of a healthy lifestyle. Regular participation in sports-related activities contributes to the maintenance of good psychophysiological and social health. Long-term physical activity has a positive impact on subjective wellbeing and can reduce stress. Karate is a specific physical activity which focuses on self-regulation and self-development; therefore, it may reduce impulsivity and improve self-control. Good self-control is also related to satisfaction with life and well-being. The presented study aimed to examine the possible intermediate impact of self-control and emotion regulation on the relationship between karate training and satisfaction with life. Fifty-eight karate practitioners and fifty-nine control subjects participated in the research. The Satisfaction With Life Scale and the Brief Self-Control Scale were applied in order to assess life satisfaction and the general level of self-control. The Emotion Regulation Questionnaire was used to assess suppression and reappraisal, both of which are distinct aspects of emotion regulation. The direct and indirect relationships between karate training and satisfaction with life were investigated using a linear regression model that included self-control, suppression and reappraisal as mediating variables. No direct effects of karate training on satisfaction with life were found, whereas karate training was indirectly associated with satisfaction with life via the indirect path that leads through self-control and reappraisal. This indicates that self-control and reappraisal fully mediate the impact of karate training on subjective well-being. Karate training can therefore play an important role in shaping volitional and personality characteristics, both of which contribute to increasing the well-being of trainees.

Keywords: self-control, emotion regulation, self-regulation, satisfaction with life, well-being, karate training, martial arts

# INTRODUCTION

The issue of life satisfaction has attracted researchers' attention for several decades. Despite many studies, life satisfaction remains an ambiguous concept and is a current topic of inquiry. Life satisfaction involves evaluating the quality of a person's life based on this person's own set of criteria (Pavot and Diener, 1993). Life satisfaction is a key factor in psychological and subjective well-being because it is associated with a positive attitude toward life and the absence of negative feelings (Diener, 1984). The assessment of satisfaction with one's life may concern various areas of life, such as health, interpersonal relations or financial situation, and it may be formulated in

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Chong Chen, Yamaguchi University Graduate School of Medicine, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Zeki Akyildiz, Gazi University, Turkey Lei Cui, Beijing Normal University, China

\*Correspondence: Wiktor Potoczny wiktor.potoczny@up.krakow.pl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Regulation and Processing, a section of the journal Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

> Received: 26 October 2021 Accepted: 27 December 2021 Published: 13 January 2022

#### Citation:

Potoczny W, Herzog-Krzywoszanska R and Krzywoszanski L (2022) Self-Control and Emotion Regulation Mediate the Impact of Karate Training on Satisfaction With Life. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 15:802564. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2021.802564

43

terms of the past, present and future. People combine judgments about various aspects of their lives and integrate them to assess their overall sense of life satisfaction. Generalized satisfaction with life framed in this way can be assessed quantitatively using a single-scale self-report tool (Diener et al., 1999).

Researchers are trying to determine the factors that influence satisfaction with life. Current findings indicate that health status substantially impacts life satisfaction. People who suffer from severe or chronic illnesses have significantly worse well-being and lower life satisfaction (Hutchinson et al., 2004; Strine et al., 2008). Additionally, the lower the life satisfaction, the higher the risk of obesity and health-risk behaviors, such as smoking and alcohol abuse (Strine et al., 2008).

This paper focuses on the possible impact of physical activity and karate training on satisfaction with life. Regular participation in sports training is associated with both physical and psychological components of human health. The results of a meta-analysis conducted by Eime et al. (2013) indicate that physical activity can reduce stress and has a positive impact on satisfaction with life. Other studies also report that long-term physical activity is associated with a higher subjective well-being, and more adaptive responses to negative emotions (Lechner, 2009; Downward and Rasciute, 2011; Asztalos et al., 2012).

Additionally, people who train in sports clubs have a higher level of life satisfaction compared to people who exercise individually (Eime et al., 2010). This result may be explained by the experience of social integration during training, which may enhance well-being (Vilhjalmsson and Thorlindsson, 1992; Eime et al., 2010). Other analyses also indicate that reducing levels of loneliness and fulfilling the need to belong may be significantly related to satisfaction with life (Schumaker et al., 1993; Mellor et al., 2008).

Karate training is a specific physical activity which focuses on the self-regulation and self-development of trainees (Cynarski, 2014). In karate, body training is connected with personality improvement because it focuses on self-awareness and striving to achieve development in each domain of life. Getting rid of aggression, being systematic, and focusing on the goal are principles that students learn on day 1 (Piotrkowicz, 1998). Fuller (1988) noticed that: "the martial arts may be viewed as formalized, refined systems of human potential training which provide interesting practical models and mechanisms of psychological intervention." (pp. 318). This understanding of the role of martial arts indicates the possible importance of karate training for improved psychological well-being.

Both satisfaction with life and karate training are associated with self-control. Self-control can be defined as the ability to change one's behaviors or reactions and suppress unwanted impulses in order to adapt to a situation. Self-control is particularly relevant to motivational conflicts in which one must resist a pleasurable temptation in order to satisfy a long-term goal (Tangney et al., 2004; Hofmann et al., 2014). Individuals who less frequently control their reactions are considered lower in dispositional self-control (Tangney et al., 2004; Duckworth and Steinberg, 2015). Research conducted by Hofmann et al. (2014) indicates that level of self-control is a significant predictor of well-being and satisfaction with life. Karate training improves trainees' discipline and self-control (Messaoud, 2015). In their meta-analysis, Vertonghen and Theeboom (2010) analyzed 27 studies on the socio-psychological aspects of martial arts practice among adolescents. Their findings seem to support the hypothesis that training has positive effects on well-being and self-control. The analyzed studies mainly indicate that martial arts practitioners have a higher level of self-regulation and psychological well-being, and a lower level of violence. Other studies also indicate that Eastern martial arts training can directly improve trainees' self-control (Lakes and Hoyt, 2004). Karate training also effectively reduces the level of aggression and impulsiveness, both of which are negatively related to satisfaction with life (Zivin et al., 2001; MacDonald et al., 2005). This suggests that karate training may indirectly foster the attainment of a high quality of life by having a beneficial effect on self-control.

In addition to self-control, emotion regulation may also play a mediating role in the effects of karate training on life satisfaction. Emotion regulation can be defined as the processes that are responsible for monitoring, evaluating, and modifying emotional responses by initiating, inhibiting, or modulating them (Thompson, 1994; Niven et al., 2009). Gross (1998) concentrated on two common forms of emotion regulation: cognitive reappraisal and expressive suppression. Gross and John (2003) showed that cognitive reappraisal is a more adaptive strategy than suppression since it fosters well-being and interpersonal functioning.

The control of emotional reactions is also important in sports training. Research confirms that people who participate in sports activities have better self-control and use more adaptive forms of emotion regulation (Vertonghen and Theeboom, 2010; Kucharski et al., 2018); moreover, acquiring expertise in sports requires high levels of self-regulation and self-motivation (Kavussanu and Kitsantas, 2011; Kitsantas et al., 2017). Karate, like other physical activities, improves the subjective well-being and general health of participants (Bu et al., 2010; Chang and Jang, 2018), therefore it may have an impact on satisfaction with life. The presented study aimed to examine the possible intermediate impact of self-control and emotion regulation on the relationship between karate training and satisfaction with life. For this purpose, we studied a group of karate practitioners and a control group of non-training subjects. We then attempted to determine whether there are indirect effects in a mediation model in which the explanatory variable is karate training, the mediating variables are self-control and emotion regulation, and the response variable is life satisfaction.

# METHOD

## Subjects

The minimum sample size needed to detect the effect size of  $f^2 \ge 0.15$  with probability  $\ge 0.9$ , assuming the type I error rate set at  $\alpha = 0.05$  was 108. The study was attended by 117 people selected on purpose to two groups. 58 subjects (43 males and 15 females; mean age 25.95, with standard deviation 7.37) trained karate in clubs representing different training styles (Oyama and Kyokushin) for at least 1 year (mean 8.07). Another criterion of

inclusion was participation in at least one training session per week at the club under the supervision of a coach. The control group consisted of 59 non-training subjects (44 males and 15 females; mean age 26.61, with standard deviation 6.59). These people were mainly students and office workers who did not undertake any regular sports training.

#### Measures

#### Satisfaction With Life Scale

The Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS), developed by Diener et al. (1985) and adapted into Polish by Jankowski (2015), was used to measure the cognitive-judgmental aspect of subjective well-being. This questionnaire contains five statements (all positively worded) rated on a seven-point Likert-type scale. The summed total score on SWLS ranges from 5 to 35 points: high values reflect high levels of satisfaction with life. The high value (0.86) of Cronbach's  $\alpha$  (Jankowski, 2015) indicates good internal consistency of the Polish version of SWLS. Test-retest reliability in 3-week intervals was 0.85–0.93; in 6-week intervals it was 0.87–0.88; in the 9-week interval, it was 0.86 (Jankowski, 2015).

#### **Brief Self Control Scale**

Pilarska and Baumaister's (2018) Polish adaptation of the Brief Self-Control Scale (BSCS) (Tangney et al., 2004) was used to measure dispositional self-control. The BSCS is a thirteen-item self-report questionnaire that consists of four positively worded statements and nine negatively worded statements. The subject is asked to rate each statement on a five-point Likert scale: from 1 ("not at all") to 5 ("very much"). The BSCS score is computed as the sum of ratings of all items after reverse coding of negatively worded items; high values reflect greater self-control. Pilarska and Baumaister (2018) confirmed that the Polish version of BSCS has good internal consistency (Cronbach alpha:0.84) and satisfactory temporal stability in a 2-week test-retest (Pearson correlation for test-retest:0.87).

#### **Emotion Regulation Questionnaire**

The Emotion Regulation Questionnaire (ERQ) (Gross and John, 2003), as translated into Polish by Kobylińska (2011) using a back translation procedure, was used to assess two aspects of emotion regulation. This questionnaire consists of ten items that

form two scales: "Suppression" (four questionnaire items) and "Reappraisal" (six questionnaire items). The subject responds to each item by providing an answer on a seven-point Likerttype scale (from 1—completely disagree, to 7—completely agree). Higher scores indicate a stronger tendency to use suppression and reappraisal. The internal consistency of the questionnaire, as assessed by Cronbach's  $\alpha$  in a study of 349 people, was 0.77 for Reappraisal and 0.74 for Suppression (Śmieja et al., 2011).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Means with 95% confidence intervals, medians, standard deviations, and interquartile ranges were calculated to assess the location and dispersion of scores obtained in SWLS, BSCS, and ERQ. Skewness and kurtosis were used to assess the shape and normality of the distribution of scores.

Mediation analysis in a parallel multiple mediation model (MacKinnon, 2012) was conducted to examine whether selfcontrol, suppression and reappraisal mediate the impact of Karate training on satisfaction with life. Parameter estimates for indirect, direct, and total effects were estimated using multiple linear regression fit by ordinary least squares (Hayes, 2018) and were tested for significance using bias-corrected bootstrap confidence intervals (Bollen and Stine, 1990; Shrout and Bolger, 2002; Preacher and Hayes, 2008) with 5,000 replications. Age dichotomized by median split (24 years) and gender were entered into the mediation model as covariates to control their impact on satisfaction with life. Mediation analyses were conducted in jamovi Advanced Mediation Models (jAMM) module (Gallucci, 2021). Jamovi (The jamovi project, 2021) is free and opensource statistical software which is based on the R programming language for statistical computing (R Core Team, 2021).

## RESULTS

Descriptive statistics in the karate training group and the control group for scores in BSCS, ERQ, and SWLS are presented in **Table 1**.

More than half of the variance in SWLS scores,  $R^2 = 0.546$ , p < 0.001, was explained by the full regression model, which was included in the mediation analysis, which estimates the indirect,

Scale Training	Mean	95% confidence	e interval for mean	Median	SD	IQR	Skewne	ess	Kurto	sis	
		Lower	Upper				Skewness	SE	Kurtosis	SE	
BSCS	No	43.59	41.94	45.25	43	6.49	9	-0.256	0.311	-0.279	0.613
	Yes	48.12	46.19	50.05	48	7.49	11.75	-0.126	0.314	-0.686	0.618
ERQS	No	16.48	15.21	17.75	16	4.98	7.5	0.279	0.311	0.111	0.613
	Yes	16.10	14.86	17.38	16	4.97	7.25	0.055	0.314	-0.050	0.618
ERQR	No	28.12	26.60	29.64	28	5.97	7.5	-0.204	0.311	0.261	0.613
	Yes	31.31	30.02	32.60	31.5	4.50	5.75	-0.505	0.314	0.694	0.618
SWLS	No	22.39	21.59	23.19	23	3.15	3	-0.407	0.311	0.685	0.613
	Yes	24.02	23.01	25.02	24	3.91	4	-0.371	0.314	0.660	0.618

SD, standard deviation; IQR, interquartile range; SE, standard error; BSCS, Brief Self-Control Scale; ERQS, Suppression scale in Emotion Regulation Questionnaire; ERQR, Reappraisal scale in Emotion Regulation Questionnaire; SWLS, Satisfaction with Life Scale.

**TABLE 2** | Fit measures and overall model tests for linear regression models included in the mediation analysis, which estimates indirect, direct and total effects of karate training on satisfaction with life, with self-control, suppression, and reappraisal as mediating variables, and with gender and dichotomized age as covariates.

		R R <sup>i</sup>		R <sup>2</sup> Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	Overall model test			
Model	Dependent variable		R <sup>2</sup>		F	df1	df2	р
Mediator	BSCS	0.490	0.240	0.220	11.89	3	113	< 0.001
model	ERQS	0.516	0.267	0.247	13.69	3	113	< 0.001
	ERQR	0.410	0.168	0.146	7.619	3	113	< 0.001
Full model	SWLS	0.739	0.546	0.521	22.03	6	110	< 0.001

direct and total effects of karate training on satisfaction with life, controlled for gender and dichotomized age, with self-control, suppression, and reappraisal as mediating variables.

A similar value ( $R^2 = 0.506$ , p < 0.001) was obtained for the mediation analysis, which was calculated without controlling for gender and age effects; the difference in  $R^2$  between the two analyses was found to be small but statistically significant ( $\Delta R^2 = 0.040$ , p = 0.010). Regression models for the mediating variables were also significant and achieved R-squared values ranging from 0.168 to 0.267 (see **Table 2** for details).

Table 3 shows the parameter estimates for the indirect, direct, and total effects of karate training on satisfaction with life,

controlled for gender and dichotomized age, with self-control, suppression, and reappraisal as mediating variables. The direct effect of karate training on satisfaction with life did not differ significantly from zero. The karate training was indirectly associated with life satisfaction via the indirect paths that lead through self-control and reappraisal. Karate practitioners had higher self-control and reappraisal, which were associated with greater satisfaction with life. The scores on the Suppression scale of ERQ did not mediate the effect of karate training. Females scored significantly higher than males on BSCS, SWLS and the Reappraisal scale of ERQ; they scored significantly lower on the Suppression scale of ERQ. As compared to the younger group, respondents aged 25–45 years scored significantly higher on BSCS and on both scales of ERQ, but not on SWLS (see **Table 3** and **Figure 1** for details).

## DISCUSSION

The current study is the first to explore the intermediate impact of self-control and emotion regulation on the relationship between karate training and satisfaction with life. In our research, we tested whether self-control and emotion regulation help to understand the relationship between sport training and satisfaction with life.

We found that karate training is indirectly related to satisfaction with life through the indirect pathways that lead through self-control and cognitive reappraisal. That is, karate

**TABLE 3** | Indirect, direct, and total effects of karate training on satisfaction with life in regression-based mediation analysis with self-control, suppression, and reappraisal as mediating variables, and with gender and dichotomized age as covariates.

				95% con	fidence interval	
Effect type	Effect	Estimate	SE	Lower	Upper	β
Indirect	$TRAINING \Rightarrow BSCS \Rightarrow SWLS$	1.078	0.368	0.505	1.991	0.156
	$TRAINING \Rightarrow ERQS \Rightarrow SWLS$	-0.002	0.048	-0.127	0.081	0.000
	$TRAINING \Rightarrow ERQR \Rightarrow SWLS$	0.546	0.283	0.130	1.254	0.079
Component	TRAINING $\Rightarrow$ BSCS	4.831	1.188	2.557	7.233	0.331
	$BSCS \Rightarrow SWLS$	0.223	0.053	0.118	0.327	0.471
	$TRAINING \Rightarrow ERQS$	-0.234	0.789	-1.772	1.289	-0.024
	$ERQS \Rightarrow SWLS$	0.008	0.058	-0.106	0.121	0.012
	$TRAINING \Rightarrow ERQR$	3.357	0.977	1.386	5.213	0.295
	$ERQR \Rightarrow SWLS$	0.163	0.06	0.048	0.286	0.268
Direct	$TRAINING \Rightarrow SWLS$	0.148	0.553	-0.980	1.185	0.023
Total	$TRAINING \Rightarrow SWLS$	1.770	0.579	0.634	2.905	0.245
Covariates	$GENDER \Rightarrow BSCS$	3.203	1.525	0.009	6.048	0.191
	$GENDER \Rightarrow ERQS$	-5.082	0.971	-6.974	-3.193	-0.450
	$GENDER \Rightarrow ERQR$	2.591	0.915	0.803	4.423	0.199
	$GENDER \Rightarrow SWLS$	1.717	0.592	0.598	2.936	0.217
	$AGE_D \Rightarrow BSCS$	5.249	1.281	2.761	7.816	0.358
	$AGE_D \Rightarrow ERQS$	1.904	0.832	0.256	3.541	0.192
	$AGE_D \Rightarrow ERQR$	2.925	1.004	0.957	4.887	0.256
	$AGE_D \Rightarrow SWLS$	0.893	0.541	-0.154	1.968	0.129

SE, standard error;  $\beta$ , standardized parameter estimate; BSCS, Brief Self-Control Scale; ERQS, Suppression scale in Emotion Regulation Questionnaire; ERQR, Reappraisal scale in Emotion Regulation Questionnaire; SWLS, Satisfaction with Life Scale. Coding for TRAINING: 0 | 1 (No | Yes). Coding for GENDER: 0 | 1 (Male | Female). AGE\_D: Age in years dichotomized by a median split, coded 1 | 2 (18–24 years, n = 63 | 25–45 years, n = 54).



training is associated with high self-control and high cognitive reappraisal, which consequently increase life satisfaction. Our results are consistent with those obtained in previous studies, which showed that karate training increases quality of life and psychological well-being (Marie-Ludivine et al., 2010; Jansen et al., 2017) and enhances self-control (Lakes and Hoyt, 2004; Vertonghen and Theeboom, 2010; Messaoud, 2015). Sport practitioners use a wide range of flexible and effective emotion regulation strategies in response to the changing contexts and demands of situations (Kucharski et al., 2018). Additionally, it has been suggested (Madden, 1995) that the psychological benefits of martial arts training are greater than the benefits of other forms of physical activity. Coupled with our results, the association between self-control and well-being (Hofmann et al., 2014) suggests that karate training substantially affects life satisfaction.

Our results show that cognitive reappraisal mediated the effect of karate training on satisfaction with life, as opposed to expressive suppression, which did not mediate this effect. Previous findings also showed that cognitive regulatory strategies, such as reappraisal, can improve mood and foster emotional well-being (Balzarotti et al., 2016). Studies by Gross and John (2003) indicated that people who prefer reappraisal can cope with negative emotions more effectively and maintain better quality of interpersonal relationships. In contrast, the use of expressive suppression is associated with reduced well-being (Haga et al., 2007). The assessment of only the

positive dimension of psychological well-being could explain that expressive suppression does not mediate the relationship between karate training and satisfaction with life. Meanwhile, expressive suppression, which is a non-adaptive form of emotion regulation could mediate the relationship between karate training and the negative aspect of psychological well-being (i.e., reduced quality of life). However, this supposition also requires further research, using tools to assess the negative aspects of psychological wellbeing, e.g., depressive symptoms or distress, etc. Coupled with our results, this suggests that only a more adaptive form of emotion regulation provides an intermediate link between karate training and high life satisfaction.

Our results indicate that karate training can have a positive impact on satisfaction with life. It was also shown that eastern martial arts training helps to significantly improve participants' self-control and reduce levels of aggression and impulsivity (Zivin et al., 2001; Vertonghen and Theeboom, 2010). Furthermore, a study conducted by Kimberley D. Lakes and William T. Hoyt (Lakes and Hoyt, 2004) indicates that adolescents participating in a 3-month intervention using martial arts training (Tae Kwon Do) scored better in self-control than those participating in standard physical activity training. Martial arts training may have beneficial effects on participants' selfcontrol in various contexts. Therefore, karate training should be more widely included in extracurricular activities for children and adolescents. Karate training is especially useful for people prone to aggressive and impulsive behavior.

# Strengths, Limitations, and Further Research Directions

This study examined relationships that had not been previously analyzed together and found that self-control and reappraisal fully mediate the impact of karate training on satisfaction with life. More than half of the variance in the dependent variable was accounted for by our mediation model, thus indicating that self-control and reappraisal explain substantially higher levels of trainees' satisfaction with life. We showed that the association between karate training and subjective wellbeing and life satisfaction can be explained by self-control and cognitive reappraisal.

Our study had also some limitations. First, since our study was preliminary and exploratory, it was conducted on a small sample which was taken from a small geographic area. A gender disparity in our sample was also observed. However, the gender proportions in our sample are consistent with the number of women in the Polish population of karate practitioners. A report by the Polish Central Statistical Office (Malinowska, 2019) shows that women make up approximately 30% of total karate trainees in Poland. In further studies, the sample size should be larger, and more women should be surveyed to examine whether gender moderates the relationships between karate training and satisfaction with life that are mediated by self-control and emotional regulation. Secondly, only a small range of controlled sociodemographic variables was included in our study; therefore, variables such as education, household situation, and material and professional status should also be included in future research. Moreover, comparing martial arts practitioners to other athletes should also be considered in future studies.

# REFERENCES

- Asztalos, M., Wijndaele, K., De Bourdeaudhuij, I., Philippaerts, R., Matton, L., Duvigneaud, N., et al. (2012). Sport participation and stress among women and men. *Psychol. Sport Exe.* 13, 466–483. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2012.01.003
- Balzarotti, S., Biassoni, F., Villani, D., Prunas, A., and Velotti, P. (2016). Individual differences in cognitive emotion regulation: implications for subjective and psychological well-being. J. Happiness Stud. 17, 125–143. doi: 10.1007/s10902-014-9587-3
- Bollen, K. A., and Stine, R. (1990). Direct and indirect effects: classical and bootstrap estimates of variability. Sociol. Methodol. 20:115. doi: 10.2307/271084
- Bu, B., Haijun, H., Yong, L., Chaohui, Z., Xiaoyuan, Y., and Singh, M. F. (2010). Effects of martial arts on health status: a systematic review. J. Evid. Based Med. 3, 205–219. doi: 10.1111/j.1756-5391.2010.01107.x
- Chang, B.-W., and Jang, T.-Y. (2018). A meta-analysis of the effect of planned exercise on their self efficacy, depression, life satisfaction. J. Digi. Converg. 16, 293–298. doi: 10.14400/JDC.2018.16.2.293
- Cynarski, W. (2014). The European karate today: the opinion of experts. *ido movement for culture. J. Martial Arts Anthropol.* 14, 10–21. doi: 10.14589/ido. 14.3.2
- Diener, E. (1984). Subjective well-being. Psychol. Bull. 95, 542–575. doi: 10.1037/ 0033-2909.95.3.542
- Diener, E., Emmons, R. A., Larsem, R. J., and Griffin, S. (1985). The satisfaction with life scale. J. Personal. Assess. 49, 71–75. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa4901\_13
- Diener, E., Suh, E. M., Lucas, R. E., and Smith, H. L. (1999). Subjective well-being: Three decades of progress. *Psychol. Bull.* 125, 276–302. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909. 125.2.276
- Downward, P., and Rasciute, S. (2011). Does sport make you happy? An analysis of the well-being derived from sports participation. *Int. Rev. Appl. Eco.* 25, 331–348. doi: 10.1080/02692171.2010.511168

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

WP, LK, and RH-K developed the study concept and drafted the first manuscript. WP organized and conducted the survey. RH-K supervised the research. LK performed the statistical analysis, prepared the figure, and obtained the funding for publication costs. All authors contributed equally to the revision of the manuscript and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

Funds for publication costs were granted to the authors on the basis of application number BN.302.147.2021.RN from a research subsidy for the maintenance and development of research potential that was awarded to the Pedagogical University in Krakow by the Polish Ministry of Education and Science.

- Duckworth, A. L., and Steinberg, L. (2015). Unpacking Self-Control. Child Dev. Persp. 9, 32–37. doi: 10.1111/CDEP.12107
- Eime, R. M., Harvey, J. T., Brown, W. J., and Payne, W. R. (2010). Does sports club participation contribute to health-related quality of life? *Med. Sci. Sports Exer.* 42, 1022–1028. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181c3adaa
- Eime, R. M., Young, J. A., Harvey, J. T., Charity, M. J., and Payne, W. R. (2013). A systematic review of the psychological and social benefits of participation in sport for adults: informing development of a conceptual model of health through sport. *Int. J. Behav. Nutrit. Phys. Activ.* 10:135. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-10-135
- Fuller, J. R. (1988). Martial arts and psychological health. Br. J. Med. Psychol. 61, 317–328. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8341.1988.tb02794.x
- Gallucci, M. (2021). jAMM: jamovi Advanced Mediation Models. [jamovi module]. Available online at: https://jamovi-amm.github.io (accessed September 1, 2021).
- Gross, J. J. (1998). Antecedent- and response-focused emotion regulation: divergent consequences for experience, expression, and physiology. J. Person. Soc. Psychol. 74, 224–237. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.74.1.224
- Gross, J. J., and John, O. P. (2003). Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. J. Person. Soc. Psychol. 85, 348–362. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.348
- Haga, S. M., Kraft, P., and Corby, E.-K. (2007). Emotion regulation: antecedents and well-being outcomes of cognitive reappraisal and expressive suppression in cross-cultural samples. *J. Happiness Stud.* 3, 271–291. doi: 10.1007/S10902-007-9080-3
- Hayes, A. F. (2018). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Hofmann, W., Luhmann, M., Fisher, R. R., Vohs, K. D., and Baumeister, R. F. (2014). Yes, but are they happy? effects of trait self-control on affective wellbeing and life satisfaction. *J. Person.* 82, 265–277. doi: 10.1111/jopy.12050

- Hutchinson, G., Simeon, D. T., Bain, B. C., Wyatt, G. E., Tucker, M. B., and LeFranc, E. (2004). Social and health determinants of well being and life satisfaction in Jamaica. *Int. J. Soc. Psychiatry* 50, 43–53. doi: 10.1177/ 0020764004040952
- Jankowski, K. S. (2015). Is the shift in chronotype associated with an alteration in well-being? *Biol. Rhythm Res.* 46, 237–248. doi: 10.1080/09291016.2014.98 5000
- Jansen, P., Dahmen-Zimmer, K., Kudielka, B. M., and Schulz, A. (2017). Effects of karate training versus mindfulness training on emotional well-being and cognitive performance in later life. *Res. Aging* 39, 1118–1144. doi: 10.1177/ 0164027516669987
- Kavussanu, M., and Kitsantas, A. (2011). "Acquisition of sport knowledge and skill: The role of self-regulatory processes," in *Handbook of Self Regulation of Learning and Performance*, eds B. Zimmerman and D. Schunk (New York, NY: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group), 217–233.
- Kitsantas, A., Kavussanu, M., Corbatto, D., and van de Pol, P. (2017). "Selfregulation in sports learning and performance," in *Handbook of Self Regulation* of Learning and Performance, eds D. Schunk and J. Greene (New York, NY: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group), 194–207.
- Kobylińska, D. (2011). Kwestionariusz Regulacji Emocji [Emotion Regulation Questionnaire]. Stanford Psychophysiology Laboratory. Available online at: https://spl.stanford.edu/resources#measures (accessed July 9, 2021).
- Kucharski, B., Strating, M. A., Ahluwalia Cameron, A., and Pascual-Leone, A. (2018). Complexity of emotion regulation strategies in changing contexts: A study of varsity athletes. *J. Contex. Behav. Sci.* 10, 85–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jcbs. 2018.09.002
- Lakes, K. D., and Hoyt, W. T. (2004). Promoting self-regulation through schoolbased martial arts training. J. Appl. Dev. Psychol. 25, 283–302. doi: 10.1016/j. appdev.2004.04.002
- Lechner, M. (2009). Long-run labour market and health effects of individual sports activities. J. Health Eco. 28, 839–854. doi: 10.1016/j.jhealeco.2009. 05.003
- MacDonald, J. M., Piquero, A. R., Valois, R. F., and Zullig, K. J. (2005). The relationship between life satisfaction, risk-taking behaviors, and youth violence. *J. Interpers. Viol.* 20, 1495–1518. doi: 10.1177/0886260505278718
- MacKinnon, D. P. (2012). Introduction to statistical mediation analysis. New York, NY: Routledge. doi: 10.4324/9780203809556
- Madden, M. E. (1995). Perceived vulnerability and control of martial arts and physical fitness students. *Percep. Motor Skills* 80, 899–910. doi: 10.2466/pms. 1995.80.3.899
- Malinowska, E. (2019). Kultura fizyczna w Polsce w 2018 roku Raport GUS [Physical culture in Poland in 2018 - CSO report]. Available online at: https://stat.gov.pl/files/gfx/portalinformacyjny/pl/defaultaktualnosci/5495/ 13/2/1/kultura\_fizyczna\_w\_polsce\_w\_2018.pdf (accessed September 26, 2020).
- Marie-Ludivine, C.-D., Papouin, G., Saint-Val, P., and Lopez, A. (2010). Effect of adapted karate training on quality of life and body balance in 50-year-old men. *Open Access J. Sports Med.* 1, 143–150. doi: 10.2147/OAJSM.S12479
- Mellor, D., Stokes, M., Firth, L., Hayashi, Y., and Cummins, R. (2008). Need for belonging, relationship satisfaction, loneliness, and life satisfaction. *Person. Ind. Diff.* 45, 213–218. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2008.03.020
- Messaoud, W. B. (2015). Social representations of karate among young people. ido movement for culture. J. Mart. Arts Anthropol. 15, 39–48. doi: 10.14589/ido. 15.4.6
- Niven, K., Totterdell, P., and Holman, D. (2009). A classification of controlled interpersonal affect regulation strategies. *Emotion* 9, 498–509. doi: 10.1037/ A0015962
- Pavot, W., and Diener, E. (1993). Review of the satisfaction with life scale. *Psychol. Assess.* 5, 164–172. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.5.2.164

- Pilarska, A., and Baumaister, R. F. (2018). Psychometric properties and correlates of the polish version of the self-control Scale (SCS). *Polish Psychol. Bull.* 49, 95–106. doi: 10.24425/119476
- Piotrkowicz, T. (1998). Podręcznik karate [Karate handbook]. Warszawa: Warszawskie Centrum Karate.
- Preacher, K. J., and Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behav. Res. Methods* 40, 879–891. doi: 10.3758/BRM.40.3.879
- R Core Team. (2021). R: A Language and environment for statistical computing. (Version 4.0). [Computer Software]. Available online at: https://www.r-project. org (accessed September 1, 2021).
- Schumaker, J. F., Shea, J. D., Monfries, M. M., and Groth-Marnat, G. (1993). Loneliness and life satisfaction in japan and australia. J. Psychol. 127, 65–71. doi: 10.1080/00223980.1993.9915543
- Shrout, P. E., and Bolger, N. (2002). Mediation in experimental and nonexperimental studies: New procedures and recommendations. *Psychol. Methods* 7, 422–445. doi: 10.1037/1082-989X.7.4.422
- Śmieja, M., Mrozowicz, M., and Kobylińska, D. (2011). Emotional intelligence and emotion regulation strategies. *Studia Psychologiczne* 49, 55–64. doi: 10.2478/ v10167-010-0040-x
- Strine, T. W., Chapman, D. P., Balluz, L. S., Moriarty, D. G., and Mokdad, A. H. (2008). The associations between life satisfaction and health-related quality of life, chronic illness, and health behaviors among u.s. Community-dwelling adults. J. Comm. Health 33, 40–50. doi: 10.1007/s10900-007-9066-4
- Tangney, J. P., Baumeister, R. F., and Boone, A. L. (2004). High self-control predicts good adjustment, less pathology, better grades, and interpersonal success. *J. Personal.* 72, 271–324. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-3506.2004.00263.x
- The jamovi project (2021). *jamovi. (Version 2.2.2) [Computer Software]*. Available online at: https://www.jamovi.org (accessed October 12, 2021).
- Thompson, R. A. (1994). Emotion regulation: a theme in search of definition. Monogr. Soc. Res. Child Dev. 59, 25–52. doi: 10.1111/J.1540-5834.1994. TB01276.X
- Vertonghen, J., and Theeboom, M. (2010). The social-psychological outcomes of martial arts practise among youth: a review. J. Sports Sci. Med. 9, 528–537.
- Vilhjalmsson, R., and Thorlindsson, T. (1992). The integrative and physiological effects of sport participation: a study of adolescents. *Sociol. Quart.* 33, 637–647. doi: 10.1111/j.1533-8525.1992.tb00148.x
- Zivin, G., Hassan, N. R., DePaula, G. F., Monti, D. A., Harlan, C., Hossain, K. D., et al. (2001). An effective approach to violence prevention: traditional martial arts in middle school. *Adolescence* 36, 443–459.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Potoczny, Herzog-Krzywoszanska and Krzywoszanski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The Effect of Brief Stair-Climbing on Divergent and Convergent Thinking

Karin Matsumoto, Chong Chen\*, Kosuke Hagiwara, Natsumi Shimizu, Masako Hirotsu, Yusuke Oda, Huijie Lei, Akiyo Takao, Yuko Fujii, Fumihiro Higuchi and Shin Nakagawa

Division of Neuropsychiatry, Department of Neuroscience, Yamaguchi University Graduate School of Medicine, Ube, Japan

Recent studies show that even a brief bout of aerobic exercise may enhance creative thinking. However, few studies have investigated the effect of exercise conducted in natural settings. Here, in a crossover randomized controlled trial, we investigated the effect of a common daily activity, stair-climbing, on creative thinking. As experimental intervention, subjects were asked to walk downstairs from the fourth to the first floor and back at their usual pace. As control intervention, they walked the same path but using the elevator instead. Compared to using the elevator, stair-climbing enhanced subsequent divergent but not convergent thinking in that it increased originality on the Alternate Use Test (d = 0.486). Subjects on average generated 61% more original uses after stair-climbing. This is the first study to investigate the effect of stair-climbing on creative thinking. Our findings suggest that stair-climbing may be a useful strategy for enhancing divergent thinking in everyday life.

Keywords: acute aerobic exercise, stair-climbing, creativity, divergent thinking, alternate use test, insight problem-solving

# INTRODUCTION

Creativity or creative thinking, a high-level cognitive function, is the key to invention and innovation in many fields of human society, including but not limited to science, technology, industry, business, education, and art (Hennessey and Amabile, 2010; Sternberg and Kaufman, 2018). The development of effective tools to evaluate and strategies to enhance creative thinking, therefore, has attracted much attention in the past decades (Guilford, 1967b; Hennessey and Amabile, 2010; Sternberg and Kaufman, 2018). Creative thinking comprises two fundamental processes: divergent and convergent thinking. Whereas the former involves stretching beyond existing solutions to generate multiple, novel ones, the latter involves approaching a single correct, objective-appropriate solution (Guilford, 1967a). It has been shown that performance on tests of divergent and convergent thinking predicts creative potential and achievement in real-life as well as creativity evaluated by others (Cropley, 2000; Kim, 2008; Runco et al., 2010; Gralewski and Karwowski, 2019).

A recent, timely systematic review concluded that a single bout of aerobic exercise may enhance creative thinking (in particular divergent thinking, Aga et al., 2021). In the reviewed studies, divergent thinking was typically evaluated with the original or adapted versions of the Alternate Uses Test (AUT, Guilford, 1960; Torrance, 1966). In this test, subjects have to write down as many as possible unusual uses of common objects, such as "bricks." The number of generated uses (known as fluency), the number of conceptual categories the generated uses are from (flexibility), and

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Etsuro Ito, Waseda University, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Zeki Akyildiz, Gazi University, Turkey Soichi Ando, The University of Electro-Communications, Japan Hiroaki Hori, National Center of Neurology and Psychiatry, Japan

#### \*Correspondence:

Chong Chen cchen@yamaguchi-u.ac.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Regulation and Processing, a section of the journal Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

> Received: 13 December 2021 Accepted: 27 December 2021 Published: 28 January 2022

#### Citation:

Matsumoto K, Chen C, Hagiwara K, Shimizu N, Hirotsu M, Oda Y, Lei H, Takao A, Fujii Y, Higuchi F and Nakagawa S (2022) The Effect of Brief Stair-Climbing on Divergent and Convergent Thinking. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 15:834097. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2021.834097

50

the rareness of the uses (originality) are commonly employed as indicators of divergent thinking (Runco and Acar, 2012; Reiter-Palmon et al., 2019). Studies conducted in the laboratory have reported that aerobic workout or dance for approximately 20 min (Steinberg et al., 1997), walking on a treadmill for 4 min at a self-selected pace (Oppezzo and Schwartz, 2014) or 44 min at vigorous-intensity (Netz et al., 2007), or cycling on an ergometer for 15 min at roughly light to moderate intensity (Aga et al., 2021) enhanced one or multiple indicators of divergent thinking. Convergent thinking, in contrast, was unaffected or uninvestigated in these studies.

Despite these encouraging findings, whether aerobic exercise commonly conducted in everyday life enhances creative thinking remains unclear. To our knowledge, only two studies have investigated the effect of acute aerobic exercise conducted in natural, real-life settings. One study investigated the effect of walking through a university campus (Oppezzo and Schwartz, 2014), and the other the effect of a 45-min physical education class featuring aerobic games (Román et al., 2018), both of which reported enhanced divergent thinking after the intervention. Neither studies, however, evaluated convergent thinking.

In the present study, therefore, we aimed to advance our understanding of the impact of aerobic exercise conducted in everyday life on both divergent and convergent thinking, by focusing on a common physical activity, stair-climbing. Climbing stairs at comfortable or fast paces and with or without carrying groceries or other loads, has been a recommended physical activity in many governmental guidelines, such as those of the United States (US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018) and Japan (Japanese Ministry of Health Labour and Welfare [JMHLW], 2013). Based on previous reports that stepping over obstacles and precision stepping activate the prefrontal cortex (PFC), a primary neural substrate of divergent thinking, cognitive flexibility, and executive functions in general (Yuan and Raz, 2014; Dajani and Uddin, 2015; Wu et al., 2015), we hypothesized that a brief stair-climbing intervention enhances divergent and convergent thinking.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Participants**

The study was approved by the authors' Institutional Review Board and carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. All subjects provided written informed consent. The study was also preregistered on the University hospital Medical Information Network Clinical Trial Registry (UMIN-CTR). Using data from Oppezzo and Schwartz (Oppezzo and Schwartz, 2014) that reported an effect size of d = 0.70 (Experiment 1, Walking versus Siting within-subjects), we estimated that to detect such an effect size with power = 0.8, alpha = 0.05, two-sided, 19 subjects were necessary. Considering dropout cases, we recruited 22 subjects (12 males, 10 females, including 19 medical undergraduates and three graduate students; age:  $21.36 \pm 1.33$  years). The inclusion criterion was being in their twenties. The exclusion criteria were reporting

any current psychiatric disorders (or currently psychiatric examinations) and having participated our previous studies of creative thinking.

# **Design and Procedure**

Before the laboratory visit, subjects received instructions to get enough sleep and refrain from doing intense physical activities and from smoking and consuming drinks with caffeine for at least 2 h before coming to the laboratory. They were also asked to change the experimental schedule if they were sick.

Upon arriving, subjects first provided written informed consent after receiving a detailed description of the study. They then filled out questionnaires and answered their demographic information together with a few questions to check if they have followed the above instructions. Subjects also indicated their baseline mood using the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule [PANAS, Watson et al., 1988].

The study was a crossover randomized controlled trial with a posttest comparison design (**Figure 1**). Subjects were assigned to receive a brief stair-climbing and control intervention in a counter balanced order and immediately after each intervention they conducted tests of creative thinking. The trial was repeated on two separate days to investigate the effect on divergent and convergent thinking, respectively. The order of the divergent and convergent thinking tests was also randomized. Statistical comparisons showed that subjects reported similar baseline positive affect (paired *t*-test, t = -0.697, p = 0.493) and negative



affect (Wilcoxon signed-rank test, Z = -1.267, p = 0.205) on the two test days, suggesting that the randomization was appropriate.

During both interventions, subjects wore an Apple Watch (Series 4, Apple Inc.) to measure their heart rate and time taken to finish the intervention. The accuracy of Apple Watch for the measurement of heart rate has been established (Wang et al., 2017). Immediately after each intervention, subjects also indicated their current mood on a visual analog scale in terms of pleasure, relaxation, and vigor (Aga et al., 2021). As a washout period, after the first phase of intervention and creative thinking test, subjects rested for 5 min. After finishing the last creative test on the second test day (i.e., at the end of the experiment), subjects also filled out the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) to report their levels of vigorous physical activity, moderate physical activity, and walking in the past 7 days.

#### Intervention

For the stair-climbing intervention, starting from the laboratory room on the fourth floor, subjects were asked to walk downstairs to the first floor and back after approaching but without stepping out of the entrance of the building. A schematic illustration of this round-trip path and the layout of the first and fourth floors is shown in **Supplementary Figure 1**. One flight had 21 stairs in between. For the control intervention, they were asked to walk the same path but using the elevator instead. Subjects were asked to walk at their usual pace for both interventions. They were also asked to remain quiet and not to speak with anyone they might encounter throughout the interventions.

The rationale of selecting this intensity of exercise intervention (i.e., walking downstairs of three flights and then back) was three-fold. Firstly, this intensity (in Metabolic equivalents) was roughly equal to that of treadmill walking for 4 min as used in Oppezzo and Schwartz (Oppezzo and Schwartz, 2014), as estimated based on our pilot testing. Secondly, we could also have set the walking distance to five flights since we also had laboratory rooms on the sixth floor; however, in our pilot testing, subjects felt somewhat tired and short of breath, which did not allow us to start the creative thinking tests immediately after the intervention. Thirdly, based on our pilot survey with staffs and students in our department, most people tended to use stairs for two or three flights.

The building in which we conducted the experiment was a research building with six floors and nine clinical departments. The elevator was most crowded before 9:00 in the morning and after 17:00 in the afternoon because of the commuting traffic, and was moderately crowded between 12:00 and 14:00 because of the lunch break. The experiment was conducted between 9:00–12:00 am and 14:00–17:00 pm, during which time the traffic was generally considered mild.

# **Divergent Thinking**

The commonly employed AUT was used to evaluate divergent thinking. In this test, given 4 min, subjects had to think of original and unusual uses of three common objects (e.g., "brick") and write their answers on a blank paper sheet of A4-size. Different

objects were used for each phase of intervention, the order of which was also randomized for each subject.

Following previous studies, fluency, flexibility, and originality were employed as indicators of divergent thinking (Runco and Acar, 2012; Reiter-Palmon et al., 2019). Fluency was defined as the total number of unusual uses (excluding the common use of each object). Flexibility was defined as the total number of conceptual categories the uses are from (e.g., "dumbbell" and "objects for muscle training" belong to the same conceptual category). Originality was the rareness of the uses and here defined according to the conceptual category of the uses. That is, only if a single participant generated use(s) from a specific conceptual category, that category was considered original; if two participants generated use(s) from the same conceptual category, the category was considered original for neither of them.

Before scoring all responses, the primary coder (i.e., the first author) first received extensive training with the scoring method. Using data from our previous study, the primary coder reached almost perfect agreement (Cohen, 1960) with our previous coder, as indicated by Cohen's  $\kappa = 0.970$  and 0.812 for flexibility and originality, respectively. After training, the primary coder scored all participants while staying blinded to the intervention order. To further ensure reliability, we also asked a secondary coder to score responses for a randomly selected object. The two coders reached an agreement of  $\kappa = 1.000$  and 0.789 for flexibility and originality, respectively.

## **Convergent Thinking**

The matchstick arithmetic problems created by Knoblich et al. (1999) were used to measure convergent thinking. Each problem was shown as an incorrect equation written with Roman numerals made by matchsticks and subjects had to move one stick to make the equation correct. For instance, for the problem of IV = III + III, the correct answer was to move one stick from the left side of "IV" to its right side to form "VI." Three different types of problems depending on the way of moving the matchstick were selected for each set of divergent thinking test (administered after each phase of intervention). Based on our pilot testing, the time limit was set to 4 min. The number of correctly solved problems was used as the indicator of convergent thinking.

At the beginning of the experiment on the test day of convergent thinking, all subjects were first trained to be able to recognize the Roman numerals. After they finished the second phase of convergent thinking test, subjects were also asked if they had ever seen any of the matchstick problems tested. No subjects had seen exactly the same problems before the study.

## **Statistical Analysis**

The statistical analysis was conducted with IBM SPSS Statistics 26.0. Due to non-normal distribution based on the Shapiro–Wilk test, Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were used to compare divergent and convergent thinking indicators after the stair-climbing versus control intervention. Two-way repeated measures ANOVAs were used investigate the effect of the test day (divergent versus convergent thinking) and the intervention (stair-climbing versus control) on heart rate, time taken to return to the laboratory room, and post-intervention mood. G\*Power Version 3.1.9.7

(Faul et al., 2007) was used for calculating effect sizes. P < 0.05 was considered significant.

## RESULTS

# Heart Rate, Time Taken, and Mood Measures

As reported in **Table 1**, two-way repeated measures ANOVAs indicated a significant effect of intervention on heart rate (p < 0.001) and time taken to return to the laboratory room (p < 0.001), while the effect of test day and the intervention and test day interaction remained insignificant. The data on different test days were therefore combined together and plotted in **Figure 2A**. As can be seen, compared to using the elevator, stair-climbing increased heart rate (109.66 ± 11.198 versus 91.89 ± 11.418 bpm, d = 3.547) and cost less time (173.82 ± 23.890 versus 228.98 ± 57.760 s, d = 0.937). There were no significant effect of the intervention, test day, or their interaction on the post-intervention mood measures (**Figure 2B** and **Table 1**).

#### **Divergent and Convergent Thinking**

Scatterplots of the data of divergent and convergent thinking are shown in Figure 3. Wilcoxon signed-rank tests indicated that compared to using the elevator, stair-climbing significantly increased originality (Z = 1.977, p = 0.048, d = 0.486) but not fluency (Z = 0.164, p = 0.870, d = 0.056) or flexibility (Z = 0.196, p = 0.845, d = 0.076) on the AUT. Thus, stair-climbing increased divergent thinking not because subjects thought of more uses (as there was no significant difference in fluency) but because they thought of more original uses. To further verify this conclusion, we divided the number of original uses by the number of total uses generated for each subject. After using the elevator, subjects produced 2.3  $\pm$  1.461 original uses for every 10 generated uses. In contrast, after stair-climbing, they produced  $3.7 \pm 2.246$  original uses for every 10 generated uses. This difference was significant as indicated by a Wilcoxon signed-rank test (Z = 2.207, p = 0.027, d = 0.532). In other words, compared to using the elevator, subjects on average generated 61% more original uses after stair-climbing. With regards to convergent thinking, subjects' performance on the matchstick test did not differ after using the elevator versus after stair-climbing (Z = 0.428, p = 0.669, d = 0.085). Lastly, we also investigated if the effect of stair-climbing on originality was associated with subjects' regular physical activity level. The results, however, indicated no significant correlations between

the change of originality and total physical activity, vigorous physical activity, moderate physical activity, or walking (all p > 0.503).

### DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the effect of stair-climbing on creative thinking. We found that compared to using the elevator, stair-climbing enhanced subjects' originality on the AUT, indicating improved divergent thinking. Subjects on average generated 61% more original uses after stair-climbing than after using the elevator. In contrast, stairclimbing did not affect convergent thinking as evaluated by the matchstick arithmetic problems. As a daily physical activity, stair-climbing increased subjects' heart rate more than using the elevator (d = 3.547). Using the commonly employed formula (220-age) as an estimation of maximum heart rate and considering the average age of all subject was 21.36 years, the intensity of the stair-climbing here (with a mean heart rate of 109.66 bpm) was equal to 55% maximum heart rate, or very light (American College of Sports Medicine [ACSM], 2013). Our results suggest that stair-climbing in very light intensity in a natural, real-life setting may enhance divergent thinking. Furthermore, in our experiment, because of the waiting time to use the elevator, stair-climbing also cost less time (d = 0.937). Thus, compared to using the elevator, at least for people at the fourth floor, stair-climbing may be a preferred moving method because of its higher efficiency and divergent thinkingenhancing effect.

Among the three measures of divergent thinking, stairclimbing enhanced originality but not fluency or flexibility. Whereas the explanation of such result is unclear, one possibility is that stair-climbing did not change vigor or arousal level in the present study and the latter, however, is required for the enhancing of fluency and flexibility (Aga et al., 2021). Nevertheless, compared to fluency and flexibility, originality is generally considered more important and the key component of divergent thinking (Runco and Acar, 2012; Oppezzo and Schwartz, 2014).

Based on previous reports that stepping over obstacles and precision stepping activate the prefrontal cortex (PFC), a primary neural substrate of divergent thinking, cognitive flexibility, and executive functions in general (Yuan and Raz, 2014; Dajani and Uddin, 2015; Wu et al., 2015), we hypothesized that stair-climbing enhances divergent and convergent thinking. Our hypothesis, however, was only partially supported. Our results are consistent with Oppezzo and Schwartz

TABLE 1 The results of two-way repeated measures ANOVAs of heart rate, time taken to return to the laboratory room, and post-intervention mood measures.

	Heart rate	Time taken	Pleasure	Relaxation	Vigor
Intervention	F = 366.328, p = 0.000***	F = 44.112, p = 0.000***	F = 0.516, p = 0.481	F = 2.008, p = 0.171	F = 2.171, p = 0.155
Test day	F = 0.558, p = 0.463	F = 0.824, p = 0.374	F = 0.366, p = 0.551	F = 0.485, p = 0.494	F = 0.002, p = 0.966
Interaction	F = 0.246, p = 0.625	F = 0.883, p = 0.358	F = 3.008, p = 0.098	F = 0.520, p = 0.479	F = 0.145, p = 0.707

\*\*\*p < 0.001. Statistically significant results are shown in bold.



**FIGURE 2** | Intervention effect on heart rate, time taken to return to the laboratory room, and mood. (A) Heart rate and time taken; (B), mood. The data on different test days are combined and plotted together. \*\*\*p < 0.001 bpm, beat per minutes. VAS, visual analog scale. Data shown as mean  $\pm$  SE.



(Oppezzo and Schwartz, 2014), who reported that walking on a treadmill for 4 min at a self-selected pace improved divergent (evaluated by the AUT) but not convergent thinking (evaluated by the compound remote-association test). It is unclear why walking affects divergent but not convergent thinking despite the observation that both divergent and convergent thinking are related to the functioning of the PFC (Kleibeuker et al., 2013; Yuan and Raz, 2014; Dajani and Uddin, 2015; Wu et al., 2015; Peña et al., 2019). One possibility might be that the impact of aerobic exercise on convergent thinking depends on post-exercise mood (Aga et al., 2021), which, however, is not affected by walking or stair-climbing at very light intensity. This possibility remains to be tested by future well-designed studies. Regarding the neurobiological basis of the divergent

thinking-enhancing effect of walking and stair-climbing, another potential mechanism in addition to the PFC may be the release of dopamine in response to physical activity (Chen et al., 2016, 2017). This proposal is based on the finding that dopamine is relevant to cognitive flexibility (Klanker et al., 2013) and associative or reinforcement learning (Chen, 2015; Chen et al., 2015), two cognitive processes underlying divergent thinking (Benedek et al., 2012).

As an everyday life physical activity, climbing stairs at comfortable or fast paces and with or without carrying groceries or other loads, has been a recommended physical activity in many governmental guidelines (Japanese Ministry of Health Labour and Welfare [JMHLW], 2013; US Department of Health and Human Services, 2018). Few studies, however, have investigated

s the specific physical and mental health benefits of stairclimbing. Allison et al. (2017) reported that brief intense stairclimbing involving 3  $\times$  20 s "all-out" efforts produced robust physiological changes, including increased heart rate and blood lactate. Stenling et al. (2019) reported that compared to after no exercise, subjects had increased heart rate and felt more energetic, less tense, and less tired after three 1-min stairclimbing sessions (with 1-min recovery in between). In this study, males but not females showed better switching performance and neither showed improved inhibitory control ability (Stenling et al., 2019). These results, however, need to be replicated because their sample size was small (n = 11 for males). Our current study adds novel evidence to the literature of stairclimbing that a brief very light intensity stair-climbing enhances divergent thinking. As it has been reported that regular walking is associated with improved divergent but not convergent thinking (Nakagawa et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2021), future research may further investigate if regular stair-climbing has similar cognitive benefits.

Our study also had several limitations. Firstly, we used stair-climbing in a natural, real-life setting as our intervention, the intensity of which therefore was heterogeneous for each subject. This is different from heart rate reserve or aerobic capacity reserve-based exercise prescriptions (American College of Sports Medicine [ACSM], 2013). It is possible that people with higher aerobic capacity tend to use stairs more often and for more flights, although they may be unable to choose which floor to use for work or living. Secondly, we only tested stair-climbing as a round-trip between the fourth and the first floors. The intervention was considered very light in intensity and it is possible that stair-climbing at this very light intensity was unable to effectively enhance divergent thinking in some subjects. Future research is thus required to test stair-climbing at higher intensities to see if it boosts divergent thinking in all subjects. Thirdly, we used but one common test for the evaluation of divergent and convergent thinking, respectively. To validate our results, future studies should also test the effect of stair-climbing on other popular tests of divergent and convergent thinking. Fourthly, we limited our subjects to those in their twenties in order to exclude the confounding effect of age and improve statistical power. This, however, also limits the generalization of our findings to other populations. Future studies with more diverse subjects are needed to test whether our findings generalize to other populations.

# REFERENCES

- Aga, K., Inamura, M., Chen, C., Hagiwara, K., Yamashita, R., Hirotsu, M., et al. (2021). The Effect of Acute Aerobic Exercise on Divergent and Convergent Thinking and Its Influence by Mood. *Brain Sci.* 11:546. doi: 10. 3390/brainsci11050546
- Allison, M. K., Baglole, J. H., Martin, B. J., Macinnis, M. J., Gurd, B. J., and Gibala, M. J. (2017). Brief intense stair climbing improves cardiorespiratory fitness. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 49, 298–307. doi: 10.1249/mss.000000000001188
- American College of Sports Medicine [ACSM] (2013). ACSM's Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription. United States: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

### CONCLUSION

In a randomized controlled trial with a within-subjects crossover posttest comparison design, we found that compared to using the elevator, a brief stair-climbing intervention involving a roundtrip walking for three flights enhanced divergent thinking in a sample of healthy young adults. Subjects on average generated 61% more original uses after stair-climbing than after using the elevator. Furthermore, stair-climbing cost less time compared to using the elevator. Our findings suggest that stair-climbing may be an efficient and useful strategy for enhancing divergent thinking in everyday life.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Yamaguchi University Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CC and SN: conceptualization. KM, CC, KH, NS, YO, HL, and AT: methodology. KM and CC: formal analysis and writing original draft preparation. KM, CC, NS, and MH: investigation. YF and FH: resources. All authors contributed to writing—review and editing and have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh. 2021.834097/full#supplementary-material

**Supplementary Figure 1** | Schematic illustration of the round-trip path and the layout of the first and fourth floors used for the interventions.

Benedek, M., Könen, T., and Neubauer, A. C. (2012). Associative abilities underlying creativity. Psychol. Aesthet. Creat. Arts 6:273. doi: 10.1037/a0027059

- Chen, C. (2015). Intelligence moderates reinforcement learning: a mini-review of the neural evidence. J. Neurophysiol. 113, 3459–3461. doi: 10.1152/jn.00600. 2014
- Chen, C., Mochizuki, Y., Hagiwara, K., Hirotsu, M., and Nakagawa, S. (2021). Regular Vigorous-Intensity Physical Activity and Walking Are Associated with Divergent but not Convergent Thinking in Japanese Young Adults. *Brain Sci.* 11:1046. doi: 10.3390/brainsci11081046
- Chen, C., Nakagawa, S., An, Y., Ito, K., Kitaichi, Y., and Kusumi, I. (2017). The exercise-glucocorticoid paradox: how exercise is beneficial to cognition, mood,

and the brain while increasing glucocorticoid levels. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 44, 83–102. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2016.12.001

- Chen, C., Nakagawa, S., Kitaichi, Y., An, Y., Omiya, Y., Song, N., et al. (2016). The role of medial prefrontal corticosterone and dopamine in the antidepressant-like effect of exercise. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 69, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.03.008
- Chen, C., Omiya, Y., and Yang, S. (2015). Dissociating contributions of ventral and dorsal striatum to reward learning. J. Neurophysiol. 114, 1364–1366. doi: 10.1152/jn.00873.2014
- Cohen, J. (1960). A coefficient of agreement for nominal scales. *Educ. Psychol. Measure.* 20, 37–46. doi: 10.1177/001316446002000104
- Cropley, A. J. (2000). Defining and measuring creativity: are creativity tests worth using? *Roeper Rev.* 23, 72–79. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2017.11.006
- Dajani, D. R., and Uddin, L. Q. (2015). Demystifying cognitive flexibility: implications for clinical and developmental neuroscience. *Trends Neurosci.* 38, 571–578. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2015.07.003
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., and Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behav. Res. Methods* 39, 175–191. doi: 10.3758/bf03193146
- Gralewski, J., and Karwowski, M. (2019). Are teachers' ratings of students' creativity related to students' divergent thinking? A meta-analysis. *Think. Skills Creat.* 33:100583. doi: 10.1016/j.tsc.2019.100583
- Guilford, J. P. (1960). Alternate uses, Form A. Beverly Hills: Sheridan Supply.
- Guilford, J. P. (1967a). Creativity: yesterday, today, and tomorrow. J. Creat. Behav. 1, 3–14.
- Guilford, J. P. (1967b). *The Nature of Human Intelligence*. New York: McGraw-Hill. Hennessey, B. A., and Amabile, T. M. (2010). Creativity. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 61,
- 569–598. Japanese Ministry of Health Labour and Welfare [JMHLW] (2013). *Physical Activity Guidelines for Health Promotion*. Available online at: https://www.mhlw.go.jp/stf/seisakunitsuite/bunya/kenkou\_iryou/kenkou/ undou/index.html Last accessed 2021/11/11
- Kim, K. H. (2008). Meta-analyses of the relationship of creative achievement to both IQ and divergent thinking test scores. J. Creative Behav. 42, 106–130. doi: 10.1002/j.2162-6057.2008.tb01290.x
- Klanker, M., Feenstra, M., and Denys, D. (2013). Dopaminergic control of cognitive flexibility in humans and animals. *Front. Neurosci.* 7:201. doi: 10.3389/fnins. 2013.00201
- Kleibeuker, S. W., Koolschijn, P. C. M., Jolles, D. D., Schel, M. A., De Dreu, C. K., and Crone, E. A. (2013). Prefrontal cortex involvement in creative problem solving in middle adolescence and adulthood. *Dev. Cogn. Neurosci.* 5, 197–206. doi: 10.1016/j.dcn.2013.03.003
- Knoblich, G., Ohlsson, S., Haider, H., and Rhenius, D. (1999). Constraint relaxation and chunk decomposition in insight problem solving. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 25:1534. doi: 10.1037/0278-7393.25.6.1534
- Nakagawa, T., Koan, I., Chen, C., Matsubara, T., Hagiwara, K., Lei, H., et al. (2020). Regular moderate-to vigorous-intensity physical activity rather than walking is associated with enhanced cognitive functions and mental health in young adults. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17:614. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17020614
- Netz, Y., Tomer, R., Axelrad, S., Argov, E., and Inbar, O. (2007). The effect of a single aerobic training session on cognitive flexibility in late middle-aged adults. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 28, 82–87. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-924027
- Oppezzo, M., and Schwartz, D. L. (2014). Give your ideas some legs: the positive effect of walking on creative thinking. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 40:1142. doi: 10.1037/a0036577
- Peña, J., Sampedro, A., Ibarretxe-Bilbao, N., Zubiaurre-Elorza, L., and Ojeda, N. (2019). Improvement in creativity after transcranial random noise stimulation

(tRNS) over the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex. *Sci. Rep.* 9, 1–9. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-019-43626-4

- Reiter-Palmon, R., Forthmann, B., and Barbot, B. (2019). Scoring divergent thinking tests: a review and systematic framework. *Psychol. Aesthet. Creat. Arts* 13:144. doi: 10.1037/aca0000227
- Román, P. ÁL., Vallejo, A. P., and Aguayo, B. B. (2018). Acute aerobic exercise enhances students' creativity. *Creat. Res. J.* 30, 310–315. doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy. 2020.103121
- Runco, M. A., and Acar, S. (2012). Divergent thinking as an indicator of creative potential. Creat. Res. J. 24, 66–75. doi: 10.1080/10400419.2012.652929
- Runco, M. A., Millar, G., Acar, S., and Cramond, B. (2010). Torrance Tests of Creative Thinking as predictors of personal and public achievement: a fifty year follow up. *Creat. Res. J.* 22, 361–368. doi: 10.1080/10400419.2010. 523393
- Steinberg, H., Sykes, E. A., Moss, T., Lowery, S., LeBoutillier, N., and Dewey, A. (1997). Exercise enhances creativity independently of mood. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 31, 240–245. doi: 10.1136/bjsm.31.3.240
- Stenling, A., Moylan, A., Fulton, E., and Machado, L. (2019). Effects of a brief stairclimbing intervention on cognitive performance and mood states in healthy young adults. *Front. Psychol.* 10:2300. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02300
- Sternberg, R. J., and Kaufman, J. C. (eds) (2018). *The Nature of Human Creativity*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Torrance, P. E. (1966). *Torrance Tests of Creative Thinking*. New Jersey: Personnel Press.
- US Department of Health and Human Services (2018). *Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans* 2nd Edn. Washington: US Department of Health and Human Services.
- Wang, R., Blackburn, G., Desai, M., Phelan, D., Gillinov, L., Houghtaling, P., et al. (2017). Accuracy of wrist-worn heart rate monitors. *JAMA Cardiol.* 2, 104–106. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2016.3340
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., and Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 54:1063. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Wu, X., Yang, W., Tong, D., Sun, J., Chen, Q., Wei, D., et al. (2015). A meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies on divergent thinking using activation likelihood estimation. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 36, 2703–2718. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22801
- Yuan, P., and Raz, N. (2014). Prefrontal cortex and executive functions in healthy adults: a meta-analysis of structural neuroimaging studies. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 42, 180–192. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.02.005

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Matsumoto, Chen, Hagiwara, Shimizu, Hirotsu, Oda, Lei, Takao, Fujii, Higuchi and Nakagawa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **Cognitive Improvement After Aerobic and Resistance Exercise Is Not Associated With Peripheral Biomarkers**

Soichi Ando<sup>1</sup>\*, Takaaki Komiyama<sup>2</sup>, Yukiya Tanoue<sup>3</sup>, Mizuki Sudo<sup>4</sup>, Joseph T. Costello<sup>5</sup>, Yoshinari Uehara<sup>6</sup> and Yasuki Higaki<sup>6</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Graduate School of Informatics and Engineering, The University of Electro-Communications, Chofu, Japan, <sup>2</sup> Center for Education in Liberal Arts and Sciences, Osaka University, Osaka, Japan, <sup>3</sup> Graduate School of Sports and Health Science, Fukuoka University, Fukuoka, Japan, <sup>4</sup> Physical Fitness Research Institute, Meiji Yasuda Life Foundation of Health and Welfare, Shinjuku City, Japan, <sup>5</sup> Extreme Environments Laboratory, School of Sport, Health & Exercise Science, University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth, United Kingdom, <sup>6</sup> Faculty of Sports and Health Science, Fukuoka University, Fukuoka, Japan

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Chong Chen, Yamaguchi University Graduate School of Medicine, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Zhaowei Kong, University of Macau, Macao SAR, China Kazuya Suwabe, Ryutsu Keizai University, Japan Fabian Herold, German Center for Neurodegeneratives, Helmholtz Association of German Research Centers (HZ), Germany

> \*Correspondence: Soichi Ando soichi.ando@uec.ac.jp

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Regulation and Processing, a section of the journal Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

> Received: 12 January 2022 Accepted: 21 February 2022 Published: 15 March 2022

#### Citation:

Ando S, Komiyama T, Tanoue Y, Sudo M, Costello JT, Uehara Y and Higaki Y (2022) Cognitive Improvement After Aerobic and Resistance Exercise Is Not Associated With Peripheral Biomarkers. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 16:853150. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2022.853150 The role of peripheral biomarkers following acute physical exercise on cognitive improvement has not been systematically evaluated. This study aimed to explore the role of peripheral circulating biomarkers in executive performance following acute aerobic and resistance exercise. Nineteen healthy males completed a central executive (Go/No-Go) task before and after 30-min of perceived intensity matched aerobic and resistance exercise. In the aerobic condition, the participants cycled an ergometer at 40% peak oxygen uptake. In the resistance condition, they performed resistance exercise using elastic bands. Before and after an acute bout of physical exercise, venous samples were collected for the assessment of following biomarkers: adrenaline, noradrenaline, glucose, lactate, cortisol, insulin-like growth hormone factor 1, and brainderived neurotrophic factor. Reaction time decreased following both aerobic exercise and resistance exercise (p = 0.04). Repeated measures correlation analysis indicated that changes in reaction time were not associated with the peripheral biomarkers (all p > 0.05). Accuracy tended to decrease in the resistance exercise condition (p = 0.054). Accuracy was associated with changes in adrenaline  $[r_{m}(18) = -0.51]$ , p = 0.023, noradrenaline [ $r_{rm}(18) = -0.66$ , p = 0.002], lactate [ $r_{rm}(18) = -0.47$ , p = 0.035], and brain-derived neurotrophic factor [ $r_{rm}(17) = -0.47$ , p = 0.044] in the resistance condition. These findings suggest that these peripheral biomarkers do not directly contribute to reduction in reaction time following aerobic or resistance exercise. However, greater sympathoexcitation, reflected by greater increase in noradrenaline, may be associated with a tendency for a reduction in accuracy after acute resistance exercise.

Keywords: cognition, brain, reaction time, executive function, catecholamines

# INTRODUCTION

Acute aerobic exercise at light/moderate intensity improves cognitive performance (Chang et al., 2012; McMorris, 2021). The effects of acute resistance exercise on cognitive performance have received increasing attention, and recent reviews have suggested that resistance exercise also

has the potential to improve cognitive performance (Soga et al., 2018; Wilke et al., 2019). It is widely speculated that an increase in arousal is responsible for these improvements in cognitive performance (Chang et al., 2012; Ando et al., 2020; McMorris, 2021). However, the mechanism(s) responsible for cognitive improvement following acute aerobic and resistance exercise remain unclear. Specifically, the role of peripheral biomarkers following acute physical exercise on cognitive improvement has not been systematically evaluated.

Adrenaline and noradrenaline are important for the adaptive response to physiological stressors through the activation of the sympathoadrenomedullary system (Danese et al., 2018). In this context, there is some evidence in the literature that acute physical exercise increases circulating catecholamine concentrations (Pontifex et al., 2019; McMorris, 2021). Although peripheral adrenaline and noradrenaline do not easily traverse the blood-brain barrier (Cornford et al., 1982), increased circulating adrenaline and noradrenaline activate  $\beta$ -adrenoceptors on the afferent vagus nerve, which terminates in the nucleus tractus solitarii (NTS) within the blood-brain barrier (McGaugh et al., 1996). Noradrenergic cells in the NTS also project to the locus coeruleus and stimulate noradrenaline synthesis and release to other regions of the brain (McMorris, 2016). Thus, increased circulating adrenaline and noradrenaline may, at least in part, lead to an improvement in executive performance.

Blood glucose is the primary source of energy for the brain (Gold, 1995) and recent studies indicate that increased blood lactate after high-intensity interval exercise is associated with attentional or executive performance (Tsukamoto et al., 2016; Hashimoto et al., 2018; Herold et al., 2022). These findings suggest that enhanced lactate metabolism may contribute to executive improvements. However, the role of blood lactate following acute light intensity aerobic and resistance exercise is relatively unknown. Similarly, in response to acute stress, cortisol is released by the adrenal cortex and is regulated by the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) (Costello et al., 2018). Tsai and colleagues reported that alterations in cortisol level after resistance exercise are associated with electrophysiological activity (i.e., P3 amplitude) (Tsai et al., 2014). These findings suggest that alterations in circulating cortisol level could be linked to executive performance following acute physical exercise.

Acute resistance exercise increases peripheral insulin-like growth hormone factor 1 (IGF-1) (Rubin et al., 2005; Rojas Vega et al., 2010; Tsai et al., 2014, 2018). Acute aerobic (Huang et al., 2014; Tsai et al., 2018), and resistance (Marston et al., 2017) exercise increases peripheral brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). Rodent studies suggest that increases in IGF-1 are related to improvements in learning and spatial memory after a period of training (Ding et al., 2006; Cassilhas et al., 2012). In contrast to adrenaline and noradrenaline, BDNF crosses the blood-brain barrier in both directions (Pan et al., 1998) and it has also been speculated that elevated BDNF might contribute to improvements in executive performance/memory after acute physical exercise (Ferris et al., 2007; Griffin et al., 2011; Piepmeier and Etnier, 2015; Borror, 2017). Indeed, improvement in executive performance was associated with exercise-related changes in BDNF (Hwang et al., 2016). However, IGF-1 and BDNF appears to play a crucial role in angiogenesis, synaptogenesis, and neurogenesis following long-term exercise (Cotman and Berchtold, 2002; Voss et al., 2011; Nieto-Estevez et al., 2016) and further studies are necessary to understand whether transient increases in IGF-1 and BDNF contribute to an improvement in executive performance following acute physical exercise.

Acute light aerobic exercise has been suggested to improve executive performance (Chang et al., 2012), and peripheral adrenaline and noradrenaline concentrations increase after acute light aerobic exercise (i.e., 40% maximal oxygen uptake) (McMurray et al., 1987). If changes in peripheral biomarkers, such as adrenaline and noradrenaline, are associated with alterations of the performance of executive functioning, it seems reasonable to hypothesize that an association between peripheral biomarkers and executive functioning can be observed even after light-intensity physical exercise. Lactate production in response to acute exercise depends on type of exercise (i.e., aerobic or resistance) (Hashimoto et al., 2021). Acute light aerobic exercise does not increase blood lactate concentration (Ivy et al., 1980). Conversely, resistance exercise at low intensity using elastic bands appear to increase blood lactate (Yasuda et al., 2014). Furthermore, an acute bout of resistance exercise, but not aerobic exercise, is a physiological stimulus for acute increases in IGF-1 (Gregory et al., 2013). These suggest that changes in some peripheral biomarkers (e.g., lactate and IGF-1) may be greater after resistance exercise relative to aerobic exercise. Hence, comparing the effects of aerobic and resistance exercise on executive performance and peripheral biomarkers can help to elucidate the common or divergent molecular mechanisms driving changes in cognitive performance after different types of acute physical exercises (i.e., aerobic vs. resistance exercises).

Accordingly, this study sought to investigate the relationship between peripheral circulating biomarkers and executive performance following acute, intensity matched, aerobic and resistance training exercise. We tested the hypothesis that: (i) acute aerobic and resistance exercise would improve executive performance, (ii) peripheral biomarkers would be associated with this performance, and (iii) the differential effects of aerobic and resistance exercise on peripheral biomarkers would delineate the specific contribution of these biomarkers to improvement in executive performance.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# **Participants**

Nineteen healthy males volunteered to participate in this study [age:  $22.5 \pm 2.3$  year; body weight:  $1.71 \pm 0.06$  m; body mass:  $66.2 \pm 7.6$  kg; peak oxygen uptake ( $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ ):  $48.2 \pm 7.1$  ml kg min<sup>-1</sup>]. All participants were physically active and met the following criteria: (i) right handed as assessed by the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory (Oldfield, 1971); (ii) low-risk status for physical exercise-related adverse events assessed by Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (Warburton et al., 2011); and (iii) no history of cardiovascular, cerebrovascular, or respiratory disease (self-report). All participants gave their written informed

consent prior to participation. Sample size was calculated using G-power (version 3.1) (Faul et al., 2009) based on our pilot data which suggested that a reduction in reaction time (RT) after aerobic exercise at 40%  $\dot{VO}_{2peak}$  was ~28 ms (Cohen's day effect size of 0.4). Accordingly, a minimum of 15 participants were required to achieve a power of 80% with an alpha of 0.05. The participants were instructed to abstain from any strenuous exercise for 24 h and food, caffeine and alcohol for 12 h prior to the laboratory visit. All experimental procedures adhered to the standards set by the latest revision of the declaration of Helsinki, except for registration in a database, and were approved by the ethics committee of Fukuoka University (2015-09-01).

## **Cognitive Task**

Central executive function was assessed using a Go/No-Go task. The task was completed on a laptop computer (Let's note CF-R4, Panasonic, Osaka, Japan) placed 80 cm from the participants. The participants performed the cognitive task sitting on a chair. The details of the cognitive task are described in detail elsewhere (Ando et al., 2013). Briefly, the participants were required to either respond (Go trial) or not (No-Go trial) according to the stimulus. A shift-key on the keyboard was used to perform the cognitive task. The participants pressed the key using the right index finger. A total of 30 trials were completed. Both RT and accuracy of the task were used to assess executive performance. Omitting a response in a Go trial or performing an incorrect response in a No-Go trial was regarded as an error trial. Accuracy of the task was calculated as number of correct response/total number of trials.

# **Experimental Procedure**

This study employed a within-participants pre-test post-test crossover comparison in line with the taxonomy provided by Pontifex et al. (2019). The experiment was performed over three non-consecutive days with intervals of at least 3 days between experimental sessions. Throughout the experiment, the ambient temperature was maintained at 22°C and the relative humidity was controlled approximately at 50%. On the first day, the participants practiced the cognitive task until they were familiar with the task to minimize the impact of a learning effect. Thereafter, the participants performed a maximal exercise test to exhaustion on a cycle ergometer (75XLII, COMBI Wellness, Tokyo, Japan). After a warm-up period at 10 W for 1 min, the test was initiated with 20 W increments every minute in a ramp manner. Participants were instructed to maintain a cadence of 60 revolutions per min (rpm), and the test was terminated when they were unable to maintain a cadence of >40 rpm. Minute ventilation, oxygen uptake, fraction of end-tidal CO<sub>2</sub>, and O<sub>2</sub> were recorded using a gas analysis system (ARCO-2000, ARCO System, Chiba, Japan), and VO<sub>2 peak</sub> was determined as the highest value attained over the course of 1 min. Exercise intensity at 40%  $\dot{VO}_{2peak}$  (90 ± 13 watts) was subsequently calculated for aerobic exercise.

On the second and third days of the experiment, the experiments were performed on the same time to minimize circadian effects. At the beginning of the experiment, venous blood sample was collected from the antecubital vein for the analyses of adrenaline, noradrenaline, cortisol, IGF-1, and BDNF analysis. The left earlobe was pricked with a safety lancet and 2  $\mu$ L capillary blood was collected for glucose and lactate analysis. Systolic blood pressure and diastolic blood pressure were measured from the right arm in a sitting position (HEM-705IT, Omron Healthcare, Kyoto, Japan). Mean arterial pressure (MAP) was subsequently calculated. Then, the participants performed the first cognitive task. After the cognitive task, the participants performed either aerobic or resistance exercise for 30 min. The order of exercise type was randomly counterbalanced. Immediately after the exercise, venous and capillary blood samples were collected, and blood pressure was measured. Then, the participants performed the second cognitive task.

Several studies have compared the effects of aerobic and resistance exercise on cognitive performance using a randomized crossover design (Pontifex et al., 2009; Alves et al., 2012; Harveson et al., 2016; Dunsky et al., 2017). However, exercise intensity is one of the key factors that determine the exercisecognition interaction (Chang et al., 2012) and these previous studies did not attempt to match heart rate (HR) between the aerobic and resistance exercise. This is most likely attributed to the challenges associated with matching HR during both aerobic and resistance exercise. Thus, following extensive pilot tests, we attempted to match ratings of perceived exertion (RPE) (6-20 Borg scale) (Borg, 1975) between aerobic and resistance exercise. In the aerobic exercise condition, the intensity was set at 40%  $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ . Mean HR corresponded to 58.7  $\pm$  6.0% agepredicted maximal HR in the aerobic condition and  $52.7 \pm 7.5\%$ in the resistance condition. Thus, exercise intensity of the aerobic exercise was considered light according to the ACSM guidelines (Riebe et al., 2018). In the resistance condition, the participants performed resistance exercise using elastic bands (Spoband 55, YKC, Tokyo, Japan). We used elastic bands for the resistance exercise as they are low-cost, portable, have a low risk of injury, and are easily accessible. The findings may be practically useful for exercise prescription at home, or in other settings. The validity of intervention was confirmed by a previous study (Roh et al., 2020). The resistance exercise program was designed to use all major muscle groups (Hofmann et al., 2016). The resistance of the band was 10.3 kg when the length of the band was doubled. The participants performed an exercise program incorporating 42 difference exercises (see Supplementary Table 1). This program targeted the following muscle groups: shoulder, chest, back, arms, abdomen, hip, and legs, and included three types of muscle contractions (concentric, eccentric, and isometric) and both multi- and single joint movements. After brief instruction for each program, and participants completed 10 reps of each exercise. The duration of the exercise program was 30 min.

## Measurement

Heart rate was recorded continuously using a heart rate monitor (RS800CX; Polar Electro Oy, Kempele, Finland). RPE was recorded before and immediately after exercise. Blood glucose concentration was measured by glucose oxidase method using blood glucose monitor (Glutest Ace, Sanwa Kagaku, Nagoya, Japan). Blood lactate concentration was determined by the lactate oxidase method, using an automated analyzer

Acute Exercise and Cognition

(Lactate Pro, Arkray, Kyoto, Japan). Blood sample volume was  $\sim$ 15 ml for each measurement, and both plasma and serum samples were collected. Plasma samples were obtained from heparinized blood samples by centrifugation at 3,000 rpm for 15 min and stored at -80°C until analysis. Plasma adrenaline and noradrenaline concentrations were determined using a high-performance liquid chromatography system (Shimadzu, Kyoto, Japan). Serum samples were obtained from the venous blood by centrifugation at 3,000 rpm for 15 min and stored at -80°C until analysis. Serum cortisol was measured by commercial radioimmunoassay kit (Immunotech, Marseille, France). Serum IGF-1 concentration was determined using an immunoradiometric assay (IGF-1 IRMA Daiichi, TFB, Tokyo, Japan) and a Wallac 1460 Gamma Counter (Wallac, Turku, Finland). Serum BDNF concentration was measured using the Quantikine Human BDNF Immunoassay (R&D systems, Minneapolis, United States). Due to collection issues resulting in too small sample volumes, the concentration changes of BDNF from two participants (one in the aerobic condition and one in the resistance condition) could not be determined. Adrenaline, noradrenaline, cortisol, IGF-1, and BDNF concentrations were measured at the SRL Clinical Laboratory (Tokyo, Japan). All samples were analyzed in duplicate. Intra- and inter-assay coefficients of variance were 2.8 and 2.6% for adrenaline, 1.0 and 1.4% for noradrenaline, 1.7 and 1.6% for cortisol, and 3.5 and 3.0% for IGF-1.

#### **Data and Statistical Analysis**

The distribution of data was assessed using descriptive methods (skewness, outliers, and distribution plots) and inferential statistics (Shapiro-Wilk test). We performed a two-way repeatedmeasures ANOVA [Exercise Type (aerobic, resistance) × Time (pre, post)] for all variables, followed by Bonferroni-corrected paired t-tests for normally distributed data or the Wilcoxon signed rank test for non-normally distributed data. All the RT values were plausible, and within the expected ranges, based on our previous studies (Ando et al., 2013; Komiyama et al., 2015). Effect sizes are presented as partial eta-squared  $(\eta_p^2)$ in the main effects and interactions. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) version 25.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States). We also performed repeated measures correlation analysis (Bakdash and Marusich, 2017; Marusich and Bakdash, 2021) between executive performance (both RT and Accuracy) and peripheral biomarkers. Raincloud plots were created using the JASP version 0.16 (JASP team, Amsterdam, Netherlands). Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD or median (interquartile range). The significance level was set at p < 0.05.

## RESULTS

**Figure 1** illustrates RT and accuracy of the Go/No-Go task. A significant main effect of Time was observed in RT  $[F_{(1,18)} = 5.02, p = 0.038, \eta_p^2 = 0.22]$ ; however, no effect of Exercise Type  $[F_{(1,18)} = 0.07, p = 0.792, \eta_p^2 = 0.004]$ , or interaction  $[F_{(1,18)} = 0.06, p = 0.812, \eta_p^2 = 0.003]$  was

observed. There were no significant main effects of Exercise Type  $[F_{(1,18)} = 0.41, p = 0.530, \eta_p^2 = 0.02]$  and Time  $[F_{(1,18)} = 0.01, p = 0.939, \eta_p^2 = 0.000]$  on the accuracy of the Go/No-Go task. However, there was a trend toward a significant interaction effect  $[F_{(1,18)} = 4.41, p = 0.050, \eta_p^2 = 0.20]$ .

Table 1 summarizes HR, RPE, MAP, and peripheral biomarkers. For HR, we found a significant interaction between Exercise Type and Time, and HR was significantly greater during aerobic exercise than that during resistance exercise (p = 0.004). RPE increased after aerobic and resistance exercise. Both adrenaline and noradrenaline increased after both aerobic and resistance exercise, but there were no differences between the modalities (all p > 0.05). Glucose significantly decreased after aerobic and resistance exercise (main effect of Time, p = 0.001). Although lactate increased after both aerobic (p = 0.045) and resistance (p < 0.001) exercise, it was higher after resistance exercise (p < 0.001). Cortisol decreased after aerobic and resistance exercise (main effect of Time, p = 0.002). IGF-1 was elevated following resistance exercise (p = 0.003), but not after the aerobic exercise (p = 0.36). There was a trend for BDNF to be higher after exercise (main effect of Time, p = 0.06).

**Table 2** displays the results of repeated measures correlation analysis. Reduction in RT was not associated with changes in any of the circulating biomarkers (all p > 0.05). Conversely, accuracy was associated with changes in adrenaline [ $r_{rm}(18) = -0.51$ , p = 0.023], noradrenaline [ $r_{rm}(18) = -0.66$ , p = 0.002], lactate [ $r_{rm}(18) = -0.47$ , p = 0.035], and BDNF [ $r_{rm}(17) = -0.47$ , p = 0.044] in the resistance (**Figure 2**), but not aerobic (all p > 0.05), condition.

## DISCUSSION

The major findings of this study were: (1) executive performance improved (i.e., reduced RT) after acute RPE-matched aerobic and resistance exercise, while accuracy of the executive task tended to be impaired after resistance exercise; (2) acute physical exercise resulted in alterations in peripheral biomarkers; (3) reduced RT was not correlated with alterations in peripheral biomarkers; and (4) accuracy was associated with increases in peripheral adrenaline, noradrenaline, lactate, and BDNF after resistance, but not aerobic, exercise.

Previous studies using electroencephalogram suggest increases in arousal following both aerobic (Kamijo et al., 2004) and resistance (Tsai et al., 2014) exercise. Acute physical exercise has also been implicated in altering brain circuits involving neurotransmitters (Pontifex et al., 2019; McMorris, 2021). This suggests that executive improvement after acute physical exercise may be related to increased central neurochemical activity. We observed reduced RTs and increases in adrenaline and noradrenaline after both aerobic and resistance exercise. As the increases in both adrenaline and noradrenaline were comparable after aerobic and resistance exercise, it is plausible that the activation of the sympathoadrenomedullary system was also relatively similar following the two types of exercise. Nevertheless, alterations in RTs were not correlated with alterations in peripheral adrenaline and noradrenaline. The



catecholamine hypothesis describing the exercise-cognition interaction is intriguing (Cooper, 1973). However, the specific mechanism(s) by which acute physical exercise improves executive performance warrant further investigation. We observed a tendency for accuracy to be decreased after resistance exercise (p = 0.054). Furthermore, lower accuracy was associated with a greater increase in peripheral adrenaline and noradrenaline after resistance exercise. Although we did not assess adrenaline and noradrenaline level directly in the brain, excess noradrenaline appears to impair prefrontal cortex function including cognitive function in the brain (Arnsten, 2011). Therefore, the present findings may suggest that greater sympathoexcitation has the potential to be associated with accuracy in a Go/No-Go task.

Executive performance improves during exercise after skipping breakfast (Komiyama et al., 2016), which suggests that energy substrates may compensate for reduced availability of blood glucose. It is possible that lactate is used by the brain (Quistorff et al., 2008), and increases in blood lactate concentration appear to provide energy that contributes to improvements in attentional and executive performance after high intensity exercise (Tsukamoto et al., 2016; Hashimoto et al., 2018; Herold et al., 2022). Conversely, Coco et al. (2009, 2020) have shown that increase in blood lactate concentration have adverse effects on attentional and executive performances. We observed no associations between reduction in RT and alterations in lactate or glucose. The findings are inconsistent with others (Tsukamoto et al., 2016; Hashimoto et al., 2018; Herold et al., 2022). It is likely that these heterogeneous findings are attributable to methodological differences. First, the exercise intensity was higher (high intensity interval exercise: 80-90% and 50-60% of maximal workload) in previous studies (Tsukamoto et al., 2016; Hashimoto et al., 2018), compared to the intensity used in the current study (40%  $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ ). Given that blood lactate substantially increases after high intensity, contribution of blood lactate to cognitive improvement after acute physical exercise may be dependent on the degree of increase in blood lactate. Second, Hashimoto et al. (2018) directly measured brain blood lactate uptake, while blood lactate was measured from the antecubital vein in the present study. This may also explain the lack of a significant correlation between executive improvement and increase in blood lactate.

In the resistance condition, the trend toward impaired accuracy was modestly associated with blood lactate. Blood lactate uptake in the brain becomes significantly elevated when arterial lactate increases, for instance, in response to strenuous physical exercises (Quistorff et al., 2008). In the present study, increases in blood lactate was limited up to around 3 mmol  $L^{-1}$  in most cases. Hence, the amount of blood lactate uptake in

#### TABLE 1 | Heart rate (HR), MAP, and peripheral biomarkers before and after acute aerobic and resistance exercise.

Variable	Aer	obic	Resis	tance	Mai	<i>P</i> -value n effect	Interaction
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Exercise type	Time	
HR, bpm	$70\pm5$	116 ± 12***	67 ± 14	104 ± 14*** ##	$F_{(1,18)} = 7.20,$ p = 0.015, $\eta_p^2 = 0.29$	$F_{(1,18)} = 355.16,$ p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.95$	$F_{(1,18)} = 8.52,$ p = 0.009, $\eta_p^2 = 0.32$
RPE	6 (6–7)	12 (10–13)	6 (6–7)	13 (11–13)	$F_{(1,18)} = 2.77,$ p = 0.114, $\eta_p^2 = 0.13$	$F_{(1,18)} = 345.20,$ p < 0.001, $\eta_{\rho}^2 = 0.95$	$F_{(1,18)} = 3.09,$ p = 0.096, $\eta_p^2 = 0.15$
MAP, mmHg	$88 \pm 4$	$88\pm8$	$88\pm8$	86 ± 8	$F_{(1,18)} = 0.75,$ p = 0.398, $\eta_p^2 = 0.04$	$F_{(1,18)} = 0.67,$ p = 0.423, $\eta_{\rho}^2 = 0.04$	$F_{(1,18)} = 1.27,$ p = 0.275, $\eta_p^2 = 0.07$
Adrenaline, pg/mL	37 ± 14	$69 \pm 23$	27 (18–59)	$59 \pm 28$	$F_{(1,18)} = 1.32,$ p = 0.226, $\eta_p^2 = 0.07$	$F_{(1,18)} = 98.89,$ $\rho < 0.001,$ $\eta_{\rho}^2 = 0.85$	$F_{(1,18)} = 1.88,$ p = 0.187, $\eta_p^2 = 0.10$
Noradrenaline, pg/mL	351 ± 90	$523\pm170$	377 ± 147	548 (437–674)	$F_{(1,18)} = 2.19,$ p = 0.156, $\eta_p^2 = 0.11$	$F_{(1,18)} = 23.31,$ $\rho < 0.001,$ $\eta_{\rho}^2 = 0.56$	$F_{(1,18)} = 0.65,$ p = 0.430, $\eta_p^2 = 0.04$
Glucose, mg/dL	83 ± 6	80 ± 7	84 ± 8	81 ± 7	$F_{(1,18)} = 0.40,$ p = 0.538, $\eta_p^2 = 0.02$	$F_{(1,18)} = 14.70,$ p = 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.45$	$F_{(1,18)} = 0.05,$ $\rho = 0.822,$ $\eta_{\rho}^2 = 0.003$
Lactate, mmol/L	$1.1\pm0.3$	1.2 (1.1–1.4)*	1.1 (1.0–1.2)	2.8 (2.3–3.2)*** ###	$F_{(1,18)} = 48.57,$ p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.73$	$F_{(1,18)} = 102.62,$ p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.85$	$F_{(1,18)} = 36.59,$ p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.67$
Cortisol, µg/mL	$15\pm5$	11 (10–15)	16 ± 5	12 (9–19)	$F_{(1,18)} = 1.18,$ p = 0.292, $\eta_p^2 = 0.06$	$F_{(1,18)} = 13.31,$ p = 0.002, $\eta_p^2 = 0.43$	$F_{(1,18)} = 0.008,$ p = 0.932, $\eta_p^2 = 0.000$
IGF-1 ng/mL	211 ± 56	$209\pm51$	$203 \pm 45$	213 ± 40**	$F_{(1,18)} = 0.10,$ p = 0.752, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$	$F_{(1,18)} = 3.48,$ p = 0.079, $\eta_{\rho}^2 = 0.16$	$F_{(1,18)} = 12.10,$ p = 0.003, $\eta_p^2 = 0.40$
BDNF, pg/mL	27,465 ± 6,281	28,694 ± 7,099	$29,094 \pm 5,695$	29,988 ± 7,488	$F_{(1,16)} = 1.67,$ p = 0.215, $\eta_p^2 = 0.09$	$F_{(1,18)} = 3.98,$ p = 0.063, $\eta_p^2 = 0.20$	$F_{(1,18)} = 0.069,$ p = 0.796, $\eta_p^2 = 0.004$

Values are mean  $\pm$  standard deviation or median (interquartile range).

\*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*p < 0.01, \*p < 0.05 vs. pre. ###p < 0.001, ##p < 0.01 vs. aerobic exercise.

HR, heart rate; RPE, ratings of perceived exertion; MAP, mean arterial pressure; IGF-1, Insulin-like growth hormone factor 1; BDNF, Brain-derived neurotrophic factor.

TABLE 2 | Repeated measures correlation between cognitive performance (reaction time and accuracy) and peripheral biomarkers.

Variable	Aer	obic	Resistance		
	Reaction time	Accuracy	Reaction time	Accuracy	
Adrenaline	$r_{rm}(18) = -0.25, p = 0.285$	r <sub>m</sub> (18) = 0.24, p = 0.31	r <sub>m</sub> (18) = −0.36, p = 0.118	$r_{rm}(18) = -0.51, p = 0.023^*$	
Noradrenaline	$r_{rm}(18) = -0.30, p = 0.199$	$r_{rm}(18) = 0.11, p = 0.641$	r <sub>m</sub> (18) = 0.15, p = 0.533	$r_{rm}(18) = -0.66, p = 0.002^{**}$	
Glucose	$r_{rm}(18) = -0.12, p = 0.606$	$r_{rm}(18) = -0.28, p = 0.224$	$r_{rm}(18) = -0.10, p = 0.67$	$r_{rm}(18) = 0.21, p = 0.383$	
Lactate	$r_{rm}(18) = -0.24, p = 0.303$	r <sub>m</sub> (18) = 0.28, p = 0.236	$r_{rm}(18) = -0.18, p = 0.437$	$r_{m}(18) = -0.47, p = 0.035^{*}$	
Cortisol	$r_{rm}(18) = 0.12, p = 0.605$	$r_{rm}(18) = 0.00, p = 0.996$	$r_{rm}(18) = -0.12, p = 0.616$	$r_{rm}(18) = 0.28, p = 0.229$	
IGF-1	$r_{m}(18) = -0.19, p = 0.423$	r <sub>m</sub> (18) = 0.03, p = 0.912	$r_{rm}(18) = -0.07, p = 0.762$	$r_{m}(18) = -0.40, p = 0.081$	
BDNF	$r_{m}(17) = -0.24, p = 0.332$	$r_{m}(17) = 0.33, p = 0.163$	$r_{rm}(17) = -0.01, p = 0.956$	$r_{rm}(17) = -0.47, p = 0.044^*$	

\*\*p < 0.01, \*p < 0.05.

the brain is presumably minimal, and it is less likely that blood lactate directly impaired the accuracy. Our findings suggest that there is a large inter-individual variability in accuracy of a task probing executive functioning after acute resistance exercises (see **Figure 1D**). Furthermore, accuracy seems to be more impaired in individuals who showed more pronounced physiological

alterations (i.e., higher level of peripheral blood lactate) in response to an acute bout of resistance exercises (see also **Figure 2C**). In general, the latter finding fits to the observations of Coca and colleagues who reported that high levels of lactate have detrimental effects on attentional and executive performance (Coco et al., 2009, 2020). However, given the inconclusive results





in the literature, further studies are warranted to investigate whether lactate acts as a possible mediator of exercise-induced changes in executive performance.

The HPA system is sensitive to acute physiological stress including exercise (Gaffey et al., 2016; Williams et al., 2019). In the present study, cortisol decreased after both aerobic and resistance exercise. Hill et al. (2008) reported that low intensity aerobic exercise (i.e., 40% maximal oxygen uptake) decreased circulating cortisol level (Hill et al., 2008). Tsai et al. (2014) also reported decrease in cortisol level after moderate resistance exercise (Tsai et al., 2014). The present results are in line with these observations. We observed no association between executive improvement and in the change in cortisol after acute aerobic or resistance exercise. Tsai et al. (2014) suggested that arousal level might be modulated by alteration in cortisol. However, alterations in cortisol were not associated with alterations in executive performance. These findings suggest cortisol may not be directly associated with executive performance after acute physical exercise.

Consistent with the literature acute resistance, but not aerobic, exercise increased peripheral IGF-1 (Rubin et al., 2005; Rojas Vega et al., 2010; Tsai et al., 2014; Tsai et al., 2018). BDNF also tended to increase after both aerobic and resistance exercise. Although this is not always the case, previous studies have reported that BDNF increases after exercise at higher intensities (Ferris et al., 2007; Winter et al., 2007). Therefore, given the relatively low exercise intensity of the present study, the absence of significant increases in BDNF are perhaps not surprising. We observed no association between executive performance and alterations in IGF-1 and BDNF. Previous studies reported no association between alterations in IGF-1 and executive performance after acute resistance exercise (Tsai et al., 2014, 2018). Similarly, increases in IGF-1 after exhaustive exercise have previously been shown to be unrelated with executive performance (Sudo et al., 2017) and alterations in BDNF were not associated with executive performance and neurophysiological variables after acute physical exercise (Tsai et al., 2016). In contrast,

significant associations were observed between alteration in BDNF and performance in executive and memory tasks after acute physical exercise (Winter et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2014; Skriver et al., 2014). Thus, although alterations in BDNF appears not to be directly associated with improvement in executive performance after acute physical exercise, BDNF may contribute to memory performance. Given that IGF-1 and BDNF are associated with angiogenesis, synaptogenesis, and neurogenesis after long-term exercise (Cotman and Berchtold, 2002; Voss et al., 2011; Nieto-Estevez et al., 2016), it is reasonable to think that alterations in IGF-1 or BDNF may play a minor role in executive performance following acute physical exercise. Nevertheless, further studies are required to clarify the contribution of IGF-1 and BDNF to cognitive performance (e.g., memory performance) after acute physical exercise. In the resistance condition, the trend toward an impairment in accuracy was moderately associated with BDNF. Previous studies indicated that increase in BDNF is dependent on exercise intensity (Ferris et al., 2007; Winter et al., 2007). Thus, like the association between impaired accuracy and blood lactate, accuracy could be more impaired in those individuals showing more pronounced alterations in specific biomarkers in response to a given exercise intensity.

The present study was not without limitation. First, despite attempting to match exercise intensity between the aerobic and resistance exercise, there were significant differences in HR (~12 beats min<sup>-1</sup>). We also found inter-individual differences in HR across both conditions. Second, we observed a trend toward an impairment in accuracy and the association between accuracy and peripheral biomarkers only in the resistance condition. Given that dose-response is important to examine exercisecognition interaction (Herold et al., 2019, 2020), the results may be attributable to these differences in relative exercise intensity. Third, since we did not include a control condition, we cannot rule out the possibility that time-related factors including practice effects and circadian change of peripheral biomarkers. However, the participants were familiarized with the cognitive task and exercise duration was only 30 min. Thus, the effects may be small, if any. Fourth, we estimated sample size based on the primary outcome (i.e., RT). This might lead to low statistical power to detect the association between cognitive performance and peripheral biomarkers. Indeed, we observed no significant correlations between the reductions in RTs and peripheral biomarkers following acute aerobic and resistance exercise. The present results suggest that these peripheral circulating biomarkers are not capable of indicating the level of executive performance after exercise. However, the effects of acute physical exercise on cognitive performance are multifaceted and probably determined by the integration of several physiological factors. Perhaps, some of these peripheral biomarkers may contribute to executive improvement in a synergistic manner. Fifth, we did not take consider the impact of other potential confounding factors including nutritional status, habitual physical activity, and psychological factors (e.g. motivation, concentration, and fatigue). Finally, we collected venous and capillary blood

samples immediately after aerobic and resistance exercise. The timing of the measurement is commonly used in the literature. However, concentrations of peripheral biomarkers appear to change depending on the time elapsed after physical exercises (e.g., Griffin et al., 2011; Gregory et al., 2013; Hashimoto et al., 2018), and the association between executive performance and peripheral biomarkers are likely to be influenced by the timing of measurement (e.g., immediately or 15 min after exercise). This should be considered in future studies.

# CONCLUSION

In conclusion, despite observing a reduction in RT in the Go/No-Go task following both aerobic exercise and resistance exercise, we observed no significant correlations between these reductions and peripheral adrenaline, noradrenaline, glucose, lactate, cortisol, IGF-1, or BDNF. These results suggest that alterations in these peripheral circulating biomarkers do not directly contribute to improved RT after aerobic and resistance exercise. However, greater sympathoexcitation, reflected by greater increase in noradrenaline, may be associated with a tendency for a reduction accuracy after acute resistance exercise.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Fukuoka University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SA and TK contributed to the conception and design of the study and drafted the manuscript. SA, TK, YT, and MS acquired the data and performed the data analysis. JC, YU, and YH edited and revised the manuscript. All authors interpreted the results, read, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

# FUNDING

This study was supported in part by a grant from Descente and Ishimoto Memorial Foundation for Promotion of Sports Science and the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science KAKENHI (Grant Number: 16H03230).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge Hiroaki Tanaka for his support. We are also grateful to Kisou Kubota for providing software to assess cognitive performance, and to Kenji Ando for data acquisition.

## REFERENCES

- Alves, C. R., Gualano, B., Takao, P. P., Avakian, P., Fernandes, R. M., Morine, D., et al. (2012). Effects of acute physical exercise on executive functions: a comparison between aerobic and strength exercise. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 34, 539–549. doi: 10.1123/jsep.34.4.539
- Ando, S., Hatamoto, Y., Sudo, M., Kiyonaga, A., Tanaka, H., and Higaki, Y. (2013). The effects of exercise under hypoxia on cognitive function. *PLoS One* 8:e63630. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0063630
- Ando, S., Komiyama, T., Sudo, M., Higaki, Y., Ishida, K., Costello, J. T., et al. (2020). The interactive effects of acute exercise and hypoxia on cognitive performance: a narrative review. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 30, 384–398. doi: 10.1111/sms.13573
- Arnsten, A. F. (2011). Catecholamine influences on dorsolateral prefrontal cortical networks. *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, e89–e99. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.01.027
- Bakdash, J. Z., and Marusich, L. R. (2017). Repeated Measures Correlation. Front. Psychol. 8:456. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00456
- Borg, G. (ed.) (1975). Simple Rating for Estimation of Perceived Exertion. New York: Pergamon.
- Borror, A. (2017). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor mediates cognitive improvements following acute exercise. *Med. Hypotheses* 106, 1–5. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2017.06.024
- Cassilhas, R. C., Lee, K. S., Fernandes, J., Oliveira, M. G., Tufik, S., Meeusen, R., et al. (2012). Spatial memory is improved by aerobic and resistance exercise through divergent molecular mechanisms. *Neuroscience* 202, 309–317. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuroscience.2011.11.029
- Chang, Y. K., Labban, J. D., Gapin, J. I., and Etnier, J. L. (2012). The effects of acute exercise on cognitive performance: a meta-analysis. *Brain Res.* 1453, 87–101. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.02.068
- Coco, M., Buscemi, A., Guerrera, C. S., Di Corrado, D., Cavallari, P., Zappala, A., et al. (2020). Effects of a Bout of Intense Exercise on Some Executive Functions. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17:898. doi: 10.3390/ijerph1703 0898
- Coco, M., Di Corrado, D., Calogero, R. A., Perciavalle, V., Maci, T., and Perciavalle, V. (2009). Attentional processes and blood lactate levels. *Brain Res.* 1302, 205–211. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2009.09.032
- Cooper, C. J. (1973). Anatomical and physiological mechanisms of arousal, with special reference to the effects of exercise. *Ergonomics* 16, 601–609. doi: 10.1080/ 00140137308924551
- Cornford, E. M., Braun, L. D., Oldendorf, W. H., and Hill, M. A. (1982). Comparison of lipid-mediated blood-brain-barrier penetrability in neonates and adults. *Am. J. Physiol.* 243, C161–C168. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.1982.243.3. C161
- Costello, J. T., Rendell, R. A., Furber, M., Massey, H. C., Tipton, M. J., Young, J. S., et al. (2018). Effects of acute or chronic heat exposure, exercise and dehydration on plasma cortisol, IL-6 and CRP levels in trained males. *Cytokine* 110, 277–283. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2018.01.018
- Cotman, C. W., and Berchtold, N. C. (2002). Exercise: a behavioral intervention to enhance brain health and plasticity. *Trends Neurosci.* 25, 295–301. doi: 10.1016/ s0166-2236(02)02143-4
- Danese, E., Tarperi, C., Salvagno, G. L., Guzzo, A., Sanchis-Gomar, F., Festa, L., et al. (2018). Sympatho-adrenergic activation by endurance exercise: effect on metanephrines spillover and its role in predicting athlete's performance. *Oncotarget* 9, 15650–15657. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24584
- Ding, Q., Vaynman, S., Akhavan, M., Ying, Z., and Gomez-Pinilla, F. (2006). Insulin-like growth factor I interfaces with brain-derived neurotrophic factormediated synaptic plasticity to modulate aspects of exercise-induced cognitive function. *Neuroscience* 140, 823–833. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2006. 02.084
- Dunsky, A., Abu-Rukun, M., Tsuk, S., Dwolatzky, T., Carasso, R., and Netz, Y. (2017). The effects of a resistance vs. an aerobic single session on attention and

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh. 2022.853150/full#supplementary-material

executive functioning in adults. *PLoS One* 12:e0176092. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0176092

- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., and Lang, A. G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behav. Res. Methods* 41, 1149–1160. doi: 10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149
- Ferris, L. T., Williams, J. S., and Shen, C. L. (2007). The effect of acute exercise on serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels and cognitive function. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 39, 728–734. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e31802f04c7
- Gaffey, A. E., Bergeman, C. S., Clark, L. A., and Wirth, M. M. (2016). Aging and the HPA axis: stress and resilience in older adults. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 68, 928–945. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.05.036
- Gold, P. E. (1995). Role of glucose in regulating the brain and cognition. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 61, 987S–995S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/61.4.987S
- Gregory, S. M., Spiering, B. A., Alemany, J. A., Tuckow, A. P., Rarick, K. R., Staab, J. S., et al. (2013). Exercise-induced insulin-like growth factor I system concentrations after training in women. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 45, 420–428. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182750bd4
- Griffin, E. W., Mullally, S., Foley, C., Warmington, S. A., O'mara, S. M., and Kelly, A. M. (2011). Aerobic exercise improves hippocampal function and increases BDNF in the serum of young adult males. *Physiol. Behav.* 104, 934–941. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.06.005
- Harveson, A. T., Hannon, J. C., Brusseau, T. A., Podlog, L., Papadopoulos, C., Durrant, L. H., et al. (2016). Acute Effects of 30 Minutes Resistance and Aerobic Exercise on Cognition in a High School Sample. *Res. Q. Exerc. Sport* 87, 214–220. doi: 10.1080/02701367.2016.1146943
- Hashimoto, T., Tsukamoto, H., Ando, S., and Ogoh, S. (2021). Effect of Exercise on Brain Health: the Potential Role of Lactate as a Myokine. *Metabolites* 11:813. doi: 10.3390/metabol1120813
- Hashimoto, T., Tsukamoto, H., Takenaka, S., Olesen, N. D., Petersen, L. G., Sorensen, H., et al. (2018). Maintained exercise-enhanced brain executive function related to cerebral lactate metabolism in men. *FASEB J.* 32, 1417–1427. doi: 10.1096/fj.201700381RR
- Herold, F., Behrendt, T., Meißner, C., Müller, N., and Schega, L. (2022). The Influence of Acute Sprint Interval Training on Cognitive Performance of Healthy Younger Adults. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 19:613. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph19010613
- Herold, F., Muller, P., Gronwald, T., and Muller, N. G. (2019). Dose-Response Matters! - A Perspective on the Exercise Prescription in Exercise-Cognition Research. Front. Psychol. 10:2338. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02338
- Herold, F., Torpel, A., Hamacher, D., Budde, H., and Gronwald, T. (2020). A Discussion on Different Approaches for Prescribing Physical Interventions -Four Roads Lead to Rome, but Which One Should We Choose? J. Pers. Med. 10:55. doi: 10.3390/jpm10030055
- Hill, E. E., Zack, E., Battaglini, C., Viru, M., Viru, A., and Hackney, A. C. (2008). Exercise and circulating cortisol levels: the intensity threshold effect. *J. Endocrinol. Invest.* 31, 587–591. doi: 10.1007/BF03345606
- Hofmann, M., Schober-Halper, B., Oesen, S., Franzke, B., Tschan, H., Bachl, N., et al. (2016). Effects of elastic band resistance training and nutritional supplementation on muscle quality and circulating muscle growth and degradation factors of institutionalized elderly women: the Vienna Active Ageing Study (VAAS). *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 116, 885–897. doi: 10.1007/s00421-016-3344-8
- Huang, T., Larsen, K. T., Ried-Larsen, M., Moller, N. C., and Andersen, L. B. (2014). The effects of physical activity and exercise on brain-derived neurotrophic factor in healthy humans: a review. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 24, 1–10. doi: 10.1111/sms.12069
- Hwang, J., Brothers, R. M., Castelli, D. M., Glowacki, E. M., Chen, Y. T., Salinas, M. M., et al. (2016). Acute high-intensity exercise-induced cognitive enhancement and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in young, healthy adults. *Neurosci. Lett.* 630, 247–253. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.07.033

- Ivy, J. L., Withers, R. T., Van Handel, P. J., Elger, D. H., and Costill, D. L. (1980). Muscle respiratory capacity and fiber type as determinants of the lactate threshold. J. Appl. Physiol. Respir. Environ. Exerc. Physiol. 48, 523–527. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1980.48.3.523
- Kamijo, K., Nishihira, Y., Hatta, A., Kaneda, T., Kida, T., Higashiura, T., et al. (2004). Changes in arousal level by differential exercise intensity. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 115, 2693–2698. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2004.06.016
- Komiyama, T., Sudo, M., Higaki, Y., Kiyonaga, A., Tanaka, H., and Ando, S. (2015). Does moderate hypoxia alter working memory and executive function during prolonged exercise? *Physiol. Behav.* 139, 290–296. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2014. 11.057
- Komiyama, T., Sudo, M., Okuda, N., Yasuno, T., Kiyonaga, A., Tanaka, H., et al. (2016). Cognitive function at rest and during exercise following breakfast omission. *Physiol. Behav.* 157, 178–184. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.02.013
- Lee, J. K., Koh, A. C., Koh, S. X., Liu, G. J., Nio, A. Q., and Fan, P. W. (2014). Neck cooling and cognitive performance following exercise-induced hyperthermia. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 114, 375–384. doi: 10.1007/s00421-013-2774-9
- Marston, K. J., Newton, M. J., Brown, B. M., Rainey-Smith, S. R., Bird, S., Martins, R. N., et al. (2017). Intense resistance exercise increases peripheral brain-derived neurotrophic factor. J. Sci. Med. Sport 20, 899–903. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2017. 03.015
- Marusich, L. R., and Bakdash, J. Z. (2021). rmcorrShiny: a web and standalone application for repeated measures correlation. *F1000Res*. 10:697. doi: 10.12688/ f1000research.55027.2
- McGaugh, J. L., Cahill, L., and Roozendaal, B. (1996). Involvement of the amygdala in memory storage: interaction with other brain systems. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 93, 13508–13514. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.24.13508
- McMorris, T. (2016). "Beyond the catecholamine hypothesis for an acute exercisecognition interaction: a neurochemical perspective" in *Exercise-Cognition Interaction: neuroscience Perspective.* ed. T. Mcmorris (London: Elsevier).
- McMorris, T. (2021). The acute exercise-cognition interaction: from the catecholamines hypothesis to an interoception model. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 170, 75–88. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2021.10.005
- McMurray, R. G., Forsythe, W. A., Mar, M. H., and Hardy, C. J. (1987). Exercise intensity-related responses of beta-endorphin and catecholamines. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 19, 570–574.
- Nieto-Estevez, V., Defterali, C., and Vicario-Abejon, C. (2016). IGF-I: a Key Growth Factor that Regulates Neurogenesis and Synaptogenesis from Embryonic to Adult Stages of the Brain. *Front. Neurosci.* 10:52. doi: 10.3389/ fnins.2016.00052
- Oldfield, R. C. (1971). The assessment and analysis of handedness: the Edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia* 9, 97–113. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(71)90067-4
- Pan, W., Banks, W. A., Fasold, M. B., Bluth, J., and Kastin, A. J. (1998). Transport of brain-derived neurotrophic factor across the blood-brain barrier. *Neuropharmacology* 37, 1553–1561. doi: 10.1016/s0028-3908(98)00141-5
- Piepmeier, A. T., and Etnier, J. L. (2015). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) as a potential mechanism of the effects of acute exercise on cognitive performance. *J. Sport Health Sci.* 4, 14–23.
- Pontifex, M. B., Hillman, C. H., Fernhall, B., Thompson, K. M., and Valentini, T. A. (2009). The effect of acute aerobic and resistance exercise on working memory. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 41, 927–934. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181907d69
- Pontifex, M. B., Mcgowan, A. L., Chandler, M. C., Gwizdala, K. L., Parks, A. C., Fenn, K., et al. (2019). A primer on investigating the after effects of acute bouts of physical activity on cognition. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 40, 1–22.
- Quistorff, B., Secher, N. H., and Van Lieshout, J. J. (2008). Lactate fuels the human brain during exercise. *FASEB J.* 22, 3443–3449. doi: 10.1096/fj.08-106104
- Riebe, D., Ehrman, J. K., Liguori, G., and Magal, M., American College of Sports Medicine (2018). ACSM's Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Prescription. 10th Edn. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer.
- Roh, H. T., Cho, S. Y., and So, W. Y. (2020). A Cross-Sectional Study Evaluating the Effects of Resistance Exercise on Inflammation and Neurotrophic Factors in Elderly Women with Obesity. J. Clin. Med. 9:842. doi: 10.3390/jcm9030842
- Rojas Vega, S., Knicker, A., Hollmann, W., Bloch, W., and Struder, H. K. (2010). Effect of resistance exercise on serum levels of growth factors in humans. *Horm. Metab. Res.* 42, 982–986. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1267950
- Rubin, M. R., Kraemer, W. J., Maresh, C. M., Volek, J. S., Ratamess, N. A., Vanheest, J. L., et al. (2005). High-affinity growth hormone binding protein and acute

heavy resistance exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 37, 395–403. doi: 10.1249/01. mss.0000155402.93987.c0

- Skriver, K., Roig, M., Lundbye-Jensen, J., Pingel, J., Helge, J. W., Kiens, B., et al. (2014). Acute exercise improves motor memory: exploring potential biomarkers. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 116, 46–58. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2014.08. 004
- Soga, K., Masaki, H., Gerber, M., and Ludyga, S. (2018). Acute and Long-term Effects of Resistance Training on Executive Function. J. Cogn. Enhanc. 2, 200–207. doi: 10.1007/s41465-018-0079-y
- Sudo, M., Komiyama, T., Aoyagi, R., Nagamatsu, T., Higaki, Y., and Ando, S. (2017). Executive function after exhaustive exercise. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 117, 2029–2038. doi: 10.1007/s00421-017-3692-z
- Tsai, C. L., Pan, C. Y., Chen, F. C., Wang, C. H., and Chou, F. Y. (2016). Effects of acute aerobic exercise on a task-switching protocol and brain-derived neurotrophic factor concentrations in young adults with different levels of cardiorespiratory fitness. *Exp. Physiol.* 101, 836–850. doi: 10.1113/EP085682
- Tsai, C. L., Ukropec, J., Ukropecva, B., and Pai, M. C. (2018). An acute bout of aerobic or strength exercise specifically modifies circulating exerkine levels and neurocognitive functions in elderly individuals with mild cognitive impairment. *Neuroimage Clin.* 17, 272–284. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2017.10.028
- Tsai, C. L., Wang, C. H., Pan, C. Y., Chen, F. C., Huang, T. H., and Chou, F. Y. (2014). Executive function and endocrinological responses to acute resistance exercise. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 8:262. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00262
- Tsukamoto, H., Suga, T., Takenaka, S., Tanaka, D., Takeuchi, T., Hamaoka, T., et al. (2016). Repeated high-intensity interval exercise shortens the positive effect on executive function during post-exercise recovery in healthy young males. *Physiol. Behav.* 160, 26–34. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.03.029
- Voss, M. W., Nagamatsu, L. S., Liu-Ambrose, T., and Kramer, A. F. (2011). Exercise, brain, and cognition across the life span. J. Appl. Physiol. 111, 1505–1513. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00210.2011
- Warburton, D. E., Gledhill, N., Jamnik, V. K., Bredin, S. S., Mckenzie, D. C., Stone, J., et al. (2011). Evidence-based risk assessment and recommendations for physical activity clearance: consensus Document 2011. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 36, S266–S298. doi: 10.1139/h11-062
- Wilke, J., Giesche, F., Klier, K., Vogt, L., Herrmann, E., and Banzer, W. (2019). Acute Effects of Resistance Exercise on Cognitive Function in Healthy Adults: a Systematic Review with Multilevel Meta-Analysis. *Sports Med.* 49, 905–916. doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01085-x
- Williams, T. B., Corbett, J., McMorris, T., Young, J. S., Dicks, M., Ando, S., et al. (2019). Cognitive performance is associated with cerebral oxygenation and peripheral oxygen saturation, but not plasma catecholamines, during graded normobaric hypoxia. *Exp. Physiol.* 104, 1384–1397. doi: 10.1113/EP087647
- Winter, B., Breitenstein, C., Mooren, F. C., Voelker, K., Fobker, M., Lechtermann, A., et al. (2007). High impact running improves learning. *Neurobiol. Learn. Mem.* 87, 597–609. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2006.11.003
- Yasuda, T., Fukumura, K., Fukuda, T., Iida, H., Imuta, H., Sato, Y., et al. (2014). Effects of low-intensity, elastic band resistance exercise combined with blood flow restriction on muscle activation. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 24, 55–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2012.01489.x

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Ando, Komiyama, Tanoue, Sudo, Costello, Uehara and Higaki. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# **COVID-19 Quarantine Impact on Wellbeing and Cognitive Functioning During a 10-Week High-Intensity Functional Training Program in Young University Students**

Juan Arturo Ballester-Ferrer, Laura Carbonell-Hernández, Diego Pastor\* and Eduardo Cervelló

Sports Research Centre, Department of Sport Sciences, Miguel Hernández University of Elche, Elche, Spain

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Toru Ishihara, Kobe University, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Fabian Herold, German Center for Neurodegeneratives, Helmholtz Association of German Research Centers (HZ), Germany Francisco Javier Santos-Rosa, Universidad Pablo de Olavide, Spain

> \*Correspondence: Diego Pastor dpastor@umh.es

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Regulation and Processing, a section of the journal Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

> Received: 25 November 2021 Accepted: 10 March 2022 Published: 08 April 2022

#### Citation:

Ballester-Ferrer JA, Carbonell-Hernández L, Pastor D and Cervelló E (2022) COVID-19 Quarantine Impact on Wellbeing and Cognitive Functioning During a 10-Week High-Intensity Functional Training Program in Young University Students. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 16:822199. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2022.822199 Physical exercise can improve cognitive functioning and wellbeing; however, the degree of change in either of these two variables seems to be related to the exercise intensity or type. Therefore, new physical training (PT) programs have been developed to increase exercise efficiency. One such example is high-intensity functional training (HIFT), which has proven to be a time-efficient and highly effective strategy to improve physical fitness. This study analyzed whether HIFT can affect reaction time (RT) and vitality, as well as positive and negative affect. Forty-two college students participated in the study, 21 in the experimental group and 21 in the control group. The experimental group completed 10 weeks of training, five of which were supervised, and the remainder consisted of online training during the COVID-19 quarantine. Participants were evaluated at the beginning, at the end of the 5 weeks of supervised training, and after the 5 weeks of online training. HIFT improved RT without changes in psychological wellbeing during the entire period of training supervised and online. Therefore, during the HIFT program, the quarantine situation did not adversely affect this population's wellbeing, but it did negatively affect adherence to the training program.

#### Keywords: reaction-time, exercise, COVID-19, wellbeing, HIFT, quarantine

# INTRODUCTION

It is well-known that acute and chronic physical exercise (PE) affects physical and physiological functions and influences aspects related to cognitive functioning. According to Herold et al. (2019), it is crucial to distinguish between physical activity (PA), acute and chronic PE, and physical training (PT). All muscle activity that increases energy expenditure is PA (Herold et al., 2019). PE is a specific, planned and structured PA. PE may include a single bout (acute PE) or repeated bouts over a short-term or long-term period (chronic PE). Finally, when chronic PE is purposed to increase (or maintain) one or multiple dimensions of fitness, this is known as PT (Herold et al., 2019).

Regarding exercise and cognitive functioning, PA and fitness have been linked to the academic performance of young students (Marques et al., 2018), inhibitory function in young and old

subjects (Peruyero et al., 2017; Carbonell-Hernández et al., 2019; Pastor et al., 2019), memory (Erickson et al., 2011; Jeon and Ha, 2017), wellbeing (Cervelló et al., 2014), depression (McMahon et al., 2017), and other cognitive outputs. However, it is not well-known how different variables of the exercise session (e.g., exercise intensity, exercise duration, exercise type) can modulate it. The literature on exercise and cognition has traditionally dealt with non-modifiable parameters like sex or genotype. Less research is available on the modifiable parameters, like the individual dose-response relationship (Herold et al., 2019).

Regarding the dose-response relationship of exercise to improve cognitive functioning and wellbeing, it is clear that exercise intensity does matter. According to wellbeing, lowintensity but not high-intensity aerobic exercise seems more effective in producing acute changes in wellbeing in adolescents (Pastor et al., 2019). However, high-intensity chronic exercise in university students is more efficient in reducing stress and improving wellbeing (Leuchter et al., 2022).

Regarding cognitive functioning, high-intensity aerobic exercise seems to produce greater improvements in other age groups and different cognitive domains like choice reaction time (RT) (Chang et al., 2012). Furthermore, in favor of highintensity acute exercise, it has been shown that high intensity can produce greater increases in neurotrophins like brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Saucedo Marquez et al., 2015). BDNF promotes neurogenesis, synaptic plasticity, dendritic and axonal growth, and cell survival (Walsh et al., 2020). The BDNF increase with exercise intensity may be related to lactate release (Ferris et al., 2007). It is well-known that high-intensity exercise performance produces a considerable release of lactate (Ferguson et al., 2018), and high-intensity functional training (HIFT) implies high-intensity exercise. Moreover, lactate release is also related to cerebral blood flow and improves neurogenesis, neuroprotection, neuronal plasticity, and memory (Hashimoto et al., 2021).

Moreover, resistance training can also improve cognitive functioning (Landrigan et al., 2020); single bouts of resistance exercise showed more significant improvements when higher loads were used (Chang and Etnier, 2009). However, the optimal exercise and training characteristics to effectively enhance cognitive functioning with chronic PE programs are relatively unknown (Soga et al., 2018). So, it seems that a single bout of both high-intensity aerobic or resistance exercise can acutely improve RT. However, we do not know if high-intensity exercise would also be effective when applied in chronic PE programs. It is possible that continuous exposure to lactate, in turn, could induce the release of BDNF to produce such an effect (Hashimoto et al., 2021).

Regarding changes in cognitive functioning, PT and acute PE have been shown to improve attention processes, information processing speed, and executive control (Colcombe and Kramer, 2003; Tsai et al., 2014; Pontifex et al., 2015). Among the various tools generally used to determine the impact of PE on the above-mentioned cognitive variables, RT has been used in the literature to evaluate cognitive and motor functions, as it involves both central and peripheral components (Ozyemisci-Taskiran et al., 2008). RT is understood as the time a person

needs to initiate a movement (Magill, 2010). There are different types of RT. On the one hand, simple RT occurs when only one possible stimulus requires a single type of response (Posner and McLeod, 1982), whereas in more complex choice RT, there are different possibilities to choose from during the experiment, as it involves the appearance of different stimuli that require different responses (Neubauer, 1990). More specifically, RT measures processing speed (Mulder and van Maanen, 2013), and this variable reflects a person's cognitive functioning (Deary et al., 2010). At the morphological level, processing speed may be an indirect measure of white brain substance, as changes in this substance are associated with changes in processing speed (Gunning-Dixon et al., 2009). At the behavioral level, it has recently been shown that medical students with better academic performance had lower RT (Prabhavathi et al., 2017). Not only that, in middleaged and older people, lower performance in RT tasks can be a predictor of heart disease and stroke mortality (Shimizu et al., 2018).

Like in cognition, PA can improve wellbeing in young students (McMahon et al., 2017). Nowadays, wellbeing is a European priority (Miret et al., 2015), but there is no clear consensus about its definition or operationalization (Korhonen et al., 2014). Positive or negative indicators such as self-esteem, quality of life, positive and negative affect or vitality are usually used (Pastor et al., 2019). Some authors consider two perspectives for studying wellbeing: the hedonic perspective, which considers wellbeing as the presence of positive affect and the absence of negative affect; and the eudaimonic perspective, which associates wellbeing with the possibility of performing or expressing the most valuable human potentials, related to optimal psychological functioning (Ryan et al., 2013). Moreover, in both young and older individuals, it has been seen that cognitive performance changes could be affected by aspects such as mood and social relations (Lieberman et al., 2014). In addition, cardiorespiratory fitness (CRF) is related to vitality in young people (Eddolls et al., 2018), and vitality should correlate with positive and negative affect (Cervelló et al., 2014). Thus, the improvement of CRF with exercise training could improve wellbeing.

Consequently, it would be interesting to determine how PE can affect wellbeing and processing speed. At the acute level, improvements have been reported in complex RTs after submaximum exercise in university students (Audiffren et al., 2008; Ashnagar et al., 2015) and in adolescents' wellbeing (Pastor et al., 2019). On the other hand, some studies have observed a relationship between fitness and RT in young students (Luque-Casado et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2015; Maghsoudipour et al., 2018), although others did not find this association (Moradi et al., 2019). At the chronic level, the effects of the exercise intensity, duration, and frequency to produce long-term effects on processing speed and wellbeing in this population are not well-established.

Regarding exercise programs, the need to investigate new training methods to improve several fitness components simultaneously and efficiently, without high volumes of training and favoring adherence, has been indicated previously (Heinrich et al., 2014). In this sense, HIFT has recently emerged. HIFT is

defined as a training style that incorporates various functional movements performed at high exercise intensity and is designed to improve general physical fitness and performance parameters (Feito et al., 2018). Unlike HIIT, this type of training combines aerobic activities with exercises to improve muscle strength (Feito et al., 2018). Among its benefits are improved body composition, power, muscle strength, and aerobic capacity, the same as or even more so than when performing continuous workouts or HIIT (Feito et al., 2018). However, the term "functional" may not be correct in this training style (Ide et al., 2021), as HIFT can be more clearly described as combined or concurrent training. Therefore, like a high-intensity aerobic and resistance-training regime, it seems a powerful candidate to improve RT and wellbeing in young people. Moreover, high-intensity exercise can release high amounts of lactate, a molecule positively related to cognitive function (Hashimoto et al., 2021).

Therefore, this study's main objective was to determine whether a supervised HIFT group program of 10 weeks could improve processing speed and wellbeing. However, as a consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, a national lockdown was announced in the middle of the program (week five), and supervised training had to be terminated. Thus, online training was implemented for the next 5 weeks.

The COVID-19 pandemic impacted the economy and society in many aspects, disturbing lifestyle and health behaviors (Dragun et al., 2021). The lockdown deteriorated daily activities, especially physical activities (Dragun et al., 2021). In addition, as a consequence of the quarantine, there was a negative impact on the population's wellbeing (Brooks et al., 2020), with higher levels of anxiety and depression (Burke et al., 2020).

The study's second objective arose as a consequence of the COVID-19 quarantine. We aimed to determine whether the "stay-at-home" orders and the need to continue training at home individually, adapting it to the new situation, would impact cognitive functioning and wellbeing in the participants.

Thus, we hypothesized that the 5-week HIFT supervised training phase would improve participants' RT and psychological wellbeing and give rise to high adherence rates. Conversely, the phase carried out during the 5 weeks of strict quarantine due to COVID-19 was expected to decrease wellbeing compared to the in-person, supervised program, coupled with lower adherence and a reduction in RT improvement.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Participants**

The sample consisted of 42 college students, 21 in the experimental group (14 males and 7 females) and 21 in the control group (9 males and 12 females). All the participants were adults over 18 years old, and all of them claimed to be sedentary (one or fewer days of PE a week) during at least the last 6 months. In addition, all participants completed an initial questionnaire to ensure they met the requirements to be part of the study, such as not having recently suffered injuries and not being involved in any other training program. Their sociodemographic characteristics are summarized in **Table 1**.

**TABLE 1** Anthropometric and fitness characteristics of the participants (N = 42).

Characteristics	Experimental (n = 21)	Control (n = 21)
Age (years)	19.71 ± 1.71	$21.52 \pm 2.74$
Weight (kg)	$69.17 \pm 8.04$	$66.57 \pm 13.57$
Height (m)	$1.72 \pm 0.09$	$1.69\pm0.08$
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$23.20\pm2.25$	$23.20\pm3.73$
$VO_2 \text{ max} (\text{ml kg}^{-1}\text{min}^{-1})$	$43.50 \pm 5.42$	
MAS (km/h)	$14.20 \pm 1.75$	$15.47\pm2.91$
HR max (beats min <sup>-1</sup> )	$200.90\pm7.99$	$193.60 \pm 8.16$

All values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD. BMI, body mass index; VO<sub>2</sub> max, maximum oxygen consumption; HR max, maximum heart rate; MAS, maximal aerobic speed.

#### Measurements

#### Cardiorespiratory Function: Stress Test

Participants of the experimental group performed a maximum incremental test on a treadmill with a measure of oxygen consumption (VO<sub>2</sub>) and heart rate (HR) throughout the test to determine the maximum VO<sub>2</sub> (VO<sub>2</sub> max), maximum HR (HR max), and their associated values in the first (VT1) and second ventilatory threshold (VT2). The exchange of respiratory gases was measured using the MasterScreen CPX analyzer (Hoechberg, Germany) breath by breath after being calibrated. The VO<sub>2</sub> max was calculated as the highest 30-s mean of VO<sub>2</sub>. In addition, 15-s means of O<sub>2</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub> were used to determine VT1 and VT2 (Pettitt et al., 2013). Participants were not allowed to drink or speak during the test and were asked to refrain from intense exercise 24 h earlier.

The incremental test protocol consisted of a 3 min warm-up at 5 km/h with a 1% slope. Then, the test was performed on a 1% slope and began at a speed of 6 km/h and increased 1 km/h per minute until fatigue.

The incremental test protocol could not be repeated at the end of the study due to the COVID-19 lockdown, so no data regarding the possible fitness improvements of the participants was obtained.

# Cognitive Functioning

#### **Reaction Time**

A test of increasing difficulty was used to measure the time required to respond to a stimulus. All the participants were requested to complete the test in the afternoon at home. The test was carried on a day with no exercise training session in a quiet place. A digital application with three tests was used in the study (AppAndAbout, 2019). Each test consisted of passing ten trials of different stimuli, and between each trial, there was a random rest period between 1,000 and 1,500 ms. The first test, the Training Test (TrT), was used to train the participants at the beginning of each measure. In the TrT, a green or red luminous stimulus was presented, and the subject had to press a green button only if the stimulus presented was of the same color. In the second test, the Choice Reaction Test (CRT) (ICC = 0.78, SEM = 0.05 s), there were also two luminous signals, red and green, and two buttons, red and green. The subject had to press the button with the matching color corresponding to the luminous signal

presented (e.g., if the light signal was red, they had to press the red button). The third test, the Interference Test (InT) (ICC = 0.80, SEM = 0.05 s), consisted of introducing interference in the decision process of the second test: the participants had to respond in reverse, such that the signal should not coincide with the color of the button (e.g., if the light signal was green, they must press the red button). The third test was the most complex because it added interference. A familiarization protocol was used at the beginning of the study, repeating all tests five times. The familiarization protocols of the first 15 participants were analyzed to calculate the ICC of the tests, with moderate to strong reliability (Wells et al., 2014).

#### Psychological Wellbeing

#### Subjective Vitality

The Subjective Vitality Questionnaire (Ryan and Frederick, 1997) was used to measure the perception of vitality before and after the two phases of the training program, adapted to Spanish by Molina-García et al. (2007). This questionnaire can be considered a measure of psychological wellbeing (Ryan et al., 2013). This instrument comprises seven items that indicate how one feels at present (e.g., I feel alive and vital). The responses are rated on an eight-point Likert-type scale ranging from 0 (*not completely true*) to 7 (*very true*). Cronbach's alpha in the different experimental situations was comprised between 0.88 and 0.95.

#### Affective State

Following each training program phase, participants were asked to complete the *Positive and Negative Affect Schedule* (Mackinnon et al., 1999), which assesses their positive and negative feelings. This questionnaire is considered a hedonic measure of wellbeing. The scale is made up of nine adjectives, which are grouped into two factors in response to the item "Indicate how you feel right now...." Four of its items are associated with *Positive Affect* ("joyful, happy, content, amused") and five with *Negative Affect* ("depressed, worried, frustrated, angry, unhappy"). The responses are rated on an eight-point Likert-type scale ranging from 1 (*not completely*) to 7 (*extremely*). Cronbach's alpha for Positive Affect was between 0.89 and 0.95, and for Negative Affect between 0.83 and 0.92.

#### Adherence to the Training Program

Participation was monitored through a registration sheet in the supervised sessions and a mobile application during the quarantine phase. In addition, each person recorded the session and their perception of effort (RPE: rate of perceived exertion) 30 min after completing the session by the modified RPE-10 scale. A total of 30 sessions was performed, 15 in each of the phases of the program (supervised and online phases). Adherence was considered sufficient if at least 90% of the sessions were completed (Heinrich et al., 2014).

#### Procedure

The physical evaluation was carried out at the beginning of the program, and RT and wellbeing evaluations were conducted before the start of the training program (January–February 2020), after 5 weeks of the supervised group intervention (March 2020), and after 5 weeks of individual training during the quarantine period due to the COVID-19 global pandemic (April 2020). The experimental procedure for this study followed the latest (7th) Helsinki Declaration and was approved by the University Ethics Committee (UMH.CID.DPC.02.17). Study participants gave their informed written consent before participating in the study and were informed of the confidentiality and anonymity of the results obtained.

The participants' experimental allocation was distributed as is shown in the CONSORT flow chart (**Figure 1**). The inclusion criteria were (a) did not participate in any PE program simultaneously, (b) physical inactivity in the last 6 months, and (c) did not suffer injuries in the last 6 months. The participants were randomized using Microsoft Excel software with the "Random" function. There was no allocation concealment.

The sample size was calculated *post-hoc* using G-Power (G\*Power software, ver. 3.1.9.7; Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany).<sup>1</sup> It was calculated for the RT analysis. For an ANOVA-RM 2 × 3, and with 42 participants, it is necessary an effect size of  $\eta_p^2 > 0.04$  to ensure a statistical power  $(1-\beta) > 0.8$  ( $\alpha = 0.05$ , correlation among repetitive measures = 0.45). Results have a positive power with  $\eta_p^2 > 0.04$ .

#### **Training Program**

Two research group members prescribed the supervised training program and carried it out. The sessions were 1 h long, 3 days a week (Monday, Wednesday, and Thursday). The sessions were conducted at university facilities, dividing the participants into two different time schedules to ensure the availability of the material. The training sessions during the quarantine phase were sent to participants *via* a mobile application to be performed at home.

The sessions were divided into four parts: (a) 10 min of a standardized warm-up; (b) a strength-block of about 15 min, occasionally, on a specific movement pattern with load requirements as a function of the manifestations of muscular endurance or hypertrophy depending on the week; (c) HIFT as the primary training block, which ranged from 10 to 30 min; and (d) cool down through mobility exercises and 10 min of static stretches. Repetition methods (completing a series of exercises in the shortest possible time, or maximum repetitions in a scheduled time) or time methods (rest-work ratios similar to the traditional HIIT method) were used in the main HIFT block. This block included cyclic exercises, such as running or jumping rope, and muscle endurance exercises with bodyweight or light loads (e.g., squats, swings, med ball throws, push-ups, pull-ups, jumps, and more) (Feito et al., 2018). The exercise intensity was all-out for all, and the recovery was self-paced, self-selected, and passive (Feito et al., 2018). The training sessions were adapted to the new situation during the quarantine period. Thus, work with loads was prescribed using generic materials that anyone may have at home (bags of rice, bottles of water, milk containers, and other common materials) (Jiménez-Pavón et al., 2020). The days and hours of training were the same during the presential and quarantine periods.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://www.gpower.hhu.de/



#### Monitoring and Quantification of Training

The exercise intensity of the presential training sessions was rated with two different methods, one objective and one subjective: HR and subjective RPE-10 scale of the session. Only RPE was used during the sessions during quarantine.

Heart rate was registered during the sessions with the Polar Team2 Pro System (Polar Electro Oy, Kempele, Finland), which includes 20 coded chest straps, allowing HR registration every second. The recorded HR was used to calculate a load of each session, using Lucia's Training Impulse (TRIMPs) method (Lucía et al., 1999), which uses the HR at the individual ventilatory thresholds obtained in the stress test to establish three training zones: Zone 1 "below VT1," Zone 2 "between VT1 and VT2," and Zone 3 "above VT2." For the calculation of the TRIMP, the time expended in each zone is multiplicated by the zone number (1, 2, or 3).

The modified 10-point scale was used to quantify the internal load through the RPE (Foster et al., 2001). Participants were
asked to determine the exercise intensity of the training 30 min after completing it.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Repeated-measures ANOVA was performed, followed by a *post-hoc* test with Bonferroni adjustment to detect changes between the different time measurements for CRT, InT, positive affect, negative affect, vitality, and attendance. The bilateral significance level was set at p < 0.05. Sphericity was evaluated with Mauchly's sphericity test. The effect sizes are expressed as partial eta-squared ( $\eta_p^2$ ) and are grouped as small ( $\leq 0.01$ ), medium ( $\leq 0.06$ ), and large ( $\leq 0.14$ ) (Cohen, 1992). Paired *t*-test were used to analyze the exercise intensity of the sessions. A Pearson correlation was performed to analyze the relations of the wellbeing questionnaires. The results were analyzed with JASP 0.16 software (Eric-Jan Wagenmakers, Department of the Psychological Methods University of Amsterdam, Nieuwe Achtergracht 129B, Amsterdam, Netherlands).

# RESULTS

Perception of effort was maintained with similar values during the online training sessions and the supervised training sessions (**Figure 2**). Moreover, during the supervised training sessions, the evolution of RPE was similar to LuTRIMP evolution (**Figure 2**). Despite changes in the structure of the sessions between the two phases, no significant differences in the exercise intensity of the sessions were observed through the recording of RPE between the supervised sessions and online sessions or between sessions (**Figure 2**), analyzed with paired *t*-tests (p = 0.39). Therefore, the stabilization of improvements in RT and the decrease in adherence between the two phases of the program were not attributable to load differences in the prescribed sessions, so there may be other underlying factors.

The repeated-measures ANOVA shows the interaction between TIME at the three time points [pretest (PRE), after 5 weeks of supervised training (POST 5), and after 5 weeks of online training (POST 10)] and GROUPs [experimental group (exp), control group (con)].

For the CRT, the TIME x GROUP showed a significant difference with large effect size  $[F_{(1,40)} = 3.602, p = 0.032, \eta_p^2 = 0.085]$ . The *post-hoc* Bonferroni analysis showed an improvement only in the experimental group during the intervention [PRE vs. POST5: M = 46.77, SD = 14.46, t(19) = 3.23, p = 0.027; PRE vs. POST10: M = 59.93, SD = 14.47, t(19) = 4.14, p = 0.001] (**Figure 3**).

For the InT, the TIME x GROUP showed a significant difference with a large effect size  $[F_{(1,40)} = 5.664, p = 0.005, \eta_p^2 = 0.124]$ . Furthermore, the *post-hoc* Bonferroni analysis showed an improvement only in the experimental group during the intervention and only at the end of the 10-week training program [PRE vs. POST10: M = 73.61, SD = 23.028, t(19) = 3.19, p = 0.030] (**Figure 4**).

There were differences in adherence to the sessions between the two periods (supervised vs. online). There was 94% adherence during the supervised period and 71% adherence during the lockdown. An RM ANOVA was done to compare the evolution of the five sessions developed under supervision and online (RM ANOVA 5 × 2, a repeated measure for sessions, and between-subject factor for supervised vs. online training). When we compared the attendance of the participants to the sessions, there was a significant reduction in adherence to the online program [ $F_{(1,58)} = 3.179$ ; p = 0.014;  $\eta_p^2 = 0.052$ ]. The Bonferroni *post-hoc* analysis showed a significant reduction in attendance to session 3 [M = 0.53, SD = 0.16, t(29) = 3.31, p = 0.049], 4 [M = 0.53, SD = 0.16, t(29) = 3.31, p = 0.049] and 5 [M = 0.83, SD = 0.16, t(29) = 5.17, p < 0.001] compared to the first online session (**Figure 5**).

Finally, the effects of training on wellbeing were analyzed, taking into account three variables (positive affect, negative affect, and subjective vitality). The analysis was done for the three temporal moments (PRE, POST 5, POST 10) and the two groups (experimental vs. control group). The repeated-measures ANOVA revealed the absence of significant differences





for the three variables, positive affect  $[F_{(1, 40)} = 2.34, p = 0.11, \eta_p^2 = 0.11]$ , negative affect  $[F_{(1, 40)} = 0.21, p = 0.979, \eta_p^2 = 0.001]$ , and subjective vitality,  $[F_{(1, 40)} = 0.88, p = 0.42, \eta_p^2 = 0.04]$ . Therefore, the results show that neither the supervised nor the online training phase affected wellbeing. Moreover, we saw a strong correlation between the three variables in the population (**Table 2**).

All the analyses were repeated considering the participant's sex, and no differences were found in any variable in the TIME × GROUP × SEX analysis [CRT  $F_{(3,37)} = 0.431$ , p = 0.65,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$ ; InT  $F_{(3,37)} = 0.274$ , p = 0.76,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.007$ ; Positive Affect  $F_{(3,37)} = 1.54$ , p = 0.22,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.04$ ; Negative Affect  $F_{(3,37)} = 1.58$ , p = 0.21,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.04$ ; Vitality  $F_{(3,37)} = 0.783$ , p = 0.46,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.02$ ].

## DISCUSSION

The objective of this study was to determine whether HIFT could improve cognitive functioning, measured as complex RT, and wellbeing, measured as vitality and positive and negative affects, in young college students. Although the participants declared a sedentary lifestyle during the previous 6 months of the study, their VO<sub>2</sub> max were within the normative values provided in the literature (Dwyer et al., 2005). As a result of the COVID-19 lockdown, a second objective, to analyze these



variables and adherence during a quarantine period with online training, was included.

Regarding the participants' processing speed, we observed that 5 weeks of HIFT supervised training improved their RT (CRT and InT). Our findings are in accordance with the literature, providing moderate to strong evidence that exercise being performed at moderate to vigorous exercise intensity can improve processing speed (Erickson et al., 2019).

The different neurophysiological mechanisms that underlie such functional changes might explain the benefits of chronic PE for processing speed. For example, angiogenesis and neurogenesis are structural brain changes mediated by exercise (van Praag et al., 2005). BDNF has been shown to be an essential neurotrophin in this process (Notaras and van den Buuse, 2019). In this sense, a previous study observed that a 3-month HIFT program significantly increased resting BDNF levels in young adults (Murawska-Cialowicz et al., 2015). The chronic changes in the brain must be differentiated from the acute effects. It seems that the benefits of exercise on complex RT may, as an acute response, be mediated by transient phenomena such as the release of catecholamines at the central level (Meeusen and De Meirleir, 1995), which modulate information processing (Robbins and Everitt, 1995).

However, we still do not entirely understand the mechanism related to cognitive improvement (Stillman et al., 2020). In this



way, Stillman et al. (2016) proposed a multilevel system to study the underlying changes in cognitive functioning. Thus, cognitive changes can be produced by (a) molecular and cellular modifications (level 1), (b) structural and functional brain changes (level 2), and (c) behavioral and socioemotional changes (level 3). However, traditionally, the literature has focused on the first two levels, and there is a lack of evidence to understand the relations between behavioral and socioemotional changes with cognitive functioning (Stillman et al., 2016). Therefore, our study aimed to analyze the relationship between cognitive functioning and wellbeing, focusing on level 3 changes. Our hypothesis considered that hedonic and eudemonic variables of wellbeing would improve together with the RT variables.

However, the study results show that neither a 5-week HIFT supervised training program nor the online training during the COVID-19 quarantine affected this variable. Regarding the effect of training on these variables, the data contradict previous reports in the literature where acute, chronic PE and PT have been considered an effective tool to improve the wellbeing of young students (Cervelló et al., 2014; Garcia et al., 2015; Eather et al., 2019). However, some studies have found that high-intensity training did not cause significant changes in the wellbeing of this same population (Costigan et al., 2016). Moreover, data suggests an attenuated impact of the COVID-19 quarantine on the wellbeing variables in young students who presumably would not be burdened with responsibilities to the same degree as TABLE 2 | Correlations between wellbeing variables.

		5		
	Variable	Positive affect	Negative affect	Vitality
Pearson's correl	ations in PRE			
Negative affect	п	42	-	
	Pearson's r	-0.578***	-	
	<i>p</i> -value	< 0.001	-	
Vitality	п	42	42	-
	Pearson's r	0.665***	-0.463**	-
	p-value	<0.001	0.002	-
Pearson's correl	ations at POST 5	;		
Negative affect	п	41	-	
Nogative ander	Pearson's r	-0.531***	-	
	<i>p</i> -value	< 0.001	—	
Vitality	п	41	41	-
	Pearson's r	0.797***	-0.551***	-
	<i>p</i> -value	< 0.001	< 0.001	-
Pearson's correl	ations at POST 1	0		
Negative affect	п	42	_	
	Pearson's r	-0.367*	—	
	<i>p</i> -value	0.017	-	
Vitality	п	42	42	_
	Pearson's r	0.712***	-0.349*	_
	p-value	< 0.001	0.024	-

\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, and \*\*\*p < 0.001.

the adult population and thus experience less emotional distress (Brooks et al., 2020).

It has been shown that changes in cognitive functioning could be influenced by aspects of supervised training linked to mood and social relationships [could be related to level 3, as was proposed by Stillman et al. (2016)], such as (a) creating a structured and collaborative environment that favors positive reinforcement by peers and coaches; (b) a positive perception of social support; (c) achievement of goals; and (d) positive group dynamics (Lieberman et al., 2014). In agreement with these studies, our cognitive functioning improvements were higher during the supervised training than during the online training. However, improvements in processing speed were sustained through online training during the lockdown, unaffected by the reduction in adherence and social interactions. PE was probably sufficient to maintain unaltered mood and wellbeing, and the changes in processing speed could have been mediated by level 1 and 2 mechanisms (Stillman et al., 2016).

Although wellbeing was not modified due to the lockdown, significant differences in adherence were observed between the supervised and online phases. Self-determination theory (SDT) can explain the decrease in adherence (Deci and Ryan, 1985, 2000). SDT describes three psychological needs (autonomy, competence, and relatedness) that must be satisfied to increase the intrinsic motivation for a given activity. In our online training program, some of these needs were not satisfied, such as relatedness (Deci and Ryan, 1985) with peers and coaches, which has a significant impact on adherence to exercise (Kang et al., 2019), or the supervision of qualified professionals (Garber et al., 2011). In addition, recent studies have shown that people who reduced their PA during lockdown experienced decreased wellbeing (Brand et al., 2020; Faulkner et al., 2021). However, in our results, despite the correlation between positive and negative affect with vitality, the latter was not reduced in parallel with

a decrease in adherence. Moreover, CRF is related to vitality in young people (Eddolls et al., 2018), and CRF can be maintained with a lower volume of exercise if the intensity of the activity is conserved (Spiering et al., 2021). Given that there were no changes in the exercise intensity throughout the training program, the reduction in adherence in this study probably did not affect CRF, and hence, vitality was not altered.

Our study demonstrates that HIFT can improve cognitive functioning in young university students and could be successfully applied through online training under lockdown circumstances, maintaining the exercise intensity and improving cognitive functioning. Moreover, as we have demonstrated, it is possible to maintain the subjective exercise intensity (measured by RPE) of the HIFT training in the online approach, with no adverse changes in wellbeing. However, if we want to use this methodology in future lockdowns, it would be interesting to analyze the lockdown training protocols from the SDT perspective, trying to overcome psychological needs deficiencies during the quarantine periods.

Finally, our study did not find any sex differences in the analyses performed. A previous meta-analysis showed discrepancies in sex differences. For example, Barha et al. (2017) found that sex was a strong moderator in the exercise-cognition relationship in their meta-analysis, with more pronounced improvements for women. However, Falck et al. (2019) did not find this relationship in their meta-analysis. In any case, both meta-analyses were done in older people. Some old studies showed that older women participated in lower leisure-time PA than older men (Lee, 2005), or reported lower frequencies of physical activities (Kaplan et al., 2001). In addition, sedentarism has a worse cognitive impact in women than in men (Fagot et al., 2019). Thus, Barha and Liu-Ambrose (2018) proposed that the increase in daily PA could be greater for older women than for older men, and this difference could promote more significant cognitive improvements in women. However, recent studies have shown that, nowadays, older women are less sedentary and do more PA than men (Wennman et al., 2019; Lopez-Valenciano et al., 2020). Suppose PA determines the cognitive functioning improvements after a PT period. In that case, present and future research will find a sex gap with better improvements in older men.

Regarding this study, we do not know any review of sex differences in young university students on the exercise-cognition relationship. Thus, according to the results of our study, sex does not moderate the improvement in processing speed after chronic exercise in young people.

This study investigated whether, in young adults, supervised and unsupervised HIFT can influence wellbeing and cognitive functioning, as empirical evidence regarding the effect of PEs on wellbeing and cognitive functioning is scant in this age group (Stillman et al., 2020). However, we did not find evidence that exercise-related changes in socioemotional parameters are associated with alteration of cognitive functioning, as previously proposed (Stillman et al., 2016). We described our training methodology with HR records and used ventilatory thresholds to control the exercise load. The implications that arise from the findings of our study broaden our knowledge on the influence of HIFT on cognitive functioning and wellbeing in younger adults.

# LIMITATIONS

As a result of lockdown, the main limitation to this study was that it was impossible to carry out post-training fitness tests, so we do not know if the observed changes in cognitive functioning are related to improvements in fitness. Therefore, it would be interesting for future research to look into the implicit mechanisms related to physical fitness that could potentially explain improvements in complex RT. Moreover, the study did not employ allocation concealment, which indicates a possible source of bias.

# CONCLUSION

On the one hand, HIFT training improves processing speed, measured through two complex RT tasks (CRT and InT) in young college students, without mediation by changes in psychological wellbeing. Also, it was observed that a training program during a quarantine period, forced by the global COVID-19 pandemic, promoted the maintenance of RT improvements previously achieved during a supervised training program. On the other hand, it was observed that this situation did not have adverse effects on this population's wellbeing. However, it negatively affected adherence to the online training program, possibly because of the suppression of typical factors linked to training supervision and interactions with peers and coaches.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Miguel Hernández University Ethics Committee (UMH.CID.DPC.02.17). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JB-F, LC-H, DP, and EC contributed to the conception and design of the study. JB-F organized the database. JB-F, LC-H, and DP performed the statistical analysis and wrote the final manuscript. JB-F and LC-H wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by Grant RTI2018-098335-B-I00 funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033/ "ERDF A way of making Europe."

# REFERENCES

- AppAndAbout (2019). Aprenvida App. AppAndAbout. https://play.google.com/ store/apps/details?id=com.appandabout.aprenvidaapp (accessed December 15, 2019).
- Ashnagar, Z., Shadmehr, A., and Jalaei, S. (2015). The effects of acute bout of cycling on auditory & visual reaction times. J. Bodyw. Mov. Ther. 19, 268–272. doi: 10.1016/j.jbmt.2014.05.003
- Audiffren, M., Tomporowski, P. D., and Zagrodnik, J. (2008). Acute aerobic exercise and information processing: energizing motor processes during a choice reaction time task. *Acta. Psychol.* 129, 410–419. doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy. 2008.09.006
- Barha, C. K., Davis, J. C., Falck, R. S., Nagamatsu, L. S., and Liu-Ambrose, T. (2017). Sex differences in exercise efficacy to improve cognition: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials in older humans. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 46:71–85. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2017.04.002
- Barha, C. K., and Liu-Ambrose, T. (2018). Exercise and the aging brain: considerations for sex differences. *Brain Plast.* 4, 53–63. doi: 10.3233/BPL-180067
- Brand, R., Timme, S., and Nosrat, S. (2020). When pandemic hits: exercise frequency and subjective well-being during COVID-19 Pandemic. Front. Psychol. 11:570567. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.570567
- Brooks, S. K., Webster, R. K., Smith, L. E., Woodland, L., Wessely, S., Greenberg, N., et al. (2020). The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. *Lancet* 395, 912–920. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20) 30460-8
- Burke, T., Berry, A., Taylor, L. K., Stafford, O., Murphy, E., Shevlin, M., et al. (2020). Increased psychological distress during COVID-19 and quarantine in Ireland: a national survey. *J. Clin. Med.* 9:3481. doi: 10.3390/jcm911 3481
- Carbonell-Hernández, L., Cervello, E., and Pastor, D. (2019). Two months of combined physical exercise and cognitive training, over cognitive function in older adults: the results of the memtrain project pilot program. *Eur. J. Hum. Mov.* 42, 59–75.
- Cervelló, E., Peruyero, F., Montero, C., González-Cutre, D., Beltrán-Carrillo, V. J., and Moreno-Murcia, J. A. (2014). Exercise, psychological well-being, sleep quality and situational motivation in physical education students. *Cuad. Psicol.* 14, 31–38.
- Chang, Y. K., and Etnier, J. L. (2009). Exploring the dose-response relationship between resistance exercise intensity and cognitive function. J. Sport Exerc. Psychol. 31:640.
- Chang, Y. K., Labban, J. D., Gapin, J. I., and Etnier, J. L. (2012). The effects of acute exercise on cognitive performance: a meta-analysis. *Brain Res.* 1453, 87–101. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2012.02.068
- Cohen, J. (1992). Statistical power analysis. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 1, 98–101. doi: 10.1111/1467-8721.ep10768783
- Colcombe, S., and Kramer, A. F. (2003). Fitness effects on the cognitive function of older adults: a meta-analytic study. *Psychol. Sci.* 14, 125–130. doi: 10.1111/ 1467-9280.t01-1-01430
- Costigan, S. A., Eather, N., Plotnikoff, R. C., Hillman, C. H., and Lubans, D. R. (2016). High-intensity interval training on cognitive and mental health in adolescents. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 48, 1985–1993.
- Deary, I. J., Johnson, W., and Starr, J. M. (2010). Are processing speed tasks biomarkers of cognitive aging? *Psychol. Aging* 25, 219–228. doi: 10.1037/ a0017750
- Deci, E., and Ryan, R. (1985). Intrinsic Motivation And Self-Deternination In Human Behaviour. New York:NY: Springer.
- Deci, E. L., and Ryan, R. M. (2000). The "what" and "why" of goal pursuits: human needs and the self-determination of behavior. *Psychol. Inq.* 11, 227–268. doi: 10.1207/S15327965PLI1104\_01
- Dragun, R., Veček, N. N., Marendić, M., Pribisalić, A., Đivić, G., Cena, H., et al. (2021). Have lifestyle habits and psychological well-being changed among adolescents and medical students due to COVID-19 lockdown in croatia? *Nutrients* 13:97.
- Dwyer, G. B., Davis, S. E., and Medicine, A.C.o.S (2005). *ACSM's Health-Related Physical Fitness Assessment Manual*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

- Eather, N., Riley, N., Miller, A., Smith, V., Poole, A., Vincze, L., et al. (2019). Efficacy and feasibility of HIIT training for university students: the uni-hiit rct. J. Sci. Med. Sport 22, 596–601.
- Eddolls, W. T. B., McNarry, M. A., Lester, L., Winn, C. O. N., Stratton, G., and Mackintosh, K. A. (2018). The association between physical activity, fitness and body mass index on mental well-being and quality of life in adolescents. *Qual. Life Res.* 27, 2313–2320. doi: 10.1007/s11136-018-1915-3
- Erickson, K. I., Hillman, C., Stillman, C. M., Ballard, R. M., Bloodgood, B., Conroy, D. E., et al. (2019). Physical activity, cognition, and brain outcomes: a review of the 2018 physical activity guidelines. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 51, 1242–1251.
- Erickson, K. I., Voss, M. W., Prakash, R. S., Basak, C., Szabo, A., Chaddock, L., et al. (2011). Exercise training increases size of hippocampus and improves memory. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 3017–3022. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1015950108
- Fagot, D., Chicherio, C., Albinet, C. T., Andre, N., and Audiffren, M. (2019). The impact of physical activity and sex differences on intraindividual variability in inhibitory performance in older adults. *Neuropsychol. Dev. Cogn. B Aging Neuropsychol. Cogn.* 26, 1–23. doi: 10.1080/13825585.2017.1372357
- Falck, R. S., Davis, J. C., Best, J. R., Crockett, R. A., and Liu-Ambrose, T. (2019). Impact of exercise training on physical and cognitive function among older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurobiol. Aging* 79, 119–130. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2019.03.007
- Faulkner, J., O'Brien, W. J., McGrane, B., Wadsworth, D., Batten, J., Askew, C. D., et al. (2021). Physical activity, mental health and well-being of adults during initial COVID-19 containment strategies: a multi-country cross-sectional analysis. J. Sci. Med. Sport 24, 320–326. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2020.11.016
- Feito, Y., Heinrich, K. M., Butcher, S. J., and Poston, W. S. C. (2018). High-intensity functional training (HIFT): definition and research implications for improved fitness. Sports 6:76. doi: 10.3390/sports6030076
- Ferguson, B. S., Rogatzki, M. J., Goodwin, M. L., Kane, D. A., Rightmire, Z., and Gladden, L. B. (2018). Lactate metabolism: historical context, prior misinterpretations, and current understanding. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 118, 691– 728. doi: 10.1007/s00421-017-3795-6
- Ferris, L. T., Williams, J. S., and Shen, C. L. (2007). The effect of acute exercise on serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels and cognitive function. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 39, 728–734. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e31802f04c7
- Foster, J. P., Carl, H., Kara, M., Esten, P. L., and Brice, G. (2001). Differences in perceptions of training by coaches and athletes. S. Afr. J. Sports Med. 8, 3-7.
- Garber, C. E., Blissmer, B., Deschenes, M. R., Franklin, B. A., Lamonte, M. J., Lee, I. M., et al. (2011). American college of sports medicine position stand. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 43, 1334–1359. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e318213fefb
- Garcia, D., Jimmefors, A., Mousavi, F., Adrianson, L., Rosenberg, P., and Archer, T. (2015). Self-regulatory mode (locomotion and assessment), well-being (subjective and psychological), and exercise behavior (frequency and intensity) in relation to high school pupils' academic achievement. *Peer. J.* 3:e847. doi: 10.7717/peerj.847
- Gunning-Dixon, F. M., Brickman, A. M., Cheng, J. C., and Alexopoulos, G. S. (2009). Aging of cerebral white matter: a review of MRI findings. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 24, 109–117. doi: 10.1002/gps.2087
- Hashimoto, T., Tsukamoto, H., Ando, S., and Ogoh, S. (2021). Effect of exercise on brain health: the potential role of lactate as a myokine. *Metabolites* 11:813. doi: 10.3390/metabol1120813
- Heinrich, K. M., Patel, P. M., O'Neal, J. L., and Heinrich, B. S. (2014). Highintensity compared to moderate-intensity training for exercise initiation, enjoyment, adherence, and intentions: an intervention study. *BMC Public*. *Health* 14:789. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-789
- Herold, F., Muller, P., Gronwald, T., and Muller, N. G. (2019). Dose-response matters! - a Perspective on the exercise prescription in exercise-cognition research. *Front. Psychol.* 10:2338. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02338
- Ide, B. N., Marocolo, M., Santos, C. P. C., Silva, B. V. C., Silvatti, A. P., Simim, M. A. M., et al. (2021). Commentary: "you're only as strong as your weakest link": a current opinion about the concepts and characteristics of functional training. *Front. Physiol.* 12:744144. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.744144
- Jeon, Y. K., and Ha, C. H. (2017). The effect of exercise intensity on brain derived neurotrophic factor and memory in adolescents. *Environ. Health Prev. Med.* 22:27. doi: 10.1186/s12199-017-0643-6

- Jiménez-Pavón, D., Carbonell-Baeza, A., and Lavie, C. J. (2020). Physical exercise as therapy to fight against the mental and physical consequences of COVID-19 quarantine: special focus in older people. *Prog. Cardiovasc. Dis.* 63, 386–388. doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2020.03.009
- Kang, S., Lee, K., and Kwon, S. (2019). Basic psychological needs, exercise intention and sport commitment as predictors of recreational sport participants' exercise adherence. *Psychology* 35, 916–932.
- Kaplan, M. S., Newsom, J. T., McFarland, B. H., and Lu, L. (2001). Demographic and psychosocial correlates of physical activity in late life. Am. J. Prev. Med. 21, 306–312. doi: 10.1016/s0749-3797(01)00364-6
- Korhonen, J., Linnanmäki, K., and Aunio, P. (2014). Learning difficulties, academic well-being and educational dropout: a person-centred approach. *Learn. Individ. Differ.* 31, 1–10.
- Landrigan, J. F., Bell, T., Crowe, M., Clay, O. J., and Mirman, D. (2020). Lifting cognition: a meta-analysis of effects of resistance exercise on cognition. *Psychol. Res.* 84, 1167–1183. doi: 10.1007/s00426-019-01145-x
- Lee, Y. S. (2005). Gender differences in physical activity and walking among older adults. J. Women Aging 17, 55–70. doi: 10.1300/J074v17n01\_05
- Leuchter, R. K., Stuber, M. L., McDonald, A. L., and Croymans, D. M. (2022). Relationship between exercise intensity and stress levels among U.S. medical students. *Med. Educ. Online* 27:2027651. doi: 10.1080/10872981.2022.202 7651
- Lieberman, H. R., Karl, J. P., Niro, P. J., Williams, K. W., Farina, E. K., Cable, S. J., et al. (2014). Positive effects of basic training on cognitive performance and mood of adult females. *Hum. Factors* 56, 1113–1123.
- Lopez-Valenciano, A., Mayo, X., Liguori, G., Copeland, R. J., Lamb, M., and Jimenez, A. (2020). Changes in sedentary behaviour in European union adults between 2002 and 2017. *BMC Public. Health* 20:1206. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09293-1
- Lucía, A., Hoyos, J., Carvajal, A., and Chicharro, J. L. (1999). Heart rate response to professional road cycling: the tour de france. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 20, 167–172. doi: 10.1055/s-2007-971112
- Luque-Casado, A., Zabala, M., Morales, E., Mateo-March, M., and Sanabria, D. (2013). Cognitive performance and heart rate variability: the influence of fitness level. *PLoS One* 8:e56935. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0056935
- Mackinnon, A., Jorm, A. F., Christensen, H., Korten, A. E., Jacomb, P. A., and Rodgers, B. (1999). A short form of the positive and negative affect schedule: evaluation of factorial validity and invariance across demographic variables in a community sample. *Pers. Individ.* 27, 405–416. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(98) 00251-7
- Maghsoudipour, M., Shabani, H., Najafabadi, M. G., Bakhshi, E., and Coh, P. (2018). The relationship between emotional intelligence, reaction time, aerobic capacity and performance in female track and field athletes at the universities of tehran. Work 61, 173–179. doi: 10.3233/WOR-182790
- Magill, R. (2010). Motor Learning and Control. New York:NY: McGraw-Hill Publishing.
- Marques, A., Santos, D. A., Hillman, C. H., and Sardinha, L. B. (2018). How does academic achievement relate to cardiorespiratory fitness, self-reported physical activity and objectively reported physical activity: a systematic review in children and adolescents aged 6–18 years. Br. J. Sports Med. 52, 1039–1039. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2016-097361
- McMahon, E. M., Corcoran, P., O'Regan, G., Keeley, H., Cannon, M., Carli, V., et al. (2017). Physical activity in European adolescents and associations with anxiety, depression and well-being. *Eur. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry* 26, 111–122. doi: 10.1007/s00787-016-0875-9
- Meeusen, R., and De Meirleir, K. (1995). Exercise and brain neurotransmission. Sports Med. 20, 160–188. doi: 10.2165/00007256-199520030-00004
- Miret, M., Cabello, M., Marchena, C., Mellor-Marsá, B., Caballero, F. F., Obradors-Tarragó, C., et al. (2015). The state of the art on European well-being research within the area of mental health. *Int. J. Clin. Health Psychol.* 15, 171–179. doi: 10.1016/j.ijchp.2015.02.001
- Molina-García, J., Castillo, I., and Pablos, C. (2007). Bienestar psicológico y práctica deportiva en universitarios. *Eur. J. Hum. Mov.* 18, 79–91.
- Moradi, A., Sadri Damirchi, E., Narimani, M., Esmaeilzadeh, S., Dziembowska, I., Azevedo, L. B., et al. (2019). Association between physical and motor fitness with cognition in children. *Medicina* 55:7.
- Mulder, M. J., and van Maanen, L. (2013). Are accuracy and reaction time affected via different processes? *PLoS One* 8:e80222. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.008 0222

- Murawska-Cialowicz, E., Wojna, J., and Zuwala-Jagiello, J. (2015). Crossfit training changes brain-derived neurotrophic factor and irisin levels at rest, after wingate and progressive tests, and improves aerobic capacity and body composition of young physically active men and women. *J. Physiol. Pharmacol.* 66, 811–821.
- Neubauer, A. C. (1990). Selective reaction times and intelligence. *Intelligence* 14, 79–96. doi: 10.1016/0160-2896(90)90015-L
- Notaras, M., and van den Buuse, M. (2019). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF): novel insights into regulation and genetic variation. *Neuroscientist* 25, 434–454. doi: 10.1177/1073858418810142
- Ozyemisci-Taskiran, O., Gunendi, Z., Bolukbasi, N., and Beyazova, M. (2008). The effect of a single session submaximal aerobic exercise on premotor fraction of reaction time: an electromyographic study. *Clin. Biomech.* 23, 231–235. doi: 10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2007.08.027
- Pastor, D., Cervelló, E., Peruyero, F., Biddle, S., and Montero, C. (2019). Acute physical exercise intensity, cognitive inhibition and psychological well-being in adolescent physical education students. *Curr. Psychol.* 40, 5030–5039. doi: 10.1007/s12144-019-00454-z
- Peruyero, F., Zapata, J., Pastor, D., and Cervello, E. (2017). The acute effects of exercise intensity on inhibitory cognitive control in adolescents. *Front. Psychol.* 8:921. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00921
- Pettitt, R. W., Clark, I. E., Ebner, S. M., Sedgeman, D. T., and Murray, S. R. (2013). Gas exchange threshold and v[combining dot above]o2max testing for athletes: an update. *J. Strength. Cond. Res.* 27, 549–555. doi: 10.1519/JSC. 0b013e31825770d7
- Pontifex, M. B., Parks, A. C., Henning, D. A., and Kamijo, K. (2015). Single bouts of exercise selectively sustain attentional processes. *Psychophysiology* 52, 618–625. doi: 10.1111/psyp.12395
- Posner, M. I., and McLeod, P. (1982). Information processing models-in search of elementary operations. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 33, 477–514.
- Prabhavathi, K., Hemamalini, R. V., Thilip, K. G., Christopher, A., Maruthy, K. N., and Saravanan, A. (2017). A correlational study of visual and auditory reaction time with their academic performance among the first year medical students. *Natl. J. Physiol. Pharm. Pharmacol.* 7, 371–374. doi: 10.5455/njppp.2017.7. 1131828112016
- Robbins, T. W., and Everitt, B. J. (1995). "Arousal systems and attention," in *The Cognitive Neurosciences*, ed. M. S. Gazzaniga (Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press), 703–720.
- Ryan, R. M., and Frederick, C. (1997). On energy, personality, and health: subjective vitality as a dynamic reflection of well-being. J. Pers 65, 529–565.
- Ryan, R. M., Huta, V., and Deci, E. (2013). "Living well: a self-determination perspective on eudaumonic," in *The Exploration Of Happiness, Happiness Studies Book Series*, ed. A. Delle-Fave (Netherlands: Springer), 117–139.
- Saucedo Marquez, C. M., Vanaudenaerde, B., Troosters, T., and Wenderoth, N. (2015). High-intensity interval training evokes larger serum BDNF levels compared with intense continuous exercise. J. Appl. Physiol. 119, 1363–1373. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00126.2015
- Shimizu, M., Misumi, M., Yamada, M., Ohishi, W., Yamamoto, H., and Kihara, Y. (2018). Choice reaction time and grip strength as predictors of cardiovascular mortality in middle-aged and elderly japanese: from the radiation effects research foundation adult health study. *Intern. Med. J.* 48, 1331–1336. doi: 10.1111/imj.14002
- Soga, K., Masaki, H., Gerber, M., and Ludyga, S. (2018). Acute and Long-term effects of resistance training on executive function. J. Cogn. Enhanc. 2, 200–207. doi: 10.1007/s41465-018-0079-y
- Spiering, B. A., Mujika, I., Sharp, M. A., and Foulis, S. A. (2021). Maintaining physical performance: the minimal dose of exercise needed to preserve endurance and strength over time. *J. Strength. Cond. Res.* 35, 1449–1458. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000003964
- Stillman, C. M., Cohen, J., Lehman, M. E., and Erickson, K. I. (2016). Mediators of physical activity on neurocognitive function: a review at multiple levels of analysis. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 10:626. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00626
- Stillman, C. M., Esteban-Cornejo, I., Brown, B., Bender, C. M., and Erickson, K. I. (2020). Effects of Exercise on brain and cognition across age groups and health states. *Trends Neurosci.* 43, 533–543. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2020.04.010
- Tsai, C. L., Chen, F. C., Pan, C. Y., Wang, C. H., Huang, T. H., and Chen, T. C. (2014). Impact of acute aerobic exercise and cardiorespiratory fitness on visuospatial attention performance and serum BDNF levels. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 41, 121–131. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.12.014

- van Praag, H., Shubert, T., Zhao, C., and Gage, F. H. (2005). Exercise enhances learning and hippocampal neurogenesis in aged mice. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 8680– 8685. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1731-05.2005
- Walsh, E. I., Smith, L., Northey, J., Rattray, B., and Cherbuin, N. (2020). Towards an understanding of the physical activity-BDNF-cognition triumvirate: a review of associations and dosage. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 60:101044.
- Wang, C.-H., Liang, W.-K., Tseng, P., Muggleton, N. G., Juan, C.-H., and Tsai, C.-L. (2015). The relationship between aerobic fitness and neural oscillations during visuo-spatial attention in young adults. *Exp. Brain Res.* 233, 1069–1078. doi: 10.1007/s00221-014-4182-8
- Wells, A. J., Hoffman, J. R., Beyer, K. S., Jajtner, A. R., Gonzalez, A. M., Townsend, J. R., et al. (2014). Reliability of the dynavision d2 for assessing reaction time performance. J. sports sci. med. 13, 145–150.
- Wennman, H., Pietila, A., Rissanen, H., Valkeinen, H., Partonen, T., Maki-Opas, T., et al. (2019). Gender, age and socioeconomic variation in 24-hour physical activity by wrist-worn accelerometers: the finhealth 2017 survey. *Sci. Rep.* 9:6534. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-43007-x

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Ballester-Ferrer, Carbonell-Hernández, Pastor and Cervelló. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Effects of Outdoor Walking on Positive and Negative Affect: Nature Contact Makes a Big Difference

#### Fabien D. Legrand<sup>1\*</sup>, Philippe Jeandet<sup>2</sup>, Fabien Beaumont<sup>3</sup> and Guillaume Polidori<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Laboratoire Cognition, Santé, Société, Université de Reims Champagne Ardenne, Reims, France, <sup>2</sup>Laboratoire Résistances Induites et Bioprotection des Plantes, Université de Reims Champagne Ardenne, Reims, France, <sup>3</sup>Laboratoire MATIMM, Université de Reims Champagne Ardenne, Reims, France

It has been consistently demonstrated that physical exercise is a cost-effective way to promote emotional well-being. However, the environment in which it takes place might amplify or mitigate this beneficial effect. The present study aimed at comparing the effects of walking in a natural or urban field setting on positive and negative affect. For this purpose, 150 students (46 female, 104 male; mean age: 20.2 years) were randomized into one of three groups: Green Walking (GW, n = 50), Urban Walking (UW, n = 50), or no-exercise (control; CTRL, n = 50). Positive and negative affect ratings were collected for each participant before and after walking (or before and after attending a class in the CTRL group). Exercise parameters (duration, intensity, weather conditions, group size) were identical in the GW and UW groups. The walking routes differed in terms of vegetation density, proximity of water, presence of traffic, and amount of asphalted surfaces. Participants in the GW and UW groups reported significant reductions in negative affect pre- to post walking. However, positive affect was increased only for participants in the GW group. This finding may have meaningful implications for mental health professionals who treat patients with significant emotional distress or mood instability. Several explanations are discussed as potential mechanisms for the more beneficial effect of Green walking, and presented as an important avenue for future research.

Keywords: green exercise, nature, positive affect, walking, nature relatedness, pollution

# INTRODUCTION

Emotions have traditionally been categorized on the basis of two broad dimensions, namely pleasantness, and arousal. Watson and Tellegen (1985) have suggested a 45-degree rotation of these axes to yield dimensions of positive and negative affect. While negative affect has been widely associated with the development of emotional disorders such as anxiety and mood disorders (Brown and Barlow, 2009), the role of positive affect in connection to these conditions remains relatively unexplored (Garland et al., 2010). In general, positive affect refers to pleasant emotional states, including joy, enthusiasm, energy, amusement, and alertness to cite a few. Of note, positive affect is not simply the opposite of negative affect, but rather an independent construct not always inversely correlated with negative affect (Gloria and Steinhardt, 2016), although this has historically been debated in the literature with other authors considering them to be bipolar ends of the same dimension (Ong et al., 2010).

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Chong Chen, Yamaguchi University Graduate School of Medicine, Japan

#### Reviewed by:

Frederick L. Philippe, Université du Québec à Montréal, Canada Cary Reid, Weill Cornell Medical Center, NewYork-Presbyterian, United States

> \*Correspondence: Fabien D. Legrand fabien.legrand@univ-reims.fr

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Emotion Regulation and Processing, a section of the journal Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

> Received: 22 March 2022 Accepted: 12 May 2022 Published: 03 June 2022

#### Citation:

Legrand FD, Jeandet P, Beaumont F and Polidori G (2022) Effects of Outdoor Walking on Positive and Negative Affect: Nature Contact Makes a Big Difference. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 16:901491. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2022.901491 Positive affect has been associated with many health-related benefits in clinical and non-clinical populations. For instance, research suggests it may increase stress resilience, as well as overall mental health and well-being (Lyubomirsky et al., 2005; Garland et al., 2010). In addition, positive affect has been associated with an improved functioning of the immune system (Diener and Seligman, 2002), which is of particular relevance in the current pandemic context. Likewise, preliminary research has established that explicitly targeting positive affect in mood and anxiety disorders treatment through therapeutic strategies or modules, such as well-being therapy (Barlow et al., 2017), positive psychotherapy (Hope et al., 2006), or an increase in the regulation of positive emotion (Eckeland et al., 2021) can lead to clinically significant improvements in symptoms.

Taken together, the scientific literature then clearly suggests that there is a benefit to increasing positive affect, but surprisingly, most of the psychotherapy interventions continue to focus on targeting negative affect. Accordingly, most studies of leading treatments for emotional disorders remain focused on evaluating outcomes of reduced symptoms of negative affectivity (Garland et al., 2010) rather than addressing positive affectivity. The question remains if and how existing interventions can modify positive affect even though it is not their central focus.

There is an extant literature suggesting that physical exercise might be well-suited for enhancing positive affect (Reed and Ones, 2006; Ekkekakis et al., 2011; Chan et al., 2019). Mood benefits (increased positive affect and/or decreased negative affect) have been consistently reported after a single bout of aerobic or anaerobic exercise at low or moderate intensities, and durations up to 35 min. However, individual responses to exercise can be moderated (either enhanced or lessened) by subtle factors of the physical or social environment, such as temperature, humidity, presence of mirrors, odors, etc. A relatively recent area of investigation has suggested that green exercise (that is, engaging in physical activity in the presence of Nature) could enhance the mood-boosting effect of exercise. According to Ulrich et al. (1991), this effect is linked to the fact that natural environments invoke feelings of interest and calm, thereby promoting positive affect. Another explanation recently offered by Baxter and Pelletier (2019) posits that human beings have a basic psychological need for nature relatedness. In congruence with the assumptions made by the Self-Determination Theory (SDT; Ryan and Deci, 2017), meeting this need would lead to vitality and well-being, as is the case with the other basic psychological needs (e.g., relatedness or competence). Several published studies have provided support for a positive relationship between natural environments and psychological well-being. For example, a large observational study including almost 95,000 adult participants revealed that residential greenness was associated with lower prevalence rates of major depressive disorder (Sarkar et al., 2018). Similarly, an experience-sampling study which examined the relationship between natural features of the environment and psychological well-being found that exposure to natural features (e.g., trees, birdsong) had an immediate beneficial effect on well-being lasting several hours (Bakolis et al., 2018). Hence, it is not surprising that many researchers are assuming that nature-

based exercise environments promote greater improvements in psychological well-being than exercise in other environment types. In their systematic review, Thompson-Coon et al. (2011) confirmed the more beneficial effects of outdoor exercise on feelings of anger, confusion, tension, depression, enjoyment, energy, and revitalization. However, studies presented in this review have done little more than comparing indoor exercise with physical activity in any outdoor environment, which for the most part consisted of urban spaces. Only two studies have directly compared the psychological responses to exercise in a green vs. urban environment to date. In the study by Hartig et al. (2003), walking in oak-sycamore woodland nature settings increased positive affect and reduced anger whereas urban walks in a city retail and office space had the opposite effect. The second one is the study by Park et al. (2011) showing that tension, anxiety, fatigue, and confusion were decreased by a nature walk, but not by an urban walk of equivalent duration. Unfortunately, an important limitation of these two studies is that exercise intensity was not measured. The lack of experimental control for participants' level of exertion is a significant issue given the well-established influence of this exercise parameter on affective responses to exercise (Ekkekakis et al., 2011). More specifically, an inverse relationship has been reported between exercise intensity and psychological well-being in the literature review by Ekkekakis et al. (2011), with positive affective changes occurring during and following exercise of both light and moderate intensities, but not for high or very high-intensity exercise.

Thus, the purpose of the present study was to more rigorously evaluate the hypothesis that Nature exposure has the possibility to enhance the affective benefits of outdoor physical activity. In this aim, we conducted a large randomized controlled trial comparing emotional changes following a 30-min outdoor exercise bout performed at a controlled and standardized level of intensity in either a natural countryside setting or an urban surrounding.

# **METHODS**

# **Study Design and Participants**

We employed a randomized controlled design with three different groups: green walking (outdoor walking in connection to Nature), urban walking (outdoor walking in an urbanized area), or control (regular class time without any physical activity). Randomization was computer-generated through permuted blocks in a 1:1:1 ratio. Given the typical effect sizes (ESs) for exercise-induced affective changes (0.4-0.5, Reed and Ones, 2006), the a priori power analysis for the within-between interaction of an ANOVA with three independent groups and two measurement periods (pre and post) with the settings of  $f = 0.20, \alpha = 0.05$  (p-value),  $1 - \beta = 0.95$  (power) yielded a needed total sample size of 102 participants (G\*POWER, Faul et al., 2007). A total of 150 undergraduate students from the Sport and Physical Education Department at a university in northeastern France were recruited. The mean age of this sample was 20.2 years (SD = 1.3) and 69.3% were male. The data were

collected as part of a 2-h practical class, but at the time of data collection, the students were not aware of the exact hypotheses of the study. In particular, those belonging to the green and urban walking groups believed they were receiving an identical physical exercise stimulus. However, since experimenters knew which participants were in which group, our experiment can only be said to be a single-blinded study. Students' academic timetables were carefully scrutinized to ensure that they did not exercise prior to our experiment. At the beginning of their visit, participants completed an informed consent and reported basic demographic information (age, sex).

#### Instruments

Positive affect (PA) and negative affect (NA) were assessed using the Positive And Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS; Watson et al., 1988). This consists of 20 adjectives, each of which is rated on a 5-point scale from 1 (very slightly or not at all) to 5 (extremely). Ten items contribute to the positive affect scale (e.g., enthusiastic, excited, alert) and 10 to the negative affect scale (e.g., upset, afraid, irritable). Participants were asked to think about « how they were feeling right now» when completing the scales. Ratings were summed to generate positive and negative affect scores, each varying from 10 to 50.

#### Procedure

Participants in the green walking group (GW, n = 50) were asked to walk briskly for 30 min as if they were late for class. The walking sessions all occurred at the beginning of the afternoon (between 2:00 p.m. and 4:00 p.m.), were conducted outdoors, on a walkway alongside a canal, and were led by the first author. This walkway was lined with trees/bushes and passed through a mix of wine-growing areas, parklands, as well as wide open greenfields. Sessions were conducted in subgroups of 12-13 participants, which required the exercise bout to be repeated on four separate days to get through the whole group. Weather was quite similar during the testing days and quite normal for the season in Northeastern France; that is around 7°C-9°C, with no precipitation, and moderately cloudy conditions. The physical exercise stimulation was administered with the same parameters (type, duration, intensity, mode of delivery, subgroups size, time of day, and weather conditions) for participants in the urban walking group (UW, n = 50). However, walking sessions were conducted in a metropolitan urbanized district consisting of residential developments, commercial and nonresidential buildings, light industry, car parks, and totally asphalted streets. Figure 1 shows satellite images of the two



Urban

FIGURE 1 | Satellite images of exposure environments (Urban, Green).



Green

exposure environments (green and urban) used in the present study.

On the contrary, the control group consisted of students from the same department at the same university who did not walk but attended a regular class lecture (CTRL, n = 50). This group involved two classes of 25 students randomly selected from a total of nine classes of the same year group at this department. For these two classes, the lecture took place at the same time of day as the walking sessions planned for participants in the UW and GW groups (between 2:00 p.m. and 4:00 p.m.). The lecture lasted 60 min and was divided into two 30-min modules; the first one was on the mental health benefits of outdoor physical activity, and the second one expanded on ideas presented right before toward the development of low-cost and effective nature-based interventions. Participants in both groups took the PANAS before and after walking (or before and after the first 30-min lecture module for those in the CTRL group). Heart rate was assessed via self-palpation of the radial pulse on the nondominant hand at the end of the walking sessions in the GW and UW groups.

### **Data Analysis**

A mixed design with two independent variables was used: (a) one between-participant variable (GW, UW, and CTRL groups), and (b) one within-participant variable (pre- and post-intervention assessments). There were two dependent variables: (a) Positive Affect (PA), and (b) Negative Affect (NA). Therefore, two 3 (Groups)  $\times$  2 (Time Points) mixed-design ANOVAs were conducted. The significance level was  $\alpha = 0.05$ . Since we used multiple comparisons in *post-hoc* tests, the level of significance was partly modified by a Bonferroni correction to minimize the familywise error rate and maintain statistical power (Vincent, 2005). Effect sizes, Cohen's  $d = (Mi-Mj)/SD_{pooled}$ , were computed to compare the magnitude of PA and NA changes between participants who walked in connection to Nature and those who walked in the urbanized district. One-way ANOVAs and Chi-2 tests were also performed to assess whether there were baseline differences between groups. Finally, an independent sample Student' t-test was used to compare the mean heart rate recorded at the end of the walking session for participants in both the GW and UW groups.

## RESULTS

#### **Preliminary Analyses**

All participants provided data pre- and post-intervention (see **Figure 2**). There were no differences between groups neither in terms of gender distribution  $\chi^2_{(2)} = 3.16$ , p = 0.207, nor in terms of age,  $F_{(2,147)} = 1.69$ , p = 0.188. Likewise, PA and NA scores did not significantly differ between groups at baseline ;  $F_{(2,147)} = 2.69$ , p = 0.072 and  $F_{(2,147)} = 2.91$ , p = 0.064 respectively. Lastly, heart rate at the end of the walking session in the GW group [M = 112.6 bpm ; that is 58.3% of age-predicted maximal heart rate (MHR)] was found to be statistically identical to that reported in the UW group (M = 111.2 bpm; i.e., 57.6% of age-predicted MHR),  $t_{(98)} = -0.38$ , p = 0.706. These values reflect physical exercise performed at «moderate» (55%–69% of

age-predicted MHR) intensity according to the American College of Sports Medicine (Pollock et al., 1998).

## **Positive Affect and Negative Affect**

Descriptive statistics for the pretest and posttest PA and NA scores are given in **Table 1**. As can be seen, the mixed ANOVAs revealed significant Time × Group interaction for both variables. With regard to Positive Affect (PA), *post-hoc* analyses indicated that the mean PA score significantly increased from pre- to posttest for participants in the GW group ( $t_{(49)} = 3.93$ , p = 0.002) whereas it significantly decreased for participants who did not walk (CTRL group,  $t_{(49)} = -3.50$ , p = 0.009). Importantly, PA was not found to change significantly from pre- to post-walking among participants who exercised in the urban setting,  $t_{(49)} = 2.03$ , p = 0.661. The effect size comparing PA change in the two walking groups (i.e., GW *vs.* UW) was large, Cohen's d = 0.83.

Results for Negative Affect were quite different. More specifically, follow-up pairwise comparisons demonstrated that, regardless of the environment conditions, walking for 30 min at moderate intensity significantly reduced NA (GW:  $t_{(49)} = -6.54$ , p < 0.001; UW:  $t_{(49)} = -5.91$ , p < 0.001). On the other hand, NA remained statistically unchanged for participants in the control group,  $t_{(49)} = -1.83$ , p = 0.995. The effect size comparing NA change in the two walking groups was negligible, Cohen's d = -0.11.

## DISCUSSION

This study sought to directly compare the emotional effects of 30 min of outdoor walking in a green vs. urbanized setting. We found that green exercise significantly improved Positive Affect and significantly reduced Negative Affect, whereas the same exercise stimulus in a metropolitan urbanized area only decreased Negative Affect.

The finding that Positive Affect increased in the green but not in the urban walking group supports our research hypothesis and is in line with the findings from Hartig et al. (2003) or Park et al. (2011). However, several differences limit the comparability of results: (a) Hartig et al. (2003) asked half of their participants to perform various cognitive tasks before walking (attentional and memory tests); (b) exercise intensity was neither measured nor controlled in these two previous studies; (c) positive affect was measured using a relatively crude and nonspecific instrument in Hartig et al.'s (2003) study (the Zuckerman's Inventory of Personal Reactions; ZIPERS, Zuckerman, 1977); and (d) there was no sedentary control group in Hartig et al.'s (2003) study.

Several mechanisms may be proposed to account for enhanced affective benefits during and following green exercise. First, air quality is one of the mechanisms outlined in Hartig et al.'s (2014) model of the links between Nature environments and well-being. As discussed by Zhang et al. (2017), both short and long-term exposures to polluted urban air, and particularly to fine particulate matter of aerodynamic diameter  $\leq 2.5 \ \mu m$  (PM<sub>2.5</sub>), reduce subjective well-being and increase the rate of depressive symptoms. There is growing evidence from both toxicological and clinical studies that short-duration exposure



TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics for positive and negative affect scores as a function of Group and Time, ANOVA results, and effect sizes of the differences between the two intervention groups (Green Exercise vs. Urban Exercise) on the change score.

	Pretest		Posttest		F <sub>(2,147)</sub>	Cohen's d [95% Cl]		
	М	SD	М	SD	Time × Group			
Positive Affect (PA)					15.54**	0.83 [0.42, 1.23]		
GW group ( $n = 50$ )	29.90	5.84	32.58	6.18 <sup>†</sup>				
UW group ( $n = 50$ )	31.60	6.82	30.22	7.16				
CTRL group ( $n = 50$ )	28.38	5.94	26.00	6.26 <sup>†</sup>				
Negative Affect (NA)					6.56*	-0.11 [-0.57, 0.28]		
GWgroup ( $n = 50$ )	16.50	5.28	12.56	2.60 <sup>†</sup>				
UWgroup ( $n = 50$ )	17.18	6.50	13.62	3.65 <sup>†</sup>				
CTRL group ( $n = 50$ )	14.70	3.81	13.60	3.25				

GW, Green Walking; UW, Urban Walking; CTRL, control. \*p ≤ 0.01; \*\*p ≤ 0.001; \* isgnificant within-group score change from pretest to posttest (post-hoc Bonferroni-corrected tests).

to combustion-derived particles leads to immediate detrimental affective changes (World Health Organization, 2013). Reviews of the research literature report that vegetation decreases levels of air pollution by enhancing the removal of air pollutants through adherence to plant surfaces (adsorption) and/or absorption by leaf stomata (Anderson and Gough, 2021). Connecting with Nature *via* physical activity can serve as an alternative to polluted urban air. A second explanation might be that Nature immersion undergone during the green walking session contributed to the satisfaction of the need for nature relatedness which, according to Baxter and Pelletier (2019), should be viewed as an additional basic human psychological need. A fundamental tenet of the Self Determination Theory (SDT; Ryan and Deci, 2017) is that a direct relationship exists between basic psychological needs satisfaction and psychological wellbeing. Studies undertaken in various sports and physical activities (e.g., Gagné et al., 2003 in a sample of gymnasts; Quested and Duda, 2010 in a sample of dancers) tend to support SDT hypotheses regarding the satisfaction of basic needs as a predictor of performers' well-being (i.e., self-esteem, positive affect). Finally, one of the classic explanations arising from environmental psychology, Attention Restoration Theory (ART; Kaplan, 1995), suggests that one's affective state is linked to attentional resources, and defines two types of attention: directed and involuntary attention. Directed attention involves mental effort and concentration and, if overused, leads to mental fatigue and worsened affective state. Natural environments have been shown to promote the use of involuntary attention, providing an opportunity for recovery from mental fatigue, which is associated with positive change in affect (e.g., Faber-Taylor and Kuo, 2009).

By showing that green exercise has especially positive effects on emotional well-being that go beyond the benefits of being physically active, the present study identifies the various opportunities that outdoor sports can offer in order to help prevent or alleviate mental health problems. Some research teams have provided preliminary data suggesting that physical activity in a natural environment might produce greater mental health benefits than physical activity elsewhere (e.g., Mitchell, 2013). The large cross-sectional health survey by Mitchell (2013) revealed that the odds of poor mental health among those regularly using woods or forests for physical activity were almost 50% lower (OR = 0.56) compared to non-users. However, considerably more research is needed to establish the therapeutic benefits of green exercise in the treatment of mental disorders for which low positive affect is a prevalent feature (i.e., depressive disorders).

Our findings come with some limitations. First, future research should aim at increasing the generalisation of green exercise practice, using a wider variety of social groups while exercising, and involving various degrees of «naturalness». Future research should also consider assessing the impact of green exercise on a wider range of psychological outcomes (stress, anger-hostility) and with different population samples (non-regular exercisers, indoor exercisers, highly depressed individuals, and individuals raised in non-urban areas). The

# REFERENCES

- Anderson, V., and Gough, W. A. (2021). Nature-based resilience: a multi-type evaluation of productive green infrastructure in agricultural settings in Ontario, Canada. *Atmosphere* 12:1183. doi: 10.3390/atmos1209 1183
- Bakolis, I., Hammoud, R., Smythe, M., Gibbons, J., Davidson, N., Tognin, S., et al. (2018). Urban mind: using smartphone technologies to investigate the impact of nature on mental well-being in real time. *Bioscience* 68, 134–145. doi: 10.1093/biosci/bix149
- Barlow, D. H., Farchione, T. J., Bullis, J. R., Gallagher, M. W., Murray-Latin, H., Sauer-Zavala, S., et al. (2017). The unified protocol for transdiagnostic treatment of emotional disorders compared with diagnosis-specific protocols

sample in the current study consisted of young people who were engaging regularly in physical activities (including activities in the wilderness such as mountain-biking and kayaking) due to their curriculum, and were thus likely to be relatively healthy and positively oriented towards Nature. Finally, the present study focused on acute exercise effects, but it may be advantageous to study the effects of longer-term green exercise programs, particularly if exercise is aimed at individuals with depressive symptoms. Indeed, available recommendations regarding optimal exercise «dosages» based on research including individuals with clinical depression state that exercise interventions should last at least 10 weeks (Rethorst and Trivedi, 2013).

# CONCLUSION

In conclusion, despite the above-mentioned limitations, our findings have implications for public mental health and deserve the emerging discussion surrounding ecosystem services (Hughes et al., 2013). In addition, greater awareness of the indirect benefits to humans of natural environments could help contribute to their protection and maintenance.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Comité d'Ethique de Recherche en Sciences et Techniques des Activités Physiques et Sportives (CER STAPS). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

FL and PJ contributed to the conception and design of the study and drafted the manuscript. FL and GP acquired the data and performed the data analysis. FL, FB, and PJ edited and revised the manuscript. All authors interpreted the results, read, and approved the final version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

for anxiety disorders: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry* 74, 875–884. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.2164

- Baxter, D. E., and Pelletier, L. G. (2019). Is nature relatedness a basic human psychological need? A critical examination of the extant literature. *Can. Psychol.* 60, 21–34. doi: 10.1037/cap0000145
- Brown, T. A., and Barlow, D. H. (2009). A proposal for a dimensional classification system based on the shared features of the DSM-IV anxiety and mood disorders: implications for assessment and treatment. *Psychol. Assess.* 21, 256–271. doi: 10.1037/a0016608
- Chan, J. S. Y., Liu, G., Liang, D., Deng, K., Wu, J., and Yan, J. H. (2019). Special issue therapeutic benefits of physical activity for mood: a systematic review on the effects of exercise intensity, duration and modality. *J. Psychol.* 153, 102–125. doi: 10.1080/00223980.2018.1470487

- Diener, E., and Seligman, M. E. P. (2002). Very happy people. *Psychol. Sci.* 13, 81–84. doi: 10.1111/1467-9280.00415
- Eckeland, N. S., Nzinga, B., Leipow, R., and Berenbaum, H. (2021). The relations between pleasurable emotions and depression: exploring the potential significance of contentment. *J. Affect. Disord.* 283, 249–253. doi: 10.1016/j.jad. 2021.01.067
- Ekkekakis, P., Parfitt, G., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2011). The pleasure and displeasure people feel when they exercise at different intensities: decennial update and progress towards a tripartite rationale for exercise intensity prescription. *Sports Med.* 41, 641–671. doi: 10.2165/11590680-000000000 00000
- Faber-Taylor, A., and Kuo, F. E. (2009). Children with attention deficits concentrate better after walk in the park. J. Atten. Disord. 12, 402–409. doi: 10.1177/1087054708323000
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., and Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral and biomedical sciences. *Behav. Res. Methods* 39, 175–191. doi: 10.3758/bf03193146
- Gagné, M., Ryan, R. M., and Bargmann, K. (2003). Autonomy support and need satisfaction in the motivation and well-being of gymnasts. J. Appl. Sport Psychol. 15, 372–390. doi: 10.1080/714044203
- Garland, E. L., Fredrickson, B., Kring, A. M., Johnson, D. P., Meyer, P. S., and Penn, D. L. (2010). Upward spirals of positive emotions counter downward spirals of negativity: insights from the broaden-and-build theory and affective neuroscience on the treatment of emotion dysfunctions and deficits in psychopathology. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 30, 849–864. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2010. 03.002
- Gloria, C. T., and Steinhardt, M. A. (2016). Relationships among positive emotions, coping, resilience and mental health. *Stress Health* 32, 145–156. doi: 10.1002/smi.2589
- Hartig, T., Evans, G. W., Jammer, L. D., Davis, D. S., and Garling, T. (2003). Tracking restoration in natural and urban field settings. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 23, 109–123. doi: 10.1016/S0272-4944(02)00109-3
- Hartig, T., Mitchell, R., De Vries, S., and Frumkin, H. (2014). Nature and health. Annu. Rev. Publ. Health 35, 207–228. doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182443
- Hope, D. A., Heimberg, R. G., and Turk, C. L. (2006). Managing Social Anxiety: A Cognitive-Behavioral Therapy Approach, 1st Edn. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Hughes, J., Pretty, J., and Macdonald, D. W. (2013). "Nature as a source of health and well-being: is this an ecosystem service that could pay for conserving biodiversity?," in *Key Topics in Conservation Biology* (Vol. 2), eds D. W. McDonalds, and K. J. Willis (New York, NY: Wiley-Blackwell), 143–160.
- Kaplan, S. (1995). The restorative benefits of nature: toward an integrative framework. J. Environ. Psychol. 15, 169–182. doi: 10.1016/0272-4944(95) 90001-2
- Lyubomirsky, S., King, L., and Diener, E. (2005). The benefits of frequent positive affect: does happiness lead to success? *Psychol. Bull.* 131, 803–855. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.131.6.803
- Mitchell, R. (2013). Is physical activity in natural environments better for mental health than physical activity in other environments? Soc. Sci. Med. 91, 130–134. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.04.012
- Ong, A. D., Zautra, A. J., and Reid, M. C. (2010). Psychological resilience predicts decreases in pain catastrophizing through positive emotions. *Psychol. Aging* 25, 516–523. doi: 10.1037/a0019384
- Park, B. J., Furuya, K., Kasetani, T., Takayama, N., Kagawa, T., and Miyazaki, Y. (2011). Relationships between psychological responses and physical environments in forest settings. *Landscape Urban Plan.* 102, 24–32. doi: 10.1016/j.landurbplan.2011.03.005
- Pollock, M. L., Butcher, J. D. M. D., Després, J. P., Dishman, R. K., Franklin, B. A., and Garber, C. E. (1998). ACSM position stand: the recommended quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory and

muscular fitness and flexibility in healthy adults. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 30, 975–991. doi: 10.1097/00005768-199806000-00032

- Quested, E., and Duda, J. L. (2010). Exploring the social-environmental determinants of well- and ill-being in dancers: a test of basic needs theory. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 32, 39–60. doi: 10.1123/jsep.32.1.39
- Reed, J., and Ones, D. S. (2006). The effect of acute aerobic exercise on positiveactivated affect: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 7, 477–514. doi: 10.1016/j. psychsport.2005.11.003
- Rethorst, C. D., and Trivedi, M. H. (2013). Evidence-based recommendations for the prescription of exercise for major depressive disorder. J. Psychiatr. Pract. 19, 204–212. doi: 10.1097/01.pra.0000430504.16952.3e
- Ryan, R. M., and Deci, E. L. (2017). Self-Determination Theory: Basic Psychological Needs in Motivation, Development and Wellness. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Sarkar, C., Webster, C., and Gallacher, J. (2018). Residential greenness and prevalence of major depressive disorders: a cross-sectional, observational, associational study of 94 879 adult UK Biobank participants. *Lancet Planet Health* 2, e162–e173. doi: 10.1016/S2542-5196(18)30051-2
- Thompson-Coon, J., Boddy, K., Stein, K., Whear, R., Barton, J., and Depledge, M. H. (2011). Does participating in physical activity in outdoor natural environments have a greater effect on physical and mental wellbeing than physical activity indoors? A systematic review. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 45, 1761–1772. doi: 10.1021/es102947t
- Ulrich, R. S., Simons, R. F., Losito, B. D., Fiorito, E., Miles, M. A., and Zelson, M. (1991). Stress recovery during exposure to natural and urban environments. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 11, 201–230. doi: 10.1016/S0272-4944(05)80184-7
- Vincent, W. J. (2005). Statistics in Kinesiology, 3rd Edn. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Watson, D., Clark, L. A., and Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 54, 1063–1070. doi: 10.1037//0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Watson, D., and Tellegen, A. (1985). Toward a consensual structure of mood. *Psychol. Bull.* 98, 219–235. doi: 10.1037//0033-2909.98.2.219
- World Health Organization. (2013). Review of Evidence on Health Aspects of Air Pollution - REVIHAAP project. Copenhagen, Denmark: WHO Regional Office Europe. Available online at: https://www.euro.who.int/\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0004/193108/REVIHAAP-Final-technical-report-final-version.pdf.
- Zhang, X., Zhang, X., and Chen, X. (2017). Happiness in the air: how does a dirty sky affect mental health and subjective well-being? J. Environ. Econ. Manag. 85, 81–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jeem.2017.04.001
- Zuckerman, M. (1977). Development of a situation-specific trait-state test for the prediction and measurement of affective responses. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 45, 513–523. doi: 10.1037//0022-006x.45.4.513

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Legrand, Jeandet, Beaumont and Polidori. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Suk Yu Sonata Yau, Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong SAR, China

REVIEWED BY Rui Sofia, University of Minho, Portugal Vivian De Oliveira, Centro Universitário IESB, Brazil

\*CORRESPONDENCE Natàlia Balagué nataliabalague@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Emotion Regulation and Processing, a section of the journal Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

RECEIVED 14 May 2022 ACCEPTED 04 July 2022 PUBLISHED 28 July 2022

#### CITATION

Almarcha M, González I, Balagué N and Javierre C (2022) Prescribing or co-designing exercise in healthy adults? Effects on mental health and interoceptive awareness. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 16:944193. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2022.944193

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Almarcha, González, Balagué and Javierre. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Prescribing or co-designing exercise in healthy adults? Effects on mental health and interoceptive awareness

# Maricarmen Almarcha<sup>1</sup>, Ignacio González<sup>2</sup>, Natàlia Balagué<sup>1\*</sup> and Casimiro Javierre<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Complex Systems in Sport Research Group, Institut Nacional d'Educació Física de Catalunya, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain, <sup>2</sup>Institut Nacional d'Educació Física de Catalunya, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain, <sup>3</sup>Departament de Ciències Fisiològiques, Facultat de Medicina i Ciències de la Salut, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

Universal exercise recommendations for adults neglect individual preferences, changing constraints, and their potential impact on associated health benefits. A recent proposal suggests replacing the standardized World Health Organisation (WHO) exercise recommendations for healthy adults by codesigned interventions where individuals participate actively in the decisions about the selected physical activities and the effort regulation. This study contrasts the effects on mental health and interoceptive awareness of a codesigned and co-adapted exercise intervention with an exercise program based on the WHO recommendations for healthy adults. Twenty healthy adults (10 men and 10 women, 40-55 y.o.) participated voluntarily in the research. They were randomly assigned to a co-designed exercise intervention (CoD group) and a prescribed exercise program (WHO group). Supervised online by specialized personal trainers, both programs lasted 9 weeks and were equivalent in volume and intensity. The effects of the exercise intervention were tested through personal interviews, questionnaires (DASS-21 and MAIA) and a cardiorespiratory exercise test. Intragroup differences (prepost) were assessed using the Mann-Whitney Wilcoxon test and intergroup differences through Student's t-tests. Effect sizes were calculated through Cohen's d. Interviews were analyzed through thematic analysis. Eleven participants completed the intervention (CoD = 8, WHO = 5). Both groups improved, but non significantly, their cardiorespiratory testing results, and no differences were found between them post-intervention. Mental health was only enhanced in the CoD group (p < 0.001), and interoceptive awareness improved in seven of the eight scales in the CoD group (p < 0.001) and only in 3 scales in the WHO group (p < 0.01). In conclusion, the co-designed intervention was more effective for developing mental health, interoceptive awareness, autonomy, and exercise self-regulation than the WHO-based exercise program.

#### KEYWORDS

personalized exercise, mental health, affective wellbeing, complex systems approach, network physiology of exercise, WHO recommendations, exercise adherence, self-awareness

# Introduction

Prescribing an adequate exercise program to promote health in the adult population has been a central research issue (Pollock et al., 2000). Two main types of programs (aerobic, resistance, and a combination of both) have been investigated due to their different physiological impact and proven benefits (Kenney et al., 2015). Based on the available research, the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) and the World Health Organization (WHO) have converged on the type of activity and minimum dose in their guidelines for exercise prescription in health and disease (Riebe et al., 2018) with light adaptations depending on the age and type of disease (Bull et al., 2020; Bushman, 2020). However, some authors have questioned the theoretical and methodological assumptions of this one-sizefits-all approach (Balagué et al., 2020a), and have proposed person-centered guidelines in line with current therapeutic tendencies (Carpinelli, 2009; Greenhalgh et al., 2014; Zimmer et al., 2018; Wackerhage and Schoenfeld, 2021).

The self-determination theory (SDT)-based exercise referral consultation (Jolly et al., 2009; Deci and Ryan, 2013) proposes interviewing participants before the exercise program about their perceptions of autonomy and motivational regulations. The aim is provide choices of activities, support initiations and relevant information for being physically active. Limiting their intervention to the beginning of the program, professionals do not guide adaptations during the program. However, a permanent interaction professionals-practitioners during this period may ensure adequate adjustments of exercise characteristics to keep participant's wellbeing and adherence, and develop their self-knowledge and autonomy.

It is known that meaningful and motivating practices increase exercise adherence and, thus, its health-related effects (Salmon, 2001; Williams, 2008; Carek et al., 2011; Stonerock et al., 2015). Additionally, performing new and challenging activities seem to satisfy basic psychological needs (Fernández-Espínola et al., 2020).

The effects of regular exercise on depression and anxiety, the two most disabling mental disorders in both sexes, and among the top 25 leading causes of the global health-related burden (GBD 2019 Diseases and Injuries Collaborators, 2020) are well known. Mental health and emotional wellbeing improve through regular exercise (Paluska and Schwenk, 2000; Ströhle, 2009; Stanton and Reaburn, 2014; Schuch et al., 2016), and is also associated with a reduced risk of suffering from emotional disorders (Bernstein and McNally, 2018).

From a complex systems perspective, health has been defined as a dynamic product of the interplay between the external environment and internal physiology (Sturmberg et al., 2019). The health state can change in response to somatic conditions, social connectedness, emotional feelings, and subjective perceptions (Sturmberg, 2019). Within this

paradigm, the stability of a healthy state can be achieved in multiple ways, and nonlinear, i.e., non-proportional, individual training effects may occur after exposure to exercise and training loads (Hristovski and Balagué, 2010). Even the same exercise intensity, which may promote positive adaptations in a specific person or context, may produce overtraining or no effects in another person or particular context (Hristovski et al., 2010).

The ACSM and the WHO recommend performing a minimum of 150 min of aerobic exercise at a moderate intensity or 75 min of vigorous-intensity exercise in combination with resistance training at least two times per week, using two sets of 8–15 repetitions with 60% of one-repetition maximum (American College of Sports Medicine, 2017; World Health Organization [WHO], 2020). These universal recommendations assume the existence of decontextualized realities (Jones et al., 2017) and ideal or prototypic fitness and health states. Although fitness is often associated with strength and conditioning, the fittest is not the strongest or endured in biological evolution but the most diverse (Pol et al., 2020). Accordingly, fitness has been redefined as the ability to survive in a broad range of contexts to adapt to socio-psycho-biological challenges (Balagué et al., 2020b; Hristovski and Balagué, 2020).

Even though most studies present favorable results applying the recommended types of exercise, systematic reviews and meta-analyses on exercise prescription indicate the lack of high-quality studies showing the sustainability of standardized programs (Sørensen et al., 2006) and the need for personalizing the recommendations (Zimmer et al., 2018). In line with personalized exercise medicine, it has been advised to reorient the main aims of exercise prescription and redefine the roles of health care exercise professionals interacting with users/patients (Balagué et al., 2020b). Notably, it has been suggested to develop the autonomy and self-regulation of users/patients through their active involvement in the co-design of exercise proposals and workload adjustments (Almarcha et al., 2021).

Due to substantial inter-individual differences and personal contexts, the development of interoceptive awareness of users/patients seems crucial for achieving self-knowledge and self-responsibility to select and regulate exercise workloads adequately (Pol et al., 2020; Montull et al., 2022). Interoceptive awareness is the ability to identify, access, understand, and respond appropriately to the patterns of internal signals that allow to engage in life challenges and ongoing adjustments (Craig, 2015). Regulating daily active and resting periods, frequency, intensity, and duration of exercise promotes healthy mind-body states. Almarcha et al. (2021) sustain that education on self-regulation of psycho-emotional and physical states is essential to promote health and affective wellbeing during home-based teleworking. The authors propose to healthcare professionals: (a) redefine fitness states, (b) refocus the aims of home-based exercise, (c) guide users from dependency to autonomy, (d) promote co-adaptive and co-learning processes, and (e) develop interoceptive awareness. As far as we know, no studies have evaluated the interoceptive awareness effects of a co-designed exercise program in healthy adults.

The present study aimed to contrast the effects of a codesigned exercise intervention with a WHO-based program on mental health and interoceptive awareness in healthy adults. Specifically, it was hypothesized that a co-designed intervention reduced further depression, anxiety, and stress levels and increased further interoceptive awareness and selfregulation.

# Materials and methods

## Participants

Twenty healthy adults (10 men and 10 women) aged between 40 and 50 y.o., with a medium socioeconomic status, higher education level and non-involved in regular physical activity, volunteered to participate in this study. Considering a target power of 0.8, a significance level of p < 0.05, and a medium effect size (0.5), the total sample size calculated using the software G \* Power v3.1.9.7 was 12 participants. To compensate for the possible loss of follow-up, the proposed sample was 20 participants.

The exclusion criteria were the following: (a) report any contraindications and injury that prevented from physical exercise; (b) prohibitions of physical testing interventions; and (c) pacemaker dependent, not in sinus rhythm, pregnant, had a BMI greater than 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> or had known carotid or femoral artery stenosis.

After being informed about the study procedure and sign an informed consent, participants performed a cardiorespiratory exercise test and responded to two questionnaires (see below) through Google forms. All responses were coded to ensure data privacy and anonymity. After it, they were randomly divided into two groups of 10 members each that followed two different exercise programs during 9 weeks: (a) a co-designed exercise intervention (CoD group), and (b) a standardized exercise program based on WHO recommendations (WHO group). Both groups had similar fitness status and questionnaire scores. Participants were randomly assigned to 7 personal trainers (Sport Science graduates) with a minimum of 3 years of professional experience and specifically trained for 2 weeks to develop both intervention programs. Each coach trained virtually 2-3 participants. They supervised participants' online training and interacted with them twice a week. They also had meetings with the research coordinator to follow up on the intervention weekly. The research project was approved by the Comité d'Ètica d'Investigacions Clíniques de l'Administració Esportiva de Catalunya (ref. 07/2015/CEICEGC). A total of 7 participants (CoD = 2, WHO = 5) did not complete the intervention program.

### Procedure

#### Co-designed exercise intervention

It had two main objectives: (a) promote health through co-designing meaningful and personally motivating activities, and (b) develop the participant's autonomy, self-responsibility and interoceptive awareness. Participants proposed activities they liked to do or would like to try. Personal trainers also suggested activities that could be meaningful and motivating for the participant, not only those based on cyclic or repetitive movements (Almarcha et al., 2021). For example: playing with their kids, doing outdoor activities, playing exergames, stretching at the office, and using the bicycle for displacement, among others.

# Standardized exercise program based on World Health Organization recommendations

It consisted of cycling or running exercises, performed 5 days per week at low intensity or 3 days per week at vigorousintensity with a minimum duration of 25–30 min per session, according to the WHO guidelines (World Health Organization [WHO], 2019). The strength training consisted of a 12-station High-intensity circuit (Klika and Jordan, 2013) performed twice a week according to the American College of Sports Medicine Guidelines (ACSM) (Bushman, 2020). All exercises could be done with bodyweight in almost any setting (e.g., home, office, hotel room, etc.). Exercises were performed for 30 s, with 10 s of transition time between bouts. The total time for the entire circuit workout was approximately 7 min. The circuit could be repeated 2–3 times. Load intensity and volume were adjusted weekly to keep a rate of perceived exertion (Borg CR 10 Scale) of 3–5 in all sessions (see Table 1).

TABLE 1 Comparison of the characteristics of the exercise program based on WHO recommendations and the co-designed intervention.

Type of program	WHO exercise program (WHO)	Co-designed intervention (CoD)
Foundation	WHO and ACSM guidelines	Co-designed
Exercise	Repetitive	Varied
Frequency	Aerobic: 5 d/w	5 d/w
	Strength: 2 d/w	
Intensity	Aerobic: RPE (CR 10): 3-5	RPE (CR 10): 3-5
	Strength: RPE (CR 10): 8	
Duration	300 min/week	300 min/week
Type of activity	Aerobic (running, cycling), strength	Based on individual preferences

## Testing

A cardiorespiratory exercise test and two questionnaires (see below) were administered pre-and post-intervention, and a personal interview was performed at the end of the intervention. The cardiorespiratory exercise test was supervised by medical staff that confirmed the health status of the participants. The questionnaires were responded online using Google Forms, and an external researcher performed the personal video conference interviews.

#### Cardiorespiratory exercise test

An incremental cycling test (Excalibur, Lode, Groningen, Netherlands) starting at 50 W and increasing the workload by 30 W/min until reaching a subjective rate of perceived exertion (CR-10 scale) of "very hard" (RPE  $\geq 8$ ) was performed. Participants breathed through a valve (Hans Rudolph, 2700, Kansas City, MO, United States), and the respiratory gas exchange was determined using an automated open-circuit system (Metasys, Brainware, La Valette, France). Oxygen and CO2 content and airflow rate were recorded breath by breath. An electrocardiogram (ECG) was continuously monitored (DMS Systems, DMS-BTT wireless Bluetooth ECG transmitter and receiver, software DMS Version 4.0, Beijing, China). The test was performed in a well-ventilated lab; the room temperature was 23°C and the relative humidity 48%, with variations of no more than 1°C in temperature and 10% in relative humidity. The tests were carried out at least 3 h after a light meal, and participants were instructed not to perform vigorous physical activity for 72 h before testing.

#### Questionnaires

#### Depression, Anxiety and Stress scales (DASS-21)

The Spanish version of the DASS-21 questionnaire (Bados et al., 2005) assessed the self-reported negative emotional states during the last week. This questionnaire contains 21 statements rated on a four-categories of Likert scale (from 0 = "does not apply to me at all" up to 3 = "it applies a lot to me most of the time"), distributed along with three subscales (with seven items each): Depression, Anxiety and Stress (Lovibond and Lovibond, 1995). The depression scale assesses dysphoria, hopelessness, devaluation of life, lack of interest/involvement and inertia (e.g., I was unable to become enthusiastic about anything). The anxiety scale assesses autonomic arousal, skeletal muscle effects, situational anxiety, and subjective experience of anxious affect (e.g., I was aware of the action of my heart in the absence of physical exertion). The stress scale is sensitive to levels of chronic non-specific arousal. It assesses difficulty relaxing, nervous arousal, and being easily upset/agitated, irritable/overreactive and impatient (e.g., I was intolerant of anything that kept me from getting on with what I was doing).

Scores for depression, anxiety and stress are calculated by summing the scores for the relevant items. The values of Cronbach's alpha and test-retest reliability indicate good internal consistency of the Spanish version of DASS-21 (Bados et al., 2005).

# Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness

The Spanish version of the multidimensional assessment of interoceptive awareness (MAIA) questionnaire (Valenzuela-Moguillansky and Reyes-Reyes, 2015) was administered. It is a self-report instrument developed by Mehling et al. (2012) to measure eight dimensions of interoceptive body awareness. The noticing scale assesses the awareness of uncomfortable, comfortable or neural body sensations (e.g., when I am tense, I notice where the tension is located in my body). The not distracting scale assesses the tendency not to use distraction to cope with discomfort (e.g., when I feel pain or discomfort, I try to power through it). The not worrying scale assesses the tendency to not experience emotional distress with physical discomfort (e.g., I can notice an unpleasant body sensation without worrying about it).

The attention regulation scale assesses the ability to sustain and control attention to body sensations, (e.g., I can maintain awareness of my inner bodily sensations even when a lot is going around me). The emotional awareness scale assesses the ability to attribute specific physical feelings to physiological manifestations of emotions (e.g., When something is wrong in my life, I can feel it in my body). The self-regulation scale assesses the ability to regulate distress by attention to body sensations (e.g., I can use my breath to reduce tension). The body listening scale assesses the tendency to actively listen to the body for insight (e.g., I listen to my body to inform me about what to do). The trusting scale assesses the experience of one's body as safe and trustworthy (e.g., I feel my body is a safe place). It has 32 items tested on a Likert scale, with six levels of ordinal response coded from 0 (never) to 5 (always), generating a total direct score on a scale that ranges from 0 to 160 points. The Spanish version showed appropriate construct validity and reliability indicators, with a Cronbach's  $\alpha$  of 0.90 for the total scale and values between 0.40 and 0.86 for the different subscales (Valenzuela-Moguillansky and Reyes-Reyes, 2015).

#### Interviews

Participants were invited to a 30-min semi-structured video conference interview by a researcher external to the intervention to avoid bias. The semi-structured interview guides the intervention's critical points while allowing new themes/issues to emerge. The reliability of the interviews was guaranteed by the same interviewer, the same design scheme of the questions, the same length of interrogation and the

10.3389/fnbeh.2022.944193

same period for all interviews. The interviews were video recorded and transcribed verbatim. Two experienced qualitative researchers and five Sport Science professionals validated the interview guide before the study. It consisted of questions concerning: previous experiences, reasons for involvement in the exercise program, perceived benefits or challenges to participating, and the role of the personal trainer (e.g., Do you think the figure of the personal trainer is essential to continue with the level of physical activity achieved?) reasons to drop out/adherence, what they have learned (e.g., Have you gained resources to adapt the exercise to any personal and environmental situation?) and readiness to implement changes in their lifestyle behavior beyond the program (e.g., Have you discovered any physical activities to incorporate into your habits?).

#### Data analysis

#### Physiological testing

The ratio between the workload corresponding to the RPE  $\geq 8$  and the oxygen uptake relative to body weight (VO<sub>2</sub>) at this workload (W/VO<sub>2</sub>) and the ratio between the workload corresponding to the RPE  $\geq 8$  and the heart rate (HR) at this workload (W/HR) were compared pre-and post-intervention using Wilcoxon matched-pairs test and independent samples *t*-test.

#### Questionnaires

Means with 95% confidence intervals, medians, standard deviations, and interquartile ranges were calculated to assess the location and dispersion of scores obtained in DASS-21 and MAIA. Skewness and kurtosis were used to determine the shape and normality of the distribution of scores. Intragroup pre-post differences were evaluated using paired *t*-tests and intergroup differences through independent samples *t*-tests. Effect sizes were calculated through Cohen's d. All quantitative statistical analyses were conducted using SPSS (version 25, IBM Corp).

#### Interviews

All interview transcripts were cross-checked with video recordings to ensure accuracy. Identification codes were assigned [WHO, CoD or NC -non-completer-, with consecutive numbers (e.g., CoD4)]. Thematic analysis was employed to identify emergent themes until saturation was reached (Braun and Clarke, 2006). Two researchers independently reviewed one transcript to identify codes using NVIVO software (version 2, QRS International Pty Ltd). Then, they discussed the findings and presented the proposed principles derived from the data to the research team until consensus was reached on the final regulations.

# Results

#### Physiological testing

No differences in  $W/VO_2$  and W/HR were found pre-post intervention in both groups (WHO and CoD) nor between groups.

### Questionnaires

All participants responded to DASS-21 and MAIA questionnaires, but only 13 of them completed the intervention (CoD = 8, WHO = 5).

#### Depression, anxiety and stress levels

DASS questionnaire descriptives are presented in Table 2. After the intervention, the CoD group improved their scores in the three dimensions of the DASS-21 questionnaire: depression [t(7) = 7.907, p = 0.0001], anxiety (t = 27.032, p = 0.0001) and stress (t = 8.973, p = 0.0001). However, no differences were detected in the WHO group. Intergroup differences showed higher anxiety (W = 36.000, Z = -3.038, p = 0.002, d = 0.84) and stress (W = 39.500, Z = -2.449, p = 0.011, d = 0.68) in the WHO group compared to the CoD group.

#### Interoceptive awareness

MAIA questionnaire descriptives are presented in **Table 3**. After the intervention, the CoD group improved in 7 of the 8 scales of the MAIA questionnaire: noticing [t(7) = -1.276, p = 0.0001], not-distracting [t(7) = -4.492, p = 0.003], attention regulation [t(7) = -26.839, p = 0.0001], emotional awareness [t(7) = -13.642, p = 0.0001], self-regulation [t(7) = -13.316, p = 0.0001], body listening [t(7) = -7.848, p = 0.0001], trusting [t(7) = -10.991, p = 0.0001] except for not-worrying [t(7) = -1.276, p = 0.243]. In the WHO group, differences were detected only in 3 scales, self-regulation [t(4) = 4.376, p = 0.012], body listening [t(4) = -6,144, p = 0.004], and trusting [t(4) = -6,364, p = 0.003].

Post intervention inter-groups differences were observed in noticing (W = 20.500, Z = -2.140, p = 0.030, d = 0.59), nondistracting (W = 18.500, Z = -2.442, p = 0.011, d = 0.68), attention regulation (W = 16.000, Z = -2.789, p = 0.003, d = 0.77), self-regulation (W = 15.000, Z = -2.956, p = 0.002, d = 0.81), listen to body signals (W = 15.000, Z = -2.952, p = 0.002, d = 0.82) and trust (W = 15.000, Z = -3.029, p = 0.002, d = 0.84) in favor of the CoD group.

### Interviews

All participants were interviewed, including those who did not complete the entire intervention. The thematic analysis

	Group	Ν	Mean	SD	Variance	Skewness	SE	Kurtosis	SE
PRE_Depression	CoD	8	12.250	4.46	19.93	1.0261	0.752	-0.234	1.48
	WHO	5	8.400	7.80	60.80	1.9861	0.913	3.948	2.00
POST_Depression	CoD	8	1.500	1.41	2.00	0.4041	0.752	-0.229	1.48
	WHO	5	6.000	4.24	18.00	-0.5238	0.913	-0.963	2.00
PRE_Anxiety	CoD	8	13.000	1.51	2.29	-1.3229	0.752	0.875	1.48
	WHO	5	9.200	5.93	35.20	-0.8849	0.913	1.449	2.00
POST_Anxiety	CoD	8	0.750	1.04	1.07	0.6441	0.752	-2.240	1.48
	WHO	5	10.000	2.45	6.00	1.3608	0.913	2.000	2.00
PRE_Stress	CoD	8	17.750	4.83	23.36	-0.5353	0.752	-0.744	1.48
	WHO	5	8.800	5.76	33.20	-0.0376	0.913	-1.804	2.00
POST_Stress C	CoD	8	4.000	3.02	9.14	0.3307	0.752	-1.488	1.48
	WHO	5	14.400	9.42	88.80	1.4646	0.913	2.443	2.00

#### TABLE 2 DASS questionnaire items descriptives.

TABLE 3 MAIA questionnaire items descriptives.

	Group	N	Mean	SD	Variance	Skewness	SE	Kurtosis	SE
PRE_Noticing	CoD	8	1.91	0.7063	0.4989	-0.7578	0.752	2.4997	1.48
	WHO	5	2.10	0.5477	0.3000	1.5310	0.913	1.7448	2.00
POST_Noticing	CoD	8	4.25	0.7440	0.5536	-1.2140	0.752	1.5595	1.48
	WHO	5	4.55	0.4472	0.2000	-0.0524	0.913	-2.3242	2.00
PRE_Not- distracting	CoD	8	2.92	0.3897	0.1518	1.3533	0.752	0.6000	1.48
	WHO	5	2.80	0.1807	0.0327	0.6086	0.913	-3.3333	2.00
POST_Not-distracting	CoD	8	4.08	0.6357	0.4041	-1.7759	0.752	4.0011	1.48
	WHO	5	4.27	0.4349	0.1891	-0.5215	0.913	-1.5244	2.00
PRE_Not-worrying	CoD	8	2.08	1.3060	1.7056	0.3178	0.752	-0.1760	1.48
	WHO	5	2.20	1.3431	1.8039	1.0194	0.913	2.0429	2.00
POST_Not-worrying	CoD	8	2.59	0.3908	0.1527	-0.8853	0.752	-0.4606	1.48
	WHO	5	2.73	0.0158	2.50e-4	1.40e-14	0.913	-1.2000	2.00
PRE_ Attention regulation	CoD	8	2.10	0.5165	0.2667	0.4576	0.752	-0.4061	1.48
	WHO	5	2.08	0.6106	0.3728	-1.0217	0.913	0.6871	2.00
POST_ Attention regulation	CoD	8	4.08	0.5560	0.3091	-0.3548	0.752	-0.6512	1.48
	WHO	5	3.37	0.9125	0.8326	0.1683	0.913	-1.1433	2.00
PRE_Emotional awareness	CoD	8	2.50	0.6928	0.4800	0.2887	0.752	-0.9250	1.48
	WHO	5	3.36	0.6542	0.4280	-2.1342	0.913	4.6790	2.00
POST_Emotional awareness	CoD	8	4.42	0.5701	0.3250	-0.3154	0.752	-1.7276	1.48
	WHO	5	4.00	1.1489	1.3200	-1.0550	0.913	0.9669	2.00
PRE_Self-regulation	CoD	8	2.16	0.6400	0.4096	0.2161	0.752	-0.1049	1.48
	WHO	5	2.60	1.3062	1.7063	0.5861	0.913	-0.3385	2.00
POST_Self-regulation	CoD	8	4.38	0.6124	0.3750	-0.7776	0.752	-0.0571	1.48
	WHO	5	3.70	1.0216	1.0437	-0.3473	0.913	0.4149	2.00
PRE_Body-Listening	CoD	8	2.04	1.3499	1.8222	-0.0175	0.752	-0.9724	1.48
	WHO	5	1.73	0.9269	0.8591	0.2371	0.913	-0.8817	2.00
POST_Body-Listening	CoD	8	4.12	0.6657	0.4431	-0.1099	0.752	0.0280	1.48
	WHO	5	3.67	1.1058	1.2228	-0.6821	0.913	1.1194	2.00
PRE_Trusting	CoD	8	2.58	0.6117	0.3741	0.6851	0.752	-0.4693	1.48
	WHO	5	2.73	1.3650	1.8631	1.5223	0.913	2.5324	2.00
POST_Trusting	CoD	8	4.42	0.4961	0.2461	0.4799	0.752	-2.2481	1.48
	WHO	5	4.00	1.0277	1.0561	-1.2840	0.913	2.0199	2.00



confirmed data saturation at n = 20 and revealed five themes based on the interview questions (see Figure 1).

# Theme 1: Adherence and motivations during the program

Both groups concurred that being supervised by the personal trainer and receiving constant feedback facilitated their participation. Highlighting the personalization of the co-design was felt very motivating and helped to continue. They also appreciated the meaningful and novel challenges; "Not knowing what challenges the personal trainer was going to present to me next week kept me curious and motivated" (CoD8). A telematic exercise program was another widely reported benefit ""It was not necessary to go to a specific place; I could do the exercise at home during my free time" (WHO2).

# Theme 2: Disadvantages of the program

Participants of the WHO group reported anxiety and stress due to their lack of experience exercising. "At the beginning, it was stressful because I am not used to it, and I did not feel fit" (NC5). As they principally exercised at home or work, they felt embarrassed when being observed by members of their families or co-workers; "I went to the bathroom to do some exercises so that my colleagues in the office could not see me" (CoD6). "During the Christmas holidays, I had my family at home, and I cared about what they could say when seeing me exercising" (NC3). The work schedule made participation difficult, and lack of time was the most reported problem in both groups; "I have little free time and find it difficult to combine exercise with family life. Physical activity is not a priority for me" (WHO4). Non-completers reported a lack of space or time to exercise; "Initially I felt very excited, but afterward it was difficult to get along and enjoy it due to my work schedule" (NC4). They dropped out of the study due to the program's lack of schedule flexibility and incompatibility; "It has been impossible for me to combine it with work and family issues" (NC6). Most participants of the CoD group, which also encountered the time barrier, succeeded in adapting to it by incorporating physical activity into their daily life in an autonomous way. "On the first day, I walked only for 30 min, but as the weeks went by, I increased the time as I felt better every day" (CoD6).

# Theme 3: Self-regulation and autonomy

Participants of the CoD group adapted the exercise to their personal and environmental constraints and learnt how to self-regulate workload. "During holidays, I was not used to exercising, but this time I was able to do it because I knew the activities I could do" (CoD2) and "Being able to self-manage the activity's intensity and duration helped me do much more than I thought at first" (CoD2). They did not perceive the figure of the coach as essential due to the learnt autonomy "As time passed I was able to decide daily which activities were suitable and which not" (CoD1). The WHO group did not report self-regulation and autonomy capacities. "Although I was stressed by work, I did the series and repetitions of the strength workout I had to do" (WHO5). Non-completers found it challenging to decide on the exercise program and considered they were assuming too much responsibility; "It is impossible for me to self-regulate the intensity and the type of activity because I am always so tired that I would never do anything" (NC2).

### Theme 4: Impact on lifestyle

The CoD group increased self-awareness and wellbeing: "I notice that when I walk, I get less tired, and I also notice fewer arrhythmias from the program's start" (CoD6). Many discussed their plans for exercising due to their wellbeing and trust "I feel good about myself and my body" (CoD5). Also, some of them have hired a personal trainer to continue exercising; "I have decided to continue with a personal trainer to try new different activities that I have always wanted to try" (CoD7). Other participants expressed having gained body awareness "I am now more aware of the physical activity I do in my daily life, and how I feel during and after doing it" (CoD2). "I am still exercising, incorporating my trainer's principles" (CoD3).

The WHO group also planned to change their habits by joining a gym where finding the required material. "I have decided to join a gym to access more material; it is easier for me to follow exercise routines" (WHO5). In line with the results of the questionnaires, "I have found that exercise helps reduce my anxiety and stress levels" (WHO3).

### Theme 5: Interoceptive awareness

While the WHO group linked the intervention to their physical fitness, the CoD group linked it to multiple dimensions and a more general wellbeing state: "For me, health is more than a physical state. It is about being comfortable with yourself and knowing how to listen to your body to adapt to different contexts" (CoD7). Both groups stated that they had never been asked about their body state and sensations towards exercise. However, only the CoD group mentioned they had improved their interoceptive awareness; "I can recognize inflammatory states in my body based on stress, what I have eaten or what I have slept" (CoD5). "When I am nervous, I cannot trust my body signals" (WHO2).

Overall, 13 out of 20 participants were satisfied with the exercise program. However, only participants of the CoD group would recommend the program to other people; "Thanks to the constant dialogue with the personal trainer and trying different proposals, I have discovered the types of activities that work for me. Actually, I have incorporated it as a daily habit" (CoD3); while others would have preferred daily monitoring and comprehensive training planning; "I prefer to have a programmed exercise routine with technique instructions" (CoD7).

# **Discussion and conclusion**

This study contrasts the effects on mental health and interoceptive awareness of co-designed exercise interventions and prescribed exercise programs based on the WHO recommendations for healthy adults. The co-designed intervention, aiming to guide participants from dependency to autonomy, promoted further mental health and interoceptive awareness, crucial aspects of cognitive and emotional wellbeing.

In alignment with previous research, the current study supports that exercise benefits mental health in adult population (Carek et al., 2011; Rebar et al., 2015; Bernstein and McNally, 2018). However, in this study, only participants of the CoD group reduced depression, anxiety and stress levels after the intervention. The duty to follow the program (i.e., "to take the exercise pill"), trying to comply strictly with WHO guidelines and following the exact doses contributed to increased anxiety and stress levels in some participants of the WHO group, These adverse effects have not been observed in participants performing new and challenging activities (González-Cutre et al., 2019).

In addition, only the CoD group expressed the wish to continue the intervention in the future. This can be explained by the positive affective valence reported during and after exercise by this group (Ekkekakis et al., 2011). In contrast, the emotional experience of the WHO group was not helping to introduce changes in their daily routine, as found in previous works (Kwan and Bryan, 2010; Antoniewicz and Brand, 2016). The pressure to follow a fixed exercise program, independently of daily constraints (e.g., holiday periods, family visits, amount of work), and the lack of novelty in the exercise routine may explain such results (Cao et al., 2021). As confirmed through the interviews, the five WHO participants who dropped out of the intervention reported getting overwhelmed when they could not comply with the prescribed routine and feel bored for doing the same type of exercise. Monotony seems a crucial factor contributing to low physical activity participation (Dalle Grave et al., 2011). Even active individuals engaged in the same exercise over time can reduce their motivation to the practice because of boredom (Lakicevic et al., 2020).

Enjoyment and interest seem determinant for ensuring long-term engagement (Argent et al., 2018) and adherence to exercise, leading ultimately to better health (Jekauc, 2015; Lakicevic et al., 2020). For example, performing similar physical activities in groups or virtual reality environments (e.g., exergaming approach) can create a distraction from negative thoughts related to exercise and encourage participation (Molina et al., 2014). Other authors propose an agreement between the athlete-trainer on goals and the selection of exercises to fit the athlete's needs, motivations, and abilities (Wackerhage and Schoenfeld, 2021). Some results have shown more outstanding fitness scores and affective responses when participants self-selected exercise conditions (Parfitt et al., 2006) or when designing their exercise program based on their previous knowledge instead of following a standardized exercise program (Papadakis et al., 2021).

Decisions to engage in regular physical activity are also influenced by participants' expectancies (Loehr et al., 2014). It is worth pointing out that the two CoD participants dropping out during the intervention expected to get involved in a standardized training program to become stronger. The literature refers to previous interventions, based on the SDT (Deci and Ryan, 2013), for increasing the motivation and adherence of patients to exercise treatments. Positive effects on adaptive motivational processes, quality of life and wellbeing have been reported (Duda et al., 2014). In fact, when participants self-paced or chose their mode of exercise, have more positive affective responses and autonomy than when they follow exercise prescriptions (Parfitt and Gledhill, 2004).

Although both (SDT practices and CoD intervention) consider participants' motivations and preferences, the CoD goes a bit further, proposing a change of roles: participants and professionals co-design and co-adapt continuously unique and personalized protocols to develop participants' self-knowledge and autonomy. That is, the initial program may evolve during the intervention due to the need of co-adapting to the multiple personal and environmental constraints affecting the process. For instance, a participant evolved from proposing home-based exercises to open-air activities in family and activities in nature (e.g., climbing mountains, trekking, etc.).

As confirmed through the interviews, the role of exercise co-designers developed in the CoD group self-knowledge, selfregulation, and autonomy. These potentially beneficial learning effects can also be associated with rewarding experiences (Fisher and Yarwood, 2008; Leckey, 2011). Being less dependent on the personal trainer, facilities and equipment, they could potentially create a larger adaptivity and guarantee a longer adherence to exercise. As they could choose the physical and social environments for exercising (e.g., in a park, in the mountains, with family, or friends), they could explore different exercise modalities, experience the most contextually adequate, and become more aware of their wellbeing and health.

It is worth pointing out that the commonly prescribed exercise for the adult population, converging on aerobic and strength programs and adhering to WHO recommendations, is based on oversimplified theoretical and methodological assumptions, as the possibility to transfer to individuals results obtained by comparing group data means (Balagué et al., 2020b). The network physiology of exercise conceptualizes the human organism as a complex adaptive system embedded and in constant interaction with social and policy factors (Bauman et al., 2012). Assuming there is no unique way to promote a healthy state (Sturmberg et al., 2019), some authors propose co-designing contextually sensitive, meaningful, motivating, and self-regulated exercise programs (Balagué et al., 2020a). However, as far as we know, few attempts have been

made to contrast the emotional benefits of different exercise interventions (Hogan et al., 2015).

Concerning the interoceptive awareness effects, the light results obtained in the MAIA questionnaire by the WHO group (improving only in three of the eight scales), compared to the CoD group (seven of eight), can be explained by the lack of emphasis on the WHO intervention on interoceptive awareness and the aforementioned stressful experiences of participants. Stressed individuals show difficulties regulating emotional responses because they stopped trusting and listening to body signs (Price and Hooven, 2018). In contrast, the CoD group improved in seven of the eight scales and had fewer difficulties adapting the exercise type and characteristics to their personal and environmental constraints. An exciting outcome of performing novelty, motivating and challenging activities is the deep level of engagement which can lead to flow experiences (Swann et al., 2019; Montull et al., 2020), which increase autonomous motivation, reduces boredom, and relates to future involvement (Csikszentmihalyi, 2020).

Recent sports-related research has highlighted the need to develop early education programs to enhance interoceptive awareness (Montull et al., 2022). Our results show that a co-designed type of intervention may help to develop this relevant property. Unfortunately, no studies have tested the potential benefits of interoceptive awareness and self-knowledge on fitness states. We hypothesize a circular causality between both variables that need to be explored.

This research has some potential practical implications for future exercise interventions in adult population: (a) meaningful, motivating, and enjoyable activities may produce more psychological benefits than universal exercise recommendations, and lead to further exercise adherence, (b) initial exercise programs should be co-adapted to the changing personal and environmental constraints, not the other way around, (c) practitioners perceptions and interoceptive awareness should be developed to help on selecting adequately the type and characteristics of exercise and be the basis for workload adaptation. In turn, health professionals and personal coaches should: (a) be aware of the limitations of current exercise guidelines and be educated on co-designing instead of prescribing exercise, (b) lead practitioners from dependency to autonomy providing training criteria instead of exercise receipts, (c) contribute to the development of interoceptive awareness to prevent injuries, detect deleterious training effects (e.g., like overtraining) and promote a multidimensional fitness state (Almarcha et al., 2021).

It is recommendable to investigate the effects of co-designed exercise interventions on other populations like chronic patients and different age groups. In addition, a gender analysis, which was impossible to implement in this research due to the small number of participants, is also warranted.

It was expected to find more noticeable physiological effects of the intervention in the WHO group because participants

were tested through cycle ergometers. While cycling was recommended in the aerobic training routines of the WHO group, the CoD group did not specifically practice cycling. Due to the low sample, no significant differences were found in cycling performance and physiological associates either inter or intra-groups. Further research is warranted to study the long-term effects of this type of intervention.

In conclusion, a co-designed exercise intervention was more effective for developing mental health, interoceptive awareness, autonomy, and exercise self-regulation in healthy adults than the prescription of an exercise program based on the universal recommendations of the WHO.

### Data availability statement

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: doi: 10.6084/m9.figshare.19767163.v1.

# **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Comité d'Ètica d'Investigacions Clíniques de l'Administració Esportiva de Catalunya (ref. 07/2015/CEICEGC). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# Author contributions

MA, NB, and CJ contributed to the conception and design of the study. MA and IG organized the database and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MA performed the statistical analysis. MA and NB wrote the final manuscript. All authors

# References

Almarcha, M., Balagué, N., and Torrents, C. (2021). Healthy teleworking: towards personalised exercise recommendations. *Sustainability* 13:3192. doi: 10. 3390/su13063192

American College of Sports Medicine (2017). ACSM's Exercise Testing, 10th Edn. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.

Antoniewicz, F., and Brand, R. (2016). Dropping out or keeping up? Earlydropouts, late-dropouts, and maintainers differ in their automatic evaluations of exercise already before a 14-week exercise course. *Front. Psychol.* 7:838. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00838

Argent, R., Daly, A., and Caulfield, B. (2018). Patient involvement with home-based exercise programs: can connected health interventions influence adherence? *JMIR mHealth uHealth* 6:e47. doi: 10.2196/mhealth. 8518

Bados, A., Solanas, A., and Andrés, R. (2005). Psychometric properties of the spanish version of depression, anxiety and stress scales (DASS). *Psicothema* 17, 679–683.

contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

# Funding

This work was supported by the National Institute of Physical Education of Catalonia (INEFC), Generalitat de Catalunya. MA was supported by the project "Toward an embodied and transdisciplinary education" granted by the Ministerio de Educación y Formación Professional of the Spanish government (FPU19/05693).

## Acknowledgments

We thank all the volunteer participants and INEFC students who have made this experience possible.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Balagué, N., Almarcha, M., and Hristovski, R. (2020a). Updating exercise prescription in health and disease. *Res. Phys. Educ. Sport Health* 9, 3–6. doi: 10.46733/pesh209003b

Balagué, N., Hristovski, R., Almarcha, M., Garcia-Retortillo, S., and Ivanov, P. C. (2020b). Network Physiology of exercise: vision and perspectives. *Front. Physiol.* 11:611550. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.61 1550

Bauman, A. E., Reis, R. S., Sallis, J. F., Wells, J. C., Loos, R. J., Martin, B. W., et al. (2012). Correlates of physical activity: why are some people physically active and others not? *Lancet* 380, 258–271. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60 735-1

Bernstein, E. E., and McNally, R. J. (2018). Exercise as a buffer against difficulties with emotion regulation: a pathway to emotional wellbeing. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 109, 29–36. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2018.07.010

Braun, V., and Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual. Res. Psychol. 3, 77–101. doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp0630a

Bull, F. C., Al-Ansari, S. S., Biddle, S., Borodulin, K., Buman, M. P., Cardon, G., et al. (2020). World Health Organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 54, 1451–1462. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102955

Bushman, B. A. (2020). Exercise for prevention of chronic diseases. ACSM's Health Fitness J. 24, 5–10. doi: 10.1249/fit.00000000000533

Cao, B., Zhao, Y., Ren, Z., McIntyre, R. S., Teopiz, K. M., Gao, X., et al. (2021). Are physical activities associated with perceived stress? The evidence from the china health and nutrition survey. *Front. Public Health* 9:697484. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.697484

Carek, P. J., Laibstain, S. E., and Carek, S. M. (2011). Exercise for the treatment of depression and anxiety. *Int. J. Psychiatry Med.* 41, 15–28. doi: 10.2190/PM.41.1.c

Carpinelli, R. N. (2009). Challenging the american college of sports medicine 2009 position stand on resistance training. *Med. Sport.* 13, 131–137. doi: 10.2478/ v10036-009-0020-7

Craig, A. D. (2015). *How Do You Feel?: An Interoceptive Moment with Your Neurobiological Self.* Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2020). Finding Flow: The Psychology of Engagement with Everyday Life. London: Hachette UK.

Dalle Grave, R., Calugi, S., Centis, E., El Ghoch, M., and Marchesini, G. (2011). Cognitive-behavioral strategies to increase the adherence to exercise in the management of obesity. *J. Obes.* 2011:348293. doi: 10.1155/2011/34 8293

Deci, E. L., and Ryan, R. M. (2013). *Intrinsic Motivation and Self-Determination In Human Behavior*. Cham: Springer Science & Business Media.

Duda, J. L., Williams, G. C., Ntoumanis, N., Daley, A., Eves, F. F., Mutrie, N., et al. (2014). Effects of a standard provision versus an autonomy supportive exercise referral programme on physical activity, quality of life and well-being indicators: a cluster randomised controlled trial. *Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Act.* 11:10. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-11-10

Ekkekakis, P., Parfitt, G., and Petruzzello, S. J. (2011). The pleasure and displeasure people feel when they exercise at different intensities: decennial update and progress towards a tripartite rationale for exercise intensity prescription. *Sports Med.* 41, 641–671. doi: 10.2165/11590680-000000000-00000

Fernández-Espínola, C., Almagro, B. J., Tamayo-Fajardo, J. A., and Sáenz-López, P. (2020). Complementing the self-determination theory with the need for novelty: motivation and intention to be physically active in physical education students. *Front. Psychol.* 11:1535. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01 535

Fisher, J., and Yarwood, G. (2008). Connecting not competing with others: raising awareness of wellbeing. J. R. Soc. Promot. Health 128, 110–111. doi: 10. 1177/1466424008089802

GBD 2019 Diseases and Injuries Collaborators (2020). Global burden of 369 diseases and injuries in 204 countries and territories, 1990-2019: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *Lancet* 396, 1204–1222. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30925-9

González-Cutre, D., Romero-Elías, M., Jiménez-Loaisa, A., Beltrán-Carrillo, V. J., and Hagger, M. S. (2019). Testing the need for novelty as a candidate need in basic psychological needs theory. *Motiv. Emot.* 44, 295–314. doi: 10.1007/s11031-019-09812-7

Greenhalgh, T., Howick, J., and Maskrey, N. (2014). Evidence-based medicine: a movement in crisis? *Br. Med. J.* 348:g3725. doi: 10.1136/BMJ.g3725

Hogan, C. L., Catalino, L. I., Mata, J., and Fredrickson, B. L. (2015). Beyond emotional benefits: physical activity and sedentary behaviour affect psychosocial resources through emotions. *Psychol. Health* 30, 354–369. doi: 10.1080/08870446. 2014.973410

Hristovski, R., and Balagué, N. (2010). Fatigue-induced spontaneous termination point–nonequilibrium phase transitions and critical behavior in quasi-isometric exertion. *Hum. Mov. Sci.* 29, 483–493. doi: 10.1016/j.humov.2010. 05.004

Hristovski, R., and Balagué, N. (2020). Theory of cooperative-competitive intelligence: principles, research directions, and applications. *Front. Psychol.* 11:2220. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.02220

Hristovski, R., Venskaityte, E., Vainoras, A., Balagué, N., and Vázquez, P. (2010). Constraints-controlled metastable dynamics of exercise-induced psychobiological adaptation. *Medicine* 46, 447–453.

Jekauc, D. (2015). Enjoyment during exercise mediates the effects of an intervention on exercise adherence. *Psychology* 6, 48–53. doi: 10.4236/psych.2015. 61005

Jolly, K., Duda, J. L., Daley, A., Eves, F. F., Mutrie, N., Ntoumanis, N., et al. (2009). Evaluation of a standard provision versus an autonomy promotive exercise

referral programme: rationale and study design. *BMC Public Health* 9:176. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-9-176

Jones, L. W., Eves, N. D., and Scott, J. M. (2017). Bench-to-bedside approaches for personalised exercise therapy in cancer, American Society of Clinical Oncology educational book. *Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. Meet.* 37, 684–694. doi: 10.1200/EDBK\_ 173836

Kenney, W. L., Wilmore, J. H., and Costill, D. L. (2015). *Physiology of Sport and Exercise*, 6th Edn. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.

Klika, B., and Jordan, C. (2013). High-intensity circuit training using bodyweight. Am. Collegue Sports Med. Health Fitness J. 17, 8–13. doi: 10.1249/FIT. 0b013e31828cb1e8

Kwan, B. M., and Bryan, A. D. (2010). Affective response to exercise as a component of exercise motivation: attitudes, norms, self-efficacy, and temporal stability of intentions. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 11, 71–79. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport. 2009.05.010

Lakicevic, N., Gentile, A., Mehrabi, S., Cassar, S., Parker, K., Roklicer, R., et al. (2020). Make fitness fun: could novelty be the key determinant for physical activity adherence? *Front. Psychol.* 11:577522. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.577522

Leckey, J. (2011). The therapeutic effectiveness of creative activities on mental wellbeing: a systematic review of the literature: effectiveness of creative activities on mental wellbeing. *J. Psychiatr. Mental Health Nursing* 18, 501–509. doi: 10. 1111/j.1365-2850.2011.01693.x

Loehr, V. G., Baldwin, A. S., Rosenfield, D., and Smits, J. A. (2014). Weekly variability in outcome expectations: examining associations with related physical activity experiences during physical activity initiation. *J. Health Psychol.* 19, 1309–1319. doi: 10.1177/1359105313488981

Lovibond, P. F., and Lovibond, S. H. (1995). Manual for the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales, 2nd Edn. Sydney: Psychology Foundation.

Mehling, W. E., Price, C., Daubenmier, J. J., Acree, M., Bartmess, E., and Stewart, A. (2012). The multidimensional assessment of interoceptive awareness (MAIA). *PLoS One* 7:e48230. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048230

Molina, K. I., Ricci, N. A., de Moraes, S. A., and Perracini, M. R. (2014). Virtual reality using games for improving physical functioning in older adults: a systematic review. *J. Neuroeng. Rehabil.* 11:156. doi: 10.1186/1743-0003-11-156

Montull, L., Slapšinskaitė-Dackevičienė, A., Kiely, J., Hristovski, R., and Balagué, N. (2022). Integrative proposals of sports monitoring: subjective outperforms objective monitoring. *Sports Med. Open* 8:41. doi: 10.1186/s40798-022-00432-z

Montull, L., Vázquez, P., Rocas, L., Hristovski, R., and Balagué, N. (2020). Flow as an embodied state. informed awareness of slackline walking. *Front. Psychol.* 10:2993. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02993

Paluska, S. A., and Schwenk, T. L. (2000). Physical activity and mental health: current concepts. *Sports Med.* 29, 167–180. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200029030-00003

Papadakis, Z., Stamatis, A., Kukic, F., and Koropanovski, N. (2021). Moving past the one-size-fits-all education-training model of police academies to the selfprescribed individualised exercise prescription model. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18:11676. doi: 10.3390/ijerph182111676

Parfitt, G., and Gledhill, C. (2004). The effect of choice of exercise mode on psychological responses. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 5, 111–117.

Parfitt, G., Rose, E. A., and Burgess, W. M. (2006). The psychological and physiological responses of sedentary individuals to prescribed and preferred intensity exercise. *Br. J. Health Psychol.* 11(Pt 1), 39–53.

Pol, R., Balagué, N., Ric, A., Torrents, C., Kiely, J., and Hristovski, R. (2020). Training or synergising? Complex systems principles change the understanding of sport processes. *Sports Med. Open* 6:28. doi: 10.1186/s40798-020-00256-9

Pollock, M. L., Franklin, B. A., Balady, G. J., Chaitman, B. L., Flep, J. L., Fletcher, B., et al. (2000). AHA Science Advisory. Resistance exercise in individuals with and without cardiovascular disease: benefits, rationale, safety, and prescription: an advisory from the committee on exercise, rehabilitation, and prevention, council on clinical cardiology, american heart association; position paper endorsed by the American College of Sports Medicine: benefits, rationale, safety, and prescription an advisory from the committee on exercise, rehabilitation, and prevention, council on clinical cardiology. *Am. Heart Assoc. Circ.* 101, 828–833. doi: 10.1161/01.cir.101.7.828

Price, C. J., and Hooven, C. (2018). Interoceptive awareness skills for emotion regulation: theory and approach of mindful awareness in bodyoriented therapy (MABT). *Front. Psychol.* 9:798. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.0 0798

Rebar, A. L., Stanton, R., Geard, D., Short, C., Duncan, M. J., and Vandelanotte, C. (2015). A meta-meta-analysis of the effect of physical activity on depression and anxiety in non-clinical adult populations.

Health Psychol. Rev. 9, 366–378. doi: 10.1080/17437199.2015.10 22901

Riebe, D., Ehrman, J., Liguori, G., and Magal, M. (2018). ACSM's Guidelines for Exercise Testing and Pescription. Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer.

Salmon, P. (2001). Effects of physical exercise on anxiety, depression, and sensitivity to stress: a unifying theory. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 21, 33–61. doi: 10.1016/s0272-7358(99).00032-x

Schuch, F. B., Deslandes, A. C., Stubbs, B., Gosmann, N. P., Silva, C. T., and Fleck, M. P. (2016). Neurobiological effects of exercise on major depressive disorder: a systematic review. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 61, 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j. neubiorev.2015.11.012

Sørensen, J. B., Skovgaard, T., and Puggaard, L. (2006). Exercise on prescription in general practice: a systematic review. *Scand. J. Primary Health Care* 24, 69–74. doi: 10.1080/02813430600700027

Stanton, R., and Reaburn, P. (2014). Exercise and the treatment of depression: a review of the exercise program variables. *J. Sci. Med. Sport* 17, 177–182. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2013.03.010

Stonerock, G. L., Hoffman, B. M., Smith, P. J., and Blumenthal, J. A. (2015). Exercise as treatment for anxiety: systematic review and analysis. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 49, 542–556. doi: 10.1007/s12160-014-9685-9

Ströhle, A. (2009). Physical activity, exercise, depression and anxiety disorders. *J. Neural Transm.* 116, 777–784. doi: 10.1007/s00702-008-0092-x

Sturmberg, J. P. (2019). Embracing Complexity in Health. Cham: Springer International Publishing. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-10940-0

Sturmberg, J. P., Picard, M., Aron, D. C., Bennett, J. M., Bircher, J., deHaven, M. J., et al. (2019). Health and disease-emergent states resulting from adaptive

social and biological network interactions. *Front. Med.* 6:59. doi: 10.3389/fmed. 2019.00059

Swann, C., Jackman, P. C., Schweickle, M. J., and Vella, S. A. (2019). Optimal experiences in exercise: a qualitative investigation of flow and clutch states. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 40, 87–98. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2018.09.007

Valenzuela-Moguillansky, C., and Reyes-Reyes, A. (2015). Psychometric properties of the multidimensional assessment of interoceptive awareness (MAIA) in a chilean population. *Front. Psychol.* 6:120. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00120

Wackerhage, H., and Schoenfeld, B. J. (2021). Personalised, evidenceinformed training plans and exercise prescriptions for performance, fitness and health. *Sports Med.* 51, 1805–1813. doi: 10.1007/s40279-021-014 95-w

Williams, D. M. (2008). Exercise, affect, and adherence: an integrated model and a case for self-paced exercise. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 30, 471–496. doi: 10.1123/jsep. 30.5.471

World Health Organization [WHO] (2019). Global Action Plan on Physical Activity 2018-2030: More Active People for a Healthier World. Geneva: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization [WHO] (2020). Available online at: https: //www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/disease-prevention/physical-activity/news/ news/2020/3/how-to-stay-physically-active-during-covid-19-self-quarantine (accessed April 31, 2022).

Zimmer, P., Baumann, F. T., Oberste, M., Schmitt, J., Joisten, N., Hartig, P., et al. (2018). Influence of personalised exercise recommendations during rehabilitation on the sustainability of objectively measured physical activity levels, fatigue, and fatigue-related biomarkers in patients with breast cancer. *Integr. Cancer Ther.* 17, 306–311. doi: 10.1177/15347354177 13301

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Chong Chen, Yamaguchi University Graduate School of Medicine, Japan

REVIEWED BY Terry McMorris, University of Chichester, United Kingdom Yasuhiro Mochizuki, Waseda University, Japan

\*CORRESPONDENCE Tao Huang taohuang@sjtu.edu.cn

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Emotion Regulation and Processing, a section of the journal Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

RECEIVED 26 February 2022 ACCEPTED 24 June 2022 PUBLISHED 02 August 2022

#### CITATION

Zheng K, Deng Z, Qian J, Chen Y, Li S and Huang T (2022) Changes in working memory performance and cortical activity during acute aerobic exercise in young adults. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 16:884490. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2022.884490

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zheng, Deng, Qian, Chen, Li and Huang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Changes in working memory performance and cortical activity during acute aerobic exercise in young adults

# Kefeng Zheng<sup>1</sup>, Zhangyan Deng<sup>1,2</sup>, Jiali Qian<sup>1,2</sup>, Yanxia Chen<sup>1,2</sup>, Shiyuan Li<sup>1</sup> and Tao Huang<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Physical Education, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, <sup>2</sup>School of Education, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China

This study aimed to examine the concurrent performance of working memory and cortical activity during acute aerobic exercise in young adults. In a crossover study design, 27 young adults (mean age =  $22.7 \pm 3.4$  years, 15 women) participated in two experimental conditions in a randomized order: (1) sitting condition (without exercise) and (2) cycling condition (moderateintensity exercise). Working memory was measured with a modified version of the n-back task. A functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) was used to measure cortex activation. In the cycling condition, response time (RT) for the n-back task was significantly faster (p < 0.05). No differences in accuracy were observed between the sitting and cycling conditions. The fNIRS results showed that the oxygenated hemoglobin (oxy-Hb) concentrations in the bilateral frontopolar area (p < 0.05), dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (p < 0.05), and right premotor and supplementary cortex (p < 0.05) were decreased while cycling. The findings indicated that the concurrent performance of working memory was improved during acute aerobic exercise, whereas cortical activity was decreased in some brain regions.

#### KEYWORDS

exercise, working memory, cortical activity, fNIRS, young adults

# Introduction

Working memory is not only crucial to scholastic performance in childhood (Hitchcock and Westwell, 2017; Spiegel et al., 2021), but it is also linked with mental health in adulthood (Nikolas et al., 2019; Morales-Munoz et al., 2021) and successful aging (Bosnes et al., 2022). The prefrontal cortex (PFC) plays an important role in modulating higher-level functions such as working memory (Robbins and Arnsten, 2009; McGuire and Botvinick, 2010). Previous studies have shown that chronic exercise may improve working memory over the lifespan (Padilla et al., 2014; Xue et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2020; Ludyga et al., 2022). Few studies have assessed working memory performance during acute exercise. Clarifying how working memory performance is influenced during physical exertion has practical implications. For instance, successful sports performance, especially in open-skill exercise, highly depends on the ability to exercise concurrently

while undergoing cognitive demands (Davranche et al., 2005). Similarly, some high-stress occupations (e.g., firefighter or military personnel) involve higher-order cognitive processes (e.g., working memory) while simultaneously engaging in physical efforts (Stone et al., 2020).

Arousal level may be associated with cognitive performance (Lambourne and Tomporowski, 2010; Munn et al., 2021). An optimal level of arousal may be induced by moderateintensity exercise, thereby enhancing cognitive performance (Brisswalter et al., 2002; Tomporowski, 2003). Meanwhile, according to catecholamine hypothesis of exercise-cognition interaction, moderate-intensity exercise may facilitate cognitive performance (McMorris, 2021). However, existing studies yielded mixed findings regarding working memory performance during exercise. For instance, Martins et al. (2013) and Komiyama et al. (2017) found that working memory performance was improved during moderate-intensity exercise in young adults. In contrast, Audiffren et al. (2009) and Lambourne et al. (2010) suggested that working memory performance was maintained at the same level.

Most of the aforementioned studies were limited to behavioral measurements, whereas the cognitive task-evoked cortical activity associated with working memory during exercise was unclear. Previous neuroimaging studies, primarily using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) (Ding et al., 2021; Domingos et al., 2021) and electroencephalogram (EEG) (Chang et al., 2017; Silveira et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2019), have examined cognitive task-evoked neural activation after exercise intervention. However, the in-task cortical activity during exercise was less investigated. The neuroimaging technique functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS) provides non-invasive, portable measurements of cortical activation. It is relatively robust with motion artifacts, so it can be used to measure cortical hemodynamics under physically demanding conditions (Tempest and Reiss, 2019). Some available fNIRS studies suggested that cortical activation pattern changed when conducting cognitive tasks during exercise. One of our previous studies (Huang et al., 2019) examined the effects of self-paced low-intensity cycling on inhibitory control, cognitive flexibility, and cortical activation in young adults. The fNIRS results showed that the cycling condition resulted in lower oxygenated hemoglobin (oxy-Hb) concentrations associated with the Stroop interference effects in some PFC regions. In contrast, oxy-Hb concentrations associated with global switch costs were higher during cycling. An fNIRS study by Tempest and Reiss (2019) found that increased activation of the PFC associated with a working memory task during cycling. Therefore, further studies are needed to investigate the cognitive task-evoked cortical activity during exercise.

Taken together, changes in working memory performance and underlying cortical activation patterns during acute aerobic exercise remain unclear. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to investigate the performance of working memory and task-evoked cortical activity during acute aerobic exercise.

# **Methods**

#### Participants

Twenty-nine right-handed young adults voluntarily took part in this study. All the participants were recruited from Shanghai Jiao Tong University. No participants reported any cardiovascular diseases, mental illnesses, or neurological disorders. They were provided with informed consent forms before the experiment and full information on the protocol of the study. The protocol was reviewed and approved by the ethical committee of Shanghai Jiao Tong University (ethical code: H2020042I).

Sample size was determined using the G\*Power software (Faul et al., 2007). Statistical power and sample size calculations ( $\alpha = 0.05$ , 1- $\beta = 0.80$ ) were performed based on the effect size (Cohen's d = 0.55) of the study by Tempest and Reiss (2019). A total of 18 participants were required to achieve a power of 80% to detect a significant within-group difference. Finally, 29 participants volunteered to participate in this study. Two participants were excluded from data analyses because of non-compliance with the behavioral measurement, yielding a final sample of 27 participants (mean age 22.7 ± 3.4 years, 15 women). Additionally, six participants were discarded from the fNIRS analysis because of insufficient signal quality, resulting in 21 participants for the fNIRS analysis.

#### Experimental protocols

This study used a randomized crossover design. The participants visited the laboratory on three separate occasions. On the first visit, the participants' handedness was verified using a validated Chinese version of the Handedness questionnaire (Li, 1983). The participants completed a physical activity readiness questionnaire (PAR-Q) to ensure safety for the following assessment. In an incremental cycle ergometer test (Ergomedic 839E; Monark Exercise AB, Varberg, Sweden), maximal aerobic power (MAP) was measured in order to determine the individual exercise workload of the following moderate-intensity exercise protocol (50% MAP). An initial workload of 25 W was set, and the workload was gradually increased by 25 W every 2 min. The participants were advised to remain at or above 60 revolutions per minute (RPM) throughout the test. After exhaustion or when a participant could not maintain 60 RPM, the test was terminated. Heart rate (HR) was determined using a Suunto heart rate monitor (SuuntoM5; SUUNTO Inc., Vantaa, Finland). The Borg Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE) Scale was used to measure self-perceived

physical exertion (Borg, 1998). HR and RPE were recorded following each increment. The participants were verbally encouraged to achieve their maximum level, particularly once they reported an RPE of 17 or higher.

$$W_{max} = W_{com} + \frac{t}{120} * 25, \qquad (1)$$

MAP (Wmax) was calculated with the equation above (Kuipers et al., 1985), where W<sub>com</sub> represents the load of the last completed stage, and t (second) represents the time of the last incomplete stage. There was a 48-h interval between the MAP test and the first experimental session. The next two visits involved the sitting condition (without exercise) and the cycling condition (moderate-intensity exercise), which were conducted with a counterbalanced measure design (Figure 1A). Each condition occurred 7 days apart but at the same time of the day. For the cycling condition, the total duration consisted of 15 min of exercise on a cycle ergometer. The exercise began with a 3-min warmup in which the participants reached the desired steady-state heart rate (~64-76% HRmax). Then, the participants were required to maintain this intensity throughout the n-back task. The n-back task was performed at the fourth minute following the onset of exercise and lasted  $\sim$ 8 min. There was a 15-s "cognitive rest" interval between each block during which the participants continued to cycle. Finally, there was a 3-min active rest at a 30-W workload to bring the total cycling time to 15 min for each participant. The participants' HR and cortical activation were continuously monitored throughout the test. RPE and arousal levels were recorded immediately after exercise. The sitting condition used a similar procedure. The participants were required to perform the n-back task when sitting on the cycle ergometer without cycling. It is noteworthy that the sitting condition was shorter than the cycling condition because there was no warmup and an activerest period.

#### **Psychological measures**

The Felt Arousal Scale (FAS) was adopted to measure arousal level changes (Svebak and Murgatroyd, 1985). The scale ranges from 1 (low arousal) to 6 (high arousal). In this study, the participants were asked to rate their present psychological state before and immediately after the experimental conditions (pre and post-sessions).

#### n-back paradigm

This study employed modified versions of the n-back task (Kao et al., 2020), a well-known paradigm for investigating working memory. The task was programmed and presented

with the E-Prime 3.0 software (Psychology Software Tools Inc., United States). The number of stimuli (between 3 and 8) was displayed in the center of the screen (Figure 1B). The n-back task consisted of eight blocks of 96 trials. Each block included 12 trials (four target and eight non-target trials) presented in a pseudorandomized order. In each trial, a single number was presented in the center of a computer screen for 200 ms, followed by an inter-stimulus interval (ISI) of 2,300 ms. The participants should respond within 1,000 ms. Responding with a left-hand press ("F" key) was required when the current stimulus matched the stimulus from n-steps earlier in the sequence (i.e., target), and with the right-hand press ("J" key) when the current stimulus did not match the n steps earlier in the sequence (i.e., non-target). For instance, in the 2-back task condition, the participants were required to use their left hand to respond to the same number presented two trials earlier, and with their right hand to respond to all other numbers. Each task block began with a 5-s cue that informed of the following task condition, and the task blocks were separated with 15s resting periods. Each task block lasted 35 s, and the whole session lasted ~8 min. The participants were required to respond as quickly and accurately as possible. Response time (RT) and accuracy were recorded. An initial practice block was administered with 1-back and 2-back conditions before the experiment commenced to ensure that the participants understand the task.

### fNIRS measurement

During the two experimental conditions, cortical hemodynamic changes were monitored using a multichannel continuous-wave fNIRS system (NIRSport 2; NIRx Medical Technologies, United States) at a sampling rate of 6.78 Hz. The montage setup consisted of 12 dual-wavelength (760 and 850 nm) source probes, and 12 optical detector probes covered several 10-10 electroencephalography positions. By arranging the 12 sources and the 12 detector probes alternately at a distance of 3 cm, there are 34 channels (Figure 2). The probability of estimating spatial information (Supplementary Table 1) for each channel of a brain region was determined using the probabilistic estimation method (Okamoto et al., 2004; Tsuzuki et al., 2007). Optical density data were analyzed using the modified Beer-Lambert Law to calculate signals reflecting oxy-Hb, deoxygenated hemoglobin (deoxy-Hb), and total hemoglobin (total-Hb) signal changes. Compared to deoxy-Hb and total-Hb signals, oxy-Hb signals have a higher signal-to-noise ratio (Strangman et al., 2002) and retest reliability (Plichta et al., 2006). Therefore, this study used oxy-Hb signals as indicators of regional cortex activity.



#### fNIRS data analysis

The raw data of fNIRS were preprocessed using NIRSLAB (NIRx, United States). A bandpass filter (in the 0.01 to 0.5 Hz range to remove noise like respiratory frequency, low-frequency oscillations, and Mayer waves) was applied, and the data were converted to oxy-Hb concentrations. The mean values of the oxy-Hb concentrations from the baseline (0–2 s before the onset of the trial) and the task (4–50 s after the onset of the trial) were computed for each participant, region of interest (ROI), and task condition.

In previous studies, some brain regions were activated during similar motor (bilateral motor cortex) and n-back (bilateral PFC) tasks (Tempest and Reiss, 2019). Thus, the ROIs in this study included the bilateral frontopolar area (FPA), dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC), ventrolateral prefrontal cortex (VLPFC), middle temporal gyrus (MTG), and pre-motor and supplementary cortex (MC) regions. For ROI definition, this study used the automated anatomical labeling atlas Brodmann (Rorden and Brett, 2000). Regions included the left (channels 1, 2, and 9–11) and right (channels 23–27) FPAs, left (channels 8, 13, and 15–17) and right (channels 19, 28–30, and 32) DLPFCs, left (channels 5–7) and right (channels 31, 33, and 34) VLPFCs, left (channels 12 and 4) and right (channels 18 and 20) MCs (Figure 3).

### Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS V.22 (IBM, Chicago, IL, United States). The RT and accuracy of the n-back task and oxy-Hb signal changes in all the ROIs were analyzed by 2 (experimental condition: sitting and cycling) × 2 (task condition: 1-back and 2-back) repeated-measures analysis of variance (RM-ANOVA). Spearman's correlation coefficients were calculated to evaluate the relationship between exercise-induced arousal and n-back task performance. Partial eta squared ( $\eta_p^2$ ) was calculated as a measure of effect size. Statistical significance levels were set at p < 0.05. False discovery rate (FDR) was used to control for multiple testing for ROI-wise analyses of the fNIRS data.

## Results

# Physiological and psychological parameters

The changes in heart rate and arousal level are presented in Figure 4. The mean of HR and RPE in the cycling condition was 131.14  $\pm$  11.55 beats/min (~73% HR<sub>max</sub>) and 13.59  $\pm$  1.15 points, respectively. The two physiological parameters showed that the exercise intensity of cycling condition was moderate



based on the American College of Sports Medicine (ACSM) guidelines (Garber et al., 2011).

### **Behavioral results**

For RT, as shown in Figure 5, the RM-ANOVA revealed that the main effects of the task and experimental conditions were both significant [ $F_{(1,26)} = 30.72$ ,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.54$ , p < 0.001, and  $F_{(1,26)} = 4.78$ ,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.16$ , p < 0.05, respectively]. The RT of the 1-back task was significantly faster than that of the 2-back task. In the sitting condition, the RT of the 1-back task was significantly faster than that of the 2-back task. In the sitting condition, the RT of the 1-back task was significantly faster than that of the 2-back task (400.96  $\pm$  29.17 ms vs. 467.3  $\pm$  35.11 ms, p < 0.001). Accuracy was not significantly different between the 1-back and 2-back tasks (96.46  $\pm$  0.74% vs. 95.74  $\pm$  0.95%, p > 0.05). In the cycling condition, the RT of the 1-back task was significantly faster than that of the 2-back task (363.85  $\pm$  24.12 ms vs. 418.48  $\pm$  28.24 ms, p < 0.001). There

were no significant differences in accuracy between the 1-back and 2-back tasks (95.62  $\pm$  0.93% vs. 93.8  $\pm$  1.23%, p > 0.05). The RT of the cycling condition was significantly faster than that of the sitting condition (391.17  $\pm$  25.26 ms vs. 434.13  $\pm$  31.56 ms, p < 0.05). The RM-ANOVA performed on the accuracy of the n-back task revealed that there were no significant main or interaction effects.

### fNIRS results

The RM-ANOVA performed on ROI-wise oxy-Hb concentrations revealed that there were significant main effects of the task condition on r-VLPFC [ $F_{(1,20)} = 6.92$ ,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.26$ , p < 0.05, FDR-corrected] and l-MTG [ $F_{(1,20)} = 5.04$ ,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.2$ , p < 0.05, FDR-corrected]. The results showed that oxy-Hb concentrations were significantly greater in the 2-back task than in the 1-back task in r-VLPFC and l-MTG





(Supplementary Table 2). Also, there were significant main effects of the experimental condition on the following: l-FPA  $[F_{(1,20)} = 5.79, \eta_p^2 = 0.22, p < 0.05, FDR-corrected], r-FPA <math>[F_{(1,20)} = 9.38, \eta^2 p = 0.27, p < 0.05, FDR-corrected], l-DLPFC [F_{(1,20)} = 6.42, \eta_p^2 = 0.24, p < 0.05, FDR-corrected], r-DLPFC [F_{(1,20)} = 7.27, \eta_p^2 = 0.27, p < 0.05, FDR-corrected], r-MC [F_{(1,20)} = 5.99, \eta_p^2 = 0.23, p < 0.05, FDR-corrected]. The results showed that oxy-Hb concentrations in the cycling condition were significantly lower than those in the sitting condition (l-FPA: 0.15 ± 0.37 vs. <math>-1.57 \pm 0.61$ ; r-FPA:  $-0.11 \pm 0.39$  vs.  $-2.26 \pm 0.71$ ; l-DLPFC: 0.68 ± 0.45 vs.  $-0.86 \pm 0.35$ ; r-DLPFC:

 $0.55 \pm 0.32$  vs.  $-1.1 \pm 0.54$ ; l-MC:  $0.54 \pm 0.27$  vs.  $-0.74 \pm 0.52$ ; r-MC:  $0.66 \pm 0.29$  vs.  $-0.37 \pm 0.43$ ) (Figure 6). The RM-ANOVA performed on ROI-wise oxy-Hb concentrations revealed a significant interaction between the experimental and task conditions in the following: l-FPA [ $F_{(1,20)} = 6.11$ ,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.23$ , p < 0.05, FDR-corrected], r-FPA [ $F_{(1,20)} = 9.33$ ,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.32$ , p < 0.05, FDR-corrected], r-DLPFC [ $F_{(1,20)} = 5.76$ ,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.22$ , p < 0.05, FDR-corrected], and r-MC [ $F_{(1,20)} = 12.11$ ,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.38$ , p < 0.05, FDR-corrected]. The results demonstrated that oxy-Hb concentrations in response to the 2-back task in the cycling condition were significantly lower



FIGURE 5

RT and accuracy of the n-back task. (A) Comparison of RT between the sitting and cycling conditions. (B) Comparison of accuracy between the sitting and cycling conditions. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard error. \* indicates p < 0.05; \*\* indicates p < 0.001.



Cortical activation patterns during the n-back task in the sitting and cycling conditions. (A) F-map of oxy-Hb concentrations reflecting the main effect of the experimental condition. The significant main effect of the experimental condition between sitting and cycling conditions can be seen in the bilateral FPA, DLPFC, and r-MC ( $\rho < 0.05$ , FDR-corrected) among the ten regions of interest. F-values are displayed according to the color bar. (B-F) The mean difference of oxy-Hb concentrations between 1-back and 2-back conditions in both the bilateral FPA, DLPFC, and r-MC for sitting and cycling conditions.



than those in the sitting condition. Oxy-Hb concentrations in response to the 2-back task in r-MC were significantly higher than those in response to the 1-back task in the sitting condition (Supplementary Tables 2, 3).

# The link between exercise-induced arousal, behavioral and fNIRS results

The RM-ANOVA was conducted to examine the changes in arousal level. The results showed that there was a significant interaction between condition and session factors  $[F_{(1,27)} =$ 9.31, p < 0.05] and the main effects for condition [ $F_{(1,27)} = 26, p$ < 0.001] and the sessions  $[F_{(1,27)} = 29.21, p < 0.001]$ . There was no difference in pre-session arousal levels between the sitting and cycling conditions  $[F_{(1,27)} = 3.58, p > 0.05]$ . Furthermore, the arousal level increased significantly immediately after moderate-intensity exercise  $[F_{(1,27)} = 60.09, p < 0.001]$ . Postsession arousal levels for cycling were significantly higher than post-session arousal levels for the sitting condition  $[F_{(1,27)} =$ 46.27, p < 0.001]. In addition, 1-back and 2-back RTs were negatively correlated with exercise-induced arousal levels in the cycling condition (r = -0.39, r = -0.55, p < 0.05, respectively, Figure 7). The negative correlation between arousal level and RT indicated that improved working memory performance was associated with elevated level of arousal. There was, however, no significant interaction or main effect for accuracy.

To examine the association between the cycling conditionrelated response time shortening (1-back and 2-back) and cortical activity in the bilateral FPA, DLPFC, and r-MC, the McNemar test was adopted to assess the correspondence between the two incidences (Stegman, 1989; Yanagisawa et al., 2010). The results demonstrated that the coincidence frequencies for the bilateral FPA, DLPFC, and r-MC were not statistically significant (all p > 0.05). Therefore, the present results indicate that the improved working memory performance demonstrated in RT and the bilateral FPA, DLPFC, and r-MC activations were not significantly coincided.

# Discussion

This study examined the concurrent performance of the nback task and cortical activity during acute moderate-intensity exercise in young adults. It was demonstrated that the RT in the n-back task was facilitated without sacrificing the accuracy in the cycling condition. The fNIRS results indicated that, compared with the sitting condition, the cycling condition resulted in lower oxy-Hb concentrations in the bilateral FPA, DLPFC, and r-MC.

In this study, the concurrent performance of the n-back task was improved during moderate-intensity exercise, as indicated by a faster RT. Currently, only a limited number of studies have investigated the effects of exercise on the concurrent performance of working memory in young adults. Martins et al. (2013) found that the performance of the paced auditory serial addition task (PASAT) and Sternberg task performance were improved during moderate-intensity exercise. Komiyama et al. (2017) also demonstrated a positive effect on working memory measured by spatial delayed response task (Spatial DR) during moderate-intensity exercise. However, some studies observed that working memory was not changed in this exercise intensity (Audiffren et al., 2009; Lambourne et al., 2010; Komiyama et al., 2015, 2020). The discrepancy may be due to the characteristics of varied working memory tasks.

105

Exercise duration may also moderate the exercise-working memory relationship. For instance, some studies with a relatively short duration have shown positive effects on working memory (Martins et al., 2013; Komiyama et al., 2017), whereas no effects were observed in a relatively long duration (30 min or more) (Audiffren et al., 2009; Lambourne et al., 2010; Komiyama et al., 2015).

The arousal measured by FAS significantly increased to a moderate level during cycling. The RT of the n-back task was negatively associated with arousal level, suggesting that working memory performance improved after the rise of arousal during the exercise. Previous studies have suggested an inverted Ushaped relationship between arousal and information processing (Tomporowski, 2003; Lambourne and Tomporowski, 2010). Therefore, the current study supported that exercise-induced elevation of arousal level may, in part, account for the faster RT during the cycling condition. In addition, the catecholamine hypothesis posits that increased phasic release of dopamine and norepinephrine during moderate-intensity exercise enhances cognitive performance, which provide another plausible explanation of the processes involved in facilitating working memory performance during moderate-intensity exercise (McMorris, 2016, 2021).

Concerning the findings of fNIRS, the in-task oxy-Hb concentrations in the bilateral FPA, DLPFC, and r-MC were lower in the cycling condition, which suggested that cortical activation was reduced in those regions during the moderateintensity exercise. The underlying mechanisms remain unclear. A motor and cognitive dual-task condition is considered more complex and requires both motor and cognitive brain resources (Maidan et al., 2021). It is plausible that simultaneously performing motor and cognitive tasks may lead to competition and reallocation of metabolic and attentional resources. Since the neural circuitry involved in initiation, control, and maintenance of movements requires considerable metabolic resources (Friedman et al., 1982; Lambourne and Tomporowski, 2010), more brain resources were reallocated in the primary motor cortex during the moderate-intensity exercise. However, it remains to be investigated why oxy-Hb concentrations were decreased in the bilateral FPA, DLPFC, and r-MC but not in the other regions.

The current results support those of Lucas et al. (2012) and Schmit et al. (2015). They found that inhibitory control performance was improved during high-intensity exercise despite a decrease in cerebral oxygenation in the PFC. One of our previous studies (Huang et al., 2019) also found that self-paced low-intensity cycling resulted in lower in-task oxy-Hb concentrations in the FPA and DLPFC. Conversely, the present findings are in contrast with a previous study by Stone et al. (2020), which examined cognitive flexibility during graded exercise in military personnel. They found that PFC oxygenation significantly rose across exercise intensities. Similarly, Tempest and Reiss (2019) measured working memory performance using the n-back task under different exercise intensities. They found significant activation in the left PFC while cycling at moderate intensity. Therefore, the cortical hemodynamic changes while simultaneously performing cognitive and motor tasks remain to be elucidated in future studies.

The current study was among the first few ones to examine the in-task cortical activity during aerobic exercise by fNIRS. This study also has some limitations. First, due to the limitation of fNIRS measurement, the set-up of source and detector probes primarily covered the PFC and part of the pre-motor region. The cortical activity in parietal regions and primary motor cortex was not monitored during the task. Therefore, the relationship and interaction of cortical activity between the PFC and other brain regions were not examined. Second, the current study's duration of simultaneously performing cognitive tasks and cycling was about 8 minutes. Potential dynamic changes in working memory and cortical activity during prolonged exercise need investigation in future studies. Third, the study was conducted on young adults; therefore, the findings cannot be directly generalized to other age groups. Future studies are needed to verify the findings in broader age groups.

# Conclusions

The findings suggested that the concurrent performance of working memory was improved during acute aerobic exercise, as indicated by faster RT. However, in-task cortical activity was decreased in bilateral FPA, DLPFC, and r-MC.

# Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

# **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board for Human Research Protections, Shanghai Jiao Tong University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# Author contributions

KZ and TH: conceptualization and writing—original draft preparation. KZ, YC, TH, and ZD: methodology. KZ and ZD: formal analysis. KZ, YC, and ZD: resources. KZ, ZD, JQ, YC, SL, and TH: data collection and writing—review and editing. KZ, SL, and TH: data curation. TH: supervision and project administration. All authors have read and approved to the submitted version of the manuscript.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

## References

Audiffren, M., Tomporowski, P. D., and Zagrodnik, J. (2009). Acute aerobic exercise and information processing: modulation of executive control in a Random Number Generation task. *Acta Psychol.* 132, 85–95. doi: 10.1016/j.actpsy.2009.06.008

Borg, G. (1998). Borg's Perceived Exertion and Pain Scales. Champaign, IL: Human kinetics.

Bosnes, I., Bosnes, O., Stordal, E., Nordahl, H. M., Myklebust, T. A., and Almkvist, O. (2022). Processing speed and working memory are predicted by components of successful aging: a HUNT study. *BMC Psychol.* 10, 16. doi: 10.1186/s40359-022-00718-7

Brisswalter, J., Collardeau, M., and Rene, A. (2002). Effects of acute physical exercise characteristics on cognitive performance. *Sports Med.* 32, 555–566. doi: 10.2165/00007256-200232090-00002

Chang, Y. K., Alderman, B. L., Chu, C. H., Wang, C. C., Song, T. F., and Chen, F. T. (2017). Acute exercise has a general facilitative effect on cognitive function: a combined ERP temporal dynamics and BDNF study. *Psychophysiology* 54, 289–300. doi: 10.1111/psyp.12784

Davranche, K., Burle, B., Audiffren, M., and Hasbroucq, T. (2005). Information processing during physical exercise: a chronometric and electromyographic study. *Exp. Brain Res.* 165, 532–540. doi: 10.1007/s00221-005-2331-9

Ding, Q., Huang, L., Chen, J., Dehghani, F., Du, J., Li, Y., et al. (2021). Sports augmented cognitive benefits: an fMRI study of executive function with Go/NoGo task. *Neural Plast.* 2021, 7476717. doi: 10.1155/2021/7476717

Domingos, C., Pego, J. M., and Santos, N. C. (2021). Effects of physical activity on brain function and structure in older adults: a systematic review. *Behav. Brain Res.* 402, 113061. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2020.113061

Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., and Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behav. Res. Methods.* 39, 175–191. doi: 10.3758/BF03 193146

Friedman, A., Dafoe, C. G., Polson, M. C., and Gaskill, S. J. (1982). Dividing attention within and between hemispheres - testing a multiple resources approach to limited-capacity information-processing. *J. Exp. Psychol. Human.* 8, 625–650. doi: 10.1037/0096-1523.8.5.625

Garber, C. E., Blissmer, B., Deschenes, M. R., Franklin, B. A., Lamonte, M. J., Lee, I. M., et al. (2011). American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardiorespiratory, musculoskeletal, and neuromotor fitness in apparently healthy adults: guidance for prescribing exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 43, 1334–1359. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e318213fefb

Hitchcock, C., and Westwell, M. S. (2017). A cluster-randomised, controlled trial of the impact of cogmed working memory training on both academic performance and regulation of social, emotional and behavioural challenges. *J. Child Psychol. Psyc.* 58, 140–150. doi: 10.1111/jcpp. 12638

Huang, T., Gu, Q., Deng, Z. Y., Tsai, C. L., Xue, Y., Zhang, J. M., et al. (2019). Executive function performance in young adults when cycling at an active workstation: an fNIRS study. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 16, 1119. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16071119

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

# Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnbeh. 2022.884490/full#supplementary-material

Kao, S. C., Wang, C. H., and Hillman, C. H. (2020). Acute effects of aerobic exercise on response variability and neuroelectric indices during a serial n-back task. *Brain Cogn.* 138, 105508. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2019.105508

Komiyama, T., Katayama, K., Sudo, M., Ishida, K., Higaki, Y., and Ando, S. (2017). Cognitive function during exercise under severe hypoxia. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 10000. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-10332-y

Komiyama, T., Sudo, M., Higaki, Y., Kiyonaga, A., Tanaka, H., and Ando, S. (2015). Does moderate hypoxia alter working memory and executive function during prolonged exercise? *Physiol. Behav.* 139, 290–296. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2014.11.057

Komiyama, T., Tanoue, Y., Sudo, M., Costello, J. T., Uehara, Y., Higaki, Y., et al. (2020). Cognitive impairment during high-intensity exercise: Influence of cerebral blood flow. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 52, 561–568. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000002183

Kuipers, H., Verstappen, F. T., Keizer, H. A., Geurten, P., and van Kranenburg, G. (1985). Variability of aerobic performance in the laboratory and its physiologic correlates. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 6, 197–201. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1025839

Lambourne, K., Audiffren, M., and Tomporowski, P. D. (2010). Effects of acute exercise on sensory and executive processing tasks. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 42, 1396–1402. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181cbee11

Lambourne, K., and Tomporowski, P. (2010). The effect of exercise-induced arousal on cognitive task performance: a meta-regression analysis. *Brain Res.* 1341, 12–24. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2010.03.091

Li, X. (1983). The distribution of left and right handedness in Chinese people. *ACTA Psychol. SINICA*. 3, 276.

Liu, S., Yu, Q., Li, Z., Cunha, P. M., Zhang, Y., Kong, Z., et al. (2020). Effects of acute and chronic exercises on executive function in children and adolescents: a systemic review and meta-analysis. *Front. Psychol.* 11, 554915. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.554915

Lucas, S. J., Ainslie, P. N., Murrell, C. J., Thomas, K. N., Franz, E. A., and Cotter, J. D. (2012). Effect of age on exercise-induced alterations in cognitive executive function: relationship to cerebral perfusion. *Exp. Gerontol.* 47, 541–551. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2011.12.002

Ludyga, S., Gerber, M., and Kamijo, K. (2022). Exercise types and working memory components during development. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 26, 191–203. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2021.12.004

Maidan, I., Mirelman, A., Hausdorff, J. M., Stern, Y., and Habeck, C. G. (2021). Distinct cortical thickness patterns link disparate cerebral cortex regions to select mobility domains. *Sci. Rep.* 11, 6600. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-85058-z

Martins, A. Q., Kavussanu, M., Willoughby, A., and Ring, C. (2013). Moderate intensity exercise facilitates working memory. *Psychol. Sport Exerc.* 14, 323–328. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2012.11.010

McGuire, J. T., and Botvinick, M. M. (2010). Prefrontal cortex, cognitive control, and the registration of decision costs. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 7922–7926. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0910662107

McMorris, T. (2016). Developing the catecholamines hypothesis for the acute exercise-cognition interaction in humans: Lessons from animal studies. *Physiol. Behav.* 165, 291–299. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.08.011
McMorris, T. (2021). The acute exercise-cognition interaction: from the catecholamines hypothesis to an interoception model. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 170, 75–88. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2021.10.005

Morales-Munoz, I., Upthegrove, R., Mallikarjun, P. K., Broome, M. R., and Marwaha, S. (2021). Longitudinal associations between cognitive deficits in childhood and psychopathological symptoms in adolescence and young adulthood. *JAMA Netw. Open* 4, e214724. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.4724

Munn, B. R., Muller, E. J., Wainstein, G., and Shine, J. M. (2021). The ascending arousal system shapes neural dynamics to mediate awareness of cognitive states. *Nat. Commun.* 12, 6016. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-26268-x

Nikolas, M. A., Marshall, P., and Hoelzle, J. B. (2019). The role of neurocognitive tests in the assessment of adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Psychol. Assess.* 31, 685–698. doi: 10.1037/pas0000688

Okamoto, M., Dan, H., Sakamoto, K., Takeo, K., Shimizu, K., Kohno, S., et al. (2004). Three-dimensional probabilistic anatomical cranio-cerebral correlation via the international 10-20 system oriented for transcranial functional brain mapping. *Neuroimage* 21, 99–111. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.200 3.08.026

Padilla, C., Perez, L., and Andres, P. (2014). Chronic exercise keeps working memory and inhibitory capacities fit. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 8, 49. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2014.00049

Plichta, M. M., Herrmann, M. J., Baehne, C. G., Ehlis, A. C., Richter, M. M., Pauli, P., et al. (2006). Event-related functional near-infrared spectroscopy (fNIRS): are the measurements reliable? *Neuroimage* 31, 116–124. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.12.008

Robbins, T. W., and Arnsten, A. F. (2009). The neuropsychopharmacology of fronto-executive function: monoaminergic modulation. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 32, 267–287. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.051508.135535

Rorden, C., and Brett, M. (2000). Stereotaxic display of brain lesions. *Behav.* Neurol. 12, 191-200. doi: 10.1155/2000/421719

Schmit, C., Davranche, K., Easthope, C. S., Colson, S. S., Brisswalter, J., and Radel, R. (2015). Pushing to the limits: the dynamics of cognitive control during exhausting exercise. *Neuropsychologia* 68, 71–81. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2015.01.006

Silveira, R., Prado, R. C. R., Brietzke, C., Coelho-Junior, H. J., Santos, T. M., Pires, F. O., et al. (2019). Prefrontal cortex asymmetry and psychological responses to exercise: a systematic review. *Physiol. Behav.* 208, 112580. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2019.112580

Spiegel, J. A., Goodrich, J. M., Morris, B. M., Osborne, C. M., and Lonigan, C. J. (2021). Relations between executive functions and academic outcomes in elementary school children: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 147, 329–351. doi: 10.1037/bul0000322

Stegman, C. E. (1989). Nonparametric Statistics for the Behavioral-Sciences, 2nd Edition, Siegel, S, Castellan, Nj. *Contemp Psychol.* 34, 773–774. doi: 10.1037/031007

Stone, B. L., Beneda-Bender, M., McCollum, D. L., Sun, J., Shelley, J. H., Ashley, J. D., et al. (2020). Understanding cognitive performance during exercise in Reserve Officers' Training Corps: establishing the executive function-exercise intensity relationship. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 129, 846–854. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.004 83.2020

Strangman, G., Culver, J. P., Thompson, J. H., and Boas, D. A. (2002). A quantitative comparison of simultaneous BOLD fMRI and NIRS recordings during functional brain activation. *Neuroimage* 17, 719–731. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2002.1227

Svebak, S., and Murgatroyd, S. (1985). Metamotivational dominance: a multimethod validation of reversal theory constructs. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 48, 107–116. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.48.1.107

Tempest, G. D., and Reiss, A. L. (2019). The utility of functional near-infrared spectroscopy for measuring cortical activity during cycling exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 51, 979–987. doi: 10.1249/MSS.0000000000 01875

Tomporowski, P. D. (2003). Effects of acute bouts of exercise on cognition. Acta Psychol. 112, 297–324. doi: 10.1016/S0001-6918(02)00134-8

Tsuzuki, D., Jurcak, V., Singh, A. K., Okamoto, M., Watanabe, E., and Dan, I. (2007). Virtual spatial registration of stand-alone fNIRS data to MNI space. *Neuroimage* 34, 1506–1518. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.10.043

Wu, C. H., Karageorghis, C. I., Wang, C. C., Chu, C. H., Kao, S. C., Hung, T. M., et al. (2019). Effects of acute aerobic and resistance exercise on executive function: an ERP study. *J. Sci. Med. Sport.* 22, 1367–1372. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2019. 07.009

Xue, Y., Yang, Y. X., and Huang, T. (2019). Effects of chronic exercise interventions on executive function among children and adolescents: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Br. J. Sport Med.* 53, 1397–1404. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2018-099825

Yanagisawa, H., Dan, I., Tsuzuki, D., Kato, M., Okamoto, M., Kyutoku, Y., et al. (2010). Acute moderate exercise elicits increased dorsolateral prefrontal activation and improves cognitive performance with Stroop test. *Neuroimage* 50, 1702–1710. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.12.023

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Chong Chen, Yamaguchi University Graduate School of Medicine, Japan

REVIEWED BY Tao Huang, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China Zhaowei Kong, University of Macau, Macao SAR, China Lei Cui, Beijing Normal University, China

\*CORRESPONDENCE Mizuki Sudo mi-sudo@my-zaidan.or.jp Soichi Ando soichi.ando@uec.ac.jp

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Motivation and Reward, a section of the journal Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

RECEIVED 31 May 2022 ACCEPTED 29 August 2022 PUBLISHED 23 September 2022

#### CITATION

Sudo M, Costello JT, McMorris T and Ando S (2022) The effects of acute high-intensity aerobic exercise on cognitive performance: A structured narrative review. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 16:957677. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2022.957677

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Sudo, Costello, McMorris and Ando. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# The effects of acute high-intensity aerobic exercise on cognitive performance: A structured narrative review

Mizuki Sudo<sup>1\*</sup>, Joseph T. Costello<sup>2</sup>, Terry McMorris<sup>2,3</sup> and Soichi Ando<sup>4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Physical Fitness Research Institute, Meiji Yasuda Life Foundation of Health and Welfare, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>2</sup>Extreme Environments Laboratory, School of Sport, Health and Exercise Science, University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth, United Kingdom, <sup>3</sup>Institute of Sport, University of Chichester, Chichester, United Kingdom, <sup>4</sup>Graduate School of Informatics and Engineering, The University of Electro-Communications, Chofu, Japan

It is well established that acute moderate-intensity exercise improves cognitive performance. However, the effects of acute high-intensity aerobic exercise on cognitive performance have not been well characterized. In this review, we summarize the literature investigating the exercise-cognition interaction, especially focusing on high-intensity aerobic exercise. We discuss methodological and physiological factors that potentially mediate cognitive performance in response to high-intensity exercise. We propose that the effects of high-intensity exercise on cognitive performance are primarily affected by the timing of cognitive task (during vs. after exercise, and the time delay after exercise). In particular, cognitive performance is more likely to be impaired during high-intensity exercise when both cognitive and physiological demands are high and completed simultaneously (i.e., the dual-task paradigm). The effects may also be affected by the type of cognitive task, physical fitness, exercise mode/duration, and age. Second, we suggest that interactions between changes in regional cerebral blood flow (CBF), cerebral oxygenation, cerebral metabolism, neuromodulation by neurotransmitters/neurotrophic factors, and a variety of psychological factors are promising candidates that determine cognitive performance in response to acute high-intensity exercise. The present review has implications for recreational, sporting, and occupational activities where high cognitive and physiological demands are required to be completed concurrently.

#### KEYWORDS

cognition, dual task, cerebral blood flow, cerebral oxygenation, cerebral metabolism, neuromodulation

## Introduction

A growing body of evidence suggests that acute moderateintensity exercise improves cognitive performance (Lambourne and Tomporowski, 2010; Chang et al., 2012; Ando et al., 2020; McMorris, 2021). It has been speculated that the relationship between exercise intensity and cognitive performance is inverted-U shaped (Lambourne and Tomporowski, 2010; Chang et al., 2012; McMorris, 2021). In the inverted-U theory, acute exercise gradually increases arousal to an optimal level from rest to moderate intensity and thus improves cognitive performance. A recent review summarized that improvements in cognitive performance following moderate-intensity exercise are frequently accompanied by the changes in brain activation assessed by electroencephalogram (EEG) (Kao et al., 2020), which appears to support the theory that acute exercise alters brain activity and that this is associated with cognitive performance. Acute high-intensity aerobic exercise leads to metabolic, circulatory, and neurohormonal changes at the level of the brain (Ide and Secher, 2000; Meeusen et al., 2001; Nybo and Secher, 2004; Ogoh and Ainslie, 2009; Seifert and Secher, 2011). In contrast to moderate-intensity exercise, theoretically, high-intensity exercise may, therefore, also lead to altered, and potentially impaired cognitive performance. Indeed, the inverted-U theory predicts that high-intensity exercise increases arousal levels beyond the optimal level and leads to a temporary reduction in cognitive performance. However, the current literature base detailing the effects of high-intensity exercise on cognitive performance is not fully supportive of this theory and is somewhat ambiguous and contradictory (Browne et al., 2017; Moreau and Chou, 2019; Cantelon and Giles, 2021; McMorris, 2021; Zheng et al., 2021).

Dietrich and Audiffren (2011) proposed the hypofrontality hypothesis to explain how acute high-intensity exercise affects cognitive performance. The prefrontal cortex (PFC) orchestrates higher-order brain function including cognitive function (Miller and Cohen, 2001; Cools and Arnsten, 2021) and is thought to play a central role in cognitive performance. Acute exercise activates brain regions including motor and sensory cortices, insular cortex, and cerebellum (Williamson et al., 1997; Christensen et al., 2000; Hiura et al., 2014). Hence, the hypofrontality theory speculates that extensive activation of motor and sensory systems during high-intensity exercise likely attenuates higher-order functions of the PFC as the brain has finite metabolic resources (Dietrich and Audiffren, 2011). More recently, McMorris proposed an interoceptive model to explain the effects of high-intensity exercise on cognitive performance (McMorris, 2021). This model offers a more holistic overview of the interaction as it incorporates motivation, perceived effort costs, and perceived availability of resources, together with regional activations and neurotransmitter releases in the brain. Nevertheless, to date, the physiological and psychological mechanism(s) mediating the effects of acute high-intensity exercise on cognitive performance are poorly understood.

In this review, we first summarize the findings of studies investigating the exercise-cognition interaction, especially focusing on high-intensity aerobic exercise. Then, we explore methodological and physiological factors which may alter cognitive performance in response to high-intensity exercise. This review has implications for recreational, sporting, and occupational activities where high cognitive and physiological demands are simultaneously required.

## Methodology

A literature search was undertaken using Pubmed to identify studies that examined the effects of high-intensity aerobic exercise on cognitive performance, assessed during and/or after exercise. The reference lists of relevant articles were also searched. The searches were undertaken in February 2022 and relevant articles were obtained. This review focused on healthy adults, and no restrictions were placed on publication date, study design, methodology, or method of assessing cognitive performance. High-intensity aerobic exercise was defined as exercise equating to  $\geq$  80% maximum power output (Browne et al., 2017),  $\geq$  80% maximal oxygen uptake  $(\dot{V}O_2)$  (McMorris, 2016b), or equivalent [e.g.,  $\geq$  80% maximal heart rate (HR)]. Physiological demands are different between continuous and intermittent high-intensity exercise. Thus, we included high-intensity aerobic exercise in this review, and studies incorporating high-intensity interval exercise (HIIE) were considered outside the scope of this review. If specifically interested in this, readers are referred to a recent review that has already explored the effects of HIIE on executive function (Hsieh et al., 2021). In addition, we did not include studies conducted in extreme environments, such as hypoxia and hot/cold environments. However, we referred to evidence from HIIE studies, or studies in extreme environments, for discussion since physiological mechanisms underlying cognitive improvement/impairment in response to HIIE exercise or exercise in extreme environments are, at least partly, shared with those induced by high-intensity aerobic exercise.

## Results

Details of the included studies are shown in Table 1, comprising a total of 40 studies (assessed during exercise only, n = 20; assessed both during and after exercise, n = 3; assessed after exercise only, n = 17). In many studies, cognitive performance was impaired during high-intensity exercise (Chmura et al., 1994; McMorris and Keen, 1994; Brisswalter et al., 1997; McMorris et al., 2009; Labelle et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013; Dutke et al., 2014; Mekari et al., 2015;

TABLE 1	Summary	of the	findings.
---------	---------	--------	-----------

References	s Participants (F)	Category of cognitive task	Cognitive task(s) (number of trials, duration)	Exercise modality/intensity	Exercise duration (high intensity only) or until exhaustion	Timing of cognitive task	Physiological variables	Main findings
Chmura et al. (1994)	<i>N</i> = 22 (0) Young	Psychomotor task	Choice RT (30 trials, 107 s)	Cycling Near maximal (300 W)	6 min	During	Blood catecholamine, lactate	RT: impairment
McMorris and Keen (1994)	d $N = 12$ (4) Young	Psychomotor task	Simple RT (15 trials)	Cycling 100% maximum workload	Not reported	During	-	RT: impairment
McMorris and Graydon (1997)	d <i>N</i> = 12 (0) Young	Attentional task executive function	Soccer specific visual search task (30 slides) Soccer specific decision making task (15 trials)	Cycling 100% maximum power output	Not reported	During	-	Visual search: improvement Decision making: improvement
McMorris et a (2009)	al. <i>N</i> = 24 (0) Young	Executive function	Flanker task (96 trials)	Cycling 80% maximum aerobic power	15 min or until exhaustion	During	Blood catecholamine, adrenocorticotropic hormone, cortisol	RT: impairment Accuracy: impairment
Ando et al. (2011)	<i>N</i> = 12 (0) Young	Executive function	Flanker task (40 trials, 3 min 20 s)	Cycling 80% VO <sub>2p eak</sub>	6.5 min	During	Cerebral oxygenation	EMG-RT $\approx$ Accuracy $\approx$
Huertas et al. (2011)	<i>N</i> = 18 (0) Young	Executive function	Attention network test (modified flanker task, 480 trials, 25 min)	Cycling 95% LT	25 min	During	Blood lactate	RT: improvement
Shields et al. (2011)	<i>N</i> = 30 (15) Young	Attentional task	Visual threat-detection task (256 trials)	Cycling 80% maximal HR	Not reported	During	-	RT: improvement Accuracy: improvement
Labelle et al. (2013)	N = 37 (18) Young High fit = 16 Low fit = 21	Executive function	Stroop task (80 trials)	Cycling 80% peak power output	6.5 min	During	-	Accuracy: impairment RT variability: impairment in lower fit
Wang et al. (2013)	<i>N</i> = 80 (31) Young	Executive function	Wisconsin card sorting test (128 response cards)	Cycling 80% HRR	30 min	During	-	Performance: impairment
Dutke et al. (2014)	<i>N</i> = 60 (14) Young	Memory task attentional task (simultaneously)	Word comparison (Primary task, 60 trials, 27 min) Interval production (Secondary task, press a button every 2 s, 27 min)		> 27 min	During	-	Number of correct response≈ Response time≈ Interval production error: impairment
Davranche et al. (2015)	<i>N</i> = 14 (3) Young	Executive function	Simon task (200 trials, 4 min)	Cycling 20% above VT	20 min	During	-	RT: improvement Accuracy $\approx$
Mekari et al. (2015)	<i>N</i> = 19 (12) Young	Executive function	Stoop task (30 trials $\times$ 2 blocks)	Cycling 85% peak power output	9 min	During	Cerebral oxygenation	RT: impairment Accuracy: impairment
Schmit et al. (2015)	<i>N</i> = 15 (5) Young	Executive function	Flanker task (40 trials, as many block as possible)	sCycling 85% maximal aerobic power	Until exhaustion	During	Cerebral oxygenation	RT $\approx$ Accuracy: impairment
Smith et al. (2016)	<i>N</i> = 15 (9) Young	Executive function	Go/No-Go task (100 trials, 2 min)	Running 90% HRR	10 min	During	-	RT: impairment Accuracy: impairment
Gonzalez- Fernandez et al. (2017)	<i>N</i> = 24 (12) Young	Psychomotor task	Psychomotor vigilance task (mean 46.8 trials)	Cycling 100% ventilatory anaerobic threshold	5 min	During	-	RT: impairment

10.3389/fnbeh.2022.957677

(Continued)

References	e Participants (F)	Category of cognitive task	Cognitive task(s) (number of trials, duration)	Exercise modality/intensity	Exercise duration (high intensity only) or until exhaustion		Physiological variables	Main findings
Tempest et al. (2017)	<i>N</i> = 14 (5) Young	Executive function	Flanker task (2 min $\times$ 10 blocks) 2-back task (60 trials $\times$ 10 blocks, 20 min)	Cycling 10% above VT	60 min	During	Cerebral oxygenation	RT (flanker task): improvement Accuracy (n-back): impairment
Ciria et al. (2019)	<i>N</i> = 20 (0) Young	Attentional task	Oddball task (20 min)	Cycling 80% VO <sub>2peak</sub>	20 min	During	EEG	RT $\approx$ Accuracy $\approx$
Tempest and Reiss (2019)	<i>N</i> = 13 (7) Young	Executive function	N-back task (0-back, 60 trials; 2-back, 60 trials)	Cycling 115% first ventilatory threshold (VT1)	16 min	During	Cerebral oxygenation (fNIRS)	Response time $\approx$ Accuracy $\approx$
Komiyama et al. (2020)	<i>N</i> = 17 (0) Young	Executive function	Spatial delayed response Go/No-Go tasks (24 trials, ~5 min)	Cycling 80% <sup>VO</sup> <sub>2peak</sub>	8 min	During	Middle cerebral artery blood velocity Cerebral oxygenation	RT $\approx$ Accuracy: impairment
Stone et al. (2020)	<i>N</i> = 13 (5) Young	Executive function	Cedar operator workload assessment tool	Running 100% HRR	Until exhaustion	During	Cerebral oxygenation	Accuracy: impairment
Travlos and Marisi (1995)	N = 20 (0) Young High fit = 10 Low fit = 10	Attentional task psychomotor task	Random number generation test Choice RT (15 trials $\times$ 4)	Cycling during 80% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and after volitional exhaustion	Until exhaustion (> 10 min)	During/ immediately after	-	Random number generation test (during) $\approx$ RT (after) $\approx$
Brisswalter et al. (1997)	<i>N</i> = 20 (0) Young High fit = 10 Low fit = 10	Psychomotor task	Simple detection RT (20 trials)	Cycling during 80% maximal aerobic power	10 min	During/1 min after	-	RT (during): impairment in only low fit Accuracy $\approx$ in both groups
Fery et al. (1997)	<i>N</i> = 13 (0) Young	Memory task	Short-term memory task (20 trials)	Cycling during 90% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ and Volitional exhaustion	Until exhaustion	During/ immediately after	-	RT (during)≈ RT (after): impairment
Kamijo et al. (2004a, 2004b)	<i>N</i> = 12 (0) Young	Executive function	S1-S2 RT (Go/No-Go) task (60 trials, 10 min)	Cycling Volitional exhaustion	Until exhaustion	Immediately after (< 3 min)	EEG (CNV, P300)	EMG-RT≈
McMorris et a (2005)	l.N = 12 (0) Young	Psychomotor task	Whole body choice RT (9 trials)	Cycling 100% maximal power output	Until exhaustion	Immediately after (20 s later)	Blood lactate	RT: impairment
Winter et al. (2007)	<i>N</i> = 27 (0) Young	Memory task	Vocabulary learning task (600 training trials + retention)	Running (two sprints, started at 8 km/h, increased every 10 s by 2 km/h) Volitional exhaustion	Until exhaustion	15 min after	Blood catecholamine, BDNF	Learning speed: improvement RT: improvement (1 week later)
Coco et al. (2009)	<i>N</i> = 17 (0) Young	Psychomotor task Attentional task	RT task Attention and concentration task	Cycling Volitional exhaustion Lactate infusion (N = 6)	Until exhaustion	5 min after	Blood lactate	RT: impairment Accuracy: impairment
Luft et al. (2009)	<i>N</i> = 30 (7) Young	Psychomotor task Executive function Memory task Attentional task	Simple RT (35 correct trials, 90 s) Choice RT (30 correct trials, 90 s) Working memory task (one back task 30 correct trials, 90 s) Short-term memory task (42 trials, 2–3 min) Continuous monitoring task (30 correct trials, 90 s)	Running Volitional exhaustion	Until exhaustion	10–15 min after	HR variability	Working memory: improvement Others≈

(Continued)

10.3389/fnbeh.2022.957677

References	s Participants (F)	Category of cognitive task	Cognitive task(s) (number of trials, duration)	Exercise modality/intensity	Exercise duration (high intensity only) or until exhaustion	Timing of cognitive task	Physiological variables	Main findings
Thomson et a. (2009)	l. <i>N</i> = 163 (0) Young	Psychomotor task	Speed discrimination (decision-making)	Running Volitional exhaustion	Until exhaustion	1 min after	-	Time: improvement Accuracy: impairment
Griffin et al. (2011)	<i>N</i> = 47 (0) Young	Memory task Executive function	Face-name matching task Stroop task	Running Volitional exhaustion	Until exhaustion	< 30 min After	r Blood BDNF, IGF-1	Face-name matching task: improvement Stroop task≈
Etnier et al. (2016)	<i>N</i> = 16 (7) Young	Memory task	Rey Auditory Verbal Learning Test (15 words $\times$ 2)	Running Volitional exhaustion	Until exhaustion	Immediately after (after bloo sampling)	Blood BDNF d	Memory performance: improvement (24 h later)
Hwang et al. (2016)	<i>N</i> = 58 (32) Young	Executive function		,Running Target HR corresponding to 85–90% VO <sub>2max</sub>	10 min	10 min after	Blood BDNF	Stroop test: improvement Trail making test: improvement
Chang et al. (2017)	<i>N</i> = 36 (36) Young	Executive function	Stroop test (neutral 60 s, incongruent 60 s)	Running 80% HRR	30 min	15 min after	Cerebral oxygenation	RT≈
Sudo et al. (2017)	<i>N</i> = 32 (0) Young	Executive function	Spatial delayed response task (20 trials) Go/No-Go task (20 trials)	Cycling Volitional exhaustion	Until exhaustion	2 min after	Cerebral oxygenation, Blood catecholamine, BDNF, IGF-1, lactate	RT $\approx$ Accuracy $\approx$
Zimmer et al. (2017)	N = 119 (41) Young	g Executive function	Tower of London	Cycling Volitional exhaustion	Until exhaustion	Immediately after (< 3 min)	Blood lactate	Thinking time: impairment
Du Rietz et al. (2019)	. <i>N</i> = 29 (0) Young	Executive function Psychomotor task	Cued continuous performance task (modified Go/No-Go task, 80 trials, 11 min) Flanker task (400 trials, 13 min) Choice RT task (72 trials, 10 min)	Cycling 20% delta (difference between gas exchange threshold and $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ )	20 min	30 min after	EEG	$RT \approx Accuracy \approx$
Hill et al. (2019)	<i>N</i> = 13 (0) Young	Executive function	Flanker task (100 trials, < 3 min)	Cycling and arm cranking Volitional exhaustion	Until exhaustion	Immediately after	-	Cycling: impairment Arm cranking: improvement
Coco et al. (2020a)	N = 30 (?) Young = 15 Old = 1	Psychomotor task 5Executive function	Simple RT Stroop color word test (50 names, 50 circles, and 50 words) Trai making test	, 0	Until exhaustion	Immediately after	Blood lactate	Simple RT: impairment Stroop Color Word Test: impairment Trail Making Test: improvement (Young)
Loprinzi et al. (2021)	N = 120 (77) Young	g Memory task	Word list memory task (15 words)	Running 75% HRR	20 min	5 min after	-	Memory: improvement
Marin Bosch et al. (2021)	<i>N</i> = 18 (0) Young	Psychomotor task Memory task	Psychomotor vigilance task (RT) Associative memory task (8 series of e successive pictures)	Cycling 75% maximal cardiac 6frequency	15 min	24 min after (Psychomotor task) and 69 min after (memory task)	Neural activity (fMRI), Blood endocannabinoid BDNF	'

Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience

F, females; N, number of participants; RT, reaction time; W, watts;  $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$ , peak oxygen uptake; EMG, electromyogram; LT, lactate threshold; HR, heart rate; HRR, heart rate reserve; AT, anaerobic threshold; VT, ventilatory threshold; EEG, electroencephalogram; fNIRS, functional near-infrared spectroscopy; CNV, contingent negative variation; P300, positive 300;  $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ , maximal oxygen uptake; BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; IGF-1, insulin-like growth hormone factor-1; fMRI, functional magnetic resonance imaging.  $\approx$ , no effect.

10.3389/fnbeh.2022.957677

Schmit et al., 2015; Smith et al., 2016; Gonzalez-Fernandez et al., 2017; Tempest et al., 2017; Komiyama et al., 2020; Stone et al., 2020). In these studies, impairments in both reaction time (RT) and accuracy were frequently observed. Seven studies reported no changes in cognitive performance (Travlos and Marisi, 1995; Fery et al., 1997; Ando et al., 2011; Dutke et al., 2014; Ciria et al., 2019; Tempest and Reiss, 2019; Komiyama et al., 2020). Five studies reported improvement in RT and/or accuracy during high-intensity exercise (McMorris and Graydon, 1997; Huertas et al., 2011; Shields et al., 2011; Davranche et al., 2015; Tempest et al., 2017).

Conversely, cognitive performance after high-intensity exercise is heterogeneous; with improvements (Winter et al., 2007; Luft et al., 2009; Thomson et al., 2009; Griffin et al., 2011; Etnier et al., 2016; Hwang et al., 2016; Hill et al., 2019; Coco et al., 2020a; Loprinzi et al., 2021), impairments (Fery et al., 1997; McMorris et al., 2005; Coco et al., 2009, 2020a; Thomson et al., 2009; Zimmer et al., 2017; Hill et al., 2019), and no changes (Travlos and Marisi, 1995; Brisswalter et al., 1997; Kamijo et al., 2004a,b; Luft et al., 2009; Griffin et al., 2011; Chang et al., 2017; Sudo et al., 2017; Du Rietz et al., 2019; Marin Bosch et al., 2021) reported within the literature. These findings suggest that cognitive performance after high-intensity exercise appears to be dependent on experimental design (see below). In the following sections, we discuss the methodological, physiological, and psychological factors that affect cognitive performance "during" and "after" high-intensity exercise.

## Methodological factors

Here we discuss the potential methodological and experimental factors that contribute to the inconsistent findings. These include the following: timing of cognitive task, type of cognitive task, physical fitness, exercise mode/duration, and age.

### Timing of cognitive task

When participants perform cognitive tasks during exercise, they perform the exercise and cognitive tasks simultaneously (i.e., a dual-task paradigm). However, when cognitive tasks are performed after exercise, participants only perform a single task. A meta-analysis reported higher effect sizes in singletask conditions (after exercise) when compared with dual-task conditions (during exercise) (Lambourne and Tomporowski, 2010), while another meta-analysis reported that effect sizes were not different between single and dual-task conditions (Chang et al., 2012). Furthermore, McMorris and Hale (2012) undertook statistical analyses and found that there were no differences in effect sizes obtained during compared after exercise. Nevertheless, as recently highlighted (McMorris, 2021), the timing of the cognitive tasks is typically less considered within the literature.

Table 1 indicates that the adverse effects are most prominent during high-intensity exercise. These findings are corroborated by a recent review and suggest that impairments in cognitive performance are more likely to occur during high-intensity exercise (Zheng et al., 2021). Based on the assumption that metabolic resources are limited in the brain, extensive activation in several brain regions (e.g., motor and sensory cortices) may attenuate higher-order functions of the PFC and impair cognitive performance (Dietrich and Audiffren, 2011). Furthermore, in the majority of the included studies, cognitive performance was assessed using manual responses where activations of the motor-related areas are required. Given a limited capacity of the brain to simultaneously activate multiple regions involved in cognitive performance and high-intensity exercise, it is plausible that cognitive performance is more likely to be impaired during high-intensity exercise, particularly when both cognitive and physiological demands are high. Indeed, in four studies reporting cognitive improvement during highintensity exercise (Huertas et al., 2011; Shields et al., 2011; Davranche et al., 2015; Tempest et al., 2017), exercise intensities were relatively less demanding (i.e., HR < 170 bpm). Relatively lower physiological demands may be responsible for cognitive improvements during high-intensity exercise in these studies. Furthermore, McMorris (2021) argued that performance would depend to a large extent on the perception of task costs (demands) and resources available. These two judgments may be difficult to make in the dual-task situation, leading to overor under-confidence. This could alter motivation, which would affect cognitive performance.

A recent meta-analysis demonstrated that acute highintensity exercise had a small, significant facilitating effect on cognitive performance after high-intensity exercise (Moreau and Chou, 2019). In the current review, we observed that cognitive performance after high-intensity exercise is inconsistent: and improvements, impairments, and no changes were reported. EEG studies reported reductions in P3 amplitudes after high intensity (Kamijo et al., 2004b) or HIIE (Kao et al., 2017). On the contrary, Du Rietz and colleagues reported improvements in P3 amplitude and delta power reflecting executive and sustained attention after highintensity exercise (Du Rietz et al., 2019). These findings suggest that brain activity after exercise may be dependent on the experimental design employed (e.g., exercise intensity, time delay after exercise). Indeed, most physiological changes start to recover immediately after high-intensity exercise (Ide et al., 2000; Gonzalez-Alonso et al., 2004; Curtelin et al., 2017; Sudo et al., 2017). Thus, rapid recovery of physiological variables to homeostatic resting levels may, at least in part, explain the contradictory findings related to cognitive performance after high-intensity exercise. To explore this possibility, we summarized the impacts of the timeframe in which cognitive

10.3389/fnbeh.2022.957677

performance was assessed after exercise (Table 2). When multiple cognitive tasks were examined in a single study, or when both improvement and impairment were reported in a cognitive task (e.g., improvement in RT and impairment in accuracy), all results are reported. We observed heterogeneous findings when cognitive performance was assessed within 5 min of completing high-intensity exercise. Intriguingly, however, no impairments were reported when the timing of cognitive tasks was > 6 min after exercise. These findings support the notion that a rapid recovery to homeostatic resting levels is critical for cognitive performance after high-intensity exercise. Taken collectively, we propose that the effects of high-intensity exercise on cognitive performance are closely related to, and impacted by, the timing of cognitive task (during vs. after exercise, and the time delay after exercise).

## Type of cognitive task

Different brain regions are thought to be activated during different cognitive tasks (Macintosh et al., 2014; Chen A. G. et al., 2016; Won et al., 2019). Thus, we can assume that the type of cognitive task is one of the factors that determine how acute high-intensity exercise impacts cognitive performance. This may be particularly relevant when exercise and cognitive tasks are concurrently performed since multiple brain regions are presumably activated. In this review, we classified the type of cognitive task into executive function, psychomotor, memory, and attentional tasks (Table 3). Executive function encompasses several subdomains and consists of basic components of inhibition, working memory, and cognitive flexibility (Diamond, 2013). Thus, based on the

TABLE 2 Summary of impacts of time delay after exercise.

included studies, we classified executive function into response inhibition (Go/No-Go task), interference control (Flanker task, Simon task, and Stroop task), working memory (n-back task and spatial delayed response task), and others (soccer-specific task, Wisconsin card sorting task, Cedar Operator Workload Assessment Tool, Tower of London, and Trail making test).

During high-intensity exercise, impairments in cognitive performance were prominent in executive function and psychomotor tasks (Table 3), which is thought to be closely related to dual-task paradigm. Thus, in most cognitive tasks, adverse effects are more likely to occur during high-intensity exercise. Conversely, we found improvements in several studies. In three studies (Huertas et al., 2011; Davranche et al., 2015; Tempest et al., 2017), cognitive improvements were observed in interference control (i.e., Flanker task and Simon task). These findings imply that performances in these cognitive tasks may benefit from high-intensity exercise relative to the other subcomponents of executive function. Furthermore, in the study reporting improvements in soccer-specific cognitive tasks (both soccer-specific and attentional tasks) in college soccer players (McMorris and Graydon, 1997), the cognitive tasks were probably autonomous to the soccer players and therefore less demanding. Hence, cognitive improvements during highintensity exercise appear to be related to cognitive demands.

A meta-analysis review reported that facilitating effects of performance were similarly observed in subcomponents of executive function (i.e., working memory, inhibitory control, cognitive flexibility, and attention) after high-intensity exercise (Moreau and Chou, 2019). In the present review, we failed to find clear associations between the type of cognitive task and cognitive performance after high-intensity exercise. It should be noted, however, that improvements in memory

↑ ●●	$\leftrightarrow$	↓ ↑ ••	↔ ●●●		ţ	↑ ●	~~ ••••	• (
••		••	•••	••		•	••••	
Psychomotor task			Memory task			Attentional task		
1	$\leftrightarrow$	Ļ	1	$\Leftrightarrow$	Ļ	1	$\Leftrightarrow$	Ļ
		••••		••		••	••	•
•	•••••	••••	••••	••	٠		•	•
-				$\uparrow \leftrightarrow \downarrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \leftrightarrow \downarrow \uparrow \leftrightarrow$	$\uparrow \leftrightarrow \downarrow \uparrow \leftrightarrow \downarrow$	$\uparrow \leftrightarrow \downarrow \uparrow \leftrightarrow \downarrow \uparrow$	$\uparrow \leftrightarrow \downarrow \uparrow \leftrightarrow \downarrow \uparrow \leftrightarrow$

<sup>#</sup>Working memory (n-back task, spatial delayed response task).

• Others (soccer-specific task, Wisconsin card sorting task, Cedar Operator Workload Assessment Tool, Tower of London, and Trail making test), psychomotor task, memory task, attentional task.

performance were often observed after high-intensity exercise (Winter et al., 2007; Griffin et al., 2011; Etnier et al., 2016; Loprinzi et al., 2021). In particular, high-intensity exercise may be beneficial for retention (Winter et al., 2007; Etnier et al., 2016; Loprinzi et al., 2021). Additional studies are necessary to further elucidate potential physiological mechanisms underlying the improvement. In this review, we may not have been sufficiently powered to identify the effects of different cognitive tasks/domains. Further research is required to establish the effects of high-intensity exercise on a variety of cognitive tasks and domains.

### Physical fitness level of participants

It has been previously speculated that exercise-cognition interaction is influenced by physical fitness (Lambourne and Tomporowski, 2010; Chang et al., 2012). For example, despite matched relative exercise intensity, individuals with lower physical fitness levels were more susceptible to cognitive impairments during high-intensity exercise, when compared with those who had higher aerobic capacities (Brisswalter et al., 1997; Labelle et al., 2013). Furthermore, choice RT performance gradually improves during incremental exercise until at  $\sim$ 75% <sup>VO</sup><sub>2max</sub> in young soccer players (Chmura et al., 1994). Aerobic capacity has been suggested to be one of the moderators that affect cognitive performance in response to high-intensity exercise (Browne et al., 2017). McMorris (2021) claimed that fitness levels would affect the individual's perception of effort costs and, hence, their motivation level. Further, well-powered studies are also necessary to clarify the relationship between cognitive performance and physical fitness before this theory can be confirmed.

### Exercise mode

A previous meta-analysis suggested that exercise mode is one of the factors that affect exercise-cognition interaction (Lambourne and Tomporowski, 2010). We summarized the impacts of high-intensity cycling and running in Table 4. The effects of high-intensity exercise on cognitive performance during cycling were inconsistent, but reductions in cognitive performance appeared to be more likely during cycling.

TABLE 4 Summary of impacts of exercise mode.

Running is kinematically less stable compared to cycling, and thus it may be difficult to complete cognitive performance during high-intensity running. Indeed, only two studies examined cognitive performance during high-intensity running, and both reported impairments in cognitive performance (Smith et al., 2016; Stone et al., 2020). Given the nature of the dual-task paradigm, running may be more detrimental to cognitive performance relative to cycling during highintensity exercise.

After high-intensity cycling, in most cases, we observed no changes or impairments in cognitive performance. Conversely, after high-intensity running, improvements or no changes in cognitive performance were predominant. Since participants perform only a cognitive task after exercise (i.e., single task) regardless of exercise mode, the findings are somewhat unexpected. There are several physiological differences in ventilatory and metabolic responses, HR, and motor unit recruitment between cycling and running (Millet et al., 2009). Hence, the recovery of physiological variables to resting levels could be different between high-intensity cycling and running. Collectively, these findings suggest that the mode of exercise is one of the factors that affect cognitive performance, and these effects are presumably influenced by the timing of cognitive task (during vs. after exercise, and the time delay after exercise). Future studies are required to understand how exercise mode influences cognitive performance after highintensity exercise.

## **Exercise duration**

Exercise duration also potentially affects cognitive performance in response to high-intensity exercise. We summarized the relationship between exercise duration and cognitive performance in **Table 5**. During exercise, cognitive impairments were observed when exercise duration was < 10 min. The findings were inconsistent when exercise duration was > 11 min or exhaustive exercise. Thus, it is less likely that exercise duration *per se* affects cognitive performance. Rather, interactions between exercise duration and intensity would be more important for cognitive performance during high-intensity exercise. In most studies that assessed cognitive performance after high-intensity exercise, exercise was continued until exhaustion

		Cycling (+ arm crankin	Running			
	Improvement (†)	No change $(\leftrightarrow)$	Impairment (↓)	1	$\leftrightarrow$	ţ
During	•••••	•••••	•••••			••
After	••	•••••	••••••	••••••	••••	•

Number of black circles indicates the number of studies.

	<10 min				11–20 mir	1	>	>20 r	nin	Until exhaustion			
	Improvement ( )	No change $(\leftrightarrow)$	Impairment (↓)	1	$\leftrightarrow$	ţ	1	$\leftrightarrow$	ţ	1	$\leftrightarrow$	ţ	
During		••	••••••	•	••		••	•	•••		••	•••	
After	••	•		•	•••••			٠		•••••	•••••	•••••	

TABLE 5 Summary of impacts of exercise duration.

Number of black circles indicates the number of studies.

(Table 5). Nevertheless, the results were heterogeneous and suggest that exercise duration in isolation is not critical for cognitive performance after exhaustive exercise. Assuming that the duration of high-intensity exercise is likely limited, exercise duration alone is, therefore, not likely to determine cognitive performance.

#### Age

Coco and colleagues compared the effects of exhaustive exercise on the cognitive performance of young and older adults (Coco et al., 2020a). They reported impairments in the performance of simple RT and the Stroop color-word test after exhaustive exercise in both groups. However, improvements in trail making test were observed only in the younger group. These results suggest that the effects of high-intensity exercise on cognitive performance may be different in young and older adults. Cerebral perfusion appears to be lower in older individuals during high-intensity exercise, although the cerebral extraction of glucose, lactate, and oxygen is similar (Braz and Fisher, 2016). Thus, age may be one factor that may influence cognitive performance and reduced cerebral perfusion could affect cognitive performance in older individuals in particular. Given the brevity of studies in this area, definitive conclusion on the impact of age is not yet feasible.

## Physiological factors

As noted above, high-intensity exercise induces a variety of physiological effects within the human brain. Here, we summarize and discuss the physiological factors that are linked to cognitive performance during and after high-intensity exercise and we identify some of the potential physiological factors that may contribute to the inconsistent findings. These include the separate and combined effects of cerebral blood flow (CBF), cerebral oxygenation, cerebral metabolism, neuromodulation by neurotransmitters and neurotrophic factors, and various psychological factors.

## Cerebral blood flow

During exercise, CBF is regulated by complex interactions between neural activity and metabolism, partial pressure of oxygen, carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), blood pressure, cardiac output, and sympathetic nervous system activity (Ogoh and Ainslie, 2009; Smith and Ainslie, 2017). CBF gradually increases during mild- to moderate-intensity exercise in response to neural activity and metabolism (Ogoh and Ainslie, 2009). However, during high-intensity exercise, hyperventilationinduced hypocapnia constricts the cerebral vessels, thereby reducing CBF (Ogoh and Ainslie, 2009; Smith and Ainslie, 2017). This suggests that brain metabolic demands might be inadequate during high-intensity exercise. Ogoh et al. (2014) reported that an increase in CBF, achieved using CO<sub>2</sub> inhalation, did not affect cognitive performance during prolonged moderate-intensity exercise (Ogoh et al., 2014). More recently, Komiyama and colleagues tested the hypothesis that a reduction in CBF is directly linked to impairment in cognitive performance during high-intensity exercise (Komiyama et al., 2020). By restoring CBF via  $CO_2$  inhalation, the authors demonstrated that middle cerebral artery (MCA) velocity (a surrogate for CBF) did not prevent impaired cognitive performance during high-intensity exercise. These results suggest that a reduction in CBF per se may not be responsible for impaired cognitive performance during high-intensity exercise. However, given that CBF supplies oxygen and nutrients, the association between cognitive performance and regional CBF (e.g., blood flow to the PFC) in response to highintensity exercise should be further investigated. In particular, a recent study indicated physiological "uncoupling" between the PFC oxygenation and MCA velocity during high-intensity exercise with CO<sub>2</sub> inhalation (Hansen et al., 2020). Follow-up studies are needed to fully understand the association between regional CBF and cognitive performance in response to highintensity exercise.

## Cerebral oxygenation

Cerebral oxygenation reflects the balance between cerebral oxygen availability and utilization (Boushel et al., 2001;

Komiyama et al., 2017), which is generally measured from the PFC. Cerebral oxygenation reduces during high-intensity exercise close to maximal intensity (Rooks et al., 2010). Some studies suggest that a reduction in cerebral oxygenation is not associated with impairments in cognitive performance during high-intensity exercise (Ando et al., 2011; Schmit et al., 2015; Tempest et al., 2017). In contrast, others have indicated that impairments in cognitive performance were accompanied by reduction in cerebral oxygenation during high-intensity exercise (Mekari et al., 2015; Stone et al., 2020). The latter studies suggest that impairments in cognitive performance may be associated with attenuated PFC oxygenation. However, several studies have shown that cognitive performance improved during acute moderate-intensity exercise in hypoxia despite substantial reductions in cerebral oxygenation (Ando et al., 2013; Komiyama et al., 2015, 2017). Hence, it is likely that a reduction in cerebral oxygenation, in isolation, does not result in impaired cognitive performance. However, reduction in cerebral oxygenation during high-intensity exercise may impair cognitive performance in concert with other physiological factors.

Cerebral oxygenation starts to recover immediately after maximal exercise (Gonzalez-Alonso et al., 2004; Sudo et al., 2017). Notably, the degree of recovery of cerebral oxygenation following maximal exercise may be associated with cognitive performance (Sudo et al., 2017). This finding suggests that the recovery of cerebral oxygenation after high-intensity exercise may, at least in part, account for the differential effects of high-intensity exercise on cognitive performance between single (i.e., after) and dual (i.e., during) conditions.

## Cerebral metabolism

It is generally accepted that blood glucose is the primary energy source for the brain at rest (Gold, 1995). Komiyama et al. (2016) reported that cognitive performance improves during moderate-intensity exercise after skipping breakfast. This suggests that substrates other than glucose may compensate for the reduced availability of blood glucose during moderateintensity exercise. It is plausible that the same would be true for high-intensity exercise. Indeed, blood glucose uptake is thought to be reduced in the brain during high-intensity exercise (Kemppainen et al., 2005). In contrast, blood lactate substantially increases during/after high-intensity exercise, and it is taken up by the brain (Ide et al., 2000; Gonzalez-Alonso et al., 2004; Quistorff et al., 2008; Siebenmann et al., 2021). Several studies suggested that blood lactate



118

would provide energy that contributes to improvements in cognitive performance following HIIE (Tsukamoto et al., 2016; Hashimoto et al., 2018; Herold et al., 2022). In particular, Hashimoto et al. (2018) directly measured lactate uptake in the brain after HIIE and suggested that lactate production in extra-cerebral tissues supports brain function. On the contrary, Coco et al. (2020b) suggested that high levels of blood lactate have detrimental effects on cognitive performance. Interestingly, Coco et al. (2009) indicated that intravenous lactate infusion of a lactate solution impaired attentional performance. Hence, further studies are warranted to investigate how blood lactate acts as a mediator of exercise-induced alterations in cognitive performance (Ando et al., 2022).

## Neuromodulation by neurotransmitters and neurotrophic factors

In humans, it is less clear how acute exercise alters central neurotransmitter release due to technical and methodological challenges. Nevertheless, given that rodent studies indicate that acute exercise releases neurotransmitters in the brain (Meeusen et al., 2001; Hasegawa et al., 2011; Goekint et al., 2012; Chen C. et al., 2016), acute exercise is likely to influence brain circuits involving a number of neurotransmitters including dopamine and noradrenaline (McMorris, 2016a; Ando et al., 2020). Dopamine and noradrenaline modulate the strength of the PFC network connections, and regulation of dopamine and noradrenaline is required for appropriate prefrontal cognitive function (Arnsten, 2011). Furthermore, excess noradrenaline and dopamine appear to weaken the signal-to-noise ratio, which may result in impairments in the PFC function (Arnsten, 2011; Cools and Arnsten, 2021). Hence, the available literature suggests that excess neuromodulators in the brain may have adverse effects on cognitive performance during/after highintensity exercise. High-intensity exercise also seems to increase brain-derived neurotrophic factors (BDNFs) (Ferris et al., 2007; Winter et al., 2007; Fernandez-Rodriguez et al., 2021) and insulin-like growth hormone factor-1 (IGF-1) (Sudo et al., 2017). Several studies have implicated that changes in BDNF are associated with cognitive improvement induced by acute exercise (Winter et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2014; Skriver et al., 2014; Hwang et al., 2016). However, BDNF and IGF-1 are known to play a crucial role in angiogenesis, synaptogenesis, and neurogenesis following long-term exercise (Cotman and Berchtold, 2002; Voss et al., 2011; Nieto-Estevez et al., 2016). High concentrations of dopamine, noradrenaline, and BDNF are necessary for long-term potentiation, which is essential for long-term memory (McMorris, 2021). A couple of studies have shown positive effects of high-intensity exercise on longterm memory (Winter et al., 2007; Griffin et al., 2011). At present, it is premature to conclude that changes in BDNF

and IGF-1 play a role in cognitive performance during/after high-intensity exercise.

# **Psychological factors**

In most studies, psychological factors are typically not well considered when attempting to elucidate the effects of high intensity on cognitive performance. However, as suggested by McMorris (2021), psychological factors such as the motivation and perception of effort may affect the acute exercisecatecholamine-cognition interaction. Cantelon and Giles also suggested that psychological factors are moderating factors that affect exercise-cognition interaction (Cantelon and Giles, 2021). At present, and given the lack of empirical evidence, further investigations are needed to investigate the association between psychological factors and cognitive performance during and after high-intensity exercise.

# Integration of physiological and psychological factors

It is likely that the effects of high-intensity exercise on cognitive performance are multifactorial and determined by the integration of several physiological and psychological factors (Figure 1). We propose that interactions of these factors influence neural activity associated with cognitive performance and that this determines cognitive performance during and after high-intensity exercise. This is consistent with McMorris (2021) claiming that the perception of physiological stress affects the motivation and perception of effort costs. However, the current literature base is insufficient to substantiate this speculation and this should be the focus of future research in this area. A recent fNIRS study detected cognitive task-related hemodynamic changes from the left PFC during high-intensity exercise (Tempest and Reiss, 2019). Furthermore, an fMRI study indicated that HIIE decreased brain activation associated with cognitive performance (Mehren et al., 2019). Thus, future studies using sophisticated neuroimaging methods (e.g., fNIRS, fMRI, and PET) are required to fully understand how a single bout of high-intensity exercise affects cognitive performance.

## Conclusion

This narrative review summarized the literature examining the effects of acute high-intensity exercise on cognitive performance. We propose that the effects of high-intensity exercise on cognitive performance are primarily affected by a variety of methodological, physiological, and psychological factors. Specifically, these include the timing of cognitive task (during vs. after exercise, and the time delay after exercise), cognitive task(s), fitness level, exercise mode/duration, and age. It is also likely that a complex interaction between changes in regional CBF, cerebral oxygenation, cerebral metabolism, neurotransmitters/neurotrophic factors, and a variety of psychological factors contributes to the heterogeneous findings reported. The review is likely to have implications for recreational, sporting, and occupational activities where high cognitive and physiological demands are required simultaneously.

## Author contributions

MS, JC, TM, and SA drafted the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## References

Ando, S., Hatamoto, Y., Sudo, M., Kiyonaga, A., Tanaka, H., and Higaki, Y. (2013). The effects of exercise under hypoxia on cognitive function. *PLoS One* 8:e63630. doi: 101371/journal.pone.0063630

Ando, S., Kokubu, M., Yamada, Y., and Kimura, M. (2011). Does cerebral oxygenation affect cognitive function during exercise? *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 111, 1973–1982.

Ando, S., Komiyama, T., Sudo, M., Higaki, Y., Ishida, K., Costello, J. T., et al. (2020). The interactive effects of acute exercise and hypoxia on cognitive performance: a narrative review. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 30, 384–398. doi: 101111/sms.13573

Ando, S., Komiyama, T., Tanoue, Y., Sudo, M., Costello, J. T., Uehara, Y., et al. (2022). Cognitive improvement after aerobic and resistance exercise is not associated with peripheral biomarkers. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 16:853150. doi: 103389/fnbeh.2022.853150

Arnsten, A. F. (2011). Catecholamine influences on dorsolateral prefrontal cortical networks. *Biol. Psychiatry* 69, e89–e99.

Boushel, R., Langberg, H., Olesen, J., Gonzales-Alonzo, J., Bulow, J., and Kjaer, M. (2001). Monitoring tissue oxygen availability with near infrared spectroscopy (NIRS) in health and disease. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 11, 213–222.

Braz, I. D., and Fisher, J. P. (2016). The impact of age on cerebral perfusion, oxygenation and metabolism during exercise in humans. *J. Physiol.* 594, 4471–4483.

Brisswalter, J., Arcelin, R., Audiffren, M., and Delignieres, D. (1997). Influence of physical exercise on simple reaction time: Effect of physical fitness. *Percept Mot. Skills* 85, 1019–1027.

Browne, S. E., Flynn, M. J., O'neill, B. V., Howatson, G., Bell, P. G., and Haskell-Ramsay, C. F. (2017). Effects of acute high-intensity exercise on cognitive performance in trained individuals: a systematic review. *Prog. Brain Res.* 234, 161–187.

Cantelon, J. A., and Giles, G. E. (2021). A review of cognitive changes during acute aerobic exercise. *Front. Psychol.* 12:653158. doi: 103389/fpsyg.2021.653158

Chang, H., Kim, K., Jung, Y. J., and Kato, M. (2017). Effects of acute highintensity resistance exercise on cognitive function and oxygenation in prefrontal cortex. J. Exerc. Nutr. Biochem. 21, 1–8. doi: 1020463/jenb.2017.0012

Chang, Y. K., Labban, J. D., Gapin, J. I., and Etnier, J. L. (2012). The effects of acute exercise on cognitive performance: a meta-analysis. *Brain Res* 1453, 87–101.

Chen, A. G., Zhu, L. N., Yan, J., and Yin, H. C. (2016). Neural basis of working memory enhancement after acute aerobic exercise: fMRI study of preadolescent children. *Front. Psychol.* 7:1804. doi: 101016/j.ijpsycho.2020.09.018

Chen, C., Nakagawa, S., Kitaichi, Y., An, Y., Omiya, Y., Song, N., et al. (2016). The role of medial prefrontal corticosterone and dopamine in the antidepressantlike effect of exercise. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 69, 1–9. doi: 101016/j.psyneuen. 2016.03.008 Chmura, J., Nazar, K., and Kaciuba-Uscilko, H. (1994). Choice reaction time during graded exercise in relation to blood lactate and plasma catecholamine thresholds. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 15, 172–176. doi: 101055/s-2007-1021042

Christensen, L. O. D., Johannsen, P., Sinkjaer, T., Petersen, N., Pyndt, H. S., and Nielsen, J. B. (2000). Cerebral activation during bicycle movements in man. *Exp. Brain Res.* 135, 66–72.

Ciria, L. F., Luque-Casado, A., Sanabria, D., Holgado, D., Ivanov, P. C., and Perakakis, P. (2019). Oscillatory brain activity during acute exercise: Tonic and transient neural response to an oddball task. *Psychophysiology* 56:e13326. doi: 101111/psyp.13326

Coco, M., Buscemi, A., Guerrera, C. S., Di Corrado, D., Cavallari, P., Zappala, A., et al. (2020a). Effects of a bout of intense exercise on some executive functions. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17:898. doi: 103390/ijerph17030898

Coco, M., Buscemi, A., Ramaci, T., Tusak, M., Corrado, D. D., Perciavalle, V., et al. (2020b). Influences of blood lactate levels on cognitive domains and physical health during a sports stress. Brief review. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17:9043. doi: 103390/ijerph17239043

Coco, M., Di Corrado, D., Calogero, R. A., Perciavalle, V., Maci, T., and Perciavalle, V. (2009). Attentional processes and blood lactate levels. *Brain Res.* 1302, 205–211.

Cools, R., and Arnsten, A. F. T. (2021). Neuromodulation of prefrontal cortex cognitive function in primates: THE powerful roles of monoamines and acetylcholine. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 47, 309–328. doi: 101038/s41386-021-01100-8

Cotman, C. W., and Berchtold, N. C. (2002). Exercise: a behavioral intervention to enhance brain health and plasticity. *Trends Neurosci.* 25, 295–301. doi: 101016/s0166-2236(02)02143-4

Curtelin, D., Morales-Alamo, D., Torres-Peralta, R., Rasmussen, P., Martin-Rincon, M., Perez-Valera, M., et al. (2017). Cerebral blood flow, frontal lobe oxygenation and intra-arterial blood pressure during sprint exercise in normoxia and severe acute hypoxia in humans. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 38, 136–150. doi: 101177/0271678X17691986

Davranche, K., Brisswalter, J., and Radel, R. (2015). Where are the limits of the effects of exercise intensity on cognitive control? *J. Sport Health Sci.* 4, 56–63.

Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 64, 135-168.

Dietrich, A., and Audiffren, M. (2011). The reticular-activating hypofrontality (RAH) model of acute exercise. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 35, 1305–1325. doi: 101016/j.neubiorev.2011.02.001

Du Rietz, E., Barker, A. R., Michelini, G., Rommel, A. S., Vainieri, I., Asherson, P., et al. (2019). Beneficial effects of acute high-intensity exercise on electrophysiological indices of attention processes in young adult men. *Behav. Brain Res.* 359, 474–484. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2018.11. 024

Dutke, S., Jaitner, T., Berse, T., and Barenberg, J. (2014). Acute physical exercise affected processing efficiency in an auditory attention task more than processing effectiveness. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 36, 69–79. doi: 10.1123/jsep.2013-0044

Etnier, J. L., Wideman, L., Labban, J. D., Piepmeier, A. T., Pendleton, D. M., Dvorak, K. K., et al. (2016). The effects of acute exercise on memory and brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 38, 331–340.

Fernandez-Rodriguez, R., Alvarez-Bueno, C., Martinez-Ortega, I. A., Martinez-Vizcaino, V., Mesas, A. E., and Notario-Pacheco, B. (2021). Immediate effect of high-intensity exercise on brain-derived neurotrophic factor in healthy young adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Sport Health Sci.* 11, 367–375. doi: 101016/j.jshs.2021.08.004

Ferris, L. T., Williams, J. S., and Shen, C. L. (2007). The effect of acute exercise on serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels and cognitive function. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 39, 728–734.

Fery, Y. A., Ferry, A., Vom Hofe, A., and Rieu, M. (1997). Effect of physical exhaustion on cognitive functioning. *Percept Mot. Skills* 84, 291–298.

Goekint, M., Bos, I., Heyman, E., Meeusen, R., Michotte, Y., and Sarre, S. (2012). Acute running stimulates hippocampal dopaminergic neurotransmission in rats, but has no influence on brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *J. Appl. Physiol (1985)* 112, 535–541. doi: 101152/japplphysiol.00306.2011

Gold, P. E. (1995). Role of glucose in regulating the brain and cognition. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 61, 987S–995S.

Gonzalez-Alonso, J., Dalsgaard, M. K., Osada, T., Volianitis, S., Dawson, E. A., Yoshiga, C. C., et al. (2004). Brain and central haemodynamics and oxygenation during maximal exercise in humans. *J. Physiol.* 557, 331–342.

Gonzalez-Fernandez, F., Etnier, J. L., Zabala, M., and Sanabria, D. (2017). Vigilance performance during acute exercise. *Inter. J. Sport Psychol.* 48, 435–447.

Griffin, E. W., Mullally, S., Foley, C., Warmington, S. A., O'mara, S. M., and Kelly, A. M. (2011). Aerobic exercise improves hippocampal function and increases BDNF in the serum of young adult males. *Physiol. Behav.* 104, 934– 941.

Hansen, R. K., Nielsen, P. S., Schelske, M. W., Secher, N. H., and Volianitis, S. (2020). CO2 supplementation dissociates cerebral oxygenation and middle cerebral artery blood velocity during maximal cycling. *Scand. J. Med. Sci. Sports* 30, 399–407. doi: 101111/sms.13582

Hasegawa, H., Takatsu, S., Ishiwata, T., Tanaka, H., Sarre, S., and Meeusen, R. (2011). Continuous monitoring of hypothalamic neurotransmitters and thermoregulatory responses in exercising rats. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 202, 119–123. doi: 101016/j.jneumeth.2011.05.024

Hashimoto, T., Tsukamoto, H., Takenaka, S., Olesen, N. D., Petersen, L. G., Sorensen, H., et al. (2018). Maintained exercise-enhanced brain executive function related to cerebral lactate metabolism in men. *FASEB J.* 32, 1417–1427. doi: 101096/fj.201700381RR

Herold, F., Behrendt, T., Meißner, C., Müller, N., and Schega, L. (2022). The influence of acute sprint interval training on cognitive performance of healthy younger adults. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*19:613. doi: 103390/ ijerph19010613

Hill, M., Walsh, S., Talbot, C., Price, M., and Duncan, M. (2019). Exercise intensity-dependent effects of arm and leg-cycling on cognitive performance. *PLoS One* 14:e0224092. doi: 101371/journal.pone.0224092

Hiura, M., Nariai, T., Ishii, K., Sakata, M., Oda, K., Toyohara, J., et al. (2014). Changes in cerebral blood flow during steady-state cycling exercise: a study using oxygen-15-labeled water with PET. *J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab.* 34, 389–396. doi: 101038/jcbfm.2013.220

Hsieh, S. S., Chueh, T. Y., Huang, C. J., Kao, S. C., Hillman, C. H., Chang, Y. K., et al. (2021). Systematic review of the acute and chronic effects of high-intensity interval training on executive function across the lifespan. J. Sports Sci. 39, 10–22. doi: 101080/02640414.2020.1803630

Huertas, F., Zahonero, J., Sanabria, D., and Lupianez, J. (2011). Functioning of the attentional networks at rest vs. During acute bouts of aerobic exercise. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 33, 649–665. doi: 101123/jsep.33.5.649

Hwang, J., Brothers, R. M., Castelli, D. M., Glowacki, E. M., Chen, Y. T., Salinas, M. M., et al. (2016). Acute high-intensity exercise-induced cognitive enhancement and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in young, healthy adults. *Neurosci. Lett.* 630, 247–253.

Ide, K., and Secher, N. H. (2000). Cerebral blood flow and metabolism during exercise. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 61, 397–414.

Ide, K., Schmalbruch, I. K., Quistorff, B., Horn, A., and Secher, N. H. (2000). Lactate, glucose and O2 uptake in human brain during recovery from maximal exercise. *J. Physiol.* 522(Pt 1), 159–164. Kamijo, K., Nishihira, Y., Hatta, A., Kaneda, T., Kida, T., Higashiura, T., et al. (2004a). Changes in arousal level by differential exercise intensity. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 115, 2693–2698.

Kamijo, K., Nishihira, Y., Hatta, A., Kaneda, T., Wasaka, T., Kida, T., et al. (2004b). Differential influences of exercise intensity on information processing in the central nervous system. *Eur J. Appl. Physiol.* 92, 305–311. doi: 101007/s00421-004-1097-2

Kao, S. C., Cadenas-Sanchez, C., Shigeta, T. T., Walk, A. M., Chang, Y. K., Pontifex, M. B., et al. (2020). A systematic review of physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness on P3b. *Psychophysiology* 57:e13425. doi: 101111/psyp. 13425

Kao, S. C., Westfall, D. R., Soneson, J., Gurd, B., and Hillman, C. H. (2017). Comparison of the acute effects of high-intensity interval training and continuous aerobic walking on inhibitory control. *Psychophysiology* 54, 1335–1345. doi: 101111/psyp.12889

Kemppainen, J., Aalto, S., Fujimoto, T., Kalliokoski, K. K., Langsjo, J., Oikonen, V., et al. (2005). High intensity exercise decreases global brain glucose uptake in humans. *J. Physiol.* 568, 323–332. doi: 101113/jphysiol.2005.091355

Komiyama, T., Katayama, K., Sudo, M., Ishida, K., Higaki, Y., and Ando, S. (2017). Cognitive function during exercise under severe hypoxia. *Sci. Rep.* 7:10000.

Komiyama, T., Sudo, M., Higaki, Y., Kiyonaga, A., Tanaka, H., and Ando, S. (2015). Does moderate hypoxia alter working memory and executive function during prolonged exercise? *Physiol. Behav.* 139, 290–296. doi: 101016/j.physbeh. 2014.11.057

Komiyama, T., Sudo, M., Okuda, N., Yasuno, T., Kiyonaga, A., Tanaka, H., et al. (2016). Cognitive function at rest and during exercise following breakfast omission. *Physiol. Behav.* 157, 178–184. doi: 101016/j.physbeh.2016.02.013

Komiyama, T., Tanoue, Y., Sudo, M., Costello, J. T., Uehara, Y., Higaki, Y., et al. (2020). Cognitive impairment during high-intensity exercise: Influence of cerebral blood flow. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 52, 561–568. doi: 101249/MSS. 00000000002183

Labelle, V., Bosquet, L., Mekary, S., and Bherer, L. (2013). Decline in executive control during acute bouts of exercise as a function of exercise intensity and fitness level. *Brain Cogn.* 81, 10–17. doi: 101016/j.bandc.2012.10.001

Lambourne, K., and Tomporowski, P. (2010). The effect of exercise-induced arousal on cognitive task performance: a meta-regression analysis. *Brain Res.* 1341, 12–24. doi: 101016/j.brainres.2010.03.091

Lee, J. K., Koh, A. C., Koh, S. X., Liu, G. J., Nio, A. Q., and Fan, P. W. (2014). Neck cooling and cognitive performance following exercise-induced hyperthermia. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 114, 375–384. doi: 101007/s00421-013-2774-9

Loprinzi, P. D., Day, S., Hendry, R., Hoffman, S., Love, A., Marable, S., et al. (2021). The effects of acute exercise on short- and long-term memory: considerations for the timing of exercise and phases of memory. *Eur. J. Psychol.* 17, 85–103. doi: 105964/ejop.2955

Luft, C. D., Takase, E., and Darby, D. (2009). Heart rate variability and cognitive function: effects of physical effort. *Biol. Psychol.* 82, 164–168.

Macintosh, B. J., Crane, D. E., Sage, M. D., Rajab, A. S., Donahue, M. J., Mcilroy, W. E., et al. (2014). Impact of a single bout of aerobic exercise on regional brain perfusion and activation responses in healthy young adults. *PLoS One* 9:e85163. doi: 101371/journal.pone.0085163

Marin Bosch, B., Bringard, A., Logrieco, M. G., Lauer, E., Imobersteg, N., Thomas, A., et al. (2021). A single session of moderate intensity exercise influences memory, endocannabinoids and brain derived neurotrophic factor levels in men. *Sci. Rep.* 11:14371. doi: 101038/s41598-021-93813-5

McMorris, T. (2016b). "History of research into the acute exercise-cognition interaction," in *Exercise-Cognition Interaction: Neuroscience Perspective*, ed. T. Mcmorris (Amsterdam: Elsevier).

McMorris, T. (2016a). Developing the catecholamines hypothesis for the acute exercise-cognition interaction in humans: Lessons from animal studies. *Physiol. Behav.* 165, 291–299. doi: 101016/j.physbeh.2016.08.011

McMorris, T. (2021). The acute exercise-cognition interaction: From the catecholamines hypothesis to an interoception model. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 170, 75–88. doi: 101016/j.ijpsycho.2021.10.005

McMorris, T., and Graydon, J. (1997). The effect of exercise on cognitive performance in soccer-specific tests. J. Sports Sci. 15, 459-468.

McMorris, T., and Hale, B. J. (2012). Differential effects of differing intensities of acute exercise on speed and accuracy of cognition: a meta-analytical investigation. *Brain Cogn.* 80, 338–351. doi: 101016/j.bandc.2012.09. 001

McMorris, T., and Keen, P. (1994). Effect of exercise on simple reaction times of recreational athletes. *Percept Mot. Skills* 78, 123–130.

McMorris, T., Davranche, K., Jones, G., Hall, B., Corbett, J., and Minter, C. (2009). Acute incremental exercise, performance of a central executive task, and sympathoadrenal system and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 73, 334–340. doi: 101016/j.jipsycho.2009.05.004

McMorris, T., Delves, S., Sproule, J., Lauder, M., and Hale, B. (2005). Effect of incremental exercise on initiation and movement times in a choice response, whole body psychomotor task. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 39, 537–541. doi: 101136/bjsm.2004. 014456

Meeusen, R., Piacentini, M. F., and De Meirleir, K. (2001). Brain microdialysis in exercise research. *Sports Med.* 31, 965–983.

Mehren, A., Diaz Luque, C., Brandes, M., Lam, A. P., Thiel, C. M., Philipsen, A., et al. (2019). Intensity-dependent effects of acute exercise on executive function. *Neural Plast.* 2019:8608317.

Mekari, S., Fraser, S., Bosquet, L., Bonnery, C., Labelle, V., Pouliot, P., et al. (2015). The relationship between exercise intensity, cerebral oxygenation and cognitive performance in young adults. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 115, 2189–2197.

Miller, E. K., and Cohen, J. D. (2001). An integrative theory of prefrontal cortex function. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 24, 167–202.

Millet, G. P., Vleck, V. E., and Bentley, D. J. (2009). Physiological differences between cycling and running: lessons from triathletes. *Sports Med.* 39, 179–206. doi: 102165/00007256-200939030-00002

Moreau, D., and Chou, E. (2019). The acute effect of high-intensity exercise on executive function: a meta-analysis. *Perspect Psychol. Sci.* 14, 734–764.

Nieto-Estevez, V., Defterali, C., and Vicario-Abejon, C. (2016). IGF-I: A key growth factor that regulates neurogenesis and synaptogenesis from embryonic to adult stages of the brain. *Front. Neurosci.* 10:52. doi: 103389/fnins.2016.00052

Nybo, L., and Secher, N. H. (2004). Cerebral perturbations provoked by prolonged exercise. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 72, 223–261.

Ogoh, S., and Ainslie, P. N. (2009). Cerebral blood flow during exercise: Mechanisms of regulation. J. Appl. Physiol. 107, 1370–1380.

Ogoh, S., Tsukamoto, H., Hirasawa, A., Hasegawa, H., Hirose, N., and Hashimoto, T. (2014). The effect of changes in cerebral blood flow on cognitive function during exercise. *Physiol. Rep.* 2:e12163.

Quistorff, B., Secher, N. H., and Van Lieshout, J. J. (2008). Lactate fuels the human brain during exercise. *FASEB J.* 22, 3443–3449.

Rooks, C. R., Thom, N. J., Mccully, K. K., and Dishman, R. K. (2010). Effects of incremental exercise on cerebral oxygenation measured by near-infrared spectroscopy: a systematic review. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 92, 134–150. doi: 101016/j. pneurobio.2010.06.002

Schmit, C., Davranche, K., Easthope, C. S., Colson, S. S., Brisswalter, J., and Radel, R. (2015). Pushing to the limits: The dynamics of cognitive control during exhausting exercise. *Neuropsychologia* 68, 71–81. doi: 101016/j.neuropsychologia. 2015.01.006

Seifert, T., and Secher, N. H. (2011). Sympathetic influence on cerebral blood flow and metabolism during exercise in humans. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 95, 406–426.

Shields, M. R., Larson, C. L., Swartz, A. M., and Smith, J. C. (2011). Visual threat detection during moderate- and high-intensity exercise. *Emotion* 11, 572–581. doi: 101037/a0021251

Siebenmann, C., Sorensen, H., Bonne, T. C., Zaar, M., Aachmann-Andersen, N. J., Nordsborg, N. B., et al. (2021). Cerebral lactate uptake during exercise is driven by the increased arterial lactate concentration. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 131, 1824–1830. doi: 101152/japplphysiol.00505.2021

Skriver, K., Roig, M., Lundbye-Jensen, J., Pingel, J., Helge, J. W., Kiens, B., et al. (2014). Acute exercise improves motor memory: exploring potential biomarkers. *Neurobiol. Learn Mem.* 116, 46–58. doi: 101016/j.nlm.2014.08.004

Smith, K. J., and Ainslie, P. N. (2017). Regulation of cerebral blood flow and metabolism during exercise. *Exp. Physiol.* 102, 1356–1371.

Smith, M., Tallis, J., Miller, A., Clarke, N. D., Guimaraes-Ferreira, L., and Duncan, M. J. (2016). The effect of exercise intensity on cognitive performance during short duration treadmill running. *J. Hum. Kinet.* 51, 27–35. doi: 101515/ hukin-2015-0167

Stone, B. L., Beneda-Bender, M., Mccollum, D. L., Sun, J., Shelley, J. H., Ashley, J. D., et al. (2020). Understanding cognitive performance during exercise in reserve officers'. training corps: Establishing the executive function-exercise intensity relationship. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 129, 846–854. doi: 101152/japplphysiol.00483.2020

Sudo, M., Komiyama, T., Aoyagi, R., Nagamatsu, T., Higaki, Y., and Ando, S. (2017). Executive function after exhaustive exercise. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 117, 2029–2038.

Tempest, G. D., and Reiss, A. L. (2019). The utility of functional near-infrared spectroscopy for measuring cortical activity during cycling exercise. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 51, 979–987.

Tempest, G. D., Davranche, K., Brisswalter, J., Perrey, S., and Radel, R. (2017). The differential effects of prolonged exercise upon executive function and cerebral oxygenation. *Brain Cogn.* 113, 133–141. doi: 101016/j.bandc.2017.02.001

Thomson, K., Watt, A. P., and Liukkonen, J. (2009). Differences in ball sports athletes speed discrimination skills before and after exercise induced fatigue. *J. Sports Sci. Med.* 8, 259–264.

Travlos, A. K., and Marisi, D. Q. (1995). Information processing and concentration as a function of fitness level and exercise-induced activation to exhaustion. *Percept Mot. Skills* 80, 15–26. doi: 102466/pms.1995.80.1.15

Tsukamoto, H., Suga, T., Takenaka, S., Tanaka, D., Takeuchi, T., Hamaoka, T., et al. (2016). Repeated high-intensity interval exercise shortens the positive effect on executive function during post-exercise recovery in healthy young males. *Physiol. Behav.* 160, 26–34. doi: 101016/j.physbeh.2016.03.029

Voss, M. W., Nagamatsu, L. S., Liu-Ambrose, T., and Kramer, A. F. (2011). Exercise, brain, and cognition across the life span. J. Appl. Physiol. 111, 1505–1513.

Wang, C. C., Chu, C. H., Chu, I. H., Chan, K. H., and Chang, Y. K. (2013). Executive function during acute exercise: the role of exercise intensity. *J. Sport Exerc. Psychol.* 35, 358–367.

Williamson, J. W., Nobrega, A. C., Mccoll, R., Mathews, D., Winchester, P., Friberg, L., et al. (1997). Activation of the insular cortex during dynamic exercise in humans. *J. Physiol.* 503(Pt 2), 277–283. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.1997.277bh.x

Winter, B., Breitenstein, C., Mooren, F. C., Voelker, K., Fobker, M., Lechtermann, A., et al. (2007). High impact running improves learning. *Neurobiol. Learn Mem.* 87, 597–609. doi: 10.1016/j.nlm.2006.11.003

Won, J., Alfini, A. J., Weiss, L. R., Callow, D. D., and Smith, J. C. (2019). Brain activation during executive control after acute exercise in older adults. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 146, 240–248. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2019.10.002

Zheng, K., Zou, L., Wei, G., and Huang, T. (2021). Concurrent performance of executive function during acute bouts of exercise in adults: a systematic review. *Brain Sci.* 11:1364. doi: 103390/brainsci11101364

Zimmer, P., Binnebossel, S., Bloch, W., Hubner, S. T., Schenk, A., Predel, H. G., et al. (2017). Exhaustive exercise alters thinking times in a tower of London task in a time-dependent manner. *Front. Physiol.* 7:694. doi: 103389/fphys.2016.00694

